

#1 NEW YORK TIMES BESTSELLING AUTHOR

a spark of light

ANOVEL

spark of light



Jodi Picoult



A Spark of Light is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places, and incidents are the products of the author's imagination or are used fictitiously. Any resemblance to actual events, locales, or persons, living or dead, is entirely coincidental.

Copyright © 2018 by Jodi Picoult All rights reserved.

Published in the United States by Ballantine Books, an imprint of Random House, a division of Penguin Random House LLC, New York.

BALLANTINE and the House colophon are registered trademarks of Penguin Random House LLC.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Picoult, Jodi, author.

Title: A Spark of Light: A Novel / Jodi Picoult.

Description: First edition. | New York: Ballantine Books, 2018.

Identifiers: LCCN 2018018966 | ISBN 9780345544988 (hardcover : acidfree paper) | ISBN 9780345544995 (ebook)

Subjects: LCSH: FICTION / Contemporary Women. | FICTION / Literary. | FICTION / Sagas. GSAFD: Suspense fiction.

Classification: LCC PS3566.I372 L43 2018 (print) | LCC PS3566.I372 (ebook) | DDC 813/.54—dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2018018966

Hardcover ISBN 9780345544988 International edition ISBN 9781984817310 Ebook ISBN 9780345544995 randomhousebooks.com

Book design by Susan Turner, adapted for ebook

Cover design: Laura Klynstra

v5.3.2

Contents

| 0 | 011 | or |
|---|-----|----|
| | uv | ei |

Title Page

Copyright

Epigraph

Five p.m.

Four p.m.

Three p.m.

Two p.m.

One p.m.

Noon

Eleven a.m.

Ten a.m.

Nine a.m.

Eight a.m.

Epilogue

Author's Note

Dedication

Acknowledgments

Bibliography

By Jodi Picoult

About the Author

The question is not whether we will be extremists, but what kind of extremists we will be. Will we be extremists for hate or for love?

-REVEREND DR. MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR.

Five p.m.



The Center squatted on the corner of Juniper and Montfort behind a wrought-iron gate, like an old bulldog used to guarding its territory. At one point, there had been many like it in Mississippi—nondescript, unassuming buildings where services were provided and needs were met. Then came the restrictions that were designed to make these places go away: the halls had to be wide enough to accommodate two passing gurneys; any clinic where that wasn't the case had to shut down or spend thousands on reconstruction. The doctors had to have admitting privileges at local hospitals—even though most were from out of state and couldn't secure them or the clinics where they practiced risked closing, too. One by one the clinics shuttered their windows and boarded up their doors. Now, the Center was a unicorn a small rectangle of a structure painted a fluorescent, flagrant orange, like a flag to those who had traveled hundreds of miles to find it. It was the color of safety; the color of warning. It said: I'm here if you need me. It said, Do what you want to me; I'm not going.

The Center had suffered scars from the cuts of politicians and the barbs of protesters. It had licked its wounds and healed. At one point it had been called the Center for Women and Reproductive Health. But there were those who believed if you do not name a thing, it ceases to exist, and so its title was amputated, like a war injury. But still, it survived. First it became the Center for Women. And then, just: the Center.

The label fit. The Center was the calm in the middle of a storm of ideology. It was the sun of a universe of women who had run out of time and had run out of choices, who needed a beacon to look up to.

And like other things that shine so hot, it had a magnetic pull. Those in need found it the lodestone for their navigation. Those who despised it could not look away.

Today, Wren McElroy thought, was not a good day to other that fifteen-vear-old die. knew romanticized the idea of dying for love, but Wren had read Romeo and Juliet last year in eighth-grade English and didn't see the magic in waking up in a crypt beside your boyfriend, and then plunging his dagger into your own ribs. And Twilight-forget it. She had listened to teachers paint the stories of heroes whose tragic deaths somehow enlarged their lives rather than shrinking them. When Wren was six, her grandmother had died in her sleep. Strangers had said over and over that dving in your sleep was a blessing, but as she stared at her nana, waxen white in the open coffin, she didn't understand why it was a gift. What if her grandmother had gone to bed the night before thinking, In the morning, I'll water that orchid. In the morning, I'll read the rest of that novel. I'll call my son. So much left unfinished. No, there was just no way dying could be spun into a good thing.

Her grandmother was the only dead person Wren had ever seen, until two hours ago. Now, she could tell you what dying looked like, as opposed to just dead. One minute, Olive had been there, staring so fierce at Wren—as if she could hold on to the world if her eyes stayed open—and then, in a beat, those eyes stopped being windows and became mirrors, and Wren saw only a reflection of her own panic.

She didn't want to look at Olive anymore, but she did. The dead woman was lying down like she was taking a nap, a couch cushion under her head. Olive's shirt was

soaked with blood, but had ridden up on the side, revealing her ribs and waist. Her skin was pale on top and then lavender, with a thin line of deep violet where her back met the floor. Wren realized that was because Olive's blood was settling inside, just two hours after she'd passed. For a second, Wren thought she was going to throw up.

She didn't want to die like Olive, either.

Which, given the circumstances, made Wren a horrible person.

The odds were highly unlikely, but if Wren had to choose, she would die in a black hole. It would be instant and it would be epic. Like, literally, you'd be ripped apart at the atomic level. You'd become stardust.

Wren's father had taught her that. He bought her her first telescope, when she was five. He was the reason she wanted to be an astronaut when she was little, and an astrophysicist as soon as she learned what one was. He himself had had dreams of commanding a space shuttle that explored every corner of the universe until he got a girl pregnant. Instead of going to grad school, he had married Wren's mom and become a cop and then a detective and had explored every corner of Jackson, Mississippi, instead. He told Wren that working for NASA was the best thing that never happened to him.

from When thev were driving back her grandmother's funeral, it had snowed. Wren-a child who'd never seen weather like that in Mississippi before -had been terrified by the way the world swirled, unmoored. Her father had started talking to her: Mission Specialist McElroy, activate the thrusters. When she wouldn't stop crying, he began punching random buttons: the air-conditioning, the four-way flashers, the cruise control. They lit up red and blue like a command center at Mission Control. Misson Specialist McElroy, her father said, prepare for hyperspace. Then he flicked on his brights, so that the snow became a tunnel of speeding stars, and Wren was so amazed she forgot to be scared.

She wished she could flick a switch now, and travel back in time.

She wished she had told her dad she was coming here.

She wished she had let him talk her out of it.

She wished she hadn't asked her aunt to bring her.

Aunt Bex might even now be lying in a morgue, like Olive, her body becoming a rainbow. And it was all Wren's fault.

You, said the man with a gun, his voice dragging Wren back to the here and now. He had a name, but she didn't want to even think of it. It made him human and he wasn't human; he was a monster. While she'd been lost in thought, he'd come to stand in front of her. Now, he jerked the pistol at her. *Get up*.

The others held their breath with her. They had, in the past few hours, become a single organism. Wren's thoughts moved in and out of the other women's minds. Her fear stank on their skin.

Blood still bloomed from the bandage the man had wrapped around his hand. It was the tiniest of triumphs. It was the reason Wren could stand up, even though her legs were jelly.

She shouldn't have come here.

She should have stayed a little girl.

Because now she might not live to become anything else.

Wren heard the hammer click and closed her eyes. All she could picture was her father's face—the blue-jean eyes, the gentle bend of his smile—as he looked up at the night sky.

When George Goddard was five years old, his mama tried to set his daddy on fire. His father had been passed out on the couch when his mother poured the lighter fluid over his dirty laundry, lit a match, and dumped the flaming bin on top of him. The big man reared up, screaming, batting at the flames with his ham hands. George's mama stood a distance away with a glass of water. *Mabel*, his daddy screamed. *Mabel!* But his mama calmly drank every last drop, sparing none to extinguish the flames. When George's father ran out of the house to roll in the dirt like a hog, his mama turned to him. *Let that be a lesson to you*, she said.

He had not wanted to grow up like his daddy, but in the way that an apple seed can't help but become an apple tree, he had not become the best of husbands. He knew that now. It was why he had resolved to be the best of fathers. It was why, this morning, he had driven all this way to the Center, the last standing abortion clinic in the state of Mississippi.

What they'd taken away from his daughter she would never get back, whether she realized it now or not. But that didn't mean he couldn't exact a price.

He looked around the waiting room. Three women were huddled on a line of seats, and at their feet was the nurse, who was checking the bandage of the doctor. George scoffed. Doctor, my ass. What he did wasn't healing, not by any stretch of the imagination. He should have killed the guy—would have killed the guy—if he hadn't been interrupted when he first arrived and started firing.

He thought about his daughter sitting in one of those chairs. He wondered how she'd gotten here. If she had taken a bus. If a friend had driven her or (he could not even stand to think of it) the boy who'd gotten her in trouble. He imagined himself in an alternate universe, bursting through the door with his gun, seeing her in the chair next to the pamphlets about how to recognize an STD. He would have grabbed her hand and pulled her out of there.

What would she think of him, now that he was a killer?

How could he go back to her?

How could he go back, period?

Eight hours ago this had seemed like a holy crusade —an eye for an eye, a life for a life.

His wound had a heartbeat. George tried to adjust the binding of the gauze around it with his teeth, but it was unraveling. It should have been tied off better, but who here was going to help him?

The last time he had felt like this, like the walls were closing in on him, he had taken his infant daughter—red and screaming with a fever he didn't know she had and wouldn't have known how to treat—and gone looking for help. He had driven until his truck ran out of gas—it was past one A.M., but he started walking—and continued until he found the only building with a light on inside, and an unlocked door. It was flat-roofed unremarkable—he hadn't known it was a church until he stepped inside and saw the benches and the wooden relief of Jesus on the cross. The lights he had seen outside were candles, flickering on an altar. Come back, he had said out loud to his wife, who was probably halfway across the country by now. Maybe he was tired, maybe he was delusional, but he very clearly heard a reply: I'm already with you. The voice whispered from the wooden Jesus and at the same time from the darkness all around him.

George's conversion had been that simple, and that enveloping. Somehow, he and his girl had fallen asleep on the carpeted floor. In the morning, Pastor Mike was shaking him awake. The pastor's wife was cooing at his baby. There was a groaning table of food, and a miraculously spare room. Back then, George hadn't been a religious man. It wasn't Jesus that entered his heart that day. It was hope.

Hugh McElroy, the hostage negotiator George had been talking to for hours, said George's daughter would know he had been trying to protect her. He'd promised that if George cooperated, this could still end well, even though George knew that outside this building were men with rifles trained on the door just waiting for him to emerge.

George wanted this to be over. Really, he did. He was exhausted mentally and physically and it was hard to figure out an endgame. He was sick of the crying. He wanted to skip ahead to the part where he was sitting by his daughter again, and she was looking up at him with wonder, the way she used to.

But George also knew Hugh would say anything to get him to surrender to the police. It wasn't even just his job. Hugh McElroy needed him to release the hostages for the same reason that George had taken them in the first place—to save the day.

That's when George figured out what he was going to do. He pulled back the hammer on the gun. "Get up. You," he said, pointing to the girl with the name of a bird, the one who had stabbed him. The one he would use to teach Hugh McElroy a lesson.

HERE WAS THE PRIMARY RULE of hostage negotiation: Don't fuck it up.

When Hugh had first joined the regional team, that's what the instructors said. Don't take a bad situation and make it worse. Don't argue with the hostage taker. Don't tell him, *I get it*, because you probably don't. Communicate in a way that soothes or minimizes the threat; and understand that sometimes the best communication is not speaking at all. Active listening can get you a lot farther than spouting off.

There were different kinds of hostage takers. There were those who were out of their head with drugs, alcohol, grief. There were those on a political mission. There were those who fanned an ember of revenge, until it flared up and burned them alive. Then there were the sociopaths—the ones who had no empathy to appeal to. And yet sometimes they were the easiest to deal with, because they understood the concept of who's in control. If you could make the sociopath believe that you were not going to cede the upper hand, you'd actually gotten somewhere. You could say, We've been at this for two hours (or six, or sixteen) and I get what's on your mind. But it's time to do something new. Because there is a group of men out here who think time's up and want to address this with force. Sociopaths understood force.

On the other hand, that approach would fail miserably with someone depressed enough to kill himself and take others with him.

The point of establishing a relationship with a hostage taker was to make sure that you were the only source of information, and to give you the time to find out critical information of your own. What kind of hostage taker were you facing? What had precipitated the standoff, the shoot-out, the point of no return? You might start trying to build a relationship with innocuous conversation about sports, weather, TV. You'd gradually find out his likes and dislikes, what mattered to him. Did he love his kids? His wife? His mom? Why?

If you could find the *why*, you could determine what could be done to disarm the situation.

Hugh knew that the best hostage negotiators called the job a ballet, a tightrope walk, a delicate dance.

He also knew that was bullshit.

No one ever interviewed the negotiators whose situations ended in a bloodbath. It was only the ones with successful outcomes who got microphones stuck in their faces, and who felt obligated to describe their work as some kind of mystical art. In reality, it was a crapshoot. Dumb luck.

Hugh McElroy was afraid his luck was about to run out.

He surveyed the scene he had spearheaded for the past few hours. His command center was an event tent the department had used a few weeks ago at a community fair to promote safe child fingerprinting. Beat cops were posted along the building's perimeter like a string of blue beads. The press had been corralled behind a police barricade. (You'd think they'd be smart enough to get further out of the range of a madman with a gun, but no, the lure of ratings was apparently too high.) Littered on the sidewalk like empty threats were placards with giant pictures of babies in utero, or hand-drawn slogans: ADOPTION, NOT ABORTION! IT'S A CHILD, NOT A CHOICE.

Ambulances hunkered, manned by EMTs with foil blankets and portable IVs and hydration. The SWAT team was in position waiting for a signal. Their commander, Captain Quandt, had tried to boot Hugh off the case (who could blame him?) and take the shooter by force. But Hugh knew Quandt could do neither of these things in good conscience, not if Hugh was on the verge of getting George Goddard to surrender.

This was exactly what Hugh had been banking on when he broke the second rule of hostage negotiation five hours ago, screaming onto the scene in his unmarked car, barking orders to the two street cops who'd been first responders.

The secondary rule of hostage negotiation was Don't forget that this is a job.

Hostage negotiation is not a test of your manhood. It is not a chance to be a knight in shining armor, or a way to get your fifteen minutes of fame. It may go your way and it may not, no matter how textbook your responses are. Don't take it personally.

But Hugh had known from the get-go that was never going to be possible, not today, not this time, because this was a different situation altogether. There were God knew how many dead bodies in that clinic, plus five hostages who were still alive. And one of them was his kid.

The SWAT commander was suddenly standing in front of him. "We're going in now," Quandt said. "I'm telling you as a courtesy."

"You're making a mistake," Hugh replied. "I'm telling you as a courtesy."

Quandt turned away and started to speak into the walkie-talkie at his shoulder. "We're a go in five ... four ..." Suddenly his voice broke. "Stand down! I repeat—abort!"

It was the word that had started this disaster. Hugh's head flew up, and he saw the same thing Quandt had noticed.

The front door of the clinic had suddenly opened, and two women were stepping outside.

_

When Wren's mother still lived with them, she'd had a spider plant that she kept on top of a bookcase in the living room. After she left, neither Wren nor her father ever remembered to water it, but that spider plant seemed to defy death. It began to spill over its container and grow in a strange verdant comb-over toward a window, without playing by the rules of logic or gravity.

Wren felt like that now, swaying on her feet toward the light every time the door opened, drawn to where her father stood in the parking lot outside.

But it wasn't Wren who was walking out of the building. She had no idea what it was that her father had said to George during their last phone conversation, but it had worked. George had pulled back the trigger and told her to move the couch that he had used to buttress the door. Although the hostages couldn't talk freely without George hearing, a current had passed among them. When he instructed Wren to open the lock, she had even begun to think she might get out of here in one piece.

Joy and Janine had left first. Then George told Izzy to push out Dr. Ward in the wheelchair. Wren had thought that she'd be released then, too, but George had grabbed her by her hair and yanked her back. Izzy had turned at the threshold, her face dark, but Wren had given a small shake of her head. This might be Dr. Ward's only chance to get out, and he was hurt. She had to take him. She was a nurse; she knew. "Wren—" Izzy said, but then George slammed the door behind her and drove home the metal bolt. He released Wren long enough to have her shove the couch in front of the doorway again.

Wren felt panic rise in her throat. Maybe this was George's way of getting back at her for what she'd done to him. She was alone in here now, with this animal. Well, not quite—her eyes slid along the floor to Olive's body.

Maybe Aunt Bex was with Olive, wherever you go when you die. Maybe they were both waiting for Wren.

George sank down on the couch in front of the door, burying his face in his hands. He was still holding the gun. It winked at her.

"Are you going to shoot me?" she blurted.

George glanced up as if he was surprised she would even ask that question. She forced herself to meet his gaze. One of his eyes pulled the tiniest bit to the right, not so much that he looked weird, but enough that it was hard to focus on his face. She wondered if he had to consciously pick which view he took in. He rubbed his bandaged hand across his cheek.

When Wren was little, she used to hold her hands to her father's face to feel his stubble. It made a rasping sound. He'd smile, while she played his jaw like an instrument.

"Am I going to shoot you?" George leaned back on the cushions. "That depends."

__

IT ALL HAPPENED SO FAST. One minute Janine Deguerre was a hostage, and the next she was in a medical tent, being checked over by EMTs. She looked around, trying to find Joy, but the other hostage with whom she had walked outside was nowhere to be seen.

"Ma'am," one of the first responders said, "can you follow the light?"

Janine snapped her attention back to the kid, who in fact probably wasn't much younger than she was—twenty-four. She blinked at him as he waved a little flashlight back and forth in front of her face.

She was shivering. Not because she was cold, but because she was in shock. She'd been pistol-whipped earlier across the temple, and her head was still throbbing. The EMT wrapped a silver metallic blanket around her shoulders, the kind given to marathon runners at the finish. Well, maybe she had run a marathon, metaphorically. Certainly she had crossed a line.

The sun was low, making shadows come to life, so that it was hard to tell what was real and what was a trick of her eyes. Five minutes ago Janine had arguably been in the worst danger of her life, and yet it was here underneath a plastic tent surrounded by police and medical professionals that she felt isolated. The mere act of walking past that threshold had put her back where she had started: on the other side.

She craned her neck, looking for Joy again. Maybe they had taken her to the hospital, like Dr. Ward. Or maybe Joy had said, as soon as Janine was out of earshot: *Get that bitch away from me*.

"I think we should keep you for observation," the paramedic said.

"I'm okay," Janine insisted. "Really. I just want to go home."

He frowned. "Is there someone who can stay with you tonight? Just in case?"

"Yes," she lied.

A cop crouched down beside her. "If you're feeling up to it," he said, "we're going to take you back to the station first. We need a statement."

Janine panicked. Did they know about her? Did she have to tell them? Was it like going to court, and swearing on a Bible? Or could she just be, for a little longer, someone who deserved sympathy?

She nodded and got to her feet. With the policeman's hand gently guiding her, she began to walk out of the tent. She held her metallic blanket around her

like an ermine cloak. "Wait," she said. "What about everyone else?"

"We'll be bringing in the others as soon as they're able," he assured her.

"The girl," Janine said. "What about the girl? Did she come out?"

"Don't you worry, ma'am," he said.

A surge of reporters called to her, shouting questions that tangled together. The cop stepped between her and the media, a shield. He led her to a waiting police car. When the door closed, it was suffocatingly hot. She stared out the window as the policeman drove.

They passed a billboard on the way to the station. Janine recognized it because she had helped raise money to erect it. It was a picture of two smiling, gummy-mouthed babies—one black, one white. DID YOU KNOW, it read, MY HEART BEAT EIGHTEEN DAYS FROM CONCEPTION?

Janine knew a lot of facts like that. She also knew how various religions and cultures looked at personhood. Catholics believed in life at conception. Muslims believed that it took forty-two days after conception for Allah to send an angel to transform sperm and egg into something alive. Thomas Aquinas had said that abortion was homicide after forty days for a male embryo and eighty days for a female one. There were the outliers, too —the ancient Greeks, who said that a fetus had a "vegetable" soul, and the Jews, who said that the soul came at birth. Janine knew how to consciously steer away from those opinions in a discussion.

Still, it didn't really make sense, did it? How could the moment that life began differ so much, depending on the point of view? How could the law in Mississippi say that an embryo was a human being, but the law in Massachusetts disagreed? Wasn't the baby the same baby, no matter whether it was conceived on a bed in Jackson, or on a beach in Nantucket?

It made Janine's head hurt. But then, so did everything right now.

Soon IT WOULD BE GETTING dark. Wren sat on the floor cross-legged, keeping an eye on George as he hunched forward on the couch, elbows balanced on his knees, and the gun held loosely in his right hand. She tore open the last packet of Fig Newtons—all that was left of the basket of snacks taken from the recovery room. Her stomach growled.

She used to be afraid of the dark. She'd make her dad come in with his gun in his holster and check out the whole of her bedroom—beneath the bed, under the mattress, on the high shelves above her dresser. Sometimes she woke up crying in the middle of the night convinced she had seen something fanged and terrible sitting at the foot of her bed, watching her with its yellow eyes.

Now she knew: monsters were real.

Wren swallowed. "Your daughter," she asked. "What's her name?"

George glanced up. "Shut your mouth," he said.

The vehemence of his words made her scoot back a few feet, but as she did, her leg brushed something cold and rigid. She knew right away what it was—who it was—and swallowed her scream. Wren willed herself to inch forward again, curling her arms around her bent knees. "I bet your daughter wants to see you."

The shooter's profile looked ragged and inhospitable. "You don't know anything."

"I bet she wants to see you," Wren repeated. *I know*, she thought, *because it's all* I *want*.

SHE LIED.

Janine sat in the police station, across from the detective who was recording her statement, and lied. "What brought you to the Center this morning?" he had asked gently.

"A Pap smear," Janine had said.

The rest that she had told him was true, and sounded like a horror film: the sound of gunfire, the sudden weight of the clinic employee slamming into her and knocking her to the floor. Janine had changed into a clean T-shirt that the paramedics had given her, but she could still feel the woman's hot blood (so much blood) seeping into her dress. Even now, looking down at her hands, she expected to see it.

"Then what happened?"

She found she could not remember in sequence. Instead of linked moments, there were only flashes: her body shaking uncontrollably as she ran; her hands pressed against the bullet wound of an injured woman. The shooter jerking his pistol at Janine, while Izzy stood next to him with a heap of supplies in her arms. The phone ringing, as they all froze like mannequins.

Janine felt like she was watching a movie, one she was obligated to sit through even though she had never wanted to see it.

When she got to the part where the shooter smacked her with the gun, she left out why. A lie of omission, that's what they used to call it when she was a little girl going to confession. It was a sin, too, but of a different degree. Still, sometimes you lied to protect people. Sometimes you lied to protect yourself.

What was one more lie to add to the others?

She was crying as she spoke. She didn't even realize it until the detective leaned forward with a box of tissues.

"Can I ask you a question?" she said.

"Of course."

She swallowed. "Do you think that people get what's coming to them?"

The detective looked at her for a long moment. "I don't think anyone deserves a day like today," he said.

Janine nodded. She blew her nose and balled the tissue into her hand.

Suddenly the door opened, and a uniformed officer stuck his head inside. "There's a gentleman out here who says he knows you ...?"

Behind him, Janine could see Allen—his florid cheeks and broad belly, the one that made him joke that he knew what it was like to be pregnant. Allen was the leader of the local Right to Life group. "Janine!" he cried, and he pushed past the cop so that he could fold her into his arms. "Sweet Jesus," he sighed. "Honey, we've been praying for you."

She knew they prayed for every woman who walked through the doors of the Center. This, though, was different. Allen would not have been able to make peace with himself if anything had happened to her, because he had been the one to send her inside as a spy.

Maybe God had been listening, because she had been released. But so were Joy, and Izzy, and Dr. Ward. And what about those who didn't make it out alive? What kind of capricious God would roll the dice like that?

"Let me take you home and get you settled," Allen said. And to the detective, "I'm sure Miz Deguerre needs a little rest."

The detective looked directly at Janine, as if to see whether she was okay with Allen calling the shots. And why shouldn't she be? She had done what he wanted from the moment she arrived in town, intent to serve his mission any way she could. And she knew that he meant well. "We're more than happy to give you a ride wherever you need to go," the detective said to her.

He was offering her a choice; and it felt heady and powerful.

"I have to use the restroom," she blurted, another lie.

"Of course." The detective gestured down the hallway. "Left at the end, and then third door on the right."

Janine started walking, still clutching her foil blanket around her shoulders. She just needed space, for a second.

At the end of the hallway was another interrogation room, much like the one she had been in. What had been a mirror on the inside was, from this vantage point, a window. Joy sat at a table with a female detective.

Before she realized what she was doing, Janine was knocking at the window. It must have made a sound, because Joy turned in her direction, even if she couldn't see Janine's face. The interrogation room door swung open, and a moment later a female detective looked at her. "Is there a problem?"

Through the open doorway, she met Joy's gaze.

"We know each other," Janine said.

After a moment, Joy nodded.

"I just wanted to ... I wanted to see ..." Janine hesitated. "I thought you might need help."

The detective folded her arms. "We'll make sure she gets whatever she needs."

"I know but—" Janine looked at Joy. "You shouldn't be alone tonight."

She felt Joy's eyes flicker to the bandage at her temple. "Neither should you," Joy said.

_

IN THE HOSPITAL ROOM, THERE was a piece of tape stuck to one of the slats of the air-conditioning vent overhead. It fluttered like a ribbon, like an improbable celebration, as Izzy lay on her back pretending she didn't feel the doctor's hands on her.

"Here we go," the OB murmured. He moved the wand left, and then right, and then pointed to the fuzzy screen, to the edge of the black amoeba of Izzy's uterus, where the white peanut of the fetus curled. "Come on ... come on ..." There was something urgent in his voice. Then they both saw it—the flicker of a heartbeat. Something she had seen multiple times in other women's ultrasounds.

She let out a breath she didn't know she'd been holding.

The doctor took measurements and recorded them. He wiped the gel off her belly and pulled the drape down to cover her again. "Miz Walsh," he said, "you are one lucky lady. You're good to go."

Izzy struggled onto her elbows. "Wait ... so ... that's it?"

"Obviously, you'll want to make sure that you don't have any cramping or bleeding in the next few days," the doctor added, "but given the strength of that heartbeat, I'd say that little guy—or girl—is planning on sticking around. Definitely takes after its mama."

He said he'd write up some discharge orders and ducked out of the curtain that separated her ER cubicle from the others. Izzy lay back on the gurney and slipped her hands underneath the scratchy blanket. She flattened them on her stomach.

As soon as she had gotten outside the clinic, the EMTs had put her on a stretcher beside Dr. Ward, even as she had tried to tell them she wasn't hurt. He would have none of it. "She's pregnant," he insisted. "She needs medical attention."

"You need medical attention," she argued.

"There she goes again," Dr. Ward said to the young paramedic inspecting his tourniquet. "Won't give me a moment's peace." He caught her eye. "For which," he said quietly, "I am supremely grateful."

That was the last she had seen of him. She wondered if he was in surgery; if he would keep the leg. She had a good feeling about it.

Maybe some people simply were destined to survive.

She had grown up with a chronically unemployed father and a mother who struggled to take care of Izzy and her twin brothers, in a house so small that the three kids shared not just a room but a bed. But for a long time, she didn't even know she was poor. Her mother would take them on a spare change hunt. They'd go fishing for dinner. Occasionally they celebrated Colonial Week—when they used candles instead of electric lights.

When Izzy thought about her life, there was such a clear break between then and now. Now, she lived with Parker in a house three times larger than her childhood home. He was, on paper, the prince from the entitled family who'd fallen for a debt-ridden nursing-student Cinderella. They had met when he was in traction with a broken leg. Their first date, he liked to say, had been a sponge bath.

Parker had gone to Yale like his father and grandfather and great-grandfather. He had grown up in Eastover, the snobbiest neighborhood in the whole state.

He went to private schools and dressed in miniature blazers and ties even as a child. He *summered*. Even his job—a documentary filmmaker—was possible only because of his trust fund.

Izzy still ordered the cheapest thing on a menu if they ate out. Their freezer was packed with food, not because she couldn't afford to go grocery shopping now, but because you never stopped anticipating another lean time.

They might as well have come from different planets. How on earth were they supposed to raise a child together?

Izzy wondered if now—finally—the fault line of her life would no longer be the first day she earned a paycheck. It would now be today's shooting; she would divide everything into *before* and *after*.

A nurse entered the cubicle. "How are you feeling?"

"I'm good," Izzy said, glad that her shaking hands were still tucked under the blanket.

"I got some information on that patient you asked after ..."

"Dr. Ward?" Izzy sat up.

"No. The woman. Bex something? She came out of surgery okay," the nurse said. "She's in intensive care."

Izzy felt tears spring to her eyes. *Thank God*. "And what about Dr. Ward?"

The nurse shook her head. "I haven't heard anything yet, but I'll keep an eye out." She looked at Izzy with sympathy. "I guess y'all went through Hell together."

They sure had. In trying to save Bex's life, Izzy had pushed her finger through the other woman's chest wall; had felt for the pillow of her labored lungs. She had been covered in Dr. Ward's blood.

"The police want to talk to you," the nurse said. "They've been waiting. But if you're not feeling up to it, I'm happy to tell them."

"Can I use the restroom, first?"

"You sure can," the nurse replied. She helped Izzy off the gurney and led her through the curtain to a single-person bathroom. "You need any help?"

Izzy shook her head. She closed the door and locked it, leaned against the wood. The shakes had migrated from her hands to the rest of Izzy's body. Her teeth were chattering now.

Textbook shock.

"Pull yourself together," she commanded, and she ran water in the sink and splashed it on her face. She blotted her skin dry with paper towels, looking at the bathroom mirror, and immediately wished that she hadn't. Her hair had long ago escaped its braid and was a hot red frizz around her face. The scrubs they had given her to replace the bloody ones she had been wearing when she was brought in were too big, and the top was slipping off one shoulder, like a really poor version of a sexy nurse fantasy. Although she had washed off most of the blood that covered her arms and neck, she could see the spots she had missed.

She scrubbed until her skin was raw and then walked back to her little cubicle. Hovering outside the curtain was a police officer. "Miz Walsh? I'm Officer Thibodeau. I was hoping you might be able to just give a short statement?"

She drew back the curtain and sat down on the gurney, her legs dangling. "Where do you want me to start?"

Thibodeau scratched above his ear with his pen. "Well, I guess at the beginning," he said. "You went to the clinic this morning?"

"Yes."

"How long have you worked there?"

Before she could respond, there was a voice demanding to know where Izzy was.

Parker.

Izzy's legs slid off the table and she stepped forward as he pushed past the nurse and the resident who were trying to keep him out of the secure patient area.

"Parker!" she shouted, and his head snapped toward her.

"Izzy, my *God*." He took three giant steps and crushed her into his arms. He held her so tight she almost couldn't breathe. But she only noticed that when she touched him, she finally stopped shaking.

When the paramedics had first brought Izzy in and the intake nurse asked her who they could call as next of kin, Parker's name had slipped out of her mouth. That was telling, wasn't it?

Maybe there was a way to stop worrying about what might drive them apart, and to focus on what bound them together.

"Are you okay?" he asked.

She nodded against him.

"You're not hurt?" Parker pulled away, holding her at arm's length. There were dozens of questions written across his features, and he stared into her eyes as if he were trying to find the answers. Or the truth. Maybe they were even, for once, the same.

This was not how—or where—she had thought her day would end. But somehow, it was exactly where she needed to be. "I'm fine," Izzy said. She took his hand and flattened it against her belly, smiling. "We're fine."

Suddenly Izzy's future no longer seemed impossible. It felt like the stamp of a passport when you reached your own country, and realized that the only reason you'd traveled was to remember the feeling of home.

_

When one of the Junior detectives brought the word that his older sister Bex was out of surgery, Hugh winged a silent thank-you to a God he had long ago stopped believing in. The part of his brain that had been worrying about her could go back to focusing on Wren, who was still in there with a murderer.

First the two women had been released. Then the nurse and the injured abortion doctor.

Hugh had waited. And waited. And ... nothing.

He paced the command center from where he had made the call to give the shooter a few more minutes, in the hope he would make good on his promise to release *all* the hostages. The question was, had he made a bad decision? A fatal one, for Wren?

Captain Quandt approached once again, blocking Hugh's path. "Okay, I'm done waiting. He released most of them. Now we're flushing him out."

"You can't do that."

"The hell I can't," Quandt said. "I'm in charge, Lieutenant."

"Only on paper." Hugh stepped closer, inches away from him. "There's still a hostage. Goddard doesn't know you from a hole in the wall. You go in there and we both know how this will end."

What Hugh didn't say was that it might still end that way. What if George had agreed to release the hostages, planning all along to go back on his word? What if he wanted to go out in a blaze of bullets, and take Wren with him? Was this going to be his ultimate fuck-you to Hugh?

Quandt met his gaze. "We both know you're too close to this to be thinking clearly."

Hugh remained immobile, his arms crossed. "That's exactly why I don't want you blasting through that goddamn door."

The commander narrowed his eyes. "I will give him ten more minutes to release your daughter. And then I will do everything in my power to make sure she is safe ... but we're ending this."

The minute Quandt walked away, Hugh picked up his cellphone and dialed the clinic number, the same one he had been using for hours now to speak to George. It rang and rang and rang. *Pick up*, Hugh thought. He had not heard any gunshots, but that didn't mean Wren was safe.

After eighteen rings, he was about to hang up. Then: "Daddy?" Wren said, and he couldn't help it, his knees just gave out.

"Hey, sweetheart," he said, trying to tamp down the emotion in his voice. He remembered when she was a toddler, and she had fallen. If Hugh looked upset, Wren would burst into tears. If he seemed unfazed, she picked herself up and kept going. "Are you all right?"

"Y-yes."

"Did he hurt you?"

"No." A pause. "Is Aunt Bex—"

"She's going to be fine," Hugh said, although he did not know this for sure. "I want you to know I love you," he added, and he could practically hear the panic rise in his daughter.

"Are you saying that because I'm going to die?"

"Not if I have anything to do with it. Would you ask George," he said, and then he swallowed. "Would you ask him if he'd please speak to me?"

He heard muffled voices, and then George's voice was on the line. "George," Hugh said evenly, "I thought we had a deal."

"We did."

"You told me you'd release the hostages."

"I did," George said.

"Not all of them."

There was a hitch in the conversation. "You didn't specify," George replied.

Hugh curled his body around the phone, like he was whispering to a lover. "You want to tell me what's really going on, George?" A pause. "You can talk to me. You know that."

"It's all a lie."

"What's a lie?"

"Once I let your kid go, what happens to me?"

"We'll talk about that when you come outside. You and me," Hugh said.

"Bullshit. My life's over, either way. Either I go to jail and rot there forever or they shoot me."

"That won't happen," Hugh promised. "I won't *let* it happen." He glanced down at the notes he'd scribbled after his last discussion with George. "Remember? You end this, and you get to do the right thing. Your daughter—hell, the whole world—will be watching, George."

"Sometimes doing the right thing," George said quietly, "means doing something bad."

"It doesn't have to," Hugh said.

"You don't get it." George's voice was tight, distant. "But you will."

That was a threat. That definitely sounded like a threat. Hugh glanced at the SWAT team commander. Quandt was staring at him from the corner of the tent. He lifted his arm, pointed to his watch.

"Let Wren go," Hugh bargained, "and I will make sure you come out of this alive."

"No. They won't shoot me as long as I've got her."

What Hugh needed to do was offer a viable alternative, one that did not involve Wren, but let George still believe he was protected.

Just like that, he knew what to do.

Hugh looked at the captain. There was no way Quandt would go for this. It was too risky. Hugh would lose his job—maybe his life—but his daughter would be safe. There was really no choice.

"George," he suggested, "take me instead."

BEX WAS DEAD. SHE HAD to be dead, because everything was white and there was a bright light, and wasn't that what everyone said to expect?

She turned her head a fraction to the left and saw the IV pole, the saline dripping into her. The light overhead was fluorescent.

A hospital. She was the very opposite of dead.

Her throat tightened as she thought about Wren and about Hugh. Was her niece all right? She imagined Wren, knee bent, drawing on the white lip of her sneaker. She pictured Hugh leaning over her in the ambulance. That was how Bex saw the world, in images. Had she re-created it in her studio, she would call it *Reckoning*. She would highlight the cords of tension in

Hugh's neck, the vibration of Wren's moving hand. The background would be the color of a bruise.

Bex had installations with collectors as far away as Chicago and California. Her works were the size of a wall. If you stood at a distance you might see a feminine hand on a pregnant belly. A baby reaching for a mobile overhead. A woman in the throes of labor. If you stepped closer, you saw that the portrait was made of hundreds of used, multicolored Post-it notes, carefully shellacked into place on a grid.

People talked about the social commentary of Bex's work. Both her subject—parenthood—and her medium—discarded to -do lists and disposable reminders—were fleeting. But her transformation of that heartbeat, that particular second, rendered it timeless.

She had been famous for a brief moment ten years ago when *The New York Times* included her in a piece on up-and-coming artists (for the record, she never up and went anywhere, after that). The reporter had asked: since Bex was single and had no kids, had she picked this subject in order to master in art what was so personally elusive?

But Bex had never needed marriage or children. She had Hugh. She had Wren. True, she believed all artists were restless, but they weren't always running in pursuit of something. Sometimes they were running away from where they had been.

A nurse entered. "Hey there," he said. "How are you feeling?"

She tried to sit up. "I need to go," she said.

"You aren't going anywhere. You're ten minutes out of surgery." He frowned. "Is there someone I can get for you?"

Yes, please, Bex thought. But they are both currently in the middle of a hostage standoff.

If only it were that simple to rescue Wren. She couldn't imagine what Hugh was feeling right now, but she had to believe in him. He'd have a plan. Hugh always had a plan. He was the one she called when the toilets in her house all stopped working at once, like a cosmic plot. He trapped the skunk that had taken up residence under her ancient Mini Cooper. He ran toward the scream of a burglar alarm, when everyone else was fleeing. There was nothing that rattled him, no challenge too daunting.

She suddenly remembered him, fifteen or sixteen, riveted by a comic book and completely ignoring her. Only when Bex grabbed it from him did he look up. *Damn*, Hugh had said, one syllable with equal parts shock, respect, and sadness. *They killed off Superman*.

What if she lost him? What if she lost them both?

"Can you turn on the television?" she asked.

The nurse pressed a button on a remote control and then settled it underneath Bex's palm. On every local channel there was a live report about the Center. Bex stared at the screen, at the orange Creamsicle stucco of the building, the ribbons of police tape blocking it off.

She couldn't see Hugh.

So she closed her eyes and sketched him in her imagination. He was silhouetted by the sun, and he was larger than life.

Bex could still remember the first time she realized that Hugh was taller than she was. She had been in the kitchen, making dinner, and had dragged a chair toward the cabinet so that she could reach the dried basil on the highest shelf. From behind her, Hugh had just plucked it off its rack.

In that moment, Bex realized everything was different. Hugh had grown up, and somehow she had

gone from taking care of him to becoming the one who was being taken care of.

"Well," she had said. "That's handy."

He'd been fourteen. He'd shrugged. "Don't get used to it," Hugh had said. "I won't be here forever."

Bex had watched him jog up the stairs to his room. And then, soon after, she had watched him go to college, fall in love, move into his own home.

No matter how many times you let someone go, it never got any easier.

HUGH HUNG UP THE PHONE. "I'm going in," he announced. "Alone. He wants a hostage? He can have me."

"Absolutely not," Quandt said, turning to a member of his team. "Jones, get your team to—"

Hugh ignored him and started walking. Quandt grabbed Hugh's arm and spun him around.

"If you storm in there, there *will* be casualties," Hugh said. "I am the only one he trusts. If I can get him to walk out with me, it's a win."

"And if you can't?" the commander argued.

"I won't condone an action that risks my daughter," Hugh snapped. "So where does that leave us?" His fury was a shimmering curtain, but there were glimpses of what he was hiding behind it.

The two men stopped, staring at each other, a standoff. Finally, Hugh glanced away. "Joe," he said, his voice broken. "You got kids?"

The SWAT leader looked down at the ground. "I'm here to do a job, Hugh."

"I know." Hugh shook his head. "And I know I should have walked away as soon as I found out Wren

was inside. God knows this is hard enough when you don't have a personal stake. But I *do*. And I can't sit on the sidelines, not if she's in there. If you won't do this for me, will you do it for *her*?"

Quandt took a deep breath. "One condition. I get a couple of snipers into position first," he said.

Hugh held out his hand, and the men shook. "Thank you."

Quandt met his gaze. "Ellie and Kate," he said, just loud enough for Hugh to hear. "Twins."

He turned away, calling over two of his men and pointing to the roof of a building across the street and a spot on top of the clinic. As they strategized, Hugh walked back underneath the tent. He saw the young detective who had brought him news of Bex. "Collins," he called. "Over here."

She hurried to the command tent. "Yes, sir?"

"That patient in the hospital—Bex McElroy, my sister? I need you to give a note to her."

The detective nodded, waiting while Hugh sat down at his makeshift desk. He picked up a pen and ripped a page off his legal pad.

What did you say to the woman who'd basically raised you? The one who had nearly died today only because she had been trying to help his own daughter?

He thought of a dozen things he could tell Bex.

That she was the only one who laughed at his terrible dad jokes, the ones that made Wren cringe. That if he was on death row, his last meal would be her chicken Parmesan. That he could still remember her making shadow puppets on his bedroom wall, trying to bribe him to go to sleep. That, at age eight, he hadn't known what the Savannah College of Art was—or even that she had given up her scholarship to come take care

of him when their mother went to dry out—but that he wished he'd said thank you.

But Hugh had never been good at putting his feelings into sentences. It was what had led him to this very point, this very instant.

So he wrote down a single word and passed it to the detective.

Goodbye.

LOUIE WARD WAS UNCONSCIOUS, AND in the ocean of his memory, he was not a fifty-four-year-old ob-gyn but a young boy growing up beneath a canopy of Spanish moss, trying to catch crawfish before they caught him. He had been raised to love Jesus and women, in precisely that order. In southern Louisiana, he was reared by two ladies—his grandmama and Mama—living in a small cottage that was, as his grandmother pointed out, still a palace if the Lord dwelled there among you. He was a practicing Catholic, as was everyone else he knew, the result of a long-dead white landowner who had come from France with a rosary in his pocket and who had baptized all his slaves. Louie had been a sickly child, too skinny and too smart for his own good. He had wheezy lungs that kept him from tagging along with the other kids, who snuck at midnight into nearby houses rumored to be haunted, to see what they might find. Instead he followed his grandmama to Mass every day and he helped Mama with her piecework, using tweezers to pinch tiny links into gold chains that wound up around the necks of rich white women.

Louie had never met his father, and knew better than to ask about him since his grandmama referred to him as the Sinner, but whatever hole his father's absence had left in him was, by age nine, well plastered over. Louie knew how to open doors for ladies and to say please and thank you and yes, ma'am. He slept on a cot in the kitchen that he made with tight hospital corners, and helped kept the house tidy, because as his grandmama had taught him, Jesus was coming at any moment and they'd best all be ready. Mama had spells where she could not muster the courage to get out of bed, and sometimes spent weeks cocooned there, crying. But even when Louie was alone, he was never alone, because all the ladies in the neighborhood held him accountable for his behavior. It was child raising by committee.

Old Miss Essie came and sat on their porch every day. She told Louie about her daddy, a slave who had escaped his plantation by swimming through the bayou, braving the alligators because relinquishing his body to them would at least have been his decision. He had not only survived with all his limbs, he had hidden along the Natchez Trace, moving only by the light of the moon and following the instructions of everyday saints who had helped others get free. Eventually he had reached Indiana, married a woman, and had Miss Essie. She would lean forward, her eyes bright, and hammer home the moral of this story. *Boy*, she told Louie, *don't you let nobody tell you who you can't be*.

Miss Essie knew everything about everybody, so it was no surprise that she could tell tales about Sebby Cherise, the hedge witch rumored to be descended from the voodoo priestess Marie Laveau. What was a surprise was that Louie's mama had been the one doing the asking. The bayou could be easily split between those who believed in gris-gris and those who believed in the Lord, and Grandmama had set her family squarely in the latter camp. Louie had no idea what his mama could possibly want from Sebby Cherise.

His mama was the most beautiful woman in the world, with sad eyes you fell into, and a voice that sanded all your rough edges. For the past few months he'd

noticed that she hadn't cried, and instead had been rising as if helium were pulsing through her veins. She hummed when she wasn't aware, melodies woven through her braids. Louie rode the outskirts of her good mood.

When Mama knelt beside him and asked if he could keep a secret, he would have followed her to Hell and back. Which, as it turned out, was not that far from the mark.

That summer was a parched throat, and as Louie and his mama hiked to the witch's home, his clothes became a second skin. Sebby Cherise lived in the bayou, in a hut with a porch that was draped with dried flowers. There were crudely lettered signs that said KEEP OUT.

Sebby Cherise traded in miracles. Jimsonweed, cut with honey and sulfur and crossed by the path of a black cat, could root out cancer. Dixie love perfume could net you the man who slipped into your dreams. Five-finger grass set a ward around your house to keep it safe. Louie wondered if it was one of Sebby's potions or pouches that accounted for his mother's recent good spirits.

He also knew, from his grandmama and the priest, that the deals you made with the devil came back to bite you. But just like his mama seemed willing to overlook that, so was Louie, if it meant she stayed this way.

His mama told him to stay on the porch, so he only had a glimpse of Sebby Cherise, with her long red skirt and the scarf wrapped around her head. She might have been twenty years old, or two hundred. She beckoned Mama inside, and the bangles on her arm sang. Her voice sounded like fingernails on wood.

It didn't take long. Mama came out clutching a small packet on a string. She looped this around her neck and tucked it in under her dress, between her breasts. They went home, and that afternoon, Louie went to Mass with his grandmama and prayed that his mother had gotten

whatever she needed, and that Jesus would forgive her for not going to Him instead.

One week later, it was so hot that Grandmama stayed at church between morning and evening Mass. Mama told Louie she was going to take a nap. Near dinnertime, Louie went to wake her up, but she didn't answer at his knock. When he turned the knob he found his mother lying on the floor, a widening triangle of blood pooling between her legs. Her skin felt like marble, the only cool surface in the world.

_

THE OUTPOURING OF GOODWILL IN the aftermath of Mama's death had given way to the whispers Louie heard when he passed folks in church, or walked down the street holding fast to his grandmother. Something about Mama and Mr. Bouffet, the mayor, who Louie knew only for his marshaling of the Mardi Gras parade with his pretty blond wife and matching blond daughters at his side. And something else about *abortion*: a word he had never heard before.

His grandmama would squeeze his hand to keep him from looking at the people who murmured behind their hands and stared.

She squeezed his hand a lot, those days.

She was squeezing now.

Dr. Louie Ward's eyes flew open and he immediately struggled against his surroundings—the soft beep of a heart monitor, the snake of tubing in his IV. He didn't feel pain in his leg, as he expected, but then if he was in a hospital he probably had some kind of nerve blocker. The only thing that hurt like hell was his hand, which was being clutched by a skinny girl with pink hair and a ring of hoops climbing the cartilage of her left ear. "Rachel?" he rasped, and her head flew up.

The administrative assistant at the clinic had pinched features that always reminded Louie of a badger. "I'm sorry, Dr. Ward," she sobbed. "I'm so sorry."

He glanced down at his leg, thinking for one panicked moment that perhaps it had been amputated, and that was the source of Rachel's hysterics—but no, it was there, if swathed in batting like a cloud of cotton candy. Thank *God* for that nurse at the clinic. "Rachel," he said, raising his voice over the sound of her weeping. "Rachel, I already feel like I was run over by a truck. Don't give me a headache, too."

But the girl showed no signs of quieting. He didn't know her very well—he flew to many clinics around the country, and the staff often blurred with each other. He was pretty sure Rachel was a grad student at Jackson State. She worked part-time as what the antis called a "deathscort"—guiding women from the parking lot inside the clinic. She also helped Vonita, the clinic owner, with administrative work. There was so much to do at the Center that they all pitched in, wherever they had to.

"I'm sorry," Rachel repeated, wiping her nose on her sleeve.

Louie was used to crying women. "You got nothing to be sorry about," he said. "Unless your alter ego is a middle-aged white anti with a gun."

"I ran, Dr. Ward." Rachel mustered the courage to glance at him, but her gaze slid away again. "I'm a coward."

He had not even known that she was in the building at the time the shooting began. Of course, she would have been up front, and he was in the rear in a procedure room. And naturally she wanted to believe she would have been a hero, when push came to shove. But you never knew what path you'd take until you got to that crossroads. Hadn't Louie heard this a thousand times before, from patients who had come to the Center, who seemed shell-shocked to find themselves there, as if they'd awakened in someone else's life?

"You're alive to tell the story," he said. "That's what matters." Louie was aware, even as he spoke, of the irony. He turned his own words over in his mind. Coal, with time and heat and pressure, will always become a diamond. But if you were freezing to death, which would you consider the gem?

I DIDN'T CLEAN THE HOUSE, Joy thought, as she unlocked the door of her apartment. Breakfast cereal had dried to a crust in a bowl on the kitchen table; there were empty glasses on the coffee table in front of the television; a bra dangled from the arm of the couch. "The place is a mess," she apologized to Janine.

Then again, Joy had not expected to bring home an anti-abortion activist on the day she went to terminate her own pregnancy.

When the door opened, there was a scatter of mail on the floor. Joy started to bend down gingerly but Janine moved faster. "Let me," she said.

Let me drive you home.

Let me get you settled.

Janine had taken over like a mother hen, which was odd given that they were probably close to the same age. She watched Janine gather the bill and flyers. "Perry," Janine said, and she offered a small smile. "I didn't know your last name."

Joy looked at her. "Same."

"DeGuerre," Janine answered. She held out her hand. "Nice to meet you. Officially."

Joy smiled awkwardly, uncomfortable with the forced intimacy. All Joy really wanted to do was strip

down, get into her pajamas and fuzzy socks, have a glass of wine, and cry.

Janine set the mail on the kitchen table and turned. "What can I get you? Are you hungry? Thirsty? How about some tea? She paused. "Do you *have* tea?"

Joy couldn't help it, she laughed. "Yeah. Cabinet over the stove."

While the water boiled, Joy went to the bathroom. She had to change her sanitary napkin, but after a moment of panic realized she didn't have any. She had been told to bring one to the Center since they didn't provide them, and it had been the last in the box. She'd been planning to swing by the drugstore on the way home.

Frustrated, she tore apart the closet, the medicine cabinet, scattering pills and ointments and lotions.

The last thing she pulled out of the recesses of the drawer beneath the sink was a dusty, crusted bottle of calamine lotion. Calamine lotion. For fuck's sake. She had *calamine lotion*, but not a pad?

Joy grabbed the bottle and hurled it at the bathroom mirror, shattering it.

There was a soft knock on the door. Janine stood there, holding her knapsack. She had left it locked in the trunk of her car that morning, so unlike the rest of the possessions of the hostages, it hadn't been part of a crime scene. "I thought you might need this," she said, and she held out a small, square wrapped Kotex pad.

Joy took it, closed the door, and went to the bathroom. She was angry that her savior—again—had been Janine. As she washed her hands, she looked into the fractured mirror. Her freckles stood out in relief from her pale skin; her hair looked like a small animal had taken up residence in it. There was blood on her neck. She rubbed it off with a washcloth. She kept rubbing

until she hurt on the outside as much as she did on the inside.

When Joy came out of the bathroom, Janine had picked up the living room so that the newspapers were stacked neatly and the dirty dishes removed to the sink. She told Joy to sit down and carried over two steaming mugs of tea. Each bag was tagged with an inspirational quote. "May this day bring you peace, tranquillity, and harmony," Janine read. She blew on the surface of the tea. "Well. Screw that."

Joy looked at her own tag. "Your choices will change the world." She stared at the words until they swam. She felt a rolling wave of relief.

The room was painfully silent. Janine felt it too. She reached for the television remote. "What do you think is going on?"

The picture blinked to life on the last channel Joy had been watching, which now showed the exterior of the clinic. It was dark, but police lights were still flashing. A reporter said something about a SWAT team, and there was a grainy photo of a marksman on a distant roof. Joy felt as if she were being suffocated. "Turn it off," she said roughly.

The screen went blank. Janine set the remote down between them. "I just moved here. I don't really know anyone in Mississippi," she suddenly admitted. "Except, you know ... the people I was with."

"What do we do now?" Joy blurted out.

"What do you mean?"

"Tomorrow. I mean, how do we go back to normal?" Joy shook her head. "Nothing's normal."

"I guess we fake it," Janine said. "Till we forget we're faking." She shrugged. "I'll probably just do what I did before. Hold signs. Pray."

Joy's jaw dropped. "You'll keep protesting?"

Janine's glance slid away. "Who knows if the clinic will even open again."

If after all *that*, other women didn't have the opportunity do what Joy had done, then why had she lived through it at all?

Joy felt a surge of heat. How could Janine not recognize that it was rhetoric spouted by herself and her cronies that led to violence? When they passed judgment on people like Joy, it gave license to others to do it. And this time, the person who had done it had been wielding a gun.

"In spite of what happened today," Joy said, incredulous, "you still think you're right?"

Janine looked her in the eye. "I could ask you the same thing."

Joy stared at this other woman, who believed the polar opposite of what she believed, yet with the same strength of conviction. She wondered if the only way any of us can find what we stand for is by first locating what we stand against.

"Maybe you'd better go," Joy said tightly.

Janine stood up. She looked around, located her knapsack, and headed silently for the door.

Joy closed her eyes and leaned back on the couch. Maybe there just *wasn't* any common ground.

Did all babies deserve to be born?

Did all women deserve to make decisions about their own bodies?

In what Venn diagram did those overlap?

She heard the knob turn, and then Janine's voice. "Well," she said, miffed, as if *she* were the one whose morality had been attacked. "Have a nice life."

Joy wondered how you get someone you think is blind to see what you see.

It certainly can't happen when you're standing on opposite sides of a wall.

"Wait," Joy said. She dug her hand into the pocket of her sweatpants. "Can I show you something?" She didn't wait for Janine to respond. Instead she smoothed out the ultrasound picture on the coffee table. Her fingers touched the white edges.

She heard Janine close the door and walk back toward the couch. Janine looked at the grainy image, bearing witness.

"It's—it was a boy," Joy murmured.

Janine sank down beside her. "I don't know what you want me to say."

Joy knew this wasn't true; that Janine had a dozen responses, all of which were variants of the fact that Joy had made her choice; that she didn't deserve to grieve. She wanted to tell Janine that yes, she had gotten what she wanted, but she also felt the pain of loss, and they were not mutually exclusive.

"Maybe neither of us should say anything," Joy suggested.

Janine covered Joy's hand with her own. She didn't respond.

She didn't have to.

She just had to be here, one woman holding up another.

Almost three hours north of the hostage standoff, in Oxford, Mississippi, a teenage girl curled on her side in bed at Baptist Memorial Hospital, wondering how she could feel so incredibly alone in a world so crowded with

people. Beth rolled over when the door opened—her heart swelling with hope that maybe her father had come back to say that he was sorry, that he forgave her, that she could have a second chance. But it was only her court-appointed lawyer.

Beth glanced at the police guard at the door, and then at Mandy DuVille. "Did you find my dad?" she asked.

Mandy shook her head, but that wasn't really an answer. Beth knew (because Mandy had told her) that she couldn't and wouldn't talk to her client while the policeman was present because there was no client-attorney confidentiality. Which was really just as well, because Beth didn't need any more bad news. The charges weren't going to be dropped. The prosecutor wanted to ride Beth's sad little story all the way to Election Day. Beth was only collateral damage.

And what was her crime, exactly? She was a seventeen-year-old girl who didn't want to be a mother, and because of that, she was going to lose what was left of her childhood. She had tried to get a judicial waiver because she knew her father would never sign the consent papers—even though by the time she had the baby, she'd be over eighteen. But her court date had been postponed for two weeks, and by then it would have been too late for her to have an abortion in the state of Mississippi. She'd been forced to take desperate measures.

Maybe if there were fewer laws, Beth thought, she wouldn't have had to break them. Given how hard it was for her to get a legal abortion, why should she be punished for having an illegal one?

Suddenly reality knocked the breath out of her. It felt like the one time her father had taken her to see the ocean on the Georgia coast. Beth had been a kid. She had run toward the waves with her arms wide, only to find herself tumbled head over heels and nearly drowned. Her father had plucked her out of the surf before she could be washed away.

Who was going to rescue her now?

"I'm going to jail," Beth said, her voice small. She was starting to see that nothing she had done, nothing Mandy DuVille could do, was going to untangle her from this mess. It was like when you tried to erase a mistake, and wound up ripping the paper instead. "I'm really going to jail."

Mandy looked at the officer, who had turned around to face them. She raised a finger to her lips, reminding Beth not to speak in front of the cop.

Beth started to cry.

She curled her knees up to her chest, feeling empty inside. She was a husk, a shell, a rind. This was how badly she had fucked up. She had gotten rid of the baby, true, but she had also somehow excised her ability to feel. Maybe taking away the latter was the only way she could have taken away the former. Or maybe this was fate: if the only love you had ever known was conditional, so was the absence of it. She would rot away behind bars, missed by no one. Even if her father came back, it wouldn't be to apologize. It would be to tell Beth how disappointed he was in her.

After a moment, she felt arms folding her close. Mandy was soft and smelled of peaches. Her braids tickled Beth's cheek. *This is what it could have been like*, Beth thought.

After a few minutes, her sobs became hiccups. Beth lay down on the pillow, her fingers still threaded with Mandy's. "You should get some rest," her lawyer said.

Beth wanted to fall asleep. She wanted to pretend that today had not happened. Well, no. She wanted to pretend that today had gone differently. "Can you stay here?" Beth asked. "I don't have—I don't have anyone else."

Mandy met her gaze. "You have me," she said.

__

As Hugh started walking to the front door of the clinic, he thought of the day that Wren was born. He and Annabelle had been at home watching a Harry Potter marathon when her contractions started. They were getting closer and closer, but Annabelle refused to leave until *The Chamber of Secrets* was over. Her water broke during the credits. Hugh drove like a maniac to the hospital, leaving the car in a loading zone, and got his wife settled on the delivery ward. She was already dilated 9¾ centimeters, which Annabelle saw as a sign.

I'm not naming her Hermione, Hugh had said, after the birth.

I'm not naming her after your mother, Annabelle had countered.

(Even back then, they had fought.)

The nurse, who had been following this conversation, opened a window. *Maybe we all need a little fresh air*, she suggested, just as a bird darted through. It fluttered to the lip of the bassinet where the baby was sleeping. The bird turned its head, fixed a bright eye on her.

Now, that's a sign, Hugh said.

Wren was the very best thing that had ever happened to him.

He bought her her first bra. He let her paint his nails. He told her kids were assholes when she wasn't invited to a popular girl's birthday party, and then spitefully gave that girl's mother a ticket the next day for jaywalking.

Every August they hiked to the highest spot in Jackson, waiting to see the Perseids, the meteor shower that made the sky look like it was weeping. They'd pull an all-nighter, talking about everything from which Power Ranger was expendable to how you find the person you want to spend your life with.

Hugh had had trouble with that one. In the first place, his judgment had been off; Annabelle now lived in France with a guy ten years her junior, a master baker who competed in the Bread Olympics, as if that was a *thing*. In the second place, the person he wanted to spend his life with had been placed into his arms by a labor and delivery nurse fifteen years ago.

Now, Hugh glanced over his shoulder. Captain Quandt tilted his head, speaking into a radio. "If you don't get him to meet you partway, my snipers can't get a clean shot," he said to Hugh.

"Not my problem," Hugh replied, moving forward.

"Hugh!"

He stopped.

"You don't have to be a hero," Quandt said quietly.

Hugh met his gaze. "I'm not. I'm a father."

He squared his shoulders and started toward the clinic door. Behind him, the air was stale with heat; the only sound was the buzzing of mosquitoes.

He knocked. A moment passed, and then he could hear furniture scraping the floor.

The door swung open, and there stood Wren. "Daddy," she cried, and she took a step toward him, but was jerked back inside. Hugh reluctantly tore his eyes away from his daughter to look, for the first time, at the man he had been talking to for five hours.

George Goddard was slight, around five-ten. He had a five o'clock shadow and a bandage wrapped around the hand that was holding a gun to Wren's temple. His eyes were so light they appeared transparent. "George," Hugh said evenly, and Goddard nodded.

Hugh was aware of the pulse leaping in his neck. He tried to keep himself calm, to not grab Wren and run, which could be disastrous. "Why don't you step out here, and let her go?"

George shook his head. "Show me your weapon."

Hugh held up his hands. "Don't have one."

The other man laughed. "You think I'm an idiot?"

After a hesitation, Hugh reached down and hiked up his pants leg, revealing the pistol he had strapped there. Keeping his eyes on George the entire time, he tugged the weapon free and held it off to the side.

"Drop it," George ordered.

"Let go of her and I will."

For a beat, nothing happened. June bugs paused midflight, the breeze died, Hugh's heart missed a stitch. Then George shoved Wren forward. Hugh caught her up with his left arm, leaving the right outstretched with the weapon dangling. "It's okay," he whispered into his daughter's hair.

She smelled of fear and sweat, the way she had when she was little and woke up from a nightmare. He drew back, threading the fingers of his free hand with one of hers. On the edge of her left palm was a little black star, inked like a tattoo at the juncture of her thumb and pointer. It felt like a sign. "Wren." Hugh smiled at her, as best he could. "Go on now. Walk to the officers under that tent."

She turned and looked at the command center, then back at him. She realized in that moment that he wasn't coming with her. "Daddy, no."

"Wren. Let me finish this."

She took a breath, and nodded. Very slowly, she started to back away from him, toward the tent. None of the other officers stepped forward to swoop her to safety, as they had the other hostages. This was on Hugh's order. Before, George had been hidden behind the security of his door, but now, he'd feel vulnerable. Seeing an approaching cop might trigger him, make him shoot in self-defense.

When Wren was a few steps away, George spoke. "Put down the gun." He took his own firearm and pointed it at Hugh's chest.

Hugh bent, slowly letting the weapon slip from his fingers. "All right, George," he said. "What do you want to do, now? Your call."

He saw the gunman's eyes flicker around the rooftops, and prayed that if the snipers were in position, they were well concealed.

"You told me you'd do anything for your daughter," George said.

Hugh felt his throat tighten. He did not want George talking about Wren. He didn't even want him *thinking* about her. He risked a peripheral glance; she was maybe halfway to the command center.

"You keep saying we're not that different," George continued. "But you don't really believe that."

No matter what Hugh had said to gain George's trust, he was well aware that there was and always would be a seminal difference between them, and it had to do with morality. Hugh would never take a life because of his own beliefs.

He realized with a tiny shock that exact conviction was what had brought George here today.

"George, this can still end well," Hugh said. "Think of your daughter."

"She'll never look at me the same after this. You don't get it."

"Then make me understand."

He expected George to reach for him, to pull him back into the clinic, where he could barricade the door and use Hugh as a bargaining chip. Or kill him.

"All right," George said.

The twilight was bleeding, it was the seam between day and night. Hugh saw the gun move. He reached for his pistol, sheer habit, and remembered that he was unarmed.

But George's gun was no longer pointed at Hugh. It was aimed at Wren—still twenty feet shy of the tent—a moving target Hugh had arrogantly believed he could keep safe.

_

WHEN HIS DAUGHTER WAS YOUNGER, George had read to her from the Bible, instead of fairy tales. Some stories, he knew, just don't have happy endings. Better for Lil to understand that love was about sacrifice. That what looked like carnage, from a different angle, might be a crusade.

We are all capable of things we never imagined.

Well, Detective, he thought. You asked me to make you understand and I did. You and I, we're not that different.

Not the hero and the villain, not the pro-life activist and the abortion doctor, not the cop and the killer. We are all drowning slowly in the tide of our opinions, oblivious that we are taking on water every time we open our mouths.

He wished he could tell his daughter that he realized this, now.

He pulled the trigger.

Four p.m.



A FTER HOURS OF TALKING WITH THE SHOOTER OVER A SECURE LINE, Hugh had been lulled into complacency. He had mistakenly assumed that it was possible to reason with a madman.

But then there had been another gunshot, and Hugh's only thought was of his daughter.

When Wren was two, he had taken her along when he went down to fix a little dock that sat out behind Bex's property, on the edge of a weed-choked pond. He was hammering treated wood into place while she sat on the grass, playing with a toy her aunt had given her. One minute she had been laughing, chattering to herself, and the next there was a splash.

Hugh hadn't even thought. He jumped off the dock into the water, which was so murky and clogged that he couldn't see a foot in front of him. His eyes burned as he struggled to spot anything that might be Wren. He dove over and over, his hands outstretched and spinning through weeds, until finally he brushed against something solid. He broke through the water with Wren wrapped in one arm, laid her on the dock, fitted his mouth against hers, and breathed for her until she choked up the swamp.

Hugh had screamed at Wren, who'd burst into tears. But his anger was misdirected. He was furious at himself, for being stupid enough to take his eyes off of her.

There had been a gunshot, and Hugh was in that muddy pond again, blindly trying to save his daughter, and it was all his fault. There had been a gunshot, one that struck his sister, and he hadn't been there.

There was a gunshot, and what if that meant he was too late, again?

Captain Quandt was immediately at his side. "McElroy," he said. "There's active gunfire. You know the protocol."

The protocol was to engage rather than wait and suffer the loss of more victims. It was also risky as hell. When gunmen felt threatened, they started panicking, firing at random.

Had he been Quandt, he might well have made the same call. But Hugh hadn't yet confessed to Quandt that his own child was inside. That this wasn't random at all.

There had been other hostage situations that had become bloodbaths because the law enforcement agencies were too aggressive. In 2002 Chechen rebels went into a theater, taking hundreds of hostages and even killing two; Russian forces decided to pump an untested gas inside to end the standoff. They killed thirty-nine terrorists but also over a hundred hostages.

What if that happened when Quandt went in?

"It wasn't active gunfire," Hugh said, trying to buy time. "It was a single shot. It's possible that the threat neutralized himself."

"Then there's zero risk," Quandt pointed out. "Let's go." He didn't wait for Hugh to respond, just turned on his heel to organize his team.

There had been several moments in Hugh's experience that changed his life. The day he asked Annabelle out. The night that suicidal kid on the roof turned and gave Hugh his hand. When Wren took her first breath. This would, he knew, be another of those moments: the one that ended his career.

"No," Hugh said, to Quandt's back. "My daughter's one of the hostages."

The SWAT commander turned slowly. "What?"

"I didn't know at first. I found out after I got here," Hugh explained. "But I didn't—I didn't step down. I couldn't."

"You're relieved of your position," Quandt said flatly.

"Only my chief can do that," Hugh said. "And I'm in too deep now with the hostage taker to walk away. I'm sorry. I know the rules. I know it's a conflict of interest. But my God, Captain—nobody has greater incentive for this to end well than I do. You understand that, don't you?"

"I understand that when you lied to me, to the chief, to *everyone*—you knew exactly what you were doing."

"No. If I knew what I was doing, she'd be here with me." Hugh cleared his throat and forced himself to look the commander in the eye. "Don't make my daughter pay for my stupidity. Please," he begged. "It's my *kid*."

He was underwater again, and flailing in the weeds. He was drowning.

Quandt stared him down. "Everyone in there," he said, "is somebody's kid."

BEX STARED AT THE FLUORESCENT lights overhead in the hospital's operating room, wondering if she was going to die.

She was worried. Not for herself, but for Wren, for the rest of the people in the clinic. And of course for Hugh, who shouldered this burden. He would blame himself for anything that went wrong today. Some men wear responsibility and some are worn by it; Hugh had always been the former. Even at her father's funeral, when Hugh had been just eight, he insisted on shaking the hand of everyone who came to grieve. He was the last to leave the grave site, walking back to the parking lot with the minister. Bex had settled her sobbing mother in the car and gone back to get Hugh. "I'm the man of the house now," he'd told her, and so she had spent the rest of her life walking behind him, trying to inconspicuously take away some of the load he carried.

It was why she had moved back home, when her mother's grief made her turn to a bottle and neglect Hugh.

It was why she made sure that there was a female presence in Wren's life after Annabelle was gone.

It was why she had brought Wren to the clinic.

The anesthesiologist leaned over her. "You might feel a little burning," he said, "but then you're going to have the best nap of your life."

When Hugh was little, he had never wanted to go to sleep at night. She used to have to create two alternatives that gave him a choice and the sense he was in control: Do you want to walk upstairs to your room, or do you want me to carry you? Do you want to brush your teeth first, or wash your face? Either scenario ended in bedtime. But then he began to get wiser. He would ask her to read three books, and she would counter with one, and he would laugh and tell her he'd been hoping for two all along.

Even at five, he had been a negotiator.

When the anesthesia took effect, Bex was smiling.

_

Janine could feel the ghosts. They were sitting in her lap and in her arms and pulling at the hem of her dress. This building was full of babies without mothers. She had come to get information. Intelligence. Something that could be revealed online, the way Lila Rose had done, to expose the reality of these murder centers. She was never supposed to get stuck here.

Janine had grown up on the southwest side of Chicago, where you came not from neighborhoods, but from parishes. She was from St. Christina, and she knew from the time she was a young child that a baby was a baby the moment it was conceived. At the very least, it was a human person in progress.

She was not unrealistic. She understood that abstinence wasn't always possible, that birth control sometimes failed, but if a couple decided to engage in an activity that could potentially create a life, they should also be prepared to accept a change in their *own* lives. She knew, of course, that it wasn't just a woman who was responsible for a pregnancy—although it *was* the woman who had to carry the baby for nine months. But nine months was a hiccup in the time line of a woman's life. And it wasn't the child's fault that led to him or her being conceived. So why should he have to pay with his life?

Janine had been told she was anti-woman. That she was ridiculous. That if she didn't want an abortion, she didn't have to have one. But she knew that if a woman killed that same bundle of cells a few months later, there wouldn't even be an argument. She would be vilified and put in jail for life. The only difference was the calendar.

Janine had been twelve when her mother conceived again, an accident, at age forty-three. She remembered how her parents had come home from an appointment with two new bits of knowledge: the baby was a boy, and he had one extra chromosome. The doctor had counseled her mother to terminate the pregnancy, because the baby's life would be full of developmental and health challenges.

She'd been old enough to pick up on her parents' fear. She had Googled Down syndrome. Half the kids who were born with Down syndrome also needed heart surgery. They had increased chances of developing leukemia and thyroid problems. By age forty, many had early Alzheimer's. And then there complications: infections, hearing loss. skin ear problems, bad vision, seizures, gastrointestinal disorders.

She believed she knew everything about her baby brother before he arrived. But she didn't know that Ben would have a belly laugh that made her start laughing, too. Or that he would be ticklish on his right foot but not his left. She didn't know that he wouldn't go to sleep unless Janine read him exactly three books. She knew that he would meet milestones later than other kids, that he might need help. But she didn't know how much she would need him.

It wasn't all rosy. There were blogs where parents talked about having kids with Up syndrome, and how they'd been given an extra blessing from God in the form of that additional chromosome. That was bullshit. It took Ben three years to be potty trained. He whined when he was tired, like any other little brother. He was bullied in school. One year, Ben had a surgery on Janine's birthday, and her parents completely forgot to give her a cake, a party, a moment of attention.

At college, when she was president of the Students for Life club, she had plenty of conversations about the moral quicksand of abortion, and she used her brother as an example. Ben may not have been the child her parents had expected, but he was the one they got. Having a child is a terrible risk, no matter what. You might have a healthy baby who then gets a heart condition, diabetes, addicted to opioids. You might raise a kid who gets her heart broken, who miscarries her own baby, whose husband dies fighting overseas. If we are meant to only

have children who never encounter difficulty in life, then no one should be born.

Had Janine's mother done what the doctor suggested at that prenatal appointment, Ben would never have existed. She wouldn't have seen the triumph on his face when he finally learned how to tie his own shoes, when he brought home his first friend from school. He wouldn't have been there on the day her dog Galahad was hit by a truck, the day everything went wrong, when no one could make her stop crying and Ben just crawled into her arms and hugged her.

Now, Janine glanced at Joy, who was curled sideways in her chair, her face buried in her hands. She wished she had been standing at the fence today when Joy came into the clinic to have her abortion. She might have kept her from making the decision she had.

It was too late for Joy's baby. But that didn't mean it was too late for Joy.

Janine sat up a little straighter. Even Norma McCorvey changed her mind. She had been Jane Roe in *Roe v. Wade.* In the 1970s, when she was twenty-two, she found herself pregnant for the third time. She lived in Texas, where abortion was illegal unless the mother's life was at risk. Her lawsuit went all the way to the Supreme Court, and of course, you know how *that* turned out. She became an abortion advocate, until the nineties, when she did an abrupt one-eighty. From that moment, all the way till she died in 2017, she asked the Supreme Court to overturn their decision on her case.

What led to her change of opinion? She was born again.

Janine smiled to herself.

Born again.

She didn't think it was any coincidence that the term for letting God back into your heart had, at its core, birth. ___

IZZY SAT ON THE FLOOR beside the body of Olive Lemay. Her hands were still shaking with the effort of trying to resuscitate the woman, but she had known that there wasn't a prayer. The gun had gone off at close range. The bullet had torn through the older woman's heart. Even as Izzy had tried to stanch the flow of blood, she had felt Olive's hand come up to cover hers. She had seen the fear in the woman's eyes.

"That was a very brave thing you did," Izzy whispered fiercely.

Olive shook her head. Her eyes held Izzy's.

Sometimes, being a nurse doesn't matter. Being human does.

So Izzy eased up the pressure on Olive's chest. She grabbed Olive's hand with both of her own and she stared into the woman's eyes, nodding in answer to the question that hadn't been asked.

She had been in this profession long enough to know that people sometimes seemed to need permission before they left this world.

The first death she ever saw was when she had been a nursing student, and had a patient with metastatic breast cancer. The woman was a former beauty queen, now in her fifties. She'd been in the hospital before for palliative care and for rehab after a pathological fracture. But this time, she had come back to die.

One quiet night, after her family left, Izzy had sat down beside the sleeping woman. Her head was bald from the chemo; her face was gaunt, and yet somehow it only served to make her features more arresting. Izzy stared at her, thinking of the woman she must have been, before cancer ate away at her.

Suddenly the woman's eyes blinked open, a lucid and lovely sea green. "You've come to get me, haven't you?" she said, smiling softly.

"Oh no," Izzy replied. "You're not going for any tests tonight."

The woman moved her head imperceptibly. "I'm not talking to you, honey," she said, her gaze fixed somewhere over Izzy's shoulder.

A moment later, the woman died.

Izzy always wondered what she would have seen, had she been brave enough to turn around that night.

She wondered if she would be shot, like Olive.

She wondered how long it would be until an autopsy was done, and someone found out she was pregnant.

She wondered, if her life ended today, whether anyone would be waiting for her on the other side.

_

IF HE HAD NOT BEEN given detention by the nuns in seventh grade, Louie Ward might never have become an obstetrician. In the school library, he picked up a book that was lying on the table—a biography of the Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Out of sheer boredom Louie started to read. He didn't put the book down until he was finished. Louie was convinced that this man was speaking directly to him.

He began to read everything he could that the reverend had written. *Life's most persistent and urgent question*, Dr. King had said, *is what are you doing for others?* He read those words and thought of his mama, bleeding out on the floor.

Like his mentor, Louie wanted to be a doctor, but a different kind: an ob-gyn, because of his mother. He worked hard enough to get a full scholarship to college, and then another to medical school.

When he was a resident, he came in contact with multiple women who had unplanned, unwanted pregnancies. As a practicing Catholic, he believed life started at conception, so he referred these patients to other doctors, other places. Much later in his career he would learn that although 97 percent of doctors had encountered a patient who wanted to terminate a pregnancy, only 14 percent performed abortions themselves. When the gap was that great, it was not like abortions stopped. They just got done unsafely.

One Sunday, Louie's priest was giving a homily about the parable of the Good Samaritan in the Gospel of Luke. A traveler, beaten and left for dead on the side of the road, was passed by a priest and a Levite—neither of whom stopped. Finally, a Samaritan offered his help, even though historically Samaritans and Jews were enemies.

On the day before Martin Luther King, Jr., was killed, he had talked about that parable. He considered why the priest and the Levite might have walked past the beaten man—maybe they thought he was faking; maybe they were worried for their own safety. But most of all, he mused, the reason they passed was because they were thinking of what would happen to *themselves* if they stopped—not what would happen to that man if they didn't.

Louie knew in that instant, he had to be the Samaritan. So many of the women he met who were seeking abortions were, like him, southerners of color. These were the women who had raised him. These were his neighbors, his friends, his own mother. If he didn't interrupt his own journey to help them with theirs, who would?

It was the one truly miraculous moment of Dr. Louie Ward's life.

At that moment Louie realized why his mama had gone to see Sebby Cherise. It wasn't because she was having the child of a prominent married white man. It was because she had been protecting the child she already had, at the expense of the one she hadn't wanted to conceive. This was a variation on a theme he had heard from patients: I have a child with a disability; I don't have the time to parent another one. I can barely feed my son; what will I do with a second baby? I already work three jobs and take care of my family—there isn't any more of me to go around.

So although Louie still went to Mass like clockwork, he also became an abortion provider. He flew several times a month to offer his services at women's clinics. The only person who didn't actually know what he did for a living was his grandmama.

She was in her nineties by the time Louie went back home to confess. He told her about the runner who had worked her whole life to secure a spot on the Olympic team, and then found herself pregnant after a condom broke. He told her about the woman who learned, in an opioid treatment program, that she was twelve weeks along.

He told her about a lady from a small, narrow-minded place who had been so blinded by the sun of a respected married man that she believed he would support her and claim their child as his own, only to learn that wasn't how the world worked. They both knew who Louie was talking about. *Grandmama*, he said. *I think Jesus would understand why I do what I do. I hope you can, too*.

As he expected, his grandmama started to cry. *I lost* my baby and my grandbaby, she said after a long moment. Maybe now some other woman won't.

In fact the only objection his grandmama had had to his career was that Louie might be killed by an antiabortion activist. Louie knew that his name had been published on a website, along with other doctors who performed abortions, with information about where he lived and worked. He had known George Tiller, a doctor who'd been murdered while he was at church. Dr. Tiller had been wearing a protective vest at the time, but the gunman had shot him in the head.

Louie refused to put on a vest. The way he saw it, the minute he did, they had won. And yet, every morning he had to run the gauntlet of protesters. He would sit in his car for an extra minute, taking a deep breath, steeling himself for the vitriol and the love bombers—We're praying for you, Dr. Ward. Have a blessed day! He would think of George Tiller and David Gunn and John Britton and Barnett Slepian, all killed by activists who were not satisfied to simply stand in a line and hurl insults.

Louie would count to ten, say an Our Father, and then in one smooth movement, gather his briefcase and exit the car. He'd hit the power lock while he was walking, face forward, eyes on the ground, refusing to engage.

Mostly.

There was one anti, a middle-aged white man, who repeatedly called out, "Sinful Negro baby killer!" Louie had ignored him, until one day he yelled, "Do I have to call you a *nigger* to get a rise out of you?"

That—well. That stopped Louie dead in his tracks.

"What part of me is most upsetting to you?" Louie asked calmly. "The fact that I am African American? Or the fact that I perform abortions?"

"The abortions," the man said.

"Then what does my race have to do with anything?"

The protestor shrugged. "It doesn't. I just throw that in."

Louie almost had to admire the man's scorched earth tactics.

There was only one reason he got out of his car every damn morning: the women he treated, who had to walk through that same gauntlet. How could he be any less brave than they were?

The antis wanted the women who chose abortions to feel isolated, the only people in the universe who had ever made such a selfish decision. What Louie wanted, for every woman who walked through the doors of the Center, was to make her understand she was not alone, and never would be. The most ardent antis didn't realize how many women they knew who'd had an abortion. Wipe away the stigma and all you were left with was your neighbor, your teacher, your grocery clerk, your landlady.

He imagined what it felt like for them—to have made a decision that came at a colossal emotional and financial cost—and then to have that decision called into question. Not to mention the implication that they were not capable of managing their own healthcare. Where were the protesters at cancer centers, for example, urging chemotherapy patients to steer clear of the risks of toxins? Women were capable of taking aspirin if they had a headache, and the intrinsic risk of aspirin was far greater than that of any of the abortion medications that currently existed. If a woman chose a medication abortion, why did the mifepristone have to be taken in front of a doctor, as if she were an inpatient in a psychiatric ward who couldn't be relied on to swallow a pill?

Louie believed that those white men with their signs and slogans were not really there for the unborn, but there for the women who carried them. They couldn't control women's sexual independence. To them, this was the next best thing. Louie shifted and cried out as pain stabbed through his leg. The tourniquet had slowed the bleeding, until the shooter had—in a fit of pique—kicked him hard in the spot where the bullet had entered.

It was hell being a physician but being too injured to treat the others who'd been hurt. That had fallen to the other medical professional trapped here—the nurse, Izzy. He hadn't worked with her before, but that wasn't unprecedented. Vonita, the clinic owner, employed a rotating parade of healthcare professionals brave or stupid enough to show up every day in spite of the threats.

Had employed. Past tense.

He closed his eyes, fighting the feelings that rose in him.

She hadn't been the only casualty. Izzy had tried—desperately and fruitlessly—to save the life of Olive, the older woman. This was true collateral damage: clearly a woman in her late sixties wasn't at the clinic to terminate a pregnancy, but she had still been on the receiving end of the shooter's rage. Izzy now drew a cotton drape over the body. At Louie's moan of pain she turned to check the binding around his thigh. "I'm all right," he said, trying to get her to stop fussing, when to his surprise she did. She bolted a few feet to the left and threw up in a trash can.

One of the other women—his last patient, Joy (formerly fifteen weeks along and now, Louie thought with satisfaction, *un-pregnant*) handed Izzy a tissue from a box on a table in the waiting room. The shooter looked at Izzy in disgust, but didn't speak. He was too busy tending to his own injury. Izzy wiped her mouth and then returned her attention to Louie's thigh. "I'm that bad off, huh?" he said wryly.

She looked up at him, her cheeks flushed. "No, sir. I don't think he caused any major damage when he kicked you. Any additional major damage," she amended.

Louie looked down at her hands, pressing gently around the wound. It hurt like hell. "How far along are you?" he asked.

He waited until she looked up at him. "How did you know?"

Louie raised an eyebrow.

"Twelve weeks," Izzy said.

He watched her hand steal to her abdomen, her palm a shield.

"You're gonna get out of here," he promised. "You and your partner are going to have a beautiful bouncing baby."

She smiled, but it didn't reach her eyes.

Louie thought of all the times he'd administered what he called "verbicaine"—just chatting to ease the women who were so tense about what was going to happen. He would ask if a woman made her grits sweet or savory. If she'd listened to Beyoncé's latest album. What sorority she belonged to. He prided himself on being able to get any woman relaxed, while he calmly and professionally performed the procedure. What he heard most often from his patients was "You mean you're already finished?"

But his reassurance had not worked on Izzy.

Izzy didn't believe him when he said she was going to get out of here.

Because, frankly, neither did he.

JOY HAD TOLD ONLY ONE person about her pregnancy—her best friend, a waitress at the Departure Lounge, a martini bar in the Jackson airport. Rosie had been the one who stood beside her in the ladies' room, counting

down a timer on her phone, while they watched the little plus sign appear on the stick. "What are you going to do?" Rosie had asked, and Joy hadn't answered.

A week later, she made an appointment at the Center. That same day she told Rosie she had miscarried. The way Joy figured, this was just one minor inaccuracy, a small erroneous footnote. The outcome would be the same.

Even though she knew Rosie would have driven her for her procedure, Joy wanted and needed to do it alone. She had been stupid enough to get herself into this mess; she would be smart enough to get herself out.

The first night that *he* came into the bar, Joy had noticed him right away. He'd been tall, lean, and wearing a suit that fit beautifully; his hair was gray at the temples. Joy had looked at his hands—you could tell a lot about a person from their hands—and his were long-fingered, strong. He looked a little bit like President Obama, if President Obama had been so sad that he sought refuge in the bottom of a bucket of gin martinis.

When Joy came on duty, it was the late shift, and she was the only staff in the lounge—it was cheaper to train the waitresses to mix drinks and lock up for the night than to pay additional employees. She refilled the nuts for a gay couple drinking Negronis and printed out the tab for a woman whose flight was being called. Then she went over to the man, whose eyes were closed. "Can I get you a refill?"

When he glanced up at her, it was like looking into a mirror.

Only someone who has been there—trapped in an invisible prison, desperate to escape—can recognize that expression in another. When he nodded, Joy brought him another drink. And another. Three more customers came and went, while she kept an eye on the man at the high-top. She knew he wasn't in the mood to talk; she

had been a cocktail waitress long enough to read those clues. There were some people who wanted to pour out their troubles as you poured their spirits. There were some who texted furiously on their phones, avoiding eye contact. There were the handsy ones, who grabbed her ass as she walked by and pretended it was an accident. But this man only wanted to lose himself.

When he had been there for three hours she stood beside his table. "I don't mean to bother you," Joy said, "but when's your flight?"

He knocked back his drink past the fence of his teeth. "It landed. Four hours ago."

She wondered if Mississippi was his starting point or his destination. Either way, there was something outside this building that he couldn't face.

When it came time to close up, he paid with cash and gave her a tip equal to the amount of the bill. "Can I get you a cab?" she asked.

"Can't I stay here?"

"Nope." Joy shook her head. "What's your name?"

"Can't tell you," he slurred.

"Why? You in the CIA?"

"No, ma'am," he said. "But this is not appropriate behavior for a representative of the court."

So he was a lawyer, Joy thought. Maybe he had lost a big case, something he'd been working on for months. Maybe his client had perjured herself on the stand. There were a hundred scenarios, and she'd seen them all on *Law & Order*. "Lucky for you, this isn't a courtroom," Joy said. "Although there *is* a bar."

He smiled at that. As she turned away to close out the cash register, he tapped her arm. "Joe," he said after a moment. She held out her hand. "Joy."

He peered at her with pale blue eyes, so arresting in the face of a Black man, some historical, genealogical evolution that was more likely due to a moment of force than to passion. He wore the scars of his past on his face, Joy realized. Just like she did.

"Y'all don't look very joyous," he remarked.

That's when she made the decision that would change the course of her life. Joy, who never invited anyone to her apartment, decided that this man needed to sleep off his drink, and start over tomorrow. She decided to give him the second chance she never had gotten.

She locked up, and by then, Joe was passed out, his cheek pressed to the polished wood. Rolling her eyes, she found a wheelchair three gates down and half-lifted, half-dragged Joe into it. That was how she got him to her car, too. By the time they collapsed in a tumbled heap onto the couch in her living room, she was sweating and exhausted. Joe started to snore immediately.

When she tried to extricate herself, though, his arms tightened on her. He stroked her hair. He pulled her against him.

Joy did not even know his last name, or what had brought him to Jackson. But it had been so long since she'd been held, just held. And it had been even longer since she'd felt needed. And so against her better judgment, she'd lain down to sleep with her head on his chest. She made his heartbeat her lullaby.

It was sometime in the dead of night that she woke up to find herself being watched. They were pressed together on the narrow couch and Joe's eyes were soberly focused on hers. "You are a good person," he said after a moment. He wouldn't say that if he knew how she had grown up, what she had done to survive.

When he kissed her, Joy wanted to believe that her conscience would cause her a moment of hesitation, yet that wasn't true. She was on the Pill for period cramps, but even so, this was a stranger. She should have used a condom. Instead, she grabbed on to his shoulders and made him the center of her storm. And even though it was grief he poured into her, it was better than being empty.

Afterward, they were both wide awake and dead sober. "I shouldn't have—" Joe began, but Joy didn't want to hear it. She couldn't stand being someone's mistake again. She went to the bathroom and splashed cold water on her face. When she came back out, Joe was dressed in his suit. "I called an Uber," he said. "I, uh, got your address off an envelope." He handed her an electric bill that had been on the coffee table with yesterday's mail. He gestured awkwardly toward the bathroom. "Could I ...?"

Joy nodded, stepping aside so that he could pass. She told him where he might find aspirin, and he thanked her and closed the door.

Joe returned to the living room. He was tall, she realized, something she had not seen when he was slumped over a table. "I'm not the kind of person who—" she started, but he interrupted.

"I've never done this before."

"Chalk it up to the alcohol," Joy said.

"Temporary insanity."

A car horn honked twice.

"Thank you, Miz Joy," Joe said formally. "For showing me a kindness."

Joy felt like she had shown him her very soul, disfigured as it might be. She looked away as he shrugged into his jacket and presumably out of her life. As she showered that morning, she tried to convince herself that she wasn't the slut her foster mother had always called her; that she was entitled to creature comfort; that they were both consenting adults. She went to her classes, and then to her afternoon job at the college library, and then to her shift at the Departure Lounge, where she found herself looking for Joe although she knew he would not be there.

Until one night he was. That night, he hadn't gotten drunk. He had waited until Joy's shift was over, and accompanied her back to her apartment, where they made love and then shared a pint of ice cream in bed. She learned that Joe was not a lawyer, but a judge. He told her how his favorite moments on the bench were adoptions, when a foster kid got a permanent home. He stroked her hair and said he wished she'd been one of them.

He came back two more times, admitting that he was inventing business in Jackson just to see her again. Joy couldn't remember a time that someone had run toward her, instead of away. She let him quiz her before one of her midterms and cook her a big breakfast before the test.

When you are used to fending for yourself, being taken care of is a drug. Joy became addicted. She texted Joe funny signs she passed on the way to work: the Baptist church with the live Nativity that advertised come see our asses; the gaily flashing stop—three way!; the Taco Bell billboard that said in Queso emergency, pray to cheeses. Joe wrote her back with daily Darwin Awards, anonymously describing the memorable defendants in his courtroom. When he showed up unexpectedly, she called in sick to work at the library so that she could spend as much time with him as he could spare. He was

fifteen years older than she was, and sometimes she wondered if she was compensating for her lack of a father, but then she would realize there was nothing paternal about their relationship. She guardedly began to wonder if this was the moment that her terrible luck turned.

She should have known better.

Biology and evolution and social mores allowed Joe to leave; Joy was the one stuck with the pregnancy. Even though there had been two of them in that bed. Joy realized, in retrospect, she should have expected this. Life had repeatedly served her a big old side dish of miserable anytime she had a taste of anything good.

She had one more year of classes before she graduated with her bachelor's degree—a degree she had fought for by scrimping and saving to pay for her credits. She worked two jobs already in order to make that happen. There was not a world in which she could take care of a baby, too.

That was Joy's reasoning, as she sat in the bathroom at the library and whispered answers to the woman who scheduled her appointment at the Center.

Name. Address. Date of birth. First day of your last menstrual period. Have you been pregnant before?

Have you had any bleeding or spotting since your last period?

Are you breast-feeding now?

Do you have a history of uterine abnormalities?

Have you ever had asthma? Lung problems? Heart problems? Stroke?

And a dozen more questions, until: Is there anything else we should know about you?

Yes, Joy thought. I am pathologically unlucky. I'm perfectly healthy, except for this one thing that never

should have happened to me.

The woman explained that because of the state of Mississippi's requirements, an abortion was a two-day procedure. She asked if Joy had health insurance, and when she said no, the woman said Medicaid didn't cover the cost. Joy would have to scrape together \$600, if she could get here before she was eleven weeks, six days pregnant. Otherwise, the price jumped to \$725 till thirteen weeks, six days. After that, it was eight hundred bucks, till the sixteenth week. After that, the procedure couldn't be done.

Joy was already ten weeks pregnant.

She texted Joe, saying she needed to speak to him, but she didn't want to tell him over text that this had happened. He didn't answer.

She did some math in her head, and scheduled an appointment for a week and a half out. But even after skipping class to double her shifts at the bar and the library, she didn't have enough money by the deadline. So she worked even harder, hoping to schedule an appointment at thirteen weeks. But her carburetor died and she had to pay for it or risk losing both her jobs. Before she knew it she was fourteen and a half weeks pregnant and running out of time. This time she called Joe, instead of texting. When a woman answered, she hung up the phone.

Joy pawned her laptop to get the cash, and rescheduled.

If she'd been richer, she wouldn't have been here today.

She wouldn't have been getting an abortion when a madman stormed the Center and started shooting.

It was just another layer of icing on the shitcake of her life. This morning, when she had walked past the protesters, one of the women yelled that Joy was selfish. Well, she was. She had worked her ass off to get somewhere after aging out of the foster care program. She had struggled to pay for classes at college. She was determined to not wind up dependent on anyone.

The phone rang. And rang and rang. Joy slanted her gaze to the gunman to see if he would pick it up, but he was struggling—unsuccessfully—to tie a bandage around his bleeding hand.

It's crazy, what puts you on a collision course with someone. You might wind up in an airport, drunk. You might be too poor to pick the appointment date you wanted. You might have the bad fortune to be born to an addict, or to be bounced from foster home to foster home.

What had brought this shooter here today with his gun? Joy had heard bits of conversation when he was on the phone with the police outside. He wanted revenge because his own daughter had come here for an abortion. Apparently she hadn't told him what she was going to do.

Joy hadn't told Joe, either, but then, he hadn't returned her messages.

"What the fuck is your problem?" George asked, looming over her.

Startled, Joy pressed herself back against the chair. After what they had done to him—after what she had seen him do to Olive—she was terrified. She felt sweat trickle down her back. She had not felt this way—paralyzed—since she was eight. Back then the villain hadn't had a gun, just fists. But he had still towered over her; he'd still had all the power.

Joy wondered, again, about George's daughter.

She wondered why the girl had wanted an abortion.

She wondered if the girl was watching the news, if she felt responsible.

She wondered what it felt like to have an act of violence committed because someone loved you too much, instead of too little.

—

When she was little, Wren had believed her father knew everything. And she had asked him thousands of questions: *Are there more leaves in the world, or blades of grass?*

Why can't we breathe underwater?

If your eyes are blue do you see everything in blue?

How do you know you're real and not someone else's dream?

How do you get wax in your ears?

Where does the water go when you let the bathtub drain?

Why don't cows talk?

Once she had asked, Are you going to die?

Hopefully not for a long time, he had answered.

Am I going to die?

Not if I can help it.

There were so many things she had not asked her father, that now she wished she had. What it is like to see someone die in front of your eyes?

What do you do when you realize you couldn't save them?

Wren lifted her gaze to the man she had stabbed in the hand, the one who had tried to shoot her. The one who had shot her aunt. The one who had killed Olive. He was wrapping gauze around his bleeding palm, and doing a really shitty job of it. When the gun had gone off, at first Wren couldn't hear anything, and she thought for a second she had actually been shot and this was what death was. But the silence had been her eardrums shutting down, and the blood all over her had come from Olive. By the time Wren *could* hear again, the room bleating in fits and starts, she didn't want to.

The tattered name ripped from Olive's lips, for anyone who would be a messenger.

Janine keening.

Dr. Ward moaning in a yellow haze of pain as Izzy checked his tourniquet.

And a tiny, high whistle that it took Wren a while to figure out was coming from the center of her own body, the sound of fear vibrating through the tuning fork of her skeleton.

She stole a glance at the shooter. He clumsily tied off the bandage, using his teeth.

Just watch. Wren would be the girl who had come to a women's health clinic to get birth control, but still managed to die a virgin.

Suddenly the man lunged forward. Izzy shifted slightly, as if she were willing to throw herself between Wren and the shooter, but Wren would be damned if she let that happen again. She twisted at the last minute so that when he grabbed her forearm and jerked her upright, Izzy couldn't get in the way.

A small cry escaped Wren's clenched teeth, and she hated herself for showing any weakness. She forced herself to look him in the eye even though her knees were knocking together.

Bring it, you motherfucker, she thought.

"Let's go, girl," he said.

She could smell the cellar of his breath.

Where was he taking her? Where was he taking her?

He glanced at the others. "Do not move. If *any* of you move I'll make sure you never move again." As if for punctuation, he glanced down at Olive's body.

"Let go of me," Wren yelled, actively fighting. She tried to pull out of his grasp, but he was too strong. "Let *go of me*!" she shrieked, and she lifted her foot to kick him, but he twisted her around roughly, his arm pressing against her windpipe.

"Do not," he said, "tempt me."

He increased his pressure on her throat until she saw stars.

Stars.

And then it all started to go black.

Suddenly he let her go. Wren fell to her hands and knees, sucking in air. She hated that she was at this man's feet, like a dog he could kick to the curb. "My dad is never gonna let you out of here alive," she gasped.

"Well, too bad your dad isn't with us."

"Oh yeah?" Wren said. "Who do you think that is on the phone?"

For just a moment, everything stopped, like it does at the apex of the roller coaster when you are caught between heaven and earth.

But then, you plummet down.

The shooter smiled. A terrible, reptile smile. Wren realized she did not have the upper hand after all.

"Well," the shooter said. "It's my lucky day."

_

HUGH LET THE PHONE RING five more times and then slammed it down. He was electric with frustration. The hostages had not come out. George was not answering. Hugh's decision an hour ago to cut the Wi-Fi and block all phone signals except the landline had cost him the ability to text Wren to see if she was all right—or if she had been the one who was shot.

It seemed like yesterday that he had driven Wren to kindergarten in his truck. As they turned in to the half-moon driveway of the school, he would tell her to put on her jet pack, and Wren would wriggle into her oversize knapsack. He'd slow to a stop. *Launching Wren*, he would announce, and she would leap out of the car, as if she were setting foot on a new and unexplored planet.

After Annabelle had left them, for several months, Wren had asked when she was coming home. *She's not*, Hugh had told her. *It's just you and me now*.

Then one night, Hugh had gotten called to a domestic that was spiraling out of control. Bex had come to stay with Wren, who was inconsolable. When he got home at 3:30 A.M., his daughter was still awake and sobbing: *I thought you were gone*.

Hugh had pulled her into his arms. *I will never leave you*, he promised. *Never*.

Who would have guessed it might be the other way around?

He felt a shadow fall over him, and looked up to see the SWAT team commander standing shoulder to shoulder with the chief of police. "You should have told me about your daughter," Chief Monroe said.

Hugh nodded. "Yes, sir."

"You know I can't keep you in charge, son."

Hugh felt heat spread beneath his collar and he rubbed his hand on the back of his neck. His cellphone—the one he had been using to communicate with George

Goddard—started to buzz on the card table he was using as a desk. He glanced at the incoming number. "It's him."

Quandt looked at the chief and then cursed underneath his breath. Chief Monroe picked up the phone and handed it to Hugh.

IN 2006, IN THE STATE of Mississippi, sixteen-year-old Rennie Gibbs was charged with "depraved heart" murder when she delivered a stillborn at thirty-six weeks. Although the umbilical cord had been wrapped around the baby's neck, the prosecutor claimed the stillbirth was caused by Gibbs's cocaine use, due to trace elements of illegal drugs in the baby's bloodstream.

The prosecutor was Willie Cork, the same showboat who had been in Beth's hospital room, charging her with murder.

Beth glanced up from the article she was reading over her public defender's shoulder. "Is it true?" she asked. "The prosecutor did this before to someone else?"

"Don't read this," Mandy said, closing her laptop.

"Why not?"

"Because looking up prior cases when you're in legal trouble is like going to WebMD when you have a cold. You'll wind up convinced it's cancer." She sighed. "Willie has major aspirations for the next election. He wants to paint himself as someone who's tough on crime—even for the pre-born."

Beth swallowed. "Did she go to jail? Rennie Gibbs, I mean?"

"No. She was indicted by a grand jury, but the evidence was questionable. In 2014 the case was dismissed."

"That means mine could be, too, right?"

Mandy looked at her. "That means Willie Cork needs a win."

Beth was scared and overwhelmed. She had a hundred questions, and the answer to all of them was probably something she didn't want to hear. She felt tears climb the ladder of her throat, and she turned on her side, closing her eyes, hoping that Mandy wouldn't notice.

She may have fallen asleep. When she heard Willie Cork's voice, she thought at first she was having a nightmare. "What the hell are you doing out here?" he said, and Beth looked out from beneath her lashes to see that the door was open, and he was chewing out the cop who Mandy had convinced to stand outside, so that they could have privacy. "You left them in there *alone*? Get out. I'm having you reassigned," the prosecutor swore, "and I'm waiting until your replacement gets here."

She heard his voice in a one-sided phone conversation with, she guessed, someone at the police station. Mandy got up and stood in the open doorway, waiting for him to hang up. Was it weird that her public defender had sat there the whole time Beth was asleep? Had it been to avoid leaving Beth alone in a room with some male cop she didn't know?

"What are you doing here?" Mandy hissed at Willie Cork.

"I could ask you the same, since I'm guessing that cop didn't wander outside by himself." He crossed past Beth's bed and picked up a silver pen that was sitting on top of the radiator, something she hadn't noticed. "To answer your question, I left this behind by accident." He turned it over in his hand. "Montblanc. My daddy gave it to me when I graduated from law school."

Mandy rolled her eyes. "Keep your voice down. She's sleeping. And you left it behind by *accident*? Come on.

You planted that so you could come back and interrogate my client without her lawyer present."

"Now, now, Mandy. You're soundin' like a conspiracy theorist."

"Says the slick son-of-a-bitch who plans to climb to the district attorney's office by trampling on a frightened, innocent girl."

If Beth had had any thoughts of revealing she wasn't sleeping, they vanished. She concentrated on making her breathing even, on not rattling the handcuff against the bed rail.

"Dismiss the charges," Mandy said quietly. "I'm doing you a favor, Willie. Don't ruin a girl's life because you want to get ahead in yours. You're only going to wind up embarrassed, like you did before."

Rennie Gibbs, Beth thought.

"You're trying to elevate the status of a fetus to personhood," Mandy continued, "and we don't have that law in Mississippi."

"Yet," the prosecutor answered.

Beth had been too nervous to really look at him during the arraignment, but now she did, peeking through the seams of her lids. Willie Cork wasn't much older than her public defender, but he already had threads of silver at the temples of his black hair. He probably dyed them that way, just to look the part.

"Mississippi has a long history of violence against people who've been silenced," he said.

Mandy laughed. "Willie, surely even *you* aren't dumb enough to try to play the race card on a Black woman."

"Unborn children are already part of the fabric of legal documents. Why, my granddaddy made sure I had a trust before I was even a glimmer in my daddy's eye." "You know there's a world of difference between the legal rights of an unborn child and the constitutional rights of a living human being," Mandy whispered, heatedly. "The Constitution may protect liberty and privacy interests, but the Supreme Court has determined that those protections don't take effect until birth, and that prior to birth, a fetus is not a person. States may give a fetus legal rights, but that doesn't make it a person."

Beth's head was spinning. These were a lot of words, and most of them she didn't really understand. What she didn't get was why, if this was all about a fetus, *she* was the one who was handcuffed. She stifled the hysterical laugh bubbling: after all she had gone through to not be responsible for a baby, it turned out she still *was*.

"I'm merely elaborating on a time-honored legal tradition of allowing those who don't have a voice to have one in court. You see it every day, when a guardian ad litem is appointed to speak for children, or people with disabilities. We have laws to protect the vulnerable in this country who can't protect themselves. Like, for example, your client's baby."

"My client's *fetus*," Mandy clarified, "which relied on its host to survive."

"And if that host does something to cause harm, there should be consequences. If she had been attacked by someone when she was pregnant and lost the baby, wouldn't you want her attacker pursued? You know if that was the case, you'd be fighting as hard as I am for justice. We're not going to exclude the perpetrator just because her womb happens to house the child."

"What about the mother's rights?" asked Mandy.

"Can't have it both ways, darlin'," Willie Cork said.
"You don't get to call her a mother if you aren't willing to call what's inside her a baby."

They were not even whispering anymore, and both lawyers had their backs turned toward Beth. It was as if they had forgotten she was the root of this argument.

It wouldn't have been the first time.

The reason she was here, now, was that everyone else seemed to have the right to make decisions about her—except Beth herself. She was so damn tired of being a bystander in her own life.

"You don't have a case," Mandy challenged.

"Don't I, though?" the prosecutor slipped his phone from his pocket, punched the screen a couple of times, and started to read aloud. "Mississippi code annotated 97-3-19: The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be murder in the following cases: Subsection A—when done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed ... or Subsection D—when done with deliberate design to effect the death of an unborn child. And of course, there's precedent."

"That's bullshit."

"Purvi Patel," Willie Cork began. "Twenty sixteen. She took the same pills your client did to terminate her pregnancy, at twenty-four weeks. Got them from a Hong Kong online pharmacy. When the baby died after birth, she was charged with a Class A felony. She was convicted and sentenced to twenty years for feticide and child neglect."

"The evidence wasn't clear in the Patel case that the baby was born alive," Mandy argued. "And the conviction was overturned."

"Bei Bei Shuai drank rat poison to commit suicide when she was thirty-three weeks pregnant. Her baby died, but she didn't, and she was charged with murder and attempted feticide and sentenced to thirty years," the prosecutor replied. "And the charges against her were dropped after she pleaded guilty to a lesser charge and spent a year in custody." Mandy folded her arms. "Every case you've cited has been thrown out or dismissed."

"Regina McKnight," the prosecutor said. "Successfully prosecuted in South Carolina for homicide following a stillbirth caused by prenatal ingestion of crack cocaine. She got a twelve-year sentence."

"Are you kidding? McKnight wasn't even *trying* to have an abortion," Mandy argued.

"You're not making your point here, darlin'. You're making *mine*. If those women were charged with murder and intent wasn't even involved, imagine how easy it's gonna be to lock up your girl."

The door swung open, and a new cop entered. "You will not leave this room," Willie Cork ordered. "Not even if the building is on fire around you. And *you*," he said to Mandy, "well, good luck, Counselor."

Mandy faced him. "As long as *Roe v. Wade* stands, my client had every right to terminate her pregnancy."

"Yes," the prosecutor agreed. "But in Mississippi, she didn't have the right to do it by herself. That, my dear, is murder."

Murder. Beth flinched, and her handcuff scraped the rail. Both attorneys whirled around at the same moment, realizing she was awake.

"I—I'm sorry," Beth stammered.

"Little late for that, isn't it?" Willie Cork said, and he sailed out the door.

GEORGE GODDARD'S VOICE CRACKLED THROUGH Hugh's phone. "I believe," he said, "that I have something of yours."

He knows, Hugh thought. He knows about Wren.

Hugh shivered, even though it had to be ninety degrees outside. He flicked his eyes over the small group huddled around his command center and nodded. Quandt slipped on a pair of headphones to listen in. "George," Hugh said evenly, not taking the bait. "I heard a shot. What happened? Are you hurt?"

Remind the hostage taker you're on his side.

"Those bitches tried to shoot me."

Hugh glanced at the SWAT commander. "So you weren't the one who fired the gun?"

"I had to. They stabbed me."

Hugh closed his eyes. "Do you need medical help?" he asked, although he really didn't give a fuck if George bled to death.

"I'll live."

Quandt raised one brow.

"What about ... everyone else? Did someone get hurt?"

"The old lady," George said.

"Does she need medical attention?"

There was a flicker of silence. "Not anymore," George said.

Hugh thought about Bex, about all that blood. "Anyone else, George?"

"I didn't shoot your daughter, if that's what you're asking," George said. "Now I know why you didn't send in the SWAT team."

"No!" Hugh said quickly. "Look. I didn't know she was in there when you and I started talking."

Find a bridge between you.

"She never even told me she was *going* to the clinic," Hugh added. "You know what that's like."

Hugh held his breath. He hated talking this way about Wren. No, he hadn't known she was going to the clinic. Yes, he hated himself for the fact that she had asked Bex to take her, and not him. But he didn't blame Wren for not feeling comfortable. He blamed his own parenting, for not making it clear that no question, no request, *nothing* was off-limits.

How many parents had he sat with in their own living rooms, while the medical examiner's team removed the body of their teenage child behind them, raw with the marks of a noose or the cuts of a razor? *I didn't know*, they would say, dazed. *She never told me*.

Hugh never said it out loud, but sometimes thought: *Well, did you* ask?

And he had. He would poke his head into Wren's room and say, *Anyone picking on you at school? Anything you want to talk about?*

She would look up from her homework. You mean other than the pipe bomb I'm building in my closet? Then she would grin. No suicidal thoughts, Dad. All clear.

But there were a hundred mines a teenager could step on daily. One of them had slipped through his defense.

Suddenly everything in Hugh went still. Yes, George had a vital piece of information now—that one of his hostages was related to the negotiator. He thought it gave him an advantage. But what if Hugh could use the *knowledge* of that information to tip the scales in his own favor?

"Listen," Hugh said. "Both our kids snuck around behind our backs. You couldn't stop your daughter, George. But you were able to stop mine. You saved her from making a terrible mistake."

It was not true. Wren had not gone to the Center to get an abortion. Hugh knew this. But George didn't.

"You know why I want this to be over, George?" Hugh said.

"You're worried about your kid."

"Yeah. But I also want to meet my grandchild, one day. Because of you, that's possible."

Silence.

"It'd be like getting a second chance. I'm a single parent, George. Just like you. I may not always have been the best father, but I tried to be. You know?"

There was a huff of response on the other end of the telephone line, which Hugh took as assent.

"But I'm also worried about what she thinks of me. I want her to be proud. I want her to think I did everything I possibly could for her."

"We can't both be the hero."

"Hero is just a label," Hugh said. "But honor—that's a legacy. You have a chance, George. A chance to redeem yourself. To do what's right."

He was taking a risk, raising the specter of integrity to a man who had only hours ago gone off the deep end due to a question about his reputation. But then it stood to reason that a person whose dignity had been questioned might crave respect. So much so that he would be willing to surrender in order to get it.

"It's not honorable to quit," George said, but Hugh could hear it—the weakening of bonds between the syllables of his conviction. The *what if*.

"Depends on the circumstances. Sometimes you have to make a choice that isn't what you *want* to do, but

what you have to do. That's honor."

"You're the guy in the white hat," George scoffed. "You've probably never even jaywalked. Everyone looks up to you."

Hugh met Captain Quandt's gaze. "Not everyone."

"You got no idea what you might do when you feel trapped."

George was retreating into his own defensive armor, making excuses for his behavior and using it to sever the connection that Hugh had built with him. He could continue down this rabbit hole, and take all the hostages with him—it would be fast, and it would be bloody, and it would be over.

Or.

Hugh could say something, do something, that would make George realize he was not stuck. That there was a way out.

He stared at Quandt, silently begging the man for a grace period. But the SWAT commander took off his headphones and turned to rally his team.

"You told me you started this for your daughter," he said to George. "Now end it for her."

Three p.m.



HUGH STARED AT THE WINDOWS OF THE CLINIC, MIRRORED LIKE aviator sunglasses. He assumed they were a later addition, when the protesters grew in number. This gave the women inside a sense that once they crossed the threshold, their business was their business alone. Those windows were meant to protect, but today, they were obstacles. No one knew what was happening inside those walls.

He glanced at the phone in his hand, the line dead. One minute he'd been talking with George, seemingly making progress, and the next, he had been disconnected. He dialed again, and again, but there was no answer. His heart was racing, and not just because he'd lost contact with the hostage taker. The last sound he'd heard before George hung up on him was Wren's voice.

Which meant— Oh fuck, he didn't even want to go there.

He opened to the text thread he'd had with his daughter. *Wren*, he typed. ?

R UOK

He held his breath, and the three telltale dots appeared.

She was responding.

She was all right.

He sank into the folding chair someone had brought him a couple of hours ago, holding the phone between his hands and willing the response to come faster. "Hugh?"

At the sound of Chief Monroe's voice, he slipped his phone beneath a stack of papers. He could not let on that Wren was inside. That he *knew* Wren was inside. The minute he did, his neutrality was compromised. "Yeah, Chief?"

He looked up to see a guy in camo approaching. "This is Joe Quandt," the chief said. "He's the SWAT commander. Joe, this is Detective Lieutenant Hugh McElroy."

Hugh recognized Quandt; they'd worked together before.

Quandt held out his hand. "Sorry for the delay," he said.

It was not unusual for a countywide SWAT team to take a bit of time to congregate. The individuals constituting it came from all over the state and after receiving the call of a crisis in progress, had to converge upon it. Hugh had had three hours on his own to manage the situation, but now that Captain Quandt had arrived, there would be a struggle to see who would actually be in charge.

Hugh immediately began to give a rundown of the past three hours. If he acted like he was in charge, maybe it would remain that way.

"Have you got aerial photos?" Quandt asked, and Hugh nodded. It was one of the first things he'd asked for, so that when the SWAT team needed to get snipers into position, they'd know where to place them. He shuffled through the materials on his command desk, surreptitiously glancing at his phone as he did so. Those dots were still there, but no message yet.

. .

• •

"I've already instructed my team to take the perimeter," Quandt said. Hugh knew this was a relief to the chief, who didn't have the manpower to block the clinic entrances, restrict the media, and reroute traffic. "We'll be ready to go in in about fifteen minutes."

SWAT teams existed to back up the negotiator, but they also itched to do what they were trained for—end the showdown by force. Negotiators wanted to do what they were trained to do—negotiate.

"I don't think that's wise. He's got the hostages in the front waiting room," Hugh said, "and he can see you coming through the mirrored glass, but you can't see in."

"We could pump tear gas in ..."

"There are injured people in there," Hugh said, his voice even. *And my kid*.

The chief turned to Hugh. "So what's your plan?"

"Give Goddard a little more time," Hugh said. Let me figure out what's happening inside first. Let me hear from Wren.

Quandt shook his head. "It's my understanding that there were shots fired ..."

"But not in the last three hours," Hugh pointed out.
"I've been able to keep him calm." He looked at Quandt.
"If you go in, can you guarantee that you won't lose a hostage?"

The SWAT team commander's jaw tightened. "Of course not," he said.

Both men turned to Chief Monroe. "Hugh will continue to run with it for now," the chief replied.

Chief Monroe put his hand on Hugh's shoulder, turning him away from the SWAT commander. He spoke in a firm, quiet voice. "You do know what you're doing, don't you?"

"Yes, sir," Hugh said, as if hostage negotiation was a set of rules you could follow, rather than a game where the players made up the rules as they went. "I have to get back to ... I need to ..."

He moved to his makeshift desk again and grabbed his phone.

There was no message, and the dots were gone, too.

He texted again: WREN?

_

When the shooter had yanked open the door to her hiding place, Wren thought her heart was going to burst. She barely managed to hide her phone in her sock before he grabbed her wrist and pulled so hard that she cried out. She managed to claw his face and drew blood, a triumph about which she was supremely happy. He dragged her into the waiting room in the front of the clinic, the one with the windows where you could see out but people on the street couldn't see in. She landed sprawled on her belly in front of a handful of people.

There was a woman in sweats, who had freckles all over her face that stood out because she was so pale right now. There was another girl—maybe in her twenties?—with a giant bruise on her forehead. The redheaded lady in scrubs who had opened the closet door earlier and pretended not to see her, and Olive was sitting on the floor. The only male hostage rested his head in her lap and was breathing heavily. His own scrubs had been ripped off at the thigh, and below a belt of fabric and tape, his leg was bloodied.

Her aunt Bex was nowhere.

Wren felt tears spring to her eyes. Was she dead? Had someone dragged her body into another room?

When she was little, and her aunt Bex used to watch her after school while her dad was at work, they did everything Wren wasn't supposed to do. They ate dessert, and skipped dinner. They watched R-rated movies. Her aunt had promised that not only would she take Wren to get a tattoo when she was eighteen, she would design it for her.

What if neither of them survived that long?

"Tie her hands," the shooter yelled. "Now! You!" He jerked the gun at the redhead in scrubs.

She took a roll of surgical tape and wrapped it around Wren's wrists. She was trying to do it loosely, but it was tape, and there was no way Wren was getting free anytime soon. "Are you hurt?" she whispered. "I'm a nurse."

"I'm okay," Wren managed. "My aunt ..."

"The woman in the closet?"

Wren shook her head. "No. The lady who was shot. Out here."

"Bex," the nurse murmured. "She got out."

Wren collapsed with relief on an empty couch. Aunt Bex was alive. Or at least she had been.

She hoped that the next time she saw Bex, her aunt reamed her for putting her in this situation. She hoped that Bex yelled so loud Wren was brought to tears. She wouldn't mind if Bex refused to forgive her for the rest of her life. Just so long as she *had* a rest of her life.

Wren had begged Aunt Bex to bring her here. If she had talked to her dad, maybe they could have made an appointment with a gynecologist. Maybe she would be snagging a lollipop from a basket on her way out. (Did gynecologists even have those? Or were they just for pediatricians' offices?)

Then again, she never could have asked her father. He didn't even let her wear spaghetti straps to school. All he knew about Ryan was that they were working together on a chemistry project.

Which was kind of true.

But what was combustible was the two of them. Wren thought about the kisses that made her lips feel like they'd been blistered; about how his hand snaked under her shirt and ignited her skin. She thought of the giddy rush of adrenaline that flooded her when they scrambled apart a breath before Ryan's mother opened the door, her arms full of groceries.

Had she told her father about Ryan, he would have been waiting on the hairpin turn near the high school to give Ryan a ticket for driving too fast or too slow or too erratically. He would have done a background check. He would have convinced himself that this boy did not deserve Wren.

There was nothing her father wouldn't do for her. But there were also things her father *couldn't* do for her. When she had gotten her period two years ago, the cramps had been so bad she'd told her dad she was sick and couldn't go to school. He held his hand to her forehead, dubious, because she didn't have a fever. "I have cramps," she told him flatly, and he went bright red and stumbled out of her room. He returned an hour later with two bags from CVS—Gatorade, Advil, a Matchbox car, a Rubik's Cube, a pack of Bazooka gum, a little puzzle with a picture of a kitten. He set them on the foot of her bed, as if he couldn't bring himself to get too close to her. "For your ... um ... *lady-stomach*," he murmured.

Seriously, how could she ask a man who couldn't even say the word *cramps* to bring her somewhere to get birth control?

She had turned to her aunt for help, and it had almost cost Bex her life. It *still* might.

In her sneaker, her cellphone vibrated. She crossed her ankles, wondering if anyone else had heard the buzz, knowing it was probably her dad.

He would not let anything bad happen to her. Even if she could not reach her phone and tell him she was all right.

Sometimes when her father came home from work and was particularly quiet, Wren knew that he'd had a really shitty day. He once told her that being a detective meant you had to peel back the pretty of a town, and see its festering wounds: who was an addict, who was beating his wife, who was drowning in debt, who was suicidal. But he never told her details. She had accused him once of treating her like a baby. It's not that I want to hide anything from you, he'd told her. It's that if I tell you, you'll never look at people the same way.

Wren turned back to the nurse, and then to each of the other women. "I'm Wren," she whispered.

"Izzy," said the nurse softly. "And this is Dr. Ward."

The man lifted a hand, but that was all he could manage.

The woman with a bruise on her forehead met her gaze. "Janine," she mouthed.

"Joy," whispered the woman in sweats.

"What's he gonna—"

"Ssh," Izzy hushed, as the man returned, dragging Olive from the closet and unceremoniously shoving her into the space beside Wren.

"Sorry, ma'am," the shooter said to Olive.

And then he pointed the gun at Wren's face.

IT WAS THE SECOND TIME Olive had come out of the closet, and it was equally traumatic. Now, she glanced around

the room. Wren was shaking like a leaf, her wrists bound. There were red marks on her skin where the gunman had yanked her out of their hiding spot. It was a wonder he hadn't dislocated the girl's arm.

Seeing his roughness, Olive had been the most docile, subservient hostage imaginable as he hauled her out of the utility closet, too. She pleaded with him—what could a sixty-eight-year-old woman do to him, after all? And it had worked. Like most men, he saw only her petite frame, and not the strength of her mind. He pushed her into a couch next to Wren, but he said, *Sorry ma'am*. And he didn't restrain her as he had Wren. Now her brain—her celebrated retired-professor brain—was working in triple time to find a way out of this situation.

He started waving the gun at Olive and Wren. It bounced between them with each syllable, like the little ball on the screen at a sing-along. "Did you think you could hide from me? Did you?"

Olive was trying to be strong, really she was. Peg, her wife, was always the first to tell her she often worried herself into a panic about things that didn't come to pass. Like, for example, a mark on her shoulder that she was certain was a tick bite heralding the onset of Lyme disease. (It wasn't.) A news report about another missile fired off by North Korea, which Olive thought would start World War III. (It hadn't.) "Eeyore," Peg would call her, and in this moment of all moments, the thought made Olive smile.

Well, Peg, I'm in a room with a crazy guy waving a gun and five other hostages. Is it all right to panic now?

"You lied to me!" He turned, the force of his anger bending over the woman who was wearing scrubs. A nurse? "You told me that closet was empty!"

The woman cowered, her arms shielding her face. "I didn't—"

"Shut up! Shut your goddamn mouth!" he yelled.

In addition to Olive and Wren, there were three other women. There was a young woman in sweatpants, and another one with a big bruise on her temple. There was the nurse, whose name must have been Izzy, because the man she was tending to kept calling her that. The doctor, maybe? He was in scrubs, like her. He was big enough to take down the gunman, if not for the fact that his leg looked like hamburger below the thigh, and he was in obvious pain.

Wren's aunt was nowhere to be seen.

And then there was the gunman. He was middle-aged—maybe forty, maybe forty-five. He was wiry, but strong. Strong enough to haul a fighting teenager out of hiding. A silver stubble of beard rubbed along the coastline of his jaw. There was nothing about him that would have made Olive look twice at him on the street, unless their eyes had met. Then, she might have just stopped and stared. His eyes were almost colorless. His gaze felt like a sucking wound.

"I'm sorry," Olive said, in her thickest Elderly Southern Lady accent. "I don't think we've been introduced. I'm Miz Olive."

"I don't care who you are," he said.

One of the other women caught her eye and glanced at the television overhead, where the news was streaming in a weird metaphysical mirror, a reporter with this very clinic over his shoulder. GUNMAN IDENTIFIED AS GEORGE GODDARD, a caption below read.

"Well, George," she said evenly, as if they were sitting down to lemonade. "Lovely to make your acquaintance."

He may have been unhinged, but he was from the South, where even the unhinged had mothers and grandmothers who drilled decades of manners into them. Olive did not believe in using her age except for discount prices on movie tickets and to get 10 percent off at Kroger the second Tuesday of the month. And now, apparently, in a hostage situation.

George Goddard was sweating profusely, running his free hand over his brow and wiping it on his pants leg. Olive had a neuroscience background, but she could do armchair diagnosis with the best of them. Grandiose claims about the self. A sense of entitlement. Lack of empathy. A tendency to lash out, when they feel like they're not being respected.

Narcissistic personality disorder.

Or homegrown terrorist, Olive thought. Either would fit.

If you could see me, Peg, she thought. Olive was the one who peeked from between her fingers during scary movies, who still sometimes had to check the closet before going to bed to make sure there was nothing lurking inside (and goodness, after this episode, she would be doing that all the time). But here she was calmly playing the old lady for all it was worth, the only postmenopausal one in the bunch.

Surely he knew she hadn't come here to get an abortion.

Did it even matter?

The girl beside her burst into tears. Olive wrapped her arms around Wren, trying to will her strength.

The man knelt down, his eyes clouding for a second. "Don't cry," he said to Wren, his voice catching. "Please don't cry ..." He reached out to her with his free hand.

There was something in the way he was looking at Wren, but wasn't *seeing* her, thought Olive. In his mind's eye, this was someone else, maybe someone about her age, who had come to this clinic against his wishes. After all, what else would have set him off?

If Olive was right, and she usually was, what had happened to that other girl?

She and Peg used to sit at the airport, waiting for their flight, and eavesdrop on conversations between men and women, mothers and children, colleagues. They would take turns making up backstories for them. He grew up in a cult and hasn't learned how to bond with someone in a healthy way. She's adopted that five-year-old, who has oppositional defiant disorder. That guy's a sex addict, cheating with his boss's wife.

"Don't touch me," Wren shrieked, as the man reached out to her. She kicked reflexively, connecting with his knee, and he winced and backed away. "Goddammit," he growled, and he started toward her, but Wren let out a piercing scream. George covered his hands with his ears, his eyes screwed shut.

Wren let a loud wail loose again. And another. Maybe she had figured out that her aunt was dead, and she was inconsolable. Olive squeezed her arm. Clearly every time Wren opened her mouth, it set the gunman on edge. She had to see that, even if she was young. Didn't she?

Her weeping was almost rhythmic.

And ... was Wren's foot buzzing?

Wren turned to Olive, and Olive realized that in spite of her cries, not a single tear streaked down her cheeks. Her chin nodded imperceptibly to her sock, where a phone screen glowed beneath and vibrated with a text. She was covering up the sounds with her sobs.

Olive waited until George paced past them, and then she covered Wren's ankle with her palm. She slipped her fingers beneath the elastic and felt around for the power button, turning it off.

Wren sagged with relief, resting her head against Olive's shoulder. The movement made George spin around, the gun trained on her.

Peg, I didn't even jump, she would say, when this was all over.

Olive pasted a wide smile on her face. "George," she said, "I remember some Goddards from Biloxi. They were in the brick business, family-run. You wouldn't be related now, would you? I do believe they moved to Birmingham. Or was it Mobile?"

"Shut *up*," he growled. "I should have left you in the goddamn closet. I can't think when you're yapping."

Olive quieted dutifully, and then she winked at Wren. Because as George was busy silencing her, he had tucked the gun back into the waistband of his jeans.

In the ambulance, Bex tried to speak. "My ... niece ..." she rasped, clawing at the shirt of the EMT.

"Don't try to talk," the young man said. He had soft eyes and softer hands, and his teeth were a beacon against his dark skin. "We're gonna take care of you now. We're almost at the hospital."

"Wren ..."

"When?" he said, mishearing her. "Soon. Real soon." He smiled down at her. "You got the devil's own luck."

What Bex knew was that this was not luck, but karma. If Wren did not get out of that clinic, Bex would never forgive herself. She should have known better than to go behind Hugh's back to the clinic. But Wren had come to her last week after school, riding her bike to Bex's studio; she had been finishing a new commission—a mural going into a skyscraper lobby in Orlando, to commemorate the Pulse shooting. It was a fourteen-by-fourteen-foot profile of two men kissing. The pixels were made not of Post-its, as usual, but of photos of people who had died during the AIDS crisis.

"Cool," Wren had said. "What's it going to be?"

Bex had explained it. "Want to help?"

She gave Wren hundreds of tiny squares of tinted celluloid. Showing her how to affix them to each photo with glue, Bex instructed her to start at the bottom and screen the last ten rows of photographs in shades of violet celluloid. The next ten rows above them would be blue, then green, then yellow, and so on. Standing far enough away, you would see the kiss, but you would also see a rainbow. Standing close, you'd see all the individual shoulders those two men had to stand on in order to embrace each other openly.

"This isn't even a thing for kids your age, is it?" Bex mused as they worked beside each other.

"What thing?"

"Being gay."

"It's queer, FYI. And I mean, yeah. It still is, I think, if you're the one who happens to *be* that way. People assume you're cis and straight, so if you're not, you're different. But who says there's only one way to be normal?"

Bex stopped working, her hands stilling over the lips of one of the models. "When did you get to be so smart?"

Wren grinned. "What took you so long to notice?" They worked in silence for a while, and then Wren asked, "Does this piece have a name yet?"

"I was thinking maybe Love."

"That's perfect," Wren said. "But not just the word. The whole sentence. Exactly the way you said it." She brushed a line of glue around a violet celluloid. "Aunt Bex? Can I ask you something? Do you believe that you can fall in love when you're fifteen?"

Bex's hands stilled. She lifted the magnifying glasses she wore when she worked so that she could look Wren in the eye. "You bet I do," she said firmly. "Is there something you want to tell me?"

And oh, it had been delicious—the way Wren's cheeks had gone pink when she held his name in her mouth; how she talked about him as if there had never been another boy on earth. What love looked like was this: fledgling and unsteady, fierce and soft-shelled at the same time.

Wren didn't have a mother around to talk to her frankly about sex. Hugh would have probably rather carved out his liver with a teaspoon than have that conversation with his daughter. So Bex asked her niece the questions no one else would: Have you kissed him? Have you done more than that? Have you talked about protection?

No judgment, no finger wagging. Just pragmatism. Once the rocket had left the launchpad, you couldn't bring it back.

Wren was fifteen; she was writing his name on the leg of her jeans; she was stealing his sweatshirts so that she could sleep in the ghost of his scent. But she'd also been thinking of birth control. "Aunt Bex," Wren had asked shyly, "will you help me?"

And so it was with the best of intentions that—once again—Bex had done something inexcusable.

She heard a machine somewhere behind her start to beep. The EMT leaned closer. He smelled like wintergreen. "Ma'am," he said, "try to relax."

Bex closed her eyes again, thinking of the bullet that had exploded through her, and the pierce of the scalpel that had maybe saved her life.

This is what it means to be human, Bex thought. We are all just canvases for our scars.

_

When Hugh's phone finally dinged, he lunged for it. But the text wasn't from Wren—it was from a guy named Dick, a state trooper who had been in his hostage negotiation training sessions. Two hours ago, when George Goddard's license plate was run, Hugh had reached out to Dick, who got a search warrant from a local judge and let himself into the empty house in Denmark, Mississippi. Now Hugh had the results of Dick's search: a blurry photo of a handout about medication abortions that had the name and logo of the women's center on it. It was enough for Hugh to connect the dots from George to this clinic.

Where's the daughter? Hugh texted.

There was a beat. And then: M.I.A.

Hugh raked his hair, frustrated by the fact that the only person he didn't want to talk to—his sister—refused to leave the site; and that the people he *did* want to talk to were not communicating: Wren, George Goddard, his missing daughter. Who the hell could negotiate when no one was listening?

What was he missing, now? What could he use that he hadn't used before?

Hugh picked up the phone and texted Wren again. He dialed the number of the clinic, his secure line. One ring. Two.

Three rings. Four.

There was a click of connection, and then George's voice. "I'm busy," he said.

Muscle memory took over. "I won't take up too much of your time, George," Hugh replied. "We were talking about your daughter, when we got cut off."

When you hung up on me.

"What about her?"

Hugh closed his eyes and made a leap into the unknown. "She wants to talk to you."

_

LOUIE WARD KNEW EXACTLY THE moment that something in the shooter had changed. Even though he could only hear half the conversation, he could see that the man grew very still. Hope could do that to a person, Louie knew. Paralyze you inside and out.

"What about her?" the shooter said.

When he—George, his name was George, according to the television still playing in the waiting room—said that, Louie realized two very important things:

- 1. This was personal, for him. Someone—a wife, a daughter, a sister—had had an abortion.
- 2. He wanted that someone's approval for today's actions.

Izzy leaned down on the pretense of tightening his tourniquet. "Her," she murmured.

"Mmm," Louie said. "So I heard."

In the handful of times that the phone had rung over the past couple of hours, the people huddled in the waiting room had been able to take a collective breath. George didn't turn his back when he was on the phone he wasn't that stupid—but he also didn't silence them if they whispered to each other.

"You think it was his wife?" Izzy whispered.

"Daughter." Louie grunted as he shifted and a streak of pain shot up his leg.

"You have either of those?"

Louie shook his head. "I never wanted to make anyone else a target," he admitted. "And eligible ladies don't often celebrate the fact that I spent the day looking into other women's vaginas." Behind him, Janine shifted. "You don't have to have a personal stake to know that it's wrong to kill an innocent baby."

Eighty-eight percent of abortions happened in the first twelve weeks of pregnancy, Louie knew, but the antis acted like those fetuses were already eight pounds and holding their own bottles.

Joy's eyes widened. "You are *not* defending him," she said to Janine. "After he knocked you out?"

"I'm just saying—if it wasn't wrong, then there wouldn't be psychos like him."

Izzy stared at her. "That's the most ass-backward logic I've ever heard."

"Is it? You want to protect children with laws that punish rapists and molesters and murderers. Why is this any different?"

"Because they're not children yet," Izzy said. "They're embryos."

"They may not be born but they're still human."

"Oh my God," Joy said. "Shut her up before I do it myself."

Janine folded her arms. "I'm sorry. I know that he's insane, but you can't tell me there is ever a valid reason to destroy a child."

Louie looked at her. "She's right," he murmured, and the others all stared at him. "There is never a valid reason to destroy a child."

He thought of what he had seen over the years: The Syrian teen who needed to terminate after being raped as an act of war, but who couldn't get consent from her parents, who had been killed in the same war. The sixteen-year-old who had wanted to have an abortion at eight weeks, whose parents stood in her way with their religion, and so her abortion was delayed for six weeks

while she figured out how to get a judicial bypass and to raise the money to terminate. The fourteen-year-old who wanted to keep her baby, but was being pushed by her mother to have the abortion.

A few years back, a twelve-year-old girl came in who was sixteen weeks pregnant. Her hysterical mother and stoic father were with her. She was quiet to the point of disengagement, clutching a tattered stuffed rabbit. She had said that a neighborhood boy got her pregnant, but during the intake process when she was alone with the counselor, she slipped up on her lie and revealed that the baby was her father's. The man was taken off by the police in handcuffs, but that girl, she still needed an abortion.

While Louie performed the procedure he talked to her. He told her, *This is not normal, what happened to you. This is not something you've done.* She didn't respond. She didn't act like a twelve-year-old. She never had been allowed to *be* a twelve-year-old. But he hoped that one day, when she was twice this age, she would remember the kindness of a man who *hadn't* hurt her.

Now, Louie turned to Janine. "What we do here," he said, "what *I* do. Sometimes it lets children be children."

Janine opened her mouth as if to argue the point, but then snapped it shut.

Izzy tried to turn the conversation back to a safer spot. "Well, whoever she is—wife or daughter—maybe she can convince him to let us go."

From the couch further away came the voice of the girl, Wren, who could not have been much older than the child Louie had been remembering. Had she come here to get an abortion? Would they, in other circumstances, have met on the exam table?

"If he was my father," she muttered, "I sure as hell wouldn't talk to him."

FOR A MOMENT, THE ONLY sound in the hospital room was the intravenous pump. Beth lay on her side, her face turned away from her public defender. "I wrapped it up," Beth whispered. "I put it in the garbage. I didn't know what else to do."

She had bought misoprostal and mifepristone, the pills used in a medication abortion, off the Internet. That was illegal in the United States, which Beth hadn't known at the time. Abortion clinics offered medication abortions to women who were up to ten weeks pregnant, but they had to be administered in the clinic. Beth had been sixteen weeks along, and had taken the pills at home. The medication had done its job, but it had also caused enough hemorrhaging to land her in the ER.

Tears slipped down the bridge of Beth's nose. For the first time since she had started talking, she looked at Mandy. "Miz DuVille? It wasn't a baby yet ... was it?"

Mandy's mouth tightened.

"When I went to the clinic," Beth said, "there was a woman outside who said my baby could feel pain."

The lawyer actually recoiled, and that only made Beth feel even worse. Mandy was an attorney, not a shrink. For all Beth knew, Mandy was against abortion, and was only here to do her job. Didn't lawyers have to defend horrible people—murderers, rapists—all the time, no matter what they felt about them personally?

"I'm sorry," Beth whispered. "I just ... I haven't had anyone to talk to."

"It's not true," Mandy said flatly. "The pain thing."

Beth came up on an elbow. "How do you know?"

"Science doesn't support it. I've done the research."

Beth frowned, confused. "But you said you didn't even know anything about me before the arraignment."

"I did the research," the lawyer repeated, "for me." She leaned forward, her head bent, propped against the heels of her hands. "I was thirteen weeks pregnant. Just at the point where you can tell people you're having a baby, without tempting fate. My husband and I were at the ultrasound," she said. "I wanted to name her Millicent, if she was a girl. Steve said no little Black girl is named Millicent. He wanted a boy named Obediah."

"Obediah?" Beth repeated.

"Knock, knock," Mandy said.

"Who's there?"

"Obediah."

"Obediah who?" Beth played along.

"Obediah-dore you." Mandy closed her eyes. "Steve told me that joke, and then after that, everything went to hell. The technician came in and turned on the machine and started the ultrasound and just went white as a sheet." She shook her head. "The doctor who came in wasn't my usual doctor. I remember exactly what he said. This fetus has a genetic abnormality inconsistent with life."

Beth sucked in her breath.

"It was called holoprosencephaly. It happens when two sperm fertilize one egg at the exact same moment. There was a heartbeat and a brain stem, but the forebrain had never developed. If it survived birth, it would die within a year." Mandy looked up. "I didn't want to terminate. I was raised Catholic."

"What did you do?" Beth asked.

"I went online and looked up pictures of the babies who had it. It was ... it was horrible." She looked up at Beth. "I know there are mothers who have kids with profound disabilities, and who see that as a blessing. It was kind of a wake-up call to admit to myself I wasn't one of them."

"What about your husband?"

Mandy looked up. "He said it was a no-brainer."

A laugh burst out of Beth; she clapped her hand over her mouth. "No he didn't."

"He did." Mandy nodded, smiling faintly. "He did and we laughed. We laughed, and we laughed, until we cried."

"Did you ... do you have children now?"

Mandy met her gaze. "I stopped trying after the third miscarriage."

Silence fell between them. Beth spun through another scenario, one in which she had been brave enough to tell her father she was pregnant, one in which she had carried the baby to term, and given it to someone like Mandy. "You must hate me," Beth whispered.

For a long moment Mandy didn't speak. Then she lifted her chin. "I don't hate you," she said carefully. "If you and I both told people our stories, even the most pro-life advocates would see mine as a tragedy. Yours is a crime." She thought for a moment. "It's funny. The logic goes that as a minor, you can't exercise free will to consent, because you don't have the mental capacity to do so. But in your case, the fetus is getting the protection you're not, as if its rights are worth more than your own."

Beth stared at her. "So what happens now?"

"You're going to get discharged from the hospital, in a day or so. And then you'll stay in custody until the trial."

Beth's heart monitor began to spike. "No," she said. "I can't go to jail."

"You don't have a choice."

I never did, Beth thought.

"You're lying," George said. "My daughter isn't here."

Fuck that cop. He might be fishing for information, but that didn't mean George planned to give it to him. Yet now that Hugh McElroy had brought up his daughter, he couldn't stop thinking about her.

Was Lil all right?

Was she looking for him?

"Because she doesn't know what you're doing," Hugh said. "Am I right?"

Lil knew that he loved her. He loved her so much that he had come here to make things right, even though it seemed impossible. George would never meet his grandchild. He just hoped this had not cost him Lil, too.

"How would she feel about you being here, George?"

He had not been thinking about that, clearly, when he came. He was just an avenging angel for her suffering. And he had been thinking of God's word. An eye for an eye.

A life for a life.

"What's her name, George?"

"Lil," he said, the syllable falling from his lips.

"That's pretty," Hugh said. "Old school."

George hated that he'd left her after they argued. He knew she'd be well taken care of in his absence, but he also knew he had fucked up. He'd just never been good with speeches. He didn't know how to say what he was feeling. Pastor Mike used to call him a man of few words, but reminded him that deeds spoke a thousand times more loudly.

That's why he was here, wasn't it?

The drive here had been long, and his thoughts had provided the soundtrack for the journey. He had imagined Lil in all the incarnations of her life—the time she was a baby with croup and he sat up with her all night in a steamy bathroom, the shower blasting hot water; the Father's Day when she tried to make him pancakes for breakfast and set a dish towel on fire; the sound of her voice harmonizing with his when they sang at church. Then he'd pictured himself like an avenger, swollen to comic-book-hero proportions, bursting through the doors of the clinic and leaving destruction in his wake.

He had imagined screams and falling plaster and a haze of dust. But somehow although he could see himself when he started shooting, everything afterward was fuzzy. Revenge, in theory, throbbed with adrenaline and was clean with conviction. In reality, it was rushing into a house on fire, and forgetting to map out your exit.

Behind him, George heard a ripple of conversation. He turned around, the phone still clutched to his ear. "Quiet," he ordered.

"What's going on in there?" Hugh asked.

George ignored him, trying to focus on the scene in front of him. The women were whispering, and the baby killer he'd shot was still lying on the floor, a bandage twisted around his thigh. "Joy needs to use the bathroom," said the kid.

The one who'd scratched him.

He glanced at her hands, making sure they were still tied.

"Well, hold it in," he muttered.

The nurse who was kneeling on the floor looked up. "It's not that," she said. "She needs to check her pad. She just had a—"

"I know what she had," George snapped, interrupting.

"Is everything okay?" asked the cop. There was a strange note in his voice, a vibration.

"I have to go."

"Wait!" Hugh said. "George, I wasn't lying before. I didn't say your daughter was here. I said she wants to talk to you. She's listening to the news, George. And they don't get things right. They're not going to give your side of the story to her. Only you can do that." Hugh paused. "I can make that happen, for you. I can get her on the phone."

"Wait," he muttered, distracted.

"What's wrong, George?" the cop asked. "Talk to me."

He was staring at the television that had been on the entire time. When he first got here, there was some daytime food show on. But now, there was a breaking news banner and a picture of a reporter with the clinic behind her. Her lips were moving, but the volume had been lowered; George couldn't tell what was being said.

What if Hugh was right? What if Lil was listening?

"Where's the remote?" he asked. When the women stared at him like he was crazy—was he? Or was he thinking clearly for the first time in hours?—he barked at them again. "The *remote*!"

The old lady pointed to a shelf near the television.

"Get it," he commanded. He was still holding the phone, but he had tuned out the cop's insistent voice.

The old lady was fumbling with the control. She dropped it, picked it up, and pointed it at the television. "I think this is the right button," she said, but nothing happened.

"Faster!" George yelled, and he jerked the gun at her.

The woman screamed and dropped the controller again.

"Leave her alone!" the kid cried.

"George?" Hugh's voice blistered against his ear. "George, who was that yelling?"

"Give her the damn thing," he ordered, pointing to the teenager. "Kids always know how to work stuff like this."

"What kid?" Hugh said.

George let the phone fall in his hand, holding it against his thigh, as the girl managed to increase the volume even with her hands bound.

"... given that Goddard was in fact dishonorably discharged for killing civilians during his service in Bosnia."

The screen cut to a studio anchor. "So we can say that there's a historical pattern of violence ..."

"Turn it off," George breathed.

He couldn't even see the screen. His vision was blurred, and all he could imagine was Lil listening to this utter bullshit. "That isn't what happened," he muttered.

He could feel the phone vibrating against his thigh, emitting sounds.

Suddenly it was 2001 and he was in Bosnia and he was doing his job and everyone was out to get him.

He thought of Lil, hearing that bullshit. He thought of how, when she was little, she would always play the princess and he had to be the prince who saved her from the ogre or the quicksand or the evil queen. She had never seen him as anything but a hero. And now?

He reached for the nearest piece of furniture—a lamp—and hurled it against the wall.

The women screamed.

He could hear the cop yelling, trying to get his attention.

He hung up the phone.

Well, fuck. They had his attention now.

HUGH HELD THE PHONE IN his hand, the line dead. He had heard two critical things in the background during this last phone conversation: Wren's voice, and the television report on George's military service.

He sank down onto a chair and speared his hands through his hair, making it stand on end. When he was young, Bex was forever smoothing down his cowlicks. That's what it really came down to, wasn't it? Looking presentable to the world, no matter who you were when the cameras weren't rolling and the door was closed.

When push came to shove, was he a hostage negotiator, or a father?

When the two came into conflict, which triumphed?

He looked up, beckoning over a SWAT team member. "Where's Quandt?" he asked.

"I can get him for you, Lieutenant." The man hurried off and Hugh stared down at his makeshift desk, weighing his options.

George Goddard was losing control.

Hugh had heard Wren's voice.

She was still alive.

And this might be his only chance to keep her that way.

A shadow fell over him, and Hugh glanced up to see Quandt standing with his arms crossed. "I can only assume that the reason you want to see me is because you've come to your senses and you're ready for my men to move in," he said.

"No," Hugh replied. "I want you to cut communications."

"What? Why?"

"I don't want any comms in that building that don't come directly from us. I want the phone lines cut, except for the hard line to the clinic that connects to me. No TV signal, no Wi-Fi, nothing. I can't risk him seeing anything else on TV that will send him over the edge."

"What if a hostage tries to communicate with us? Say one of them tries to use her cell—"

"I know what I'm doing," Hugh said firmly.

He recognized the risks. But he also realized this decision would isolate George, so that the only information the shooter got was directly from Hugh himself.

Quandt looked at him for a long moment, and then nodded. He walked off, shouting orders to his men, who would reach out to the cellular companies and cable company and effectively make the clinic an island.

Hugh picked up his phone and texted Wren one more time, just in case she saw it.

Trust me, he typed.

OLIVE HAD BEEN A PROFESSOR for thirty-five years before she retired. Her course was on the workings of the brain, and it always had a waiting list. She started each semester by showing a random student a photo of himself or herself at an event or in a certain geographical place. After a few questions, the student was able to remember that moment, and to fill in details. The catch? The student had been Photoshopped into the picture, and had never actually been there.

Olive would explain to her students that the brain is constantly telling us lies. It simply can't record every detail that our eyes see, so instead, the occipital lobe adds what it assumes is there. The brain isn't a video recording—it's more like a photo album, and in between those pictures it fills in the blanks. The result is that false memories can be created more easily than any of us want to believe. There will be incidents you swear on your mother's grave happened a certain way ... but *didn't*.

She wondered what she would remember of this incident. She hoped, very little. With any luck she would be granted a wondrous and selective amnesia. She hoped the same for all the others who were huddled in the waiting room, watching George fight with his own demons.

And what of George, the shooter? What had his brain pieced together inaccurately, she wondered, to bring him here today?

She raised her hand to her brow, surprised to see it come away bloody. When George had thrown the lamp against the wall, it had shattered, and ceramic and glass shards had gone everywhere. Including, apparently, her temple.

"Let me," the nurse said—Izzy, that was her name. She pressed a piece of gauze against Olive's forehead, though they both knew it was nothing more than a scratch. "We have to get out of here," Izzy murmured. "He's losing it."

Olive nodded. "Oh, George," she said, pasting a wide, dizzy smile on her face. "I hate to be a bother ... but ... George?" She waited until he looked up. "I'm afraid that my age is getting the best of me. Some parts don't work as well as they used to."

He blinked at her, confused.

"I have to pee, dear," she stated.

At that Izzy turned. "If Olive is going to the restroom then Joy has to go, too. It's for medical reasons."

"I have an idea," Olive said. "Why don't we all go now? If we get it out of the way, then we won't be any more trouble."

At that, George snorted.

A Hobson's choice, that was what she had to offer George—a choice that wasn't really a choice at all—like the executioner asking if you'd prefer to have your head severed from your body, or your body from your head. Olive smiled at George. "Would you like me to go first, or Miss Joy?"

George took a step forward. "You think I'm an idiot?" he said. "I'm not letting you go into the bathroom by yourself."

"Well, I hardly think you'd care to *watch*," she replied. She got to her feet. "I don't really think I can wait much longer for you to decide, dear. The muscles in the urinary tract just aren't what they used to be—"

"For God's sake," George cut her off. He stepped forward, grabbing her arm. "Come on."

There was a small single-person restroom off the waiting room where they were all sitting. George dragged her toward it and turned on the light, then gave her a rough pat down. "Go," he said, but when Olive tried to close the door, he pushed it back open. "If you don't want to do it this way, you don't get to do it at all."

Olive considered arguing with him, but in the end she just nudged the door closed a bit. It remained open for all intents and purposes, but she was mostly shielded from the view of everyone. Think, Olive. Think. She did not have a lot of time. She couldn't stand on the toilet and try to send a signal through the small window. George would hear her scrambling, and could poke his head in at any time. She pulled up her skirt, wriggled her underpants down, and sat on the toilet seat.

Beside it was a small cart with specimen bottles and labels and a Sharpie, so that you could write your name on the plastic.

Olive grabbed the pen and unspooled the toilet paper.

There are six of us and one of him, she wrote across three of the squares. We need a plan. Thoughts?

She knew that whatever the others plotted, she would be at a disadvantage. But she also knew to look for a signal. And to act.

Olive pulled up her panties and flushed the toilet. She rolled the paper back up, with the writing carefully tucked in a way that it couldn't be seen until it was unspooled. She washed her hands and opened the door and smiled at George. "There," she said. "That wasn't so bad, was it?"

When Olive came out of the bathroom, Joy stood up, letting herself be manhandled by that crazy asshole before she stepped inside. While she peed, she looked at the pad in her underpants, which was soaked but not soaked through, and this was a good thing since she didn't have a replacement. Then she pulled the roll of toilet paper to ball it up in her hand.

Except, she didn't.

She read.

Then she took the Sharpie, and began to write.

_

Janine had hoped that the shooter would cut her a little slack. Forgo the pat down, or let her close the door. After all, they both believed in the same sanctity of life—even if he had a pretty bad track record with that at present. Instead, he treated her just like one of the other women.

Janine unraveled the toilet paper roll. She looked at the notes in different handwriting. Olive's first statement, and then Joy: What if we jump him?

She could do one of two things, right now. She could take all the toilet tissue and flush it, sabotaging the work of the other women. Or she could admit that through a strange twist of fate, her goals had aligned with theirs.

Right now, Janine was not holding a sign with a picture of an unborn child on it. She was not praying for the mothers who were walking past her. She was the person being prayed for. On any given day, she could have told you that, inside this clinic, lives were at risk. Today, the life was hers.

She reached for the Sharpie. *Trip him*, she wrote. *And go for the gun*.

When Wren was growing up, she thought there was nothing worse than having a mother who had actually chosen a life that did not include her. Her mom still hit the high-water marks—birthday, Christmas—with a card and a present, usually something from Paris that was so not Wren's style she buried it in the back of her closet, not having the heart to throw it away. Her mom had hinted that, now that Wren was older, maybe she wanted to come spend summers in France. Wren would have rather vacationed on the front lines of a war zone. She may have owed her mother for the nine months she carried her in her womb, but that was it.

On the other hand, if there was some divine power, He or She had made up for the loss of her mother by giving her a father who was there for her 200 percent. Unlike her friends, who were always complaining that their parents didn't *get* them, Wren actually liked being in her dad's company. He was the first person she texted when she got an A on a test she had been sure she failed. He told her, honestly, if a pair of jeans made her hips look wide. He taught her about the night sky.

Her dad was also the person you wanted next to you in an emergency. When she went to Lola Harding's birthday party and a few idiots were getting drunk and a kid accidentally sliced his hand open cutting limes and everyone was freaking out, Wren had called her father, who called 911 and came over and took control and didn't go ballistic and call everyone's parents, but somehow managed to put the fear of God into the guy who'd brought the Jägermeister. When Wren was ten and had, on a dare, tried to climb a rose trellis and wound up in the hospital with a broken leg, her father had sat beside her trying to distract her when the painkillers didn't. Pant sweat, he had said, and she'd been distracted enough to stop crying and obsessing over the fact that she could see her bone through the break in her skin. Her dad had tugged at the leg of her sweatpants. There are just some compound words that you should never reverse.

Finger chicken, she had said.

Litter kitty.

Pot coffee.

All things considered, she wished he was here. She had liked being able to text him—it was the next best thing. But since she and Olive had been dragged from their hiding place, that wasn't a possibility.

Except now. The second it was her turn to go to the bathroom, she was going to fire up her phone again and tell her dad everything that was going on.

From where she was sitting on the couch, Wren narrowed her eyes and stared at George. He had been on the phone with her dad, but now the phone was on the receptionist's counter. He held the gun in his right hand. He was sweating.

He had ghost eyes, so light, with the pupils just pinpricks. Almost like you could see right through him.

And if the doctor and Izzy were right, he had a daughter. That may even have been the reason he'd come here. Wren knew better than anyone that you couldn't choose your parents, but she wondered what it would be like if she had grown up with this man, instead of her father.

She wondered what his daughter was thinking right now.

Suddenly he was waving the gun in her face. "What are you waiting for?" he said. "Get moving."

She stood and held up her bound hands. "I can't ... you know ... like this."

For an awful second she thought he was going to tell her to deal with it. Then he scrabbled at her wrists, feeling for the edge of the tape, and unraveled her. Wren felt blood flood to her hands; she shook them at her sides. "Do not," he said, "do anything stupid."

Wren nodded, but she had a feeling that what she thought was stupid and what he thought was stupid were two very different things.

The door was left open. She sat down on the toilet lid and fished in her sock for her phone. Olive had managed to turn it off, so that it wouldn't keep buzzing. When she powered it up again, though, it would make a noise. Wren reached toward the sink and began to run the water to mask it.

She held her breath, muffling the phone against her shirt. She waited for a signal, so that she could text her father.

No service.

That made no sense; she'd had a full signal when she was in the closet. And her phone had buzzed when she was taken into the waiting room, before Olive had turned it off for her. Wren fiddled with the cellular settings. She tried to find a Wi-Fi network.

Nothing.

When her aunt had been shot, Wren had turned into a statue. She hadn't been able to move. She probably would have stood there, just waiting to be killed, if Olive hadn't dragged her into the closet. Her heart had been pounding so hard she thought it would break the cage of her ribs. She had never been so scared in her life, and every time she closed her eyes, she saw that bright banner of blood unfurl on Aunt Bex's chest. But being able to text her father—knowing her father was right on the other side of that brick wall—well, it had tethered Wren to sanity.

Now that was gone.

What if she never got out of this clinic? She was fifteen years old. She hadn't had sex. She hadn't gone to prom. She hadn't smoked a joint or pulled an all-nighter.

Her dad was always telling her to be careful—that he saw far too many mangled car wrecks or drunk drivers who were teens who thought they were invincible. Maybe it sounded ridiculous, given the fact that she had been jerked out of the closet and had a gun pointed at her face, but for the first time Wren now really understood she could die.

A fresh wave of terror settled over her, and she started to shake.

She grabbed one hand with the other. She closed her eyes tight, and tried to imagine every detail of her father's face.

If her dad were here, he'd tell her to take a deep breath. He'd say, *Make sure you're safe. Make sure* everyone else is, too.

He'd say, ...

He'd say, ...

Bed water, she thought.

She let a tiny smile slip out from inside that knot of fear.

Way high.

Paper toilet.

For the first time since she had been in the bathroom, she looked at the toilet paper roll. She saw the message thread, and began to read.

"What the hell is taking you so long?" George said, and he yanked open the door. Wren did the first thing she could think of. She dropped her phone in the toilet, along with the paper in her fist. "I'm al-almost done," she stammered.

His face receded and Wren doubled over. She stood up and fished for her phone in the bowl, but it was ruined. Then again, it hadn't been working anyway and it was better to have it hidden than on her—she knew from watching the others that they had received pat downs from George when they left the bathroom, too. Holding the device by a dripping corner, she lifted the toilet tank cover and hid the phone inside.

She looked down at the soggy mess of toilet paper in her hand. The phone had dripped on it, and the marker had bled illegibly. Wren tossed it into the toilet and then wrote on the roll, succinctly, what Izzy would need to know. She and the doctor were the only ones who hadn't gone to the bathroom yet, and the doctor probably couldn't even get to his feet. We can take him down. Trip him. Go for the gun. Everyone's in.

She rolled the words back up, flushed the toilet, rinsed her hands, and stepped outside.

George was waiting, tapping the gun against his thigh. She felt lost without her phone. *Untethered*.

She could remember asking her dad once what happened during a spacewalk if an astronaut became untethered from the spacecraft. He explained that they wore backpacks they could fire up, with jets to propel them back to the vehicle. They were called Simplifed Aid for EVA Rescue, SAFER.

She took a step toward the couch, feeling the shooter's eyes on her.

"Did you forget something?" he said.

Wren drew in her breath and shook her head. Had he seen her holding the phone?

George grabbed her by the wrist and pulled her toward the others. "Tape her up," he ordered Izzy.

"I'm sorry," Izzy said. The tape roll went around twice, three times. Then Izzy tried to tear it. When that didn't work, she leaned forward, her hair falling over her face and Wren's wrists as she bit the edge of the tape with her teeth.

Izzy looked up, catching Wren's eye for a moment. Then she turned to George. "I believe it's my turn?"

Wren stumbled back to the couch, gingerly sitting down beside Olive again. She gently settled her bound hands in her lap and looked down at them. Clasped between her palms was a scalpel Izzy had managed to pass to her, with a tiny, lethal blade.

DISHONORABLY DISCHARGED. THE WORDS CHASED themselves around George's mind. What if Lil had heard that? She knew that he had been in the army—and she also knew

_

that he didn't like to talk about his time there. But shit, neither did anyone who had seen combat.

He had been in Bosnia, stationed in a hellhole where he was supposed to be keeping the peace but even he knew, early days as it was, that there was no way they could win this one. It had been the end of a long day at the end of a long week and he was drinking at a bar. He'd gone outside to take a piss and had heard a woman's scream.

He should have ignored it. But he thought about his wife, back home, and instead rounded the corner to find two men holding down a Muslim woman. No, make that a girl, a Muslim girl. She couldn't have been more than twelve. He assumed, given the ethnic conflict, that the men were Serbs, but they all looked alike. One held his hand over her mouth and pinned her shoulders, the other was vigorously pumping between her thighs.

George pulled him off, sending him sprawling into the dust. His friend came after George, who landed a solid punch. The man staggered and fell, his head smacking against the curb. George was dimly aware that the girl had scrambled off. The rapist got to his feet and came toward George, who leveled his weapon. By then, the commotion had drawn a crowd. What they saw was an American soldier holding a Croatian civilian at gunpoint, while a second civilian bled to death at his feet.

He was court-martialed. He explained that he had interrupted a rape, but the girl's family insisted that she had not been sexually assaulted. And why would they admit she had, since it would make her forever unmarriageable in their culture? Instead, there was testimony from the bystanders who had seen George pointing a gun wildly at a man who had fallen to the ground with his hands up.

George was convicted of manslaughter, and dishonorably discharged, goddammit, for doing the right thing.

When he came home he had a wife who didn't understand his anger and a baby who screamed all the time, and he couldn't get any sleep. He got fired from his job and maybe drank more than he should. One night, when he fell asleep on the couch, Greta had leaned over him to wake him up but he had been dreaming and saw instead that girl, the Muslim girl, and he grabbed her by the throat with all his frustration. Why didn't you tell them the truth? I saved you. Why didn't you save me?

It wasn't until Greta started to go slack beneath him that he realized where he was, who he was. When he let her go, she ran to the bedroom and locked the door. He begged for forgiveness. He promised he'd go to counseling. She didn't answer, just stayed away from him, wearing a necklace of bruises. When he called her name the next day, she jumped in fear. She did everything she could to avoid him. George took to sleeping in the baby's room, because he knew Greta wouldn't leave without Lil.

Until one night she did.

He glanced up at the television screen. It was dark now, turned off at his command—but he could still hear the words of the reporter ringing in his head. Dishonorable discharge is reserved for the military's most reprehensible conduct, the man had said. Desertion, sexual assault, murder ... egregious violence.

Egregious violence.

George felt sweat trickle down his back. He pulled at his collar. Egregious fucking violence. There was nothing egregious about it. They didn't know what went down in Bosnia. They didn't realize it hadn't been Greta's face he saw that night, when he tried to strangle her. They didn't understand what had happened to Lil that had led him here.

He could not hear anything except that reporter's voice, ringing in his ears. "Egregious violence," George muttered. "*This* is egregious violence," he said, and he slammed his boot into the injured leg of the doctor.

When George's hearing returned, it was with the man's scream.

THE GUNMAN WAS OUT OF control. He was muttering to himself; he had stomped on Dr. Ward's leg. Izzy bent down over the poor man, soothing, trying to do something—anything—to stave off the pain. Dr. Ward was shivering, sweating, in shock. The false comfort of the status quo had been shredded, and what would happen next was anyone's guess.

She glanced over at Wren. The girl had her eyes screwed shut as if she was trying to will this into a nightmare, instead of reality. She must still be holding the scalpel. Izzy had known she had to get rid of it as soon as she saw the shooter doing full body checks before and after each woman went to the bathroom.

She blotted Dr. Ward's forehead with a strip of gauze. On the pretense of ministering to him, she said loudly, "Ssh, it's all right. It will help if you focus on something else right now ..." Izzy looked up, as the other women turned at the sound of her voice. She made eye contact with each of them in turn. "Think of a nice beach maybe. Down on the Gulf Coast. I don't get down there very much myself, but my boyfriend and I, we keep talking about taking a *trip*."

If the shooter noticed that she stressed that last word, he didn't show it.

There was a charged moment of silence. They had all read the missive in the bathroom, but there hadn't been an explicit plan of action.

Suddenly Joy grabbed her belly and jackknifed forward. "Ow," she moaned. "It hurts. It hurts like *crazy*." She began rocking back and forth.

"Shut her up," the shooter commanded. He turned to Izzy. "Do something."

Izzy moved toward Joy. "Do you still feel the pain?"

"Yes," Joy said, squeezing Izzy's hand three times. A sign. "Right *now*." She screamed.

"Shut her up," George said. "Shut her up or I'll ..."

He stepped forward, either to threaten or to coldcock her, but as he did Janine stretched out a foot.

Just like that, George Goddard went sprawling.

Now now now now now.

Wren watched him trip, and when he did, he dropped the gun.

When she was very little, she used to imagine what it would feel like to fly. On windy days she would unzip her raincoat and spread her arms and leap into the air and know, just *know*, that she was airborne for an extra heartbeat.

Now, she flew.

She leaped off of the couch and dove for the gun at the same time George did. Her hands were still tied so she went down like a stone and wriggled on her elbows. It was a tenth of a second and, at the same time, an eternity. She felt her fingertips graze the barrel of the gun and he knocked it away from her.

Wren raised her bound hands and slammed them down as hard as she could into his outstretched palm.

He howled, and the scalpel stuck deep in his flesh, sliding from between Wren's palms.

"You *bitch*," he cried. He yanked the blade from his hand and then grabbed the gun.

Wren couldn't get up. Her hands were still tied—the angle of the scalpel, when she had held it, had made it impossible to cut the tape, although she had tried like hell. She scooted backward on the carpet, slipping in the fresh blood from Dr. Ward's injury. In that moment all she could see was the shooter's red, red eyes and the twist of his face and his thumb pulling back the trigger. She wondered if it would hurt, when she returned to stardust.

What we know, Olive could tell you, is not what we think we know.

One year, she had run a psychological study in which she told her collegiate subjects that scientists had discovered a chemical that had antiaging benefits. When told that the scientists didn't really know how that worked yet, the students reported not understanding how the antiaging effects occurred. But when told that scientists had figured out the methodology, the students reported an understanding of the process—even without being given the details.

It was almost as if knowledge was contagious. People constantly claimed to "know" something when they didn't have the facts and tools to uphold their claims.

Maybe for this reason, she'd thought that at this moment, she would be reliving the high-water marks of her life, the memories of love and joy and justice. She thought she would see her first kiss with a girl made of moonlight in a lake at summer camp; or her last kiss with Peg, when each put a bookmark in her reading material and curled toward the other like parentheses before they turned out the light.

Olive thought, and therein lay the mistake.

When it came down to it, at the end, you did not think. You felt.

What did she feel?

That you will never cease to underestimate yourself.

That love is fleeting.

That life is a miracle.

That the reason she had come to this clinic, on this day, at this hour, was *this*.

Acting purely on instinct, Olive LeMay threw herself in front of the bullet.

Two p.m.



THE SUNLIGHT WAS OVERWHELMING.

■ Izzy watched it glint off the silver bars of the wheelchair. She was temporarily blinded and then forced herself to put one foot in front of the other, to push the wheels over the threshold of the clinic door.

It wasn't just the sunlight, though—it was cameras and shouted questions as someone emerged from the belly of the beast. Izzy froze, unsure of where to go and what to do.

She was supposed to wheel Bex outside, and then walk back through those doors. But it would be so easy to save herself.

She could lean forward, low and dynamic, and run. She could bring Bex to the ambulance and leap inside and really, what could the shooter do?

Her vision cleared as a man stepped forward. In silhouette he was tall and broad-shouldered, and for just a moment she thought: *Parker*. But Izzy was not the one being rescued now, and anyway, in her fairy tale, she was still afraid that any moment the prince might realize she was just a poor villager, posing as a princess.

The hostage negotiator held out a hand and beckoned her forward.

She felt like she was suspended between what could be, and what was. Just like always.

It was that way for all people who grew up poor, she imagined. Izzy had vivid memories of her birthday being celebrated two weeks after the fact, because that's when they could afford a box of cake mix. Of always adding water to the milk to stretch it. Of being giddy when the food stamps came in and you could go to the grocery store; and being ashamed when you had to actually use them to pay.

When Izzy was in first grade, her family couldn't afford school supplies, so she pretended that she had forgotten them at home. Then one day, when she opened her little flip-top desk, there was a brand-new box of Crayola crayons. They were still pointy at the top and smelled like wax and had a *sharpener* on the back. Izzy had no idea if it was her teacher who'd given them to her, and she never found out. But she did realize, then, that her family was different from other families. Most kids didn't go to Sam's Club for lunch when you weren't even a member, because you could make the rounds for free samples. Ketchup sandwiches, with packets stolen from McDonald's, weren't normal. Her mother rummaged through her brothers' backpacks and threw out the flyers for the Scholastic Book Club, for field trips, for dances, for anything that was an additional expense. When they ate dinner, Izzy would pretend to be full because she knew her mother wouldn't have any food if she didn't leave some behind on her plate.

As she worked through high school, she was determined to have a different life. She couldn't afford an SAT prep course, so she asked another student for the syllabus, and then got books through interlibrary loans and taught herself. She applied for more than a hundred scholarships that she found online using the library's free Internet. She didn't get them all. But she got enough for a free education.

She went to nursing school on student loans and she scrimped and saved.

And then she met Parker—who had taken her on her first vacation.

Who couldn't believe that she'd never gone to a doctor growing up—only the school nurse, who didn't require insurance.

Who had found her adding water to the shampoo so it lasted longer.

Who had proposed, in spite of all this.

If she had told Parker about the pregnancy, he would have been thrilled. He would have used it as leverage, to make her say *yes*, instead of *I need more time*.

But then she would never stand on her own two feet financially. Or pay off her own nursing school loans. Or buy a house, just because she had the credit to do it. And she could not get him to understand why that was so important.

The man who was beckoning to her was waving his arms, trying to get her to start moving again. If she ran, now, she could save herself.

Izzy felt Bex reach for her hand. She could imagine the effort and pain that cost the woman, and she gently laced her fingers with Bex's and squeezed. She leaned down. "You're going to be fine," she said. She drew a deep breath, and took another long step forward.

Once, when her brothers had been fighting over who got more spaghetti for dinner, her mother had said, You don't look at another person's plate to see if they have more than you. You look to see if they have enough.

Izzy thought of Dr. Ward, bleeding on the floor, still inside. She let go of the handles of the wheelchair, turned, and ran back to the gaping mouth of the clinic door.

BEX COULD TELL THE MOMENT Hugh realized that she was the woman in the wheelchair. He took a step forward,

__

and as if that had triggered it, Izzy turned and ran.

Bex couldn't speak. Her eyes filled with tears as Hugh started to run toward her, but before he could reach her side, the paramedics were there, hoisting Bex out of the wheelchair and onto a gurney and loading her into an ambulance. She twisted, trying to see Hugh, trying to reach her hand toward him. But she was surrounded by people who were prodding and poking and shouting at each other.

What if she got taken off to the hospital before she could talk to Hugh?

"What's your name, ma'am?" an EMT asked.

"Bex."

"Bex, we're going to take care of you."

She grabbed at his arm. "Need to ... tell ..."

"We'll contact your family as soon as we get you settled at the hospital—"

Bex shook her head. The double doors started to close, and then suddenly she heard Hugh's voice. "I have to speak to her," he said.

"And I have to get her to an OR."

She, who knew his face better than perhaps anyone, saw the struggle etched in his features—the desire to connect with her warring with the determination to get her treated.

"Hugh," she managed. "Need ..."

He turned, sending her a warning in his gaze. "You need to tell me something, ma'am?" Hugh glanced at the EMT. "I'll need a moment of privacy," he said, dismissing the paramedic, and then they were alone.

She swallowed, emotion damming all the words she had thought she might never get a chance to say to Hugh. "Bex," he moaned, leaning closer, trying to figure out

how to embrace her and settling for folding his hands around her own. "Are you all right?"

"Been ... better," she said. "Wren ..."

"Is in there," Hugh finished. "I know. Is she ..."

"Alive. Hiding."

A small sob escaped, and his head bent until his hair brushed her cheek. Bex looked at him and saw the shadow of Hugh as a boy: jackknifed with grief when his dog was hit by a car, frustrated by a calculus problem set, furious when he didn't make the varsity football team. She wanted to reach out and pull him into her arms like she used to; to tell him that tomorrow would be easier, but she couldn't. This time, she was the cause of his pain.

"Nobody knows," he said, his voice a whisper. "Nobody *can* know. Do you understand that? If it gets out that my daughter is inside, I'm off the case. I have no control over the outcome here. Period." He stared down at her, his eyes dark with pain. "Why, Bex? Why did you bring her here?"

She thought of Wren—the way she smiled and raised her right eyebrow, like she had a secret; how she painted her nails in different colors because she could never pick just one; the time she reprogrammed all the SiriusXM radio channels in Bex's car after decreeing that her aunt needed to move past the eighties. "She asked."

Hugh's hands bit into her skin. She knew he was fighting to maintain control. "Wren needed ... she had to have ..." He couldn't force the words from his throat.

"No!" Bex said. "Birth control. She ... didn't want you ... to know."

He closed his eyes.

Were some betrayals kinder than others? Bex searched his face, waiting for a shimmer of forgiveness.

Before she could find it, however, the EMT had reappeared. "Lieutenant?" he said. "Are you finished?"

Were they?

Bex willed him to speak. To absolve her of blame.

Instead, he let go of her hands, jumped out of the ambulance, and shut the doors.

__

IT FELT LIKE IT TOOK a hundred years for Izzy to run the last five steps back to the clinic door. She forced herself to stare at the black seam that separated freedom from captivity, until a hand reached out and grabbed her by her braid, yanking her inside again.

George let go of her long enough to close and lock the door, pile the furniture back against it. "Smart gal," George said. "If you hadn't come back here, well, who knows how angry I might have got."

Izzy's head swam. She could still smell the pavement, baking in the afternoon heat. She could see the necks of all the cameras trained on her as she walked away from the clinic door. She could hear Bex's shallow breathing as they went over each crack in the sidewalk.

What kind of idiot tastes freedom and spits it out?

She heard a groan behind her and turned to find Dr. Ward's wound trickling blood. Izzy met George's gaze. "Can I ...?"

He nodded, and she got to her knees beside Dr. Ward, unwrapping the soaked tourniquet to replace it with a fresh one. As soon as the pressure was relaxed, blood poured from the wound. Izzy wondered how long she had before she needed to beg the shooter to let Dr. Ward get real medical attention. She had a feeling it was different from Bex; that George would see the doctor's death not as regrettable collateral damage, but as revenge.

With quick efficiency she began to tighten the makeshift bandage again by using the Sharpie as a winding key. She secured it into place with tape. Dr. Ward groaned when she moved his limb, and she tried to distract him with banter. "You know, when I was a kid and my brother broke his arm, I just splinted it and told him to use the other one."

"Where I grew up we were so poor we didn't even have wood to *make* a splint," Dr. Ward said.

Izzy smiled a little. "Pretty sure I had the flu for whole year, because we couldn't afford a trip to the pediatrician."

"We only went to the dentist if a cavity was so bad it made you throw up."

"And braces," Izzy said. "They might as well have been tooth jewelry."

Dr. Ward offered a wobbly smile. "Girl, I know what you're doing and you can't use my own medicine on me."

"I have no idea what you're talking about."

"You get me talking to distract me from what's really happening down there with my leg."

"You know what's happening down there," Izzy said.

"Yeah," he sighed. "If it's much longer, I could lose it."

Izzy tried not to think about that. More important, she had to make Dr. Ward not think about that. "You talk like you're my only patient." She jerked her chin toward Janine, still unconscious from the blow George had given her with the butt of the gun. "Any change?"

"No," Dr. Ward said, sobering. "I've been watching."

Izzy made a small noise in the back of her throat. "Well," she said, "I wouldn't mind if she stays unconscious."

Dr. Ward frowned. "Do you know I only once refused to perform an abortion?"

"Was it for a pro-life protester?" Izzy asked.

He hesitated, then shook his head. "It was a racist. A woman came in and saw me and said she preferred a white doctor. Problem was, I was the only person doing procedures that day, and she couldn't wait any longer to have it done."

Izzy sat back on her heels. "What happened?"

"I have no idea. Even after she decided my skin color mattered less than her getting that abortion, I said no. I was self-aware enough to know that I had to treat myself like an impaired physician. I was intoxicated with anger, the same way I would have been if I had swigged a fifth of gin. I couldn't touch her any more than I would have touched a patient if I were drunk. What if she was uncomfortable during the procedure? She might think I was intentionally trying to cause her pain because of what she'd said. And what if there was a complication, and it reinforced her beliefs that I was less than qualified because of my skin color?" He shook his head. "Like Dr. King said: It may be true that the law cannot make a man love me, but it can keep him from lynching me, and I think that's pretty important."

"I would think that when it comes to abortion, race is the last thing on anyone's mind."

Dr. Ward glanced up, surprised. "Why, Miss Izzy. When it comes to abortion, race is first and foremost in everyone's minds." He nodded toward Janine. "She's the anomaly, you know. The average anti-choice protester is"—he lowered his voice—"a middle-aged Caucasian male."

Izzy looked at George Goddard. He was polishing the shaft of his gun with the hem of his shirt. They'd heard him talk about his daughter; they knew he had some personal connection to this clinic. But surely that wasn't true of every protester who fit that profile. "Why?"

"Because they're trying to make America white again."

"But more women of color have abortions than white women—"

"Doesn't matter. They don't care about the fertility of black women. They're using them, the way black women have been used for centuries, to further a white agenda. You've seen those black genocide billboards?"

Izzy had. They sprouted on the highways in the Deep South. They showed a picture of a beautiful little black baby and a slogan: The Most dangerous place for an African American is in the womb. A picture of President Obama and the words every 21 minutes our next potential leader is aborted.

"White people are the ones who put up those up. Race isn't exactly a walk in the park in this country," Dr. Ward said. "If the antis frame their opposition to choice as antiracism, it looks like they're trying to help black women. But a law that keeps black women from having abortions also keeps white women from having them. The only person who can give birth to a white baby is a white woman. Those same white women are working outside the home and bucking traditional family values, and by 2050 whites will be in the minority. When you look at it like that, it's a little clearer who those billboards are really benefiting." He looked at Izzy's expression and smiled a little. "You think I've lost too much blood."

"No. No. I just never thought of that before."

Dr. Ward leaned back against the frame of the couch. "It's *all* I think about." He glanced at her tourniquet. "You are one damn fine nurse."

"Stop flirting now."

"You're a little skinny and pale for my tastes," he joked.

"Well, too bad. You're a unicorn—a smart guy who isn't threatened by women. I think you might be the biggest feminist I've ever met."

"You bet I am. I love women. All women."

Izzy cut a glance toward Janine, still passed out on the floor. "All women?"

"All women," Dr. Ward repeated. "And you should, too." He turned to Izzy. "Like it or not, you're in this fight together."

Wren hadn't come here for an abortion. The numbing relief Hugh felt knowing that was eclipsed by the truth that she was still being held hostage, because she wanted to get birth control.

But she hadn't wanted him to know.

Hugh would have taken her, if she had just asked.

Why hadn't she asked? Why had she gone to Bex? Why hadn't his sister confided in him?

He knew Bex had been looking for mercy, for Hugh to say, *This wasn't your fault*. But he hadn't been able to do it. Because if it wasn't Bex's fault that Wren was in there, then Hugh had to admit that it might be his own.

He wouldn't have flown off the handle, if Wren had come to him. It wasn't in his DNA. In fact he was so good at plastering his emotions with a thick layer of calm that it took someone who had known him all his life to know there were cracks beneath the surface. When Annabelle left Hugh, she had slapped him to see if she could get a rise out of him. Hugh had told Bex, afterward. She said no one could blame her for leaving me for someone with human emotions, he'd said. He had rested his elbows on his knees and buried the heels of his hands in his eyes.

The thing is, if you saw the stuff I do every day on the job, you'd do anything to not feel.

Bex. How the hell could Bex have brought his daughter here?

He knew the answer to that. What his sister had envisioned was a free clinic, a half-hour appointment, and a prescription for the Pill. The only person who would get hurt in this scenario was Hugh, for not being in the know. Bex hadn't thought about protesters or gunmen. She wouldn't have, swimming in the back of her consciousness, statistics of violence at other women's health clinics. Only someone who had been doing what Hugh had been doing for years would assume the worst could happen.

The thing was, the worst hadn't happened ... yet. Bex was safe, now. And Wren *would* be, no matter what it cost him.

Beyond the command tent, the reporters had formed a line, each faced by a cameraman, like they were arranged for some courtly dance. Hugh heard the closest reporter spout absolute and total bullshit to fill up time on a live feed. "The question, of course," the reporter said, "is where did the gun come from? Who sold him the gun? It's worth remembering that a dishonorable discharge may be a military court ruling, but it's still a felony, and for Goddard to have a gun would be illegal—"

Hugh closed his eyes. He pushed away the voices of the reporters and thoughts of Bex and Wren hiding from a lunatic with a gun. *No distractions*, he told himself. *No* distractions.

He dialed his phone, and George picked up on the third ring. "That was great," Hugh said. "You released someone who really needed help. I knew you and I could work together." Hugh wiped his forehead. It was hotter than hell.

"I'm not working with you," George said. "You're a fucking cop."

Hugh closed his eyes. It was going to be considerably worse when the SWAT team arrived, which could be any minute now. Which meant he had limited time to woo his hostage taker.

"I'm a negotiator," Hugh corrected. "You're the only reason I'm here."

He forced himself to block out the people around him—emergency personnel and media. If he was going to do his job, he had to create a space that was just him, George, and no one else. It was a seduction, and Hugh would say anything he had to in order to reach the endgame.

"Look," Hugh said, "a lot of these guys out here, they make assumptions. Not me. I know you're smart. The fact that you let that woman get medical attention proves it."

That woman.

As if Bex hadn't basically raised him after his father died and his mother started drinking.

He hesitated, waiting to see if George would take the bait. "Are there others inside who need help?"

"I'm not letting anyone else go."

"This could be a win-win, George. If there are more people in there with you who are hurt, and you send them outside, then you don't have to worry about them ... and it makes you look compassionate to everyone out here."

A young detective tapped Hugh on the shoulder. She held up a cellphone. "His pastor," the detective whispered.

Hugh nodded and held up a finger for her to wait a moment. "George, is anyone else in there hurt?"

"Why should I tell you?"

"Because you opened the door, and I kept my promise. I waited. I didn't rush the clinic and storm in. You can trust me."

"To do what? Screw me over in the end?"

The detective scribbled on a piece of paper and waved it beneath Hugh's nose. *BORN AGAIN*.

"No. To do unto others as you would have them do unto you," Hugh said.

"You a Christian?"

"Yes," Hugh said, although he wasn't a religious man at all. "Are you?"

He could hear George's breathing. "Not anymore."

Hugh looked down at the piece of paper that the detective had handed him. "God will forgive you for what you've done, George."

"What makes you think I'll forgive *Him*?" George said, and the line went dead.

Hugh grabbed the cellphone from the detective. "Hugh McElroy," he said. "Who am I speaking to?"

"Pastor Mike Kearns," a man replied. "I lead the Eternal Life Church up in Denmark."

"Thanks for calling, Pastor. I understand you know George Goddard?"

"George used to be our church handyman. Landscaping, carpentry, you name it. I don't think there's anything he can't fix."

"When did he stop working for you?"

"Six months ago, give or take?" Shame crept into the pastor's voice. "We had some storm damage and the budget got tight. Now, we have volunteers doing what George used to do."

"Have you been watching the news today, Pastor?"

"No, I've been officiating at a funeral—"

"George Goddard shot up the Women's Center in Jackson and is currently holding several hostages."

"What? No. No, that isn't the man I know."

Hugh didn't have time for this man's existential crisis. "Did he exhibit any violent tendencies when you employed him?"

"George? Never."

"Was he pro-life?"

"Well," the pastor said, "our congregation believes in protecting the rights of the unborn—"

"Enough to kill people to get your message heard?"

The pastor drew in his breath. "I don't appreciate being tried for my faith, Officer—"

"Lieutenant. Lieutenant McElroy. And I don't appreciate people who waltz into a clinic and start killing innocent bystanders."

"Killing? My God."

"You can have Him," Hugh said under his breath. "Listen, Pastor, I don't mean to attack you. But there are people in that clinic who might die. Anything you can tell me about George Goddard that could help me understand him and his motivations would be greatly appreciated."

"I met him a little over fifteen years ago," Pastor Mike said. "He showed up one night in the church, carrying his baby. She was sick, feverish. His wife was gone."

"Dead?"

"No. She left him, but he never would say why."

Hugh's mind began to turn, mixing possibilities. Had she run because her husband was violent? Had he stolen the baby and left her? Was she still alive somewhere?

"Do you know her name?" Hugh said, pulling the cap of a pen off with his teeth.

"No," the pastor said. "He wouldn't even speak of her. It was always just George and Lil."

"Lil?"

"His daughter. Good girl. Used to sing in the church choir."

All Hugh had known about George's daughter was that she had come here for an abortion. But now, he also knew her name. Hugh held his hand over the speaker of the phone. "Lil Goddard," he barked at the young detective. "Find her."

_

HUGH KNEW ALL THE WAYS to find someone who didn't want to be found. You looked at bank records and credit card receipts and phone records. You followed aliases and money trails. The primary advantage a detective had was that he was pursuing a truth, while the person hiding was living a lie. Truth tends to gleam, like the glint of a penny. Lies, on the other hand, are a series of loops—eventually they will trip you up.

It had been the car radio that tipped him off. He had taken Annabelle's minivan to get the registration renewed and on the way punched at the five preprogrammed radio buttons to find NPR. There was an oldies station, an acoustic station that always made him feel like he'd nod off at the wheel, a classical music channel, and one that played nonstop Disney tunes for Wren. The NPR station, however, had been reprogrammed to a country station.

Hugh had punched through the buttons again. True, he was rarely in this car, but Annabelle hated country music.

He could still remember her lying with her head in his lap when they were dating, telling him that what she hated most about the Deep South was the constant barrage of songs about men with trucks, men with cheating wives, men with cheating wives in trucks.

Hugh had reset the radio channel to NPR, got his wife's car registration, had the oil changed, and even went through the car wash. He didn't think about it again for a week, until he came home early from work. He knew Wren would still be at school, and when he heard the shower running, he grinned and stripped off his clothes, planning to join Annabelle. It wasn't until he reached the bedroom that he heard her belting out "Before He Cheats."

He was still standing at the threshold of the bathroom when the water turned off and Annabelle opened the door, wearing a towel. "Hugh!" she shrieked. "You scared me to death! What are you doing here?"

"Playing hooky," he said.

Annabelle laughed. "Naked?"

"That was a happy accident," he replied.

He put his arms around her and started to kiss her. He tried not to wonder about her sudden interest in country music or whether it was his imagination that she had stiffened at his touch.

When Annabelle left to pick up Wren at school, Hugh pulled on a pair of shorts and sat down at the computer. He logged in to their AT&T account, the family plan that included his phone and Annabelle's. Her call history was password-protected, but he knew her password—Pepper, her childhood dog's name. As the list of numbers scrolled onto the screen, he looked past her

mother's number and his work number and others he recognized. His eyes rested on the repeat calls to Branson, Missouri. The calls were lengthy—an hour at times. There were texts to that number, too.

Hugh wrote it down, put on a T-shirt and sneakers, and jogged five miles back to the police station. His secretary, Paula, glanced at him as he walked into his office, streaming with sweat. "Didn't you just sneak out of here?"

"Can't stay away from you," he joked.

In criminal cases, Hugh could subpoen the phone company to release the name of a cellphone subscriber. He wrestled with the morality of using his power to check up on his wife, and lost. A day later he had a name: Cliff Wargeddon. He ran a DMV check and got the license plate number of a white Ford pickup truck and an address.

He arrived at nine P.M. The house was a small ranch on a cul-de-sac, with carefully tended gardens and little gnome statues and colorful pinwheels catching the wind. The white pickup was in the driveway. There was a doormat that said, THE PEOPLE INSIDE THIS HOME ARE BLESSED. On the stoop, two potted plants dripped with begonias.

When a woman in her seventies opened the front door and came out with a small dog on a leash, Hugh began to wonder if he'd made a mistake. She walked the dog around the block and then went back inside. Hugh was about to abandon his post when the door opened again and a young man walked out, shouting something into the house before he walked to the white pickup truck and got inside.

He was younger than Hugh. Maybe by ten years. Hell, he still lived with his mother. Hugh followed him to a bakery in Jackson. The man went through an employee entrance in the back. He didn't emerge for another six hours, just as dawn was breaking, his arms and pants dusty with flour.

It took two more days of trailing him before Wargeddon parked his white pickup truck down the street from Hugh's house, in the middle of the day, when Wren was at school and Hugh was at work.

It took him a while to work up the courage to follow Wargeddon inside.

The first thing he noticed was that Wargeddon had a tattoo on his right shoulder blade, a scorpion. The second thing he noticed was the music playing softly from the clock radio beside the bed. He looked at Annabelle. "Since when," he said, "do you like Carrie Underwood?"

There had been times since Annabelle left that he wondered what would have happened if he hadn't tracked down proof of her infidelity. Would he ever have known? Would she have tired of Cliff, instead of moving with the boy-man to Paris, where he studied the art of baguettes and she took up smoking and worked on a novel he never even knew she had wanted to write? Would Wren have been better having a flawed mother, rather than no mother at all?

Sometimes, in the broken breath of night, Hugh wondered if it was better to leave some things hidden.

He wondered if George Goddard had gone after his runaway wife.

He wondered if, against all odds, he had yet another thing in common with that man after all.

-

Janine's head was throbbing. She tried to sit up, but winced when she felt the sharp stab of pain in her jaw and temple. "Ssh," she heard, a whisper like cotton batting. "Let me help you."

She felt an arm slide beneath her shoulders to elevate her to a sitting position. Slowly, she cracked open one eye, then the other.

She was still in hell.

The shooter was pacing, muttering to himself. The nurse was re-dressing the bandage on the doctor's thigh. She peeled back the soaked gauze from the wound, and Janine turned away so she wouldn't have to see any more.

Her cheek fell into a cupped hand. Janine found herself staring at Joy.

Suddenly it all came flooding back—what she had said, what had happened. She looked at her wig, lying like roadkill a few feet away. She felt her face flame with embarrassment. "Why would you take care of me?"

"Why wouldn't I?" Joy replied.

They both knew the answer to that.

Janine scrutinized Joy. "You must hate me," she murmured. "All of you. Oh my God."

Joy gingerly touched a spot on Janine's cheekbone. "You're gonna have a hell of a bruise," she said. She hesitated, and then looked Janine in the eye. "So you didn't just say that stuff to get out of here? You're really anti-choice?"

"Pro-life," Janine automatically corrected. In this war, labels meant everything. She had heard so many on the other side take umbrage when they were called pro-abortion. *It's pro-choice*, they always said, as if there was something wrong with being pro-abortion. And wasn't that exactly the point?

Joy stared at her. "So ... you didn't even *have* to be here."

Janine met her gaze. "Neither did you."

Joy didn't move away from her, but Janine could feel the line between them solidify. "I came to get ... evidence," she explained. "Audio. Proof of people being forced into ... you know."

"I wasn't forced," Joy said. "It was necessary."

"That's not how your baby felt."

"My baby felt nothing. It wasn't even a baby."

Janine knew that there wasn't a moral difference between the embryo you used to be and the person you were today. So the unborn were smaller than toddlers did that mean adults deserved more human rights than children? That men were due more privileges than women?

So the unborn weren't fully mentally aware—did that preclude people with Alzheimer's or cognitive deficits, or those in comas, or those sleeping from having rights?

So the unborn were hosted in the bodies of their mothers. But who you are is not determined by where you are. You are no less human if you cross state lines or move from your living room to your bathroom. Why would a trip from womb to delivery room—a voyage of less than a foot—change your status from nonhuman to human?

The answer was because the unborn *were* human. And Janine, for the life of her, could not understand how people like Joy—like all the others in this clinic—couldn't see what was so clear.

But somehow, it didn't seem like the time or place to have this fight. Especially with someone who was resting your aching head in her lap, and gently stroking your hair.

Unbidden, the thought came into Janine's mind: *Joy would probably have been a good mother.*

"Would you have tried to stop me?" Joy asked. "If you had been outside?"

"Yes."

"How?"

Again, all the arguments against abortion in which Janine had been tutored floated to the tip of her tongue, but instead, she looked at Joy and spoke from the heart. "You might not have given birth to the next Einstein or Picasso or Gandhi," she said. "But I bet whoever he was, he would have been amazing."

Tears welled in Joy's eyes. "Don't you think I know that?"

"Then ... there must have been another way. There's always another way."

Joy shook her head. "Do you think I wanted this? Do you think anyone wakes up and says, I think I'll go get an abortion this morning? This is the last stop. This is the place you go when you run through all the scenarios and you realize that the only people who say there's another way are the ones who aren't standing there with a positive pregnancy test in their hand. I did it. I don't regret it. But that doesn't mean I won't think about it every day of my life."

Janine struggled to sit up, her head pounding. "Doesn't that sort of prove, on some level, that it's questionable?"

"It's completely legal."

"So was slavery," Janine replied. "Just because it's legal doesn't mean it's right."

Their whispers were getting louder. Janine worried that they'd attract the shooter's attention. She wondered if she would die here, today, a martyr for her cause.

"All that legal protection you want for the unborn," Joy said. "Great. Give it to them. But only if you can find a way to not take it away from me."

It made Janine think of King Solomon, suggesting that a baby be split down the middle. Obviously that wasn't a solution. "If you carried the baby to term, yes, maybe you'd have some problems to solve, but it wouldn't threaten your existence. There are plenty of women who can't have children, who would do anything to adopt."

"Really?" Joy said. "Then where the fuck were they when *I* was in foster care?"

__

When Joy was eight years old, her prized possession had been a Walkman cassette player she had bought at a church yard sale for two dollars, with a cassette still inside: Steely Dan's *Can't Buy a Thrill*. Joy didn't particularly like Steely Dan, but beggars could not be choosers. Every night she fell asleep to "Reelin' in the Years," because it blocked out the other sounds in her house.

There had been crying. Shouting. Joy would turn up the volume of her Walkman and pretend she was somewhere else. Then, in the morning, her mother would wake her up, sporting a bracelet of bruises on her arm, blisters on her palm. *I'm so clumsy*, she would say. Fell right off the step stool. Put my hand down on the stove when it was still hot.

Joy had never known her daddy, but there had been a parade of men in the apartment since she was small. Some stayed for a week, some for years. Some were better than others. Rowan had brought her coloring books and stickers. Leon had a dog, an old coonhound named Foxy, that she used to feed scraps to underneath the table. But Ed had liked to watch Joy when she slept, and more than once she woke in the night to find him sitting on her bed, stroking her hair. And Graves, the man who was with her mama now, was mean as a trapped cat.

One night Joy heard the voices escalating and turned up her Walkman volume only to have it garble and fade and then quit entirely. She opened the little battery pack and saw one of the two double As frothing at the tip. Setting aside the cassette player, she realized the house had gone silent, which was somehow even worse.

Joy slipped out of bed. She crept into the kitchen.

The reason her mama wasn't screaming was that Graves had his hands wrapped around her throat. Her face was flushed, her eyes rolled back in her head.

Joy grabbed a knife out of the kitchen drawer and plunged it into his back.

With a cry Graves whirled around, grabbing for the hilt of the blade, reaching for Joy. She danced away from him, backing out of the kitchen even as her mama collapsed.

Later, Joy would not remember running out of her apartment and banging on the other doors in the hallway. She did not recall Miz Darla open the door wearing her head scarf and housecoat; how she washed Joy's hands and face with lukewarm water. When the police came to take her away, Joy noticed the small bloody handprints marking every door on the fourth floor.

She was taken to a foster home, a couple called the Grays, who looked like they sounded: thin and bled colorless by the four kids they housed. Her mother was allowed to visit her once a week. She showed up only once, and Joy begged to be taken back. Her mother said this wasn't such a good time, and that's how Joy realized that Graves was still living in their apartment.

Her mother never returned.

Joy went to three other foster homes just that first year. The Grays' biological daughter bullied her, and when she finally decked the girl, she was placed somewhere else. She loved her second home, but the couple moved out of state because of the father's job. At the third home, one of the other foster kids—a thirteen-year-old named Devon—made her touch him places she didn't want to, and threatened to say she was stealing from the foster family if she didn't.

By age ten, Joy was a husk of the girl she had been. When she cut her wrists at age eleven, it wasn't because she wanted to kill herself. It was because she wanted to feel *something*, even if that was only pain.

Staring at Janine all these years later, Joy sure as hell *felt*. She felt volcanic anger—for having been born to a parent who couldn't or wouldn't take care of her. For being judged by a stranger who acted holier than thou. How dare she think Joy was selfish, when in fact, she was being selfless—knowing she didn't have the resources to raise a child, giving up the one person who might love her unconditionally?

"I was in foster care for ten years," Joy said. "Trust me. There are not people lining up to adopt the children other parents don't want."

"If you didn't want to get pregnant then why did you ..." Janine's voice trailed off.

"Have sex?" Joy filled in.

Because I was lonely.

Because I wanted to.

Because I wanted fifteen minutes where I was the center of someone's world.

But Joe, bless his heart, had neglected to mention that he was already married. The fourth week he came through Jackson, Joe told her that he and his wife had been having problems for a while, and that she had finally accused him of having an affair. For one beautiful, breathless moment Joy had imagined the rest of her life—one in which Joe admitted that he was in love with Joy, chose to be with her, lived happily ever after. But he had come to say goodbye.

It was good, Joe said. To get everything out in the open.

He had looked at her with his beautiful eyes, which no longer reminded Joy of seas she might travel, but of pale glaciers, an ocean of ice.

I should have told you. I would have if ... His voice trailed off.

If what? Joy thought. What condition had to exist for her to be loved?

We're going to Belize. Some place Mariah found that's off the grid, so that we have nothing to do but talk. I'm taking a two-week leave of absence from the bench.

Mariah, Joy thought. That's her name.

She thanked God for her prescription for Ortho-Novum.

A few weeks later she discovered she was one of the 9 percent of women who still got pregnant while using the Pill.

She had not let herself think about Joe. Telling him about the pregnancy might have been morally right, but to what end? He had made it clear that it was over.

But now, she gave herself a hiccup of space to imagine where he was at this moment, and what he was doing. She wondered if he had heard the news about a shooter at an abortion clinic. She wondered if she would be a casualty, if when the victims' names were read by a reporter, he would grieve.

"You want to know why I had sex?" Joy repeated. "Because I made a mistake."

"Babies are born flawless. They deserve the world." To Joy's surprise, Janine started to cry. She reached for Joy's hands. "Babies are born flawless," she repeated, "and they deserve the world. I'm not talking about ... what you did today. I'm talking about you. I'm sorry that you got stuck in foster care. I'm sorry you didn't feel safe. Just because you didn't get that protection doesn't mean you were born any less than perfect."

Joy had not cried the night she stabbed a man.

She had not cried when she was taken away to a foster home.

She had not cried when she was told her mother had died of a broken neck after an "accidental" fall.

She had not cried when she was sexually abused or when she woke up in the pediatric psych ward, her wrists wrapped with bandages.

She had not cried when she found out she was pregnant.

She had not cried during this morning's procedure. Or afterward.

But now, Joy sobbed.

OLIVE'S EYES WERE TIGHTLY SHUT, even though the closet was dark. She was trying to block out the heated conversation on the other side of the door by picturing Peg, the shape of her face, the smell of her hair when she

just came out of the shower, the sound of her name in Peg's mouth, blurred by her southern accent: *Olive*. *Olive*. *I love*.

"Are you afraid of dying?" Wren whispered, pulling Olive out of her reverie.

"Isn't everyone?"

"I don't know. I never thought about it until now."

This girl was so young; younger, even, than Olive's students. They had been wedged together on the floor of the utility closet for three hours now.

"I think what I'm afraid of," Olive said, "is leaving everyone else behind."

"Do you have a husband? Kids?"

Olive shook her head, unsure what to say. There were still places in Mississippi where she introduced Peg as her roommate. And she would never have walked down the street in broad daylight holding Peg's hand.

"Not in the cards for me," she murmured.

"Same for my aunt," Wren said. "I never asked her if she was lonely."

"You'll be able to, when you get out of here."

"If I get out of here," Wren whispered. "My dad used to actually tell me to make sure I was wearing clean underwear. I mean, what a cliché, right?" She hesitated. "I'm wearing Friday."

"Beg pardon?"

"It's Tuesday. And my day-of-the-week underwear says Friday."

Olive smiled in the dark. "Your secret is safe with me."

"What if I get shot? I mean, it's clean, but it's the wrong day." Wren laughed, a little unhinged. "What if I'm bleeding all over and the paramedics notice that—"

"You won't get shot."

In the dark, Olive could see the fierce shine of the girl's eyes. "You don't know that."

She didn't. To live was always a conditional verb.

There was a flurry of footsteps outside the closet door, and the phone rang. Both Olive and Wren held their breath. Olive grabbed Wren's hand.

"I don't wanna talk to you." It was the shooter's voice. It got fainter as he moved away again.

Olive squeezed Wren's fingers. "Peg," she breathed. "That's the name of the woman I love."

"The ... oh, okay," Wren replied. "That's cool."

Olive smiled to herself. Yes, Peg was cool. Cooler than she was, anyway. She made fun of Olive for not wearing white after Labor Day and for waiting a half hour after eating before she swam. *Live a little*, Peg would say to her, laughing.

Right now that was all Olive wanted to do.

"I just wanted to say her name out loud," Olive added softly.

"At least you got to fall in love," Wren whispered.

"Isn't that why you're here?"

Wren ducked her head. "I don't know. If I do survive, after this, I may *never* have sex."

Olive grinned. "If I survive," she replied, "it's *all* I'm going to do."

GEORGE ANSWERED THE PHONE ON the second ring. "You know," Hugh began, as if George had not hung up on him before, "I used to go to church with my kid. Not every week—I wasn't as good a Christian as I could have been. But always Easter services and Christmas Eve."

George snorted. "That's like putting gravy on Skittles and saying you made Thanksgiving dinner."

"Yeah, I know. It was my fault. I have a hard time sitting still. And I couldn't handle the holier-than-thous. You know, the guys who sit right up front in the pews and act like they've got some special VIP pass to God?"

"It don't work that way," George said.

"Hell, no," Hugh said. "Anyway, it must drive you crazy when you see people acting like that, too. People taking liberties that belong to a greater power."

"I don't follow."

Hugh looked down at the slip of paper one of the detectives had given him. "The Lord brings death and makes alive."

"Samuel 2:6," George said.

"Is that why you came here today? Because you felt people in this clinic didn't have the right to end a life?"

There was silence on the line.

"Vengeance is mine, saith the Lord," Hugh said softly. "Not yours. The Lord's."

"That's not why I came," George said. "It's why you came."

"I came to talk to you—"

"You came," George interrupted, "to decide who lives today, and who dies. So, tell me ... which one of us is playing God?"

GEORGE WAS SIX YEARS OLD when he learned how fine the line was between life and death. It had been one of those beautiful fall days in Mississippi. The colors had peaked, and the trees were a jeweled necklace wrapped around the lake. He was walking through the woods, liking the

crunch of the red maple and hickory and bur oak leaves under his sneakers. He was kicking an acorn when he found the bird.

It was not a baby, but some kind of sparrow that had broken its wing. It hopped in small circles on the ground.

He picked it up as if it were made of glass and carried it all the way back to his home. There, he found a cigar box and lined it with Kleenex. For three days, he hid the little bird under his bed, trying to give it water, and bringing it leaves and grubs and anything else he thought might be appetizing.

The bird did not improve. It barely moved. He could hardly see the rise and fall of its breast.

He needed help, so he went to his father.

What he hadn't known, at the time, was that his daddy was in one of his moods, sleeping off last night's excesses.

It's not getting any better, he explained. Can you fix it?

You bet. His father lifted the bird with the gentlest of touches. One long finger stroked from the crown of the bird's head to its crooked tail. And then he snapped its neck.

You killed it! George cried.

His father pushed the limp creature back and corrected him. *I put it out of its misery*.

George couldn't stop sobbing; he hadn't stopped, not when he buried the cigar box in his mother's melon patch; not when she made him catfish for dinner; not when he lay down in his pajamas after saying his prayers for the departed soul of the bird. He could hear his parents arguing in the hall.

What kind of father does that?

Back then he had wondered if his father truly thought he was doing the right thing by ending the bird's suffering.

Now, George looked around the clinic waiting room at the motley collection of people whose fate he held in his hand.

Violence, from one angle, looked like mercy from another.

TEN YEARS EARLIER, HUGH HAD been one of a dozen cops on the ground twenty-two stories below the Regions Plaza. He squinted up at the roof, where a slight guy in a windbreaker wavered on the edge. The chief was talking into a bullhorn. "Step away from the edge," he said. "Don't jump."

It seemed to Hugh that the last thing you wanted to say to someone in this situation was *Don't jump*. It was like you were planting the seed more firmly in his head, when what you really needed to do was distract him.

"Chief," he said, "I've got an idea."

Within minutes, Hugh had climbed a set of stairs from the twenty-second floor to the roof of the building and crept to the edge where the man sat. Except he wasn't a man. He was a boy, really. Eighteen, if that.

Hugh sat down beside the kid, facing the opposite direction, away from the edge. He turned on the digital recorder in his pocket. "Hey," Hugh said.

"They sent you?"

"They didn't do anything. I came up here because I wanted to."

The boy glanced at him. "And you just happen to be wearing a cop uniform."

"My name is Hugh. How about you?"

"Alex."

"Is it okay if I call you that?"

The boy shrugged. The wind ruffled his fine hair.

"You okay?"

"Do I look okay?"

Hugh thought back to when he was a teenager, and such a smart-ass that once, Bex had made dinner and set an extra plate at the table. That's for your attitude, she had said, and feel free to leave it behind when you're done eating.

Hugh noticed the familiar colors of an Ole Miss T-shirt peeking from behind the boy's half-zipped windbreaker. "Ole Miss, huh?"

"Yeah. Why?"

"Because if you were a fan of Mississippi State I might have had to push you off."

A laugh burst out of the kid's throat, surprising him. "If I was a fan of Mississippi State I would have jumped."

Hugh leaned back a little, like he had all the time in the world, and started talking about who was going to replace the quarterback after he graduated. It went on from there, like they were just two guys shooting the breeze.

After a couple of hours had passed, Alex said, "You ever wonder why they call them stories? The floors of a building?"

"No."

"I mean, then why isn't a building called a book?"

Hugh laughed. "You're pretty smart," he said.

"If I had a dime for every time I heard that," Alex said, "I'd have a dime."

"I find that hard to believe. Come on. You're funny, and intelligent, and you clearly root for the right football team. There's got to be someone out there who's worried about you."

"Nope," Alex said, his voice catching. "Not a single one."

"Wrong. There's me."

"You don't know me at all."

"I know I was off the clock an hour ago," Hugh said.

"So go."

"I'd rather stay here. Because your life, it's important," Hugh said. "I can't pretend that I know what's going on with you, Alex. And I won't disrespect you by claiming I do. But I do know that my own shittiest days were usually followed by better days."

"Well, tomorrow, I'm not gonna be any less gay. It took me fifteen years to figure it out and another two to get the nerve to tell my parents." Alex picked at a thread on his jeans. "They threw me out of the house."

"If you need a place to stay, I can help you figure that out. If you need someone to talk to, we'll get you someone to talk to."

Alex looked into his lap. "I wish my dad was like you," he said softly.

"That's nice of you to say," Hugh replied. "Especially since my dad was the biggest asshole on this planet."

The kid's head snapped up. "What did he do to you?"

"I'm not real comfortable talking about it ... but I think you'd get it. I'll just say that no kid deserves to be hit all the time. And no parent should be drunk all the time."

"How did you ... do you still talk to him?"

"Nope," Hugh said. "Once I told people what was going on, they were willing to help me. I took their good advice, and their support." He looked at Alex. "The world turned out to be a whole lot bigger than my dad."

For the first time in over two hours, Hugh reached out his hand. Alex looked down at it, and then grabbed on. Hugh pulled the kid away from the edge, and into his embrace.

It wasn't until a week later that Chief Monroe called Hugh into his office and said he was recommending him as a candidate for hostage negotiation school. "You're a natural," he said. "What you did on the roof with that kid ..." He gestured at the transcript from Hugh's digital recorder, the conversation between him and Alex. As Hugh started to leave, the chief's voice called him back. "I didn't know about your dad. I'm sorry."

Hugh paused in the doorway. "My dad was the greatest guy. He never touched a drop of alcohol in his life, Chief." He inclined his head. "I was just selling hope."

BETH WATCHED THE STRANGER WHO was supposedly going to be able to keep her out of jail. And based on what had just happened in front of the judge, it didn't look promising.

The woman was short, maybe five-three, African American. She had her hair chemically straightened or maybe it was a weave; Beth couldn't tell. She was wearing a navy suit that didn't flatter her curves. And she was still about five feet away from the bed. Beth didn't know if this was supposed to be for the lawyer's safety, or her own.

The stenographer packed up her machine and left with the security guards. The male lawyer—the one who

wasn't on her side—sauntered up to Beth's public defender. "Always a pleasure, Mandy."

"For you, maybe."

He laughed. "See you in court."

The door hadn't closed behind him before Miz DuVille turned to the cop who was stationed in her room, like some kind of creepy-ass stalker. He didn't even leave when the nurses came in to check her *down there*. "Nathan," her lawyer said, "I must talk to my client."

"Nope."

"It'll take two minutes, tops."

"What word didn't you understand?"

"You can stay here. I'll whisper into her ear so you can't hear me."

"N," the cop spelled out, "O."

She took a step closer, refusing to give an inch. "If you do not allow me a private conversation with my client I will tell everyone at the station that you shit your pants during your fitness test run because you had bad Chinese for lunch."

"You would not—"

She folded her arms.

He frowned. "If you tell anyone that I'm stepping outside to let you do this, you will never get the cooperation of a single person in my department."

"Cross my heart," the lawyer said, and with a swear, the policeman left them alone.

"Nathan's my cousin," the public defender explained, and she grinned.

"Miz DuVille—"

"Mandy." She walked to the side of the bed. "I'm going to need you to tell me everything that led up to this

point. But first, you must have some questions."

Some questions? She had dozens. Why were they treating her like a criminal? Was she really going to have to go to prison? What would her dad say, when he found out?

How long did she have to stay in the hospital? What would happen if she tried to leave? Where would she even go?

Instead, she looked at Mandy and said, "Is God going to have mercy on me?"

The lawyer blinked. "I beg your pardon?"

"What the judge said. Do you think God will have mercy on me?"

"I'd be more worried about whether Judge Pinot will," Mandy said. "We call him the Pinot-lizer, because he has a fondness for maximum sentences. He's not exactly a great justice to draw. You're a minor, but you can be tried as an adult." She sighed. "Look, I'm not going to lie. The odds are not in your favor. You ordered pills illegally on the Internet, and medical termination of pregnancy is something that can only be done with a doctor's supervision. But that's just the tip of the iceberg. We live in a state that considers an embryo a person, for purposes of a homicide statute. That means if you intentionally cause the death of a fetus growing inside you, you could be prosecuted in Mississippi for murder."

Beth shrank back against the pillows. She closed her eyes, seeing the white tile of the bathroom floor and the blood smeared across it.

"You may not have known you were doing something wrong, but that's not how the law sees it."

"I don't get it," Beth murmured. "I thought abortion was legal."

The lawyer took out a pad and pen. "Why don't we start at the very beginning?"

Beth nodded, and suddenly she was back at Runyon's, the market where she worked as a checkout girl. It was a tiny grocery, not a chain, the kind that sold slices of homemade pie right at the register. It was an ordinary shift, meaning that the patrons were old white ladies with hairnets on and their young black companions pushed the cart. *Tessie*, how much are those green beans? Beth would hear, and then, *Well*, *Miss Ann*, *I think they are on sale*. The bagger at her station was a Black man named Rule, and when Mr. Runyon came around and pinched Beth on her ass Rule would duck his head so he didn't see. You didn't have to go any further than the market to realize that America had not changed much in hundreds of years.

Every day at Runyon's was the same, which was why, when the stranger entered, it felt like a lightning bolt. He was at least six feet tall, wearing a blazer—even in the infernal heat—with his button-down oxford shirt. He walked right up to her counter, holding a six-pack of beer. "Well, hello," he said, looking at her name tag. "Beth."

His accent rose and fell like birds with their wings clipped. "I'm going to need to see your ID," she said.

"I'm flattered. But I could also just tell you my name, if you want to know."

He had a smile that was a torch. "I'm guessing you're not from around here," Beth said.

"U of Wisconsin. We're here for a track meet." He smiled. "You go to the college?"

Beth was seventeen. She wasn't at Ole Miss. She didn't even know if she'd go to college. But she nodded.

"Then maybe you'll come cheer me on." He picked up a wedge of pie wrapped in plastic and frowned. "Buttermilk pie? That sounds terrible."

"Actually, it's sweet."

"Not as sweet as you."

Beth rolled her eyes. "Does that line actually work in Wisconsin?" she said. "I'm still going to need your ID."

He fished in his pocket for his wallet and pulled out a license. Beth scanned the birth date and then the name. "John Smith," she said dryly.

"Blame my parents." He winked at her, took his beer and his pie, and then turned back just before he walked out of the market. "You should come to the meet."

And then he was gone, and with him, all the air in the market.

She knew better. She had been counseled her whole life about how when the devil came to you, he would come in a form you couldn't resist—like a Yankee boy who seemed to glow like a Roman candle when he grinned. The way Beth *knew* it was the devil was that he made her lie to her father, saying she had a double shift, when instead she went to the university and sat in the bleachers and watched him in the 4 x 100 relay. Every time he rounded the corner, it seemed he was running straight to her.

What Beth didn't know—in spite of all the hours she had gone over it in her mind since then—was how, in the moment, it felt like a door had opened on a whole new world—yet, afterward, she was nothing but a cliché. He had spread his fancy blazer on the ground beneath the bleachers like a picnic blanket, he had given her her first beer, and when her head was full of stars, he had laid her down and kissed her. When he peeled off her blouse and touched her, she transformed into someone else—a girl who was beautiful, a girl who wanted more. When he pushed inside her, burning, and then suddenly he stopped, Beth panicked. She had not told him he was her

first, but it wasn't the only lie between them. *I'm sorry*, she told him, and he kissed her forehead. *I'm not*, he said.

He promised that he would come visit her and that this wasn't a one-time deal. He put his phone number and his name into her contacts. She floated home, wondering if everyone in Mississippi could see how different she was now, as if being loved left a patina on your skin.

Two days later he had still not texted, so she gathered up all her courage and made the first move. One second later her phone buzzed with the news that the text was undeliverable. She dialed the number, only to have an elderly lady pick up and tell her that there was no one there by that name.

There were too many John Smiths on Facebook to count. There was a John Smith at the University of Wisconsin, but an Internet search revealed him to be a professor of comparative literature in his mid-seventies.

"That rat bastard," Miz DuVille said, shaking Beth out of her reverie.

"Yeah, that was only the start," Beth replied. "I missed my period."

"No condom?"

"No, but Susannah at church—who volunteered with me for the little kid Sunday School—told me you can't get pregnant the first time."

"That's not—" The lawyer shook her head. "Never mind. Go on."

"I figured I was all right. But I missed another period, so I took a pregnancy test." She looked up, sheepish. "Actually, three."

"Then what?"

Beth shifted. "I kept putting it off. I thought, *Something will happen. It'll go away.*" Her eyes filled with tears. "I prayed. I prayed for a miscarriage."

"Is that what happened?"

Beth shook her head. "I called the clinic and made an appointment."

"Didn't they ask your age?"

"Yeah. I said I was twenty-five. I was afraid they'd tell me they couldn't help me." Beth shrugged. "They asked when my last period was, and they told me I was fourteen weeks and they did procedures up to sixteen weeks. They said it would be eight hundred dollars for the procedure."

"But the Center is—"

"Two and a half hours away. I took a bus, and all the savings I had from my job—a whopping two hundred and fifty dollars. I didn't tell anyone. I *couldn't*." Beth took a deep breath.

"How were you going to raise the rest of the money?"

Beth shook her head. "I don't know. I figured I'd steal, if I had to. From my dad. Or the cash register at work."

"I'm confused. If you went to the Center—"

"They asked for picture ID, which would have given away that I was a minor. I started to cry. The lady at the front desk said if I couldn't tell my parents, I could get a judicial waiver, and then come back. She gave me a form to fill out."

Mandy DuVille frowned. "But you didn't. And that's why you wound up here."

"I tried," Beth said. "But the day before, someone from the judge's office called and told me my hearing was canceled. They told me the judge was having a personal emergency and going to Belize with his wife."

"That doesn't make sense," the lawyer said. "There's always a judge on call, for restraining orders for domestic violence cases or anything else life-threatening __"

"I guess my life wasn't being threatened," Beth said. "Not the way they thought, anyhow. The lady who called me from the judge's office said the quickest she could get me in was in two weeks. But I couldn't wait that long."

"Because the Center only does abortions up to sixteen weeks of pregnancy," the lawyer said.

Beth nodded. "I had to do something. I read online about a girl who said she got ulcer pills from her bodega that could cause a miscarriage. I didn't have a bodega anywhere near me, though. So I posted on a message board online."

She remembered what she had typed: *How do I get rid of a pregnancy without my parents finding out?*

The responses had been horrible:

Throw yourself down the stairs.

Broomstick.

Good old-fashioned hanger.

You sick bitch, kill urself not ur baby.

But buried somewhere in the responses saying she was a sinner who should have kept her legs together was a girl who told her she could purchase abortion pills online.

"They came from China with instructions," Beth said. "It only took five days to come in the mail."

She'd thought it would be easy. Like taking Imodium when you had the runs, and then they magically were gone. She did everything the way she was supposed to, tucking the first set of pills high into her cheeks like a chipmunk, and she sat down on the toilet and waited. She threw the packaging into the trash. When the cramps started, she was so happy, she burst into tears. But soon they were so strong she had to run the water in the sink to drown out her moans. She staggered off the toilet and sank into a squat to try to make the pain go away and that's when it happened.

"I wrapped it up," Beth sobbed, "and I put it in the garbage. I didn't know what else to do."

She needed someone to tell her that she wasn't a terrible person; that she hadn't done the unthinkable. She wiped her eyes on the blanket and looked at her lawyer for the absolution she feared she would never have.

"Miz Duville," she whispered. "It wasn't a baby yet, was it?"

_

LIL GODDARD HAD EITHER VANISHED off the face of the earth or had never existed. In spite of the pastor's description of her, and George's own comments about his daughter, no one had been able to turn up any information about the girl.

Hugh was multitasking—still trying to win George's trust on the phone while scanning the notes and the reports that were being fed to him by detectives. Lil Goddard wasn't at her home. She had never gotten a traffic ticket and didn't have a vehicle registered to her name. The only hit a Google search retrieved was from ten years ago, when she played an angel in a Christmas pageant at her church and had a captioned photo in the local paper. It wasn't uncommon for minors to leave very faint trails, but Lil had also never been enrolled in any public school in the state of Mississippi. Then again, many kids of evangelicals were home-schooled. And all Hugh really knew about Lil was that she had, at some

point, had an abortion at this clinic—but the records were not accessible online, so it could have been yesterday or a month ago.

Hell, for all Hugh knew, George Goddard had killed Lil in a fit of rage and buried her in the backyard.

But if they could find her, maybe she could convince George to end this.

"I could get a message to your daughter." Hugh hesitated. "I could be an intermediary. I'm sure you want to explain to her what's happening."

"I can't," George said, his voice cracking.

Because she wouldn't listen? Hugh thought. Because she's dead?

"Man, I hear you. Seems like me and my daughter can't even agree that the sky is blue sometimes."

Hugh had a sudden vision of him lying on his back on a field, with Wren's nine-year-old head pillowed on his belly, as she pointed at the clouds in the sky. *That one looks like a condom*, she'd said. He had barely controlled himself from bolting upright. *How do you know what a condom is?* Wren had rolled her eyes. *Dad. I'm not a baby*.

"I could help you," Hugh suggested. "Maybe I could even get her to come here and talk in person ... if you were willing to give me something in return."

"Like what?"

"I want all the hostages safe, George. But this isn't about me. It's about you. And your daughter. She's the reason you came here, today. Clearly, she's pretty special to you."

"You ever wish you could turn back the clock?" George said softly. "It's like yesterday, she was begging me to braid her hair. And now ... now ..."

"Now what?"

"She's all grown up," George whispered.

Hugh closed his eyes. Sometimes when he walked past Wren's room and heard her FaceTiming with a friend and laughing, her voice sounded like Annabelle's, like a woman instead of a girl. "Yeah," Hugh said. "I know."

WREN COULD HEAR HER FATHER. For whatever reason, the shooter had turned on the speakerphone.

Seems like me and my daughter can't even agree that the sky is blue sometimes.

Did he really think that? Or was this part of the role he played as a negotiator? Wren used to tell him that he was basically just a really poorly paid actor, making up whatever he thought the person he was talking to wanted to hear. Yeah, her father said. But the best acting comes from some grain of truth.

Did her dad think they fought a lot?

There had been a point when her father had been the center of her universe, and she had followed him around like a shadow, helping him fix the dryer or mow the lawn, but mostly just getting in his way. He never told her to get out of his hair, though. Instead, he showed her how to check the dryer vent for lint and how to change the spark plugs on the mower. Then she went to school, and began to hang out at friends' houses, and learned that there was a whole slice of life she had been missing-like messing around in your mother's makeup drawer and trying on her heels and pretending to be a grand duchess; or watching soap operas instead of police procedurals. It was her friend Mina's mother who bought her her first box of tampons, and stood outside the bathroom door coaching her on how to use them. Wren knew her father could and would do anything for her, but there were just some things that were not in his wheelhouse, and so Wren had found them elsewhere.

Now he thought they didn't get along?

She tried to remember the last time they'd spent a good amount of time doing nothing but be together. It was a month and a half ago, mid-August. They had a standing date for the Perseid meteor shower; every year they would hike to the highest point in the Jackson area —her dad carrying the telescope and Wren lugging the tent. They'd pull an all-nighter, watching the show that the sky put on for them, and then have pancakes at a diner at sunrise, and sleep the rest of the day away. But this year Wren had been invited to the movies with Mina and they'd heard that Ryan was going to be there with a group of guys from school. She and Mina had made an elaborate plan about how to best get Wren to sit beside Ryan in the theater, and to share a bucket of popcorn. Maybe their hands would brush. Maybe he would put his arm around her.

Wren almost backed out of the meteor overnight. She in fact had gone to break the news to her dad when she found him in the basement, wrestling with an inflatable sleeping pad. "I figure after all these years we deserve some creature comfort," he said. "No more stones underneath our sleeping bags." He looked up at her. "What's up?"

She didn't have the heart to cancel. So she called Mina and told her she had to do something with her dad. And it all worked out, because Ryan asked her to go to the movies alone a week later, and he didn't just put his arm around her—he kissed her, during the credits, and Wren had felt the way she imagined a star did when it exploded.

On the night of the Perseid meteor shower, Wren and her father had hiked to their usual spot and pitched the tent and spread the bedrolls and arranged the sleeping bags. Her dad cooked hot dogs over a campfire on sticks, and they roasted marshmallows. They set up the telescope, and Wren scanned the night sky.

"Do you remember when I showed you Betelgeuse," her father said, "and you asked which came first, the star or the movie?"

"I was, like, seven," Wren protested.

He laughed.

She stepped away from the scope and stretched out beside him. "It's dying, isn't it?"

"Betelgeuse? Yeah. It's a red giant. So it's cooling."

"That's kind of sad."

Her father grinned. "You won't be around to see it die, if that makes you feel any better."

"I guess if you have to go, a supernova's a flashy way to do it." One day Betelgeuse would explode in a tremendous spark of light, leaving behind a planetary nebula. And as all that dust and gas cleared, all that would remain of it would be a tiny white dwarf star. A core, without fire.

"Nothing lasts forever," her father said.

She and her father had seen plenty of white stars through the telescope. She wondered which ones from her childhood were gone now, and whether they were actually dead, or if they were just too faint to emit light. Did you have to be missed to exist?

When the first streak of light had grazed the sky, she'd sat up, breathless. What followed was a visual symphony, strafing the dark, as if someone had shaken the constellations like dice and rolled them across the night. "Sometimes I forget how beautiful it is," she whispered.

"Me too," her father said, his voice tight. When she turned he wasn't looking at the meteors. He was looking at her.

If she died, she would be missed.

Wren felt her eyes well up. What had she been doing this morning that was so important that she hadn't spent an extra five minutes at the table with her father, telling him she loved him? Or, for that matter, about Ryan? Or that lately she woke up with the blankets tangled around her feet and her heart racing because she was afraid of never finding her tribe in high school and that she'd bomb her PSATs and never go to college and suddenly everything was happening too fast.

Last year for her birthday, her father had gotten her tickets to a Neil deGrasse Tyson lecture. They had traveled to Atlanta to hear him speak. The astrophysicist had talked about dark energy. It was a real, measurable pressure in the universe that scientists didn't truly understand yet, which was forcing the universe to expand beyond our horizon. One day, he said, astronomers would only be able to track the stars of the Milky Way, and not other galaxies—they would have moved out of sight, like the last chapter of a book that had been torn away. Maybe we were already only seeing part of the story, already missing chapters.

You don't know what you don't know, Neil deGrasse Tyson had said, a year ago.

But now, for the first time, Wren really understood.

IT HAD BEEN PASTOR MIKE'S wife, Earlene, who first mentioned the problem to George: Lil's hair. It was unmanageable.

He, too, had noticed that her baby-fine curls had somehow become matted in places. He had tried to brush it, but the bristles caught on the snarls and Lil would start to cry. Then Earlene stopped him when he was cleaning out the gutters of the church on a summer day that was easily a hundred degrees. She stood below the ladder with a glass of lemonade for him. He thanked her, and as he drank, she looked off in the distance to where Lil and some of the other kids from the church were playing on a swing set. "You know, one of mine had hair like that. Just as uncontrollable as she was." Earlene laughed. "I used to wash her hair in the tub at night with shampoo and conditioner and braid it wet, so it couldn't get tangled while she slept." She took the empty glass from him and smiled. "Don't you go getting sunstroke on me, hear?"

Earlene had the sweetest way about her, finding ways to make suggestions without being critical. George had never met a woman like that. Certainly his mama wasn't that way, and if his wife had been more like Earlene, maybe he wouldn't have gotten so angry all the time.

That night when he gave Lil her bath, he told her she was going to Daddy's Hair Salon. He tugged a comb through her damp hair, working conditioner into the places where the tangles were tough, and razoring away one spot that had turned into the beginning of a dreadlock. Then he divided her hair into three sections, clumsily crossing his fists over each other to make a lopsided braid. He secured it with a rubber band, and tucked her in.

The next morning when he unwound the braid, Lil's hair spilled over her shoulders like a shining waterfall.

"Daddy," she said that night, "braid it again."

George bought hair ribbons at the drugstore, and elastics that didn't catch on Lil's fine hair. It became a twice-daily ritual: he would sit her on a kitchen stool and stand behind her, brushing her hair rhythmically, and braiding it for bed. In the morning, he'd comb through

the waves. As he got braver, he made a part, and fashioned pigtails. He learned how to pull her hair back into a barrette. He went to the library and watched videos on the free Internet about how to do a French braid, a bun, a fishtail.

There was no question that he took pride on Sundays, when at church, mothers came up to him and complimented him on Lil. Or when people were surprised to find out that she was being raised by a single father. He was a man who'd been told he'd done wrong all his life, and this was balm on a wound. But what George loved the most was the magic that happened between him and Lil when it was just the two of them, running the brush through her curls. George knew he was a quiet man, not given to, well, chitchat. But when he was standing behind his daughter, with his hands in her hair, she talked to him. And he started to talk back.

They talked about silly things: whether they'd rather have a fire pole in the house to get from upstairs to downstairs, or a swimming pool full of Jell-O; what they'd buy if they won the Powerball, if Batman would kick Wonder Woman's butt, or vice versa. There was something about standing behind Lil and not making eye contact that made talking easier for them both, even when the conversation turned tougher—standing up to the girls at church who bullied her for wearing the same dress every Sunday; understanding that a boy who stuffed a frog down her shirt might have actually been trying to get her to notice him; talk of her mama.

George lived for those moments, twice a day, when he did his daughter's hair.

Then one night, when Lil was fourteen, she didn't come into the kitchen after her shower. George found her in her room, her elbows twisted behind her head, weaving her hair into a braid. "It seems silly for you to do it," she said, "when I can do it myself."

George didn't know how to say it wasn't about that, but about the moments he spent with her. He didn't know how to explain that each sweep of a brush could jog something in a teenager that she didn't even know she was holding inside. He didn't know how to say that seeing her fix her own hair filled him with a terrible heaviness, as if this was the beginning of the end.

So he said nothing at all.

If Lil had still let him braid her hair, would he be here, now? Or would she have realized that there was nothing she could do or say that would make her seem less perfect to him? Would she have known that whatever knot she had gotten into, they would untangle together?

He had put down the telephone receiver because it hurt his ear. It was on speakerphone now, and he was pacing in front of the desk where you signed in. But Hugh McElroy had stopped talking, and so had George, both lost in their thoughts.

"You still there?" George asked.

"Of course," Hugh replied.

And then, from somewhere behind the desk, he heard a sneeze.

IMMEDIATELY, IZZY SNEEZED, TOO. SHE faked a series of sneezes, an allergic jag that should have won her an Oscar. If she could convince him that it had been her, instead of the two people hiding in the supply closet behind the desk, then maybe they would stay safe.

If the shooter found them, he'd also realize that Izzy had lied to his face when she told him it was empty.

He spun around, stalked to the closet, and yanked open the door.

_

"GEORGE?" HUGH SAID. HE COULD hear commotion and shouting and something clattering. "George, talk to me." His heart began to pound. What the fuck is going on?

Hugh heard a grunt. A scuffle. "Get up." George yelled.

"George, what's going on?" Hugh tried again. He swallowed his worst suspicions. "Are you all right? Did something happen?"

There was a crash and a cry and then Wren's voice: *No, no, no ... don't!*

All of the air left Hugh's lungs. He was paralyzed, terrified for her. His only hope lay in calming George down before he did the unthinkable.

"George," he urged, "I can help. I can—"

"Shut up," George said, and there was a clatter, and then the line went dead.

One p.m.



The shooter had hung up, but Hugh was still triumphant. He had the first puzzle piece he needed for this negotiation. George Goddard had revealed—maybe intentionally and maybe not—what had brought him to the Center today. The greatest weapon a negotiator had was information; knowledge was power.

Wasn't that what he always told Wren?

When Wren was in middle school, and he still packed her lunches, he used to include a sandwich, a bottle of water, an apple, and a nugget of knowledge. On a piece of paper, he'd write a fact: There's a planet where it rains glass. If you cry in space, the tears stick to your face. There's a tiny aluminum sculpture on the moon. Your body is made out of bits of stars that exploded. Atoms are mostly extra space, and if you squeezed all that space out of the atoms that make up humans, the rest of the mass could fit in less than one square inch. The Milky Way has four arms, not two.

None of these facts had included how to hide in a hostage situation. How to protect yourself if someone comes at you with a gun, and you're unarmed. Hugh could have easily filled her head with *that* wisdom because it was the bulk of his career knowledge. But for reasons he could not fathom right now, he had instead fed her information that would make her the hit of a cocktail party.

Knowledge was power, and he had left his daughter without a weapon. Which meant this was up to him to fix.

"You," he called to a young detective. "Find out what George Goddard does for a living. If he's married. How long he's lived in Mississippi. If there's a bar he hangs out at. Where he bought his gun. If he has any priors." The woman blinked at him. "Now!"

She scurried off, and Hugh sank down on the folding chair behind him. He buried his face in his hands. He might already be too late to help his sister. He could not afford to make a mistake. It wasn't just his professional reputation on the line, this time.

The Milky Way has four arms, not two.

It wasn't that the silhouette of the galaxy had changed. It was that often, you couldn't see the shape of something when you were stuck inside it. You couldn't be objective, if you were too close.

It was why doctors did not operate on relatives and judges recused themselves from matters that involved them and hostage negotiators stepped back from situations where they had a vested, personal interest.

Well, Hugh thought. Fuck that.

BEX LAY ON HER BACK, feeling the soup of her breathing, drowning even on dry land. Everything hurt: inhaling, exhaling, blinking. She was dizzy and faint and felt as if a pike had been driven through her chest.

At least Wren was safe, still. If Bex had to die to keep it that way, she would do it.

She should have told Hugh. She could have told him what Wren had asked her to do, and made him swear not to tell Wren that she had said anything. Then he would have known they were going to the clinic, at least.

He would know she was in there.

But Bex knew from personal experience that the minute a father realized his baby girl wasn't a baby anymore, something infinitesimal changed in the relationship. Even if it seemed outwardly solid and unaltered, you could still sense it, like the broken bone that never properly healed, or the hairline crack in the vase to which your eye was unerringly drawn. And so, she had kept Wren's secret.

She was good at that.

She felt herself starting to shiver. Did that mean she was in shock? That she had lost too much blood?

Everyone in this room, she realized, had a story that ended within these walls. If today hadn't happened, many of those stories would have gone untold. There were a hundred different paths that led to the corner of Juniper and Montfort—from pregnancies that were unwanted to those that were cherished, but impossible to carry through; from young girls who were trying to do the right thing to the relatives who lied for them. Here was the one thing all these women had in common: they hadn't asked for this moment in their lives.

It was getting harder to breathe. Bex tried to turn her head toward the closet, just in case Wren could miraculously see her through the slats. It hurt so much that the edges of her vision went a hot, searing white.

Bex made a promise to herself: if she got out of here —if she survived—she would tell Hugh the truth.

All of it.

GEORGE STARED DOWN AT THE gun in his hand. Now what?

He had imagined his vengeance as if it were a movie he had seen long ago, where someone wronged took justice into his own hands. He saw himself bursting through the front door of the Center with his gun raised like Stallone or Willis; he saw a doctor cowering under the heel of his boot; he saw an apocalyptic landscape of destruction left in his wake as he emerged, the vanquisher.

Here is what had not been part of his vision: the ringing in his ears when the gun fired, the spray of people's blood, the way they begged for mercy.

George glanced at the group of people huddled in the waiting room. The doctor, injured. The nurse who was hovering near him. The blond girl who kept tugging at her hair. The one who had just killed her baby. The lady who was struggling to breathe. He had done that to her. It made George feel sick, watching her suffer. In the abstract, eliminating everyone who was tied to the Center had seemed masterful, necessary. In truth, it was messy.

These people were puppets and their strings were made of terror. Their whispers died the minute he looked at them. *I'm not who you think I am*, George wanted to say, but that was no longer true. He was exactly who these people thought he was.

His frustration and fury had been a live grenade, dropped into his hands. What was he supposed to do with it? Let it tear him to pieces? Instead, he had run. Far and fast, behind enemy lines. And then he had thrown it right back at them.

They huddled together in the waiting room, leaving as large a gap between themselves and George as they could. They seemed be waiting for something from him—a demand, a tantrum, an explanation.

They had all heard him talking to the cop. They knew there was someone out there who wanted to rescue them. Hope was a pretty damn good weapon.

On the other hand, George had this pistol. When he waved it they jumped, they cried, they shivered. They listened to him.

He just had no idea what to say.

He started to pace. He had come here with intention, but not with a plan. Somehow he hadn't imagined that there would be people left, when he finished teaching his lesson of retribution. He knew how these things ended. In a standoff, with him and a bunch of cops in flak jackets.

But then, he had more leverage than just the gun. He had hostages.

__

WREN HUGGED HER KNEES TO her chest in the closet and cursed herself for being conscientious. Who knew that trying to be responsible was deadly?

She could have been like most teenagers on the planet and just waited until things got so intense between her and Ryan that it was too late to plan ahead. She could have brought a pack of condoms to the register at the Rite Aid, or she could have told Ryan that it was his problem. But there had been a girl in her homeroom last year who'd gotten pregnant and had stayed in school until her water broke during gym class. Wren had sat on the bleachers with her till the ambulance arrived, holding her hand while the girl's fingernails squeezed little halfmoons of pain into her skin. *Is there anything I can do?* Wren had asked, and the girl had turned to her, panting, and said, *Yeah. Use anything but Trojans*.

So instead, she and Ryan had talked about It. When to do It. Where to do It. Since Ryan was the one who was working out those logistics, Wren volunteered to be the one in charge of birth control. Which, as it turned out, was easier said than done when you were a minor and trying to keep your private business private.

So much for not being a risk taker. You could take all the precautions in the world, and bad things still happened.

That made her think of her aunt.

When Wren's dad went to hostage negotiator training for a few days, and Bex babysat, she'd let Wren skip school. She called it a mental health day. They would lie wedged together in her hammock in the backyard, like peas in a pod, and play a game of choice: Would you rather grow a tail, or grow a horn?

Would you rather always be too hot, or always be too cold?

Would you rather stay overnight in a haunted mental hospital or have to ride a broken roller coaster?

Would you rather eat nothing but stuffing, or drink only gravy?

Would you rather know the day you're going to die, or know how you're going to die?

For Wren, the answers were obvious. A tail, because you could hide it in clothing. Be too cold, because you could add layers to get warm. Stay at the mental hospital, because being terrified beats getting killed. Stuffing, because it was *stuffing*. And knowing the method of your death would be better, she had been sure, than counting down how much time you had left.

Wren was currently rethinking that last answer.

Now, Wren thought of another one: Would you die if it meant someone else could live?

Was that what her aunt had done for her?

Wren shivered in the closet beside Olive, who smelled like lemons and was being really nice, but all things considered, the odds that they could avoid getting caught hiding were pretty slim.

At least Olive was old. That sounded terrible, Wren knew, but it was true. Olive had lived her life, or most of it anyway. There were hundreds of things Wren hadn't done. Sex, for one, but that was a given. She'd never broken her curfew. She'd never gotten trashed. She'd

never been asked to prom or gotten a hundred percent on a math test or climbed up the water tower at Jackson State.

She hadn't gotten her license, either. She had a learner's permit—she'd applied for it the day she turned fifteen. Her father knew she had been waiting for this moment, and when she bounced into the kitchen on the morning of her birthday, he was already wide awake, as if he'd been waiting for her. He intentionally took his sweet time eating breakfast and finishing his cup of coffee while Wren squirmed, desperate to be taken to the DMV. "Give me a lesson," she begged, as they walked out of the building with that sacred piece of paper.

"Now why didn't I think of that?" he said, grinning, and he drove her to the police station parking lot, way out back, where they had summer Friday barbecues. He had set up an obstacle course of orange cones. He showed her how to adjust her mirrors and check her blind spots, and for ten minutes alone they practiced shifting the car from park into drive with her foot firmly on the brake.

Eventually he let her inch between the orange cones, moving five miles per hour. "You want to stay toward the middle around the corners," he told her. "You never know who's on the other side."

"Got it."

"But seriously, Wren. There could be a biker."

"Okay."

"And maybe there's not a bike lane, so you turn the corner, and you clip him and he goes flying off his bike and smacks his head on the pavement and then you get out and call 911 and follow him to the hospital and you find out that he's dead and you have to tell his family you're the reason why."

She glanced at him. "Dad."

"Eyes on the road!"

"This isn't even a road!"

He put up his hands in surrender. "Sorry. Turn left."

She put on her blinker and rotated the steering wheel.

"You know that you don't have the right of way."

"There aren't any other cars."

"But if you jump out in front of someone who's going straight, and they T-bone you, it will probably take the Jaws of Life to get you out of the wreckage. And by then, your ribs could be broken and penetrating your heart and you could slowly bleed to death—"

"Dad."

"Sorry. It's just that there are a million drivers I don't know and don't trust ... and there's only one *you*."

Wren put the car into park. "I'm not going to die in a car wreck," she vowed.

Her father looked out the window, eyes straight ahead. Then he smiled, the same kind of half smile she had seen on his face when she told him that she could read to herself at night now; the same kind of smile he'd had when she crossed the auditorium in fifth grade to get a silly graduation certificate; the same kind of smile as when she came downstairs for the first time wearing mascara and lip gloss. "I'm gonna hold you to that," he said softly.

_

THE SHOOTER HAD HERDED THE five of them into the waiting room. The front desk was littered with glass. There were pamphlets scattered all over the place and smears of blood on the carpet. Furniture had been piled against the front door as a barricade—a coffee table, a file cabinet, a couch. The television overhead was playing *The Chew*.

Joy had left her purse and her phone in the recovery room when she ran away from the shooter. His name was George. She had heard him say it, on the telephone. He looked like any of the male protesters who had been standing outside yelling at her as she ran into the clinic. She didn't listen to a single word they said. But she remembered a man holding a baby doll upside down by the foot, with a knife sticking out of its belly.

To be here today, she had switched shifts at the bar and said she was going to Arkansas to visit her family. If anyone else were going to be a casualty of a pro-life shooter, he'd pick the woman who'd just had an abortion. Was this the karmic price she had to pay? A life for a life?

Would anyone even miss her?

"Hey." Dr. Ward's voice floated toward her. "You all right?"

She nodded. "Are you?"

"I'll live. Maybe." He grinned faintly at his own joke. "It's Joy, right? It's gonna be okay."

She didn't know how he could say that with such authority, but she appreciated it, the same way she appreciated his kindness during the procedure.

If she died today, she'd be a footnote in a newspaper.

She wouldn't finish her associate's degree.

She wouldn't know what it was like to fall in love.

She wouldn't have a chance to be the kind of parent she never had.

A hysterical laugh bubbled in her throat. She was a hostage, at the mercy of a lunatic with a gun. The soles of her feet were literally soaked with the blood of others. She had stepped over a dead woman to get where she

was sitting, and she might very well watch more people die before her eyes. She might even be one of them.

But at least she wasn't pregnant.

To say this wasn't good was an understatement.

Izzy knelt down in front of Bex. She had managed to get the woman out of her blouse and could see the exit wound of the bullet. It had gone through the right breast and out just above her right shoulder blade. But even with Janine pressing gauze onto the wound, Bex's bleeding hadn't slowed.

"We're going to take good care of you, Miz Bex," Izzy said, smiling down at her.

The woman's breathing was labored. "I'm ... I ..."

"Don't try to talk," Dr. Ward said. "We'll patch you up like new. I can't risk sullying my reputation as a physician."

That, at least, brought a smile to the woman's face. Izzy squeezed her hand.

"Can I ...?" Janine looked up at her. The girl's hands were covered with Bex's blood, and quivering with the effort she was making to stanch the flow.

"No," Izzy said tightly. "You can't."

The phone rang again, and they all turned to stare at it. Last time, Izzy had been the one who answered it. The shooter had directed her to do it by jerking the gun in her face.

"Don't touch it," he barked.

The phone rang twelve more times; Izzy counted.

Bex's breathing was tighter, soupy. "Hard," she said. "To ... catch ... my ..."

Izzy reached for Bex's wrist, counting heartbeats for her pulse, and doing the math: 240 beats per minute; Bex was tachycardic.

"She probably has a tension pneumothorax," Dr. Ward said. "We have to get the air out of her chest cavity so she can breathe freely." He twisted, trying to haul himself upright on his good foot, but he lost his balance and crashed onto his bad leg.

Izzy took the bulk of his weight. "The last thing we need right now is for you to play hero."

"What we need is a trauma doctor," he said, meeting her gaze. "And it looks like that's going to be you."

Izzy shook her head. "I'm not a doctor."

"That's just a bunch of letters after your name. You know what you're doing, I bet."

Izzy had seen needle decompressions done before in a hospital setting, when they had sterile conditions and all the proper equipment. She also knew that Bex was not long for this world without some kind of immediate medical intervention. As air entered her pleural space from the wound, the pressure would increase and collapse the lung, which in turn would compress the heart and shift the mediastinum. That meant her heart wouldn't pump effectively and the vena cava—the big vessel that returned all the blood to the heart—wouldn't do its job.

Bex started wheezing, fighting for air. Her body shook with the effort. Izzy grabbed Janine's hand and pressed it down harder on the gunshot wound. Then she stood, summoning all her courage. "This woman needs medical attention," she told the shooter.

He stared at her.

"Do you want her to die?"

What a stupid question. Of course he did. He wanted them all to die. It was why he'd come in with a gun.

"I can treat her. But I need to get instruments in the procedure room."

"You think I'm an idiot? I'm not going to let you go off by yourself."

"Then come with me," Izzy said, desperate.

"And leave them alone?" He gestured around the waiting room. "I don't think so. Sit back down."

"No," Izzy said flatly.

He raised his eyebrows. "What did you say?"

"No." She began to walk toward the shooter. The gun was pointed at her belly, and her legs were like noodles, but she managed to take one step and then another until the barrel of the pistol was six inches away from her. "I will not sit down. Not until you let me get supplies so I can save that woman's life."

He stared at her for a moment that lasted days. Then he suddenly grabbed Joy and kissed the pistol to her head. "I'm counting to ten. If you do anything stupid, or if you don't come back, this woman dies."

A small, wounded whimper escaped Joy. Behind her, Bex was outright gasping for air. "One," the shooter said.

Two. Three.

Izzy spun on her heel and raced down the hall to the procedure room. *Four*. She scrambled through drawers, flinging open cabinets, blindly grabbing whatever she could lay hands on as if this were a macabre supermarket sweep. *Five*. She lifted the hem of her scrubs top and dragged her booty off the counter and into the makeshift basket. *Six. Seven*.

She scrambled back to the waiting room, dumping her treasures all over the floor.

The shooter let go of Joy, who fell, trembling, onto the couch and drew her knees up to her chest.

"Pick those supplies up," Izzy said to Janine. She pulled off the johnny she had draped over Bex. The woman's eyes were wide and terrified; they fixed on Izzy as if she were the only mooring in a storm. "Bex," she said firmly. "I know you can't breathe. I'm going to fix that. I just need you to try to stay calm."

Janine settled an armful of items beside Izzy: gauze and tubing and a number 15 stab blade, a Kelly clamp and a tenaculum, a curette.

Izzy was a pro at fixing problems with little but ingenuity. When the stove broke, you made a campfire and boiled eggs by holding them up to the steam coming out of a kettle. When there was no milk for cereal, water worked. When you wore through the sole of your shoe, you made an insole out of cardboard. If growing up poor teaches you anything, it's how to problem-solve.

She picked up a 22-gauge needle. She had seen needle decompressions done before, but with bigger needles. This one was delicate, meant to inject lidocaine. It wasn't long enough or stiff enough to provide a release for the air building up inside Bex's chest cavity.

"Not gonna work," Dr. Ward corroborated. "You're going to have to put in a chest tube."

She met his gaze over Bex's body and nodded.

Izzy pulled the tubing from its sterile plastic packet. She reached for a Kelly clamp, and then picked up the stab blade. She wished she'd had the foresight to grab Betadine or an alcohol wipe, but this would have to do. Lifting Bex's right arm, Izzy trailed her fingers to a spot between the fourth and fifth ribs and paused.

Just because she had seen this done didn't mean she was qualified to do it herself.

"Go on now," Dr. Ward urged. "Make the cut."

She drew in her breath and pressed the scalpel deeply into Bex's skin. A thin line of blood rose. Izzy stuck her left index finger into the incision and felt for the chest wall, blocking out Bex's scream. She lifted the Kelly clamp with her other hand and slipped it through the incision.

"You're going to have to push hard," Dr. Ward said.

Izzy nodded and maneuvered the nose of the clamp above the rib, then punched through the chest wall with a pop. Immediately there was a whoosh of air, and blood spattered into her lap. Bex gasped, finally able to breathe.

It had been not just a pneumothorax but a hemothorax. Blood, not air, had filled her pleural cavity.

Izzy opened the clamp and twisted it back and forth to make a bigger opening in the chest wall. With her index finger, she felt the balloon of Bex's lung as it rose and deflated. She pulled out the clamp, keeping its nose open so that she didn't accidentally snag the lung. Keeping her finger still inside the chest cavity, she inched the suction tubing into the incision until it reached the tip. Only then did she slide her finger out.

Izzy didn't have anything to hold the tube in place, or any way to suture it in. So she grabbed the plastic package that the tubing had come in and pressed it up against Bex's side to make an occlusive seal. Dr. Ward reached for the tape that she'd used to secure his tourniquet and ripped off two pieces for her to secure the plastic.

"Miss Izzy," he said, impressed, "if I didn't know better, I'd think you were born to the ER." The tube had done its job: blood was running from the tube and dripping on the floor. Izzy wrapped a towel around the end of it, wishing for a container. With a container she could monitor how much blood Bex had lost. Eventually, if Bex didn't get a transfusion, she would die.

Izzy felt a hand grab her shoulder. She turned to find the shooter holding a wastebasket. "Put it all in here," he said, jerking his head toward the discarded instruments on the floor.

She gathered the needle, the tenaculum, the bloody Kelly clamp, and the items she hadn't used, and threw them inside.

"Is that it?" he demanded.

Izzy nodded.

He waved the gun, gesturing that he wanted her to step back so that he could see for himself. Satisfied that nothing had been left behind, he backed away and set the wastebasket beneath the receptionist's desk.

Bex grabbed her hand. She already looked more alert, and definitely more comfortable. "Thank ... you," she murmured. She tugged until Izzy leaned down.

Her voice was a prayer. Save my niece.

Izzy drew back, looking at her face. She nodded.

Izzy fussed with the edges of the tape where it met Bex's skin. With her free hand, she reached beneath Bex's hip and retrieved the scalpel she had hidden there after making the incision. She leaned closer, her hands folded between her and Bex, so that only the two of them could see Izzy retract the blade and slip it through the neck of her scrubs, tucking it into her bra.

__

ALTHOUGH HUGH HAD ORDERED THE police to clear the area, there were still stragglers. The media, who were too

stupid or ambitious to leave. Gawkers, with their cellphones out, recording footage to post on social media. There were still a few of the protesters, too, although they'd moved a safer distance away to hold a prayer circle. Littered on the ground they'd ceded were the hallmarks of their beliefs: a sign that proclaimed ABORTION IS HOMICIDE; dolls painted with fake blood and abandoned in haste, limbs twisted on the concrete in their own miniature crime scene.

Hugh couldn't remember the last time the cops had been called to an altercation here at the Center. For years the employees had coexisted with the protesters the way that oil and water settled in a jar: in the same space, but separate. Each side had an odd, grudging respect for the fact that in spite of the obstacles, they both showed up every day to do the work they believed needed to be done. The protest had mostly been nonviolent and civil.

Except, Hugh noticed, right now.

A ripple of surprise ran through the protesters, triggering some innate reflex he had for impending trouble. He turned around in time to see a young woman with pink hair break through their little sanctimonious tangle. It was the girl he had interviewed an hour ago, the employee who had called 911 after running out of the Center when shooting began. She stood toe-to-toe with one of the protesters, a tall, round man with a shock of white hair.

"Rachel," the man said. "Please. Come pray."

Hugh watched her poke the man in the chest. "Allen, you do *not* get to act like this wasn't all your fault."

He was mildly surprised to realize she knew him by name.

"He's not one of us," Allen replied.

"How can you even stand here and say that?" she cried. "If people like you didn't spout the bullshit you do,

people like *him* wouldn't exist."

Hugh took a step forward. "This is an active hostage situation," he said. "You all need to go home."

"I can't," Rachel sobbed. "Not until I know everyone in there is safe."

"That's why we're praying. There's someone pro-life inside," said Allen.

Hugh ran a hand through his hair. "Clearly."

The protester shook his head. "Someone *else*," he clarified. "She's a hostage."

_

In tenth-grade debate class, Janine had to debate *Roe v. Wade.* She stood to argue for overturning it, her knees trembling as she pressed them together, and saying that abortion was ending a life. She had lost the debate, according to her teacher, who was pro-choice. But afterward a girl named Holly came up to her and asked if she was busy Saturday morning. Which was how Janine wound up with her arms linked to those of two strangers who were part of Holly's church, forming a human "life chain" that stretched for a mile.

Over the years, Janine had not wavered in her belief that life starts at conception. And yet, it was something she usually kept secret, because when you admitted you were pro-life people started looking at you like you were not so smart, or like you were part of a religious cult. Or they said they were personally opposed to abortion, but believed in a woman's right to choose. That was like insisting, *I'd never abuse my kid, but I'm not going to tell my neighbor he can't beat his son*.

Janine had kept coming back to this truth like a lodestone. It was what brought her to Mississippi to work with Allen. They were so close—only one clinic away from ridding the state of abortion facilities.

She liked the other protesters. In addition to Allen, there was Margaret, who had CP, and who said the rosary as patients passed. There was the professor, who taught at the university. Ethel and Wanda handed out blessing bags as the women walked into the clinic.

It had been Allen's idea that as their youngest member, Janine should start a vlog in which she explained, from a millennial point of view, why abortion was murder. Her first installment was going to be called "Inside the Abortion Factory."

She had wanted to get up close and personal. But she had never anticipated *this*.

Janine had nearly thrown up when the nurse, Izzy, cut into Bex's flesh. Without anesthesia. With Bex wide awake. The skin beneath the scalpel had divided to become a howling mouth, red and angry.

Janine looked down at her arms, covered to the elbows in blood, and suddenly it all hit her. She had had her hands in another woman's chest. She was trapped with a gunman who didn't realize that one of his hostages was just as disgusted by abortion as he was. She started to weave on her feet.

Izzy looked up as Janine grabbed on to the wall for support. "Are you going to faint?" she asked.

Her own voice was distant and buzzy, like that of the conductor on a train you could never really hear. *I have to get out of here*. Izzy put a reassuring arm around Janine's shoulders. "I have to get out of here," Janine said more firmly.

"Let's take some deep breaths," Izzy said, with a note of warning in her voice. She flicked her eyes toward the gunman, who had turned around to stare at them.

"No." Janine wrenched away. She walked toward the shooter, who held the gun at waist level, pointed at her.

"Sir, excuse me, but I don't belong here," she said, smiling at him.

"Sit the hell down," he growled.

"I'm like *you*, not them. I'm not a patient. I was here because ... Well, it's a long story." She reached up and took off her blond wig, revealing a pixie cut of dark hair. "I think abortion is a sin. They kill babies here, and they deserve ... they deserve ..." She glanced around to find everyone in the waiting room staring at her in shock. "Please let me go," she begged.

"Be quiet," the shooter demanded.

"I promise I won't—"

"Stop talking—"

"I'll tell them you're a reasonable man. A *good* man. With a good heart, trying to give a voice to the unborn." She took a step forward, emboldened. "You and I, we're on the same side—"

Janine saw the shooter lift his weapon. And then everything went black.

NOBODY MADE A MOVE TO help the girl who'd been coldcocked. Had he not been immobilized with a tourniquet, Louie couldn't even say for sure that *he'd* have done it, the Hippocratic oath be damned.

She must have come here to try to trap them. For years, now the antis had infiltrated clinics, trying to find proof of the mythology that fetal parts were being sold and that employees were forcing women to terminate late-term pregnancies. The result? People believed them ... so much so that it inspired violence. In Colorado, a man shot up a Planned Parenthood because he was certain they were selling baby organs and tissue.

Who knew what lies had driven the shooter here, today?

Louie knew all the protesters; it was really a matter of self-preservation. There were too many dark roads in Mississippi, too many places for his car to be driven off into a culvert, like they used to do to civil rights activists. So Allen had complimented him on his haircut recently. Wanda offered donuts to the staff every Monday. Raynaud, who wore the sandwich board with photos of body parts, didn't make eye contact with anyone. Mark only came on Tuesdays and sat on his walker, his oxygen tank in tow for his emphysema. Ethel, who knit the booties and caps that went into the blessing bags, had once given Louie a pair of mittens at Christmas.

There were those who were more disruptive: protesters who took photos of the license plates of cars parked in the lot and published them on websites so that they could be harassed; protesters who had created a geo-fencing mechanism so that as you came within a couple hundred feet of the clinic, your phone's browser would be filled with anti-abortion advertising. (When Louie checked Facebook at work, a pop-up reminded him that he could keep his baby.) Davis, a young minister, blocked incoming cars with his body and screamed at the patients, telling them they were going to hell. Reverend Rusty, from Operation Save America, drove down from Wichita every couple of months in an old VW bus with a group of followers he could whip into a frenzy with his horsewhip voice and rattlesnake eyes.

Every now and then there was someone new. Last March, a Christian college had a spring break trip to Mississippi, and a busload of fresh-faced college students picketed for a full week. There was a man who showed up for a few days with a snarling pit bull, but he disappeared as quickly as he'd come. There was the time, about a year ago, when a crazy protester barreled into the clinic and chained himself to an ultrasound machine—not realizing that they were portable and could be wheeled out, which was exactly how the police transported him from the

building to arrest him. And, apparently, there was Janine.

With that wig off her head, he recognized her as an anti. He couldn't believe that they had been under the same roof and he *hadn't* recognized her, until that moment. It made him feel foolish. Violated.

When Louie was a boy, Miss Essie would come visit and sit on their porch and complain about the head of the ladies' auxiliary at church, yet every Sunday she'd be cozying to the woman as if they shared a twin bed. *Better the devil you know than the devil you don't*, she would say, when his grandmama called her on her hypocrisy.

Then find yourself more suitable company, his grandmama used to argue.

Louie imagined that this young lady had been trying to save her own skin. Clearly, it had backfired. When she regained consciousness, would she apologize to the women who'd come to this Center because they had reached the end of their ropes? Or to Izzy and himself, who fought society and politics and, yes, violence, to give those women a last chance?

She could apologize a thousand times to Vonita, but it wouldn't bring her back to life.

This woman lying feet away from him would probably be surprised to know that she was not the first pro-lifer to walk into the Center. He had personally performed abortions on at least a dozen.

Louie did not know a single colleague who hadn't done the same. These women claimed to be pro-life and insisted the fetus was sacred, until it happened to be inside them and didn't square with their life expectations. They would come into the procedure room and say that it was different, for them. Or they would bring their daughters and say that obviously this was an exception. Louie wanted to point out that everyone who

walked through the Center's door was someone's daughter. But he didn't.

If these women burst into tears on Louie's table because they never imagined themselves there, he did not call them hypocrites. Any of us can rationalize the things we do. But he hoped empathy would spread, an invasive weed of compassion.

A day or two later, after he performed their abortions, these same women would call him a killer again as he walked from his car into his place of work. He did not consider them frauds. He understood why they felt they had to go back to being who everyone else in their social circles believed them to be.

Indeed, when pro-lifers came to him to terminate a pregnancy and told him that they did not believe in abortion, Louie Ward said only one thing:

Scoot down.

PROBLEM SOLVED, JOY THOUGHT BITTERLY. Want to clear up a divisive issue? Throw all the parties into the crucible of a hostage situation, and let them simmer.

She looked down at the unconscious body of the woman who had been suffering beside her. Never in a hundred years would it have occurred to her that she was an undercover anti-choice protester. If she *had* known, would Joy have even given her the time of day?

This was karma, in its purest form. It wasn't as if Janine had just wandered into the wrong place, like Joy had.

Yesterday, she had gone to the wrong clinic. Like the Center, it was painted orange. It was literally around the corner from the Center. The sign even said THE WOMEN'S CENTER, as if they were deliberately trying to confuse patients.

The waiting room was filled with posters of fetuses in different stages: I AM SIX WEEKS AND I HAVE FINGERNAILS! I AM TEN WEEKS AND I CAN TURN MY HEAD AND FROWN! I AM SEVENTEEN WEEKS—I JUST HAD A DREAM! It had seemed patently cruel to her, to have these posters on the walls, but maybe they were meant to weed out the women who were still unsure of their decision. Joy closed her eyes, so that she wouldn't have to look at them.

She heard her name called, and a smiling woman with a dark cap of hair led her back to a cubicle. The woman wore a lab coat and had the name Maria embroidered over her heart in loopy script. "How about we start with an ultrasound!" Maria said, and Joy realized she was one of those women who spoke only in sentences with exclamation points. "To see how far along your baby is!"

On the examination table, Joy watched Maria squirt gel onto her belly and then rub the ultrasound wand around. "Look at your little miracle!" Maria said, turning the screen toward her. On the screen was a fully formed, chubby black-and-white baby.

Joy had looked on the Internet; she knew her fifteen-week fetus was about the size of an apple, maybe four inches long. But this thing on the screen, it was sucking its thumb. It had hair and eyebrows and fingernails. It looked like it could crawl already. As she stared at the ultrasound screen, she noticed that the movements and twitches of the fetus were repetitive. It was playing on a loop.

Joy cleared her throat. "I think maybe there's been a misunderstanding," she said. "I'm here for an abortion."

"You know if you get an abortion, you probably won't be able to have children ... ever! And that's if you survive in the first place," Maria said.

She went on: "Do you go to church? Does your boyfriend?" Even these questions sounded enthusiastic.

"If you've let Jesus into your heart," Maria said, "He doesn't want you to kill your baby!"

By now Joy was utterly confused. "I think I've made a mistake."

Maria grasped her arm. "I am so glad to hear you say that. We can help you, Joy. We can help you and your child. We have lots of resources on adoption!"

A suspicion crept into Joy's head. "I ... need to think about it," she said, pulling down her shirt and sitting up.

Maria brightened. "There's no rush!"

Even that was a lie. Joy knew she had exactly four days before she could no longer legally have an abortion in the state of Mississippi.

It wasn't until she was out on the street, breathing hard, that she looked up and saw the actual Center across the street. She ran past the protesters who shouted at her and repeatedly pressed the intercom button. The electronic door lock buzzed, and Joy hurried inside.

"Is this the Center?" she asked the woman at the reception desk, who nodded. "You're sure?"

"I better be, since I own the place. Do you have an appointment?"

She had a name tag—VONITA. When Joy apologized for being late, Vonita knew exactly what had happened. "Goddamn pregnancy crisis center," Vonita said, "pardon my French. They're like weeds—sprouting up next to every abortion clinic, to purposely confuse patients."

"I'm pretty sure they're a bunch of quacks."

"I *know* they are," Vonita said. "The state's got us jumping through a hundred legal hoops just to keep our license, and they're completely unvetted. They tell you we don't have real doctors here? And that you'll probably bleed to death?" She shook her head. "You're more likely

to be hit by a bus crossing the street to get here than you are to die from complications from an abortion."

You're more likely to die from sneaking into an abortion clinic to make some kind of moral point.

With a sinking feeling, Joy realized that Janine had gotten what she wanted. It may not have been the way she intended, but in all likelihood this clinic was now going to close—if not temporarily, then permanently. Vonita, the owner, was dead. And who would be willing to come here after this? What would happen to women like Joy, who were fifteen weeks pregnant and scheduled for an abortion tomorrow or the day after?

Joy glanced down at Janine's sprawled body again. It just went to show you: there was no right way to do the wrong thing.

Except to not do it at all.

She could feel the prickle of everyone else's eyes on her as she slowly knelt on the carpet in front of Janine.

Go figure. When you cradled a liar's head in your lap, it felt just like anyone else's.

_

IN A WAY, OLIVE THOUGHT, being in the dark was even harder than being out there with the others. She could hear conversations, stomping, crashes. She knew when the shooter was angry and she knew when someone was in pain. But because she couldn't actually see with her own eyes, she began to paint pictures in her mind of what was happening. And what she could dream with a fertile imagination had to be much worse than the reality.

Right?

Beside her, Wren shuddered. "Do you think he killed her?"

There was no need to ask who. The woman who had been babbling about how they kill babies here had fallen silent after a heavy thud.

"He didn't shoot her," Olive whispered.

"That doesn't mean she's alive."

"The brain can do a lot of things," Olive said, "but it can't distinguish between what's really happening, and what you're imagining. That's why scary movies scare you and why you cry at Nicholas Sparks books."

"Who?"

"Never mind."

"You talk like a teacher," Wren said.

"Guilty as charged," Olive said. "I used to teach at the college."

She considered the woman who'd insisted she did not belong here. Olive could have said the same. The Center was all about reproductive choices, and she didn't have any of those left. But she would never have jeopardized Wren's life by throwing open the closet door to save her own skin.

"If I die," Wren murmured, "they'll make a shrine at school."

Olive turned at the sound of her voice.

"They'll put flowers underneath my locker. And posters saying REST IN PEACE, and photos of me doing stupid things, like with my face painted for Spirit Day or dressed like Supergirl for Halloween. It happened last year, with a girl who died of leukemia," Wren said softly. "All these people pretending they miss me, when they never even knew me."

Olive reached for her hand and squeezed it. "You're not going to die," she said.

As if to punctuate her promise, Wren's phone buzzed.

_

R U STILL SAFE? Hugh texted.

Those three dots appeared, scrolling, and he let out the breath he was holding.

There was someone yelling & then a thud & now it's quiet.

He wondered how many women were in there, other than his daughter and his sister.

He knew his responsibility was to every hostage inside the Center, but the truth was, he was thinking only of Bex and Wren.

Aunt Bex? he typed.

??? don't know.

When he was a kid, and he'd gone somewhere after school, Bex used to insist that he call her when he arrived. He hated it—it made him feel like he was the biggest loser. It wasn't until he had Wren, and worried about her every minute she wasn't with him, that he understood why his sister had been so vigilant. The reason you hold on to someone too tightly isn't always to protect them—sometimes it's to protect yourself.

Hugh stared down at his phone, as if he could will Wren courage, strength, hope. *Stay calm*, he texted.

• •

. .

Daddy, Wren wrote, I'm scared.

She had not called him Daddy for a long time.

When Wren was little, Hugh had come upstairs to find her scrubbing her face with lemons, trying to get rid of her freckles. I have spots, she had said. I'm ugly.

You're beautiful, he'd told her, and those are constellations.

The truth was, she was his universe.

Parenthood was like awakening to find a soap bubble in the cup of your palm, and being told you had to carry it while you parachuted from a dizzying height, climbed a mountain range, battled on the front lines. All you wanted to do was tuck it away, safe from natural disasters and violence and prejudice and sarcasm, but that was not an option. You lived in daily fear of watching it burst, of breaking it yourself. Somehow you knew that if it disappeared, you would, too.

He wondered if the women who'd come to the Center thought differently.

Then, reconsidering, he imagined it was *exactly* what they thought.

I'm here, he texted Wren, and he hoped that would be enough.

BETH STARED AT THE STRANGE man in her room. A cop. Not outside the door, but inside it, and watching her. It was creepy as fuck. As if it weren't bad enough that she was handcuffed to the bed rail.

She wanted her father. She wished she could text him, apologize, cry, beg, but her phone had been taken away by the police. Was he in the hospital cafeteria, or taking a walk, or just sitting in his car and replaying the horrible things they had said to each other? Beth knew that if she could see his face, talk to him directly, she could make him see that nothing had changed; that she still needed him as much as, if not more than, before. She would spend a month in church with him, if he wanted, atoning for her sins. She would do anything to go back to the way it had been.

When the door opened, she turned, hope swelling. But she hadn't conjured her father at all. It was a strange man in a suit, with a shock of dark hair. He was followed by a stenographer, who set up a machine in the corner near the radiator.

"Hello, Beth," he said. "I'm Assistant District Attorney Willie Cork. How are you doing?"

She looked from this man to the cop, and then her eyes settled on the stenographer, a woman. When she was little and had to go pee, her father used to ask a woman to take her into the ladies' room. He used to say if she ever felt like she needed help, she should find someone who looked like a good mother.

Which, she realized with a shock, disqualified Beth herself.

Maybe he was her lawyer. She had asked for one. She wasn't quite sure how that worked. "Hello," Beth said softly, and at that moment, the door flew open again and a small tornado cycled in. She was tiny and Black and the air crackled around her.

"Your pasty manhood might get you a pass in just about everything in this country, Willie, but even you know better than *this*. You don't get to talk to my client without representation present."

"Such a warm welcome, Counselor," the ADA drawled. "Guess you've missed me."

"Willie, when it comes to you, a tiny bit goes a long way. Like arsenic. Or nuclear fallout." She glanced down at the hospital bed. "My name is Mandy DuVille, I'm your public defender. You're Beth, yes?"

Beth nodded.

"Okay, Beth. Do not talk to anyone unless I'm present, understand?" She faced the prosecutor. "Why are you even here? Don't you have bigger things to do?

Like passing a bogus voter ID law or gerrymandering the districts before your next election ..."

"Officer Raymond here called me down to the scene, and rightly so," Willie Cork said. "I have never seen anything so disturbing in all my years serving Lady Justice. We had an arrest warrant within the hour."

Mandy slid a glance toward the cop at the door. "Nathan," she greeted.

"Cuz," he said.

The prosecutor handed Mandy a file. "Knock yourself out," he said, and Beth's lawyer opened the folder and began to read, her eyes flying back and forth.

"Self-abortion," Mandy read. "Pills?" Her lawyer snapped the folder shut and focused her gaze on Beth's handcuffed wrist, awkwardly balanced on the rail. "She's a child. Maybe a hundred pounds soaking wet. Is that really necessary?" she asked Willie.

"This woman is a murderer," the prosecutor said.

"Alleged murderer."

Beth's eyes darted from person to person. It was like they were playing tennis, and she was the ball being volleyed back and forth. She shifted, jingling the chain on her wrist. "I didn't—"

"Stop talking," Mandy interrupted loudly, holding up her palm. "Nathan," she asked, "can I please lean over and whisper to my client for a moment of confidentiality?"

"That's Officer Raymond to you," Nathan said, "and no. You'll stay two feet away from the defendant at all times."

The public defender rolled her eyes. "Beth, I need you to tell me if you understand what the state is saying you did. Not whether or not you actually did it."

Beth blinked at Mandy, utterly confused.

"Okay. I'm going to enter a not guilty plea on your behalf, and waive the bail argument until you're released from here and transported to the prison."

Beth's jaw dropped. "Prison?"

Just then, the door to the room opened and a hospital security guard crammed himself inside, followed by a bailiff who was easily seventy and another man who changed the entire tone in the room. Immediately, both lawyers stood a little straighter. The cop put his hand on his weapon and wedged himself between Beth and the judge; the other security guard pushed Mandy further away from Beth to clear a path. "She's not Charlie Manson," Mandy murmured.

"All rise," the bailiff announced, and Beth looked down at her legs in the hospital bed. "The Honorable Judge Pinot of the Third Circuit Judicial District Court."

The prosecutor offered Pinot an oily smile. "Your Honor," he said. "Did I hear that you shot under eighty last week at the country club?"

"None of your damn business, Cork," the judge muttered. "I hate hospital arraignments." He stared down at the only chair in the room, which was occupied by the stenographer. "Is there not another seat?"

"There isn't much room in here," the bailiff said.

"Maybe we make some by getting rid of what's extraneous. Starting with you."

"But, Your Honor," the bailiff insisted. "I'm here to protect you."

Beth wondered what they thought she was going to be able to do, chained to the hospital bed. The hospital security guard got a swivel chair from somewhere and crammed it into the room, which pushed Mandy even further away from Beth. "For the love of all that's holy," Judge Pinot said, "are we *ready*?"

Beth wondered if anyone would be brave enough to point out that he was the cause of the delay. But no.

"Yes, we're ready, Your Honor," Mandy said.

"Indeed," the prosecutor said.

The judge slipped on a pair of reading glasses and read the complaint out loud. Beth's name wasn't part of it, just her initials.

"Do you understand what's going on here today?" the judge asked.

Beth shook her head.

"This proceeding is being recorded, ma'am," the judge prompted. "You need to answer the question audibly."

"Not really," she murmured.

"Well, pursuant to Mississippi Code section 97-3-37, section 1, and Mississippi Code section 97-3-19, section D, you're being charged with homicide for intentionally causing the death of a child in utero. Under our state law, murder is defined as the killing of a human being without the authority of law when done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed. Also under our state law, the term *human being* includes an unborn child in every stage of gestation, from conception to live birth. The charge is punishable by imprisonment for not more than twenty years or a fine of not more than seventy-five hundred dollars or both, because your conduct resulted in the miscarriage of that child."

Twenty years? thought Beth. Seventy-five hundred dollars? Both numbers were incomprehensible.

"The only miscarriage here, Your Honor, is a miscarriage of justice," Mandy interrupted.

He leveled a glance at her. "I do suggest you watch yourself, Miz DuVille." To Beth he added, "How do you plead?"

"I can explain—"

"No," Mandy instructed. "Beth, I know you have things to say, but don't tell them to anyone but me. I can keep what you tell me private. They can't. All you have to do now is say guilty or not guilty."

"Not guilty," she whispered.

"Where are the parents? Who brought her here?" the judge asked.

Beth waited for someone to ask her; they were acting like she wasn't even there. "Damned if I know," Willie Cork said.

"Your bail recommendation, Counselor?"

"Given the serious nature of this violent crime against a voiceless, unborn child, and given the grave indifference that the perpetrator seems to show, I would request that she be held without bail pending trial."

"You bastard," Mandy muttered.

"I beg your pardon, Miz DuVille?" The judge raised a brow.

"I said he must be plastered. To think that." She waved an arm in Beth's general direction. "I'd respectfully request to waive a bail argument until my client is transported to jail. This isn't grave indifference, Your Honor. This is shock. This defendant is a child, Your Honor. A seventeen-year-old *child*, who had an abortion in the confines of her own home."

"My God, you yourself were once in the same position as that poor defenseless baby," Willie argued. "The difference is that *you* were given a chance to exist."

"Your Honor, if it please the court, may I say something?"

Judge Pinot settled more heavily on his swivel chair. "Something tells me you're gonna whether I say yes or not."

Mandy faced the prosecutor. "Willie, you can stand on top of Mount Everest and shout that life begins at conception all you want, but if this hospital was burning down and you had to decide between saving a fertilized egg in the IVF lab or a baby in the maternity ward, which would you choose?"

"That's a false equivalence—"

"Which would you choose?" Mandy repeated.

"Nobody is trying to say it's all right to kill a child in place of an embryo. This is about allowing the embryo to be born and—"

"Exactly. Thank you for proving my point. No one *truly* believes that an embryo is equivalent to a child. Not biologically. Not ethically. Not morally."

For a moment, the room was still. Then Willie said, "Unfortunately for you, the state of Mississippi *does* believe they're equivalent." He flicked his eyes toward Beth. "There is no distinction in the law between whether she killed a grown adult or a fetus—"

"Allegedly killed," Mandy murmured by rote.

"—except that had she murdered an adult, he could have cried for help."

The judge cleared his throat. "Miz DuVille, we are a court of law, and in this state all that need concern us is that the child that was in the defendant's body is now dead, and she was the proximate cause. For this reason I am setting bail at five hundred thousand dollars. The defendant will have twenty-four-hour-surveillance while she is in the hospital, and upon discharge, she will be

released to the county jail. Court is adjourned." He hefted himself out of the chair and pushed past everyone else with the bailiff close on his heels. At the door, he turned to Beth. "And you, young lady—may God have mercy on you."

Beth was a devout Christian. She had worshipped Jesus, she had prayed to Him, she had trusted Him.

She believed in God.

She had her doubts, though, about whether God believed in her.

_

IT HAD BEEN NEARLY AN hour since Izzy put the chest tube into Bex, and she was running out of time. So much blood had drained out that it had soaked through two towels.

"Favor," Bex said.

Izzy leaned down. "Anything."

"You tell my niece ..." she wheezed. "That this isn't her fault."

"You're going to tell her yourself, Bex."

A smile played over her lips, a shadow behind her pain. "I think we both know that isn't so," she said. She closed her eyes, and a tear slid down her cheek. "I wish I could tell him what I know. It's not the goodbye that hurts the most. It's the hole you're left with."

Izzy stared at her. She knew what it felt like to go without; it had been the guiding premise of her childhood. But she had never been what was missing. Once she told Parker it was over, she would be, though. Breaking someone's heart, it seemed, caused equal damage to your own.

She didn't know anything about Bex, except for the fact that she was an artist, and that she had a niece who

was somehow still miraculously hidden. Bex's life was a thread in someone else's tapestry, and that was really all that mattered.

Izzy stood up and approached the shooter. "This woman is going to die without medical help," she said.

"Then fix her."

"I've done what I can, but I'm not a surgeon."

She looked around the waiting room. It had gotten painfully silent since he had smacked Janine across the brow and knocked her out. Joy was sitting with her. Janine had stirred a few times, so Izzy knew she wasn't dead. "I heard you on the phone," Izzy blurted out.

"What?"

"You know what it's like to lose someone you love." She stared into his empty eyes. "All of us, we have families, too. Please. We have to get her to a hospital."

Before she could wonder if he would listen or shoot her, the phone rang.

FIRST TIME GEORGE REALIZED he

THE FIRST TIME GEORGE REALIZED he was a superhero, Lil was only six months old. They had both gotten sick with the flu, and exhausted, George let her sleep next to him. But her fever had broken sometime before his, and she woke up and started to roll off the edge of the mattress. Even though he would have sworn he had still been asleep, George's hand snapped out and grabbed the baby by her foot before she could fall.

He supposed that all fathers were like that. There was the time she was a toddler and got her foot stuck in the narrow slats of a fence in the pastor's backyard. Earlene had been babysitting while George had gone to get some fertilizer for the church gardens, and when he came back for Lil, he'd heard her hysterical cries. George was out of the car before he'd even finished slamming it

into park. Earlene had tried everything and was in tears herself. "I've called 911," she told him, trying to soothe the baby.

"Fuck 911," George said, and he smashed through the slats with his fist, grabbing Lil and cradling her against him even as his bleeding hand stained her dress.

Some of the hurts in the world weren't even physical. When Lil was eight, some little shit of a boy in Sunday School told her she couldn't play pirates with them because she was a girl. He had done for Lil what Pastor Mike did for him when he thought he was worth nothing.

He began by pretending he had forgotten how to turn on the stove to boil the water for the spaghetti. "Dad," she said, rolling her eyes. "You just turn the knob!"

"Can you show me?"

And she did.

Then he pretended that he couldn't remember how to use a hammer correctly. She curled her hand around his and patiently explained how to hit the nail, just a few taps at first, so that you didn't hurt yourself.

He pretended that he didn't know how to replace a lightbulb, how to clean the fishbowl, how to mix plaster, how to fly a kite. A few months later, they went to a church fair. "I don't think I remember the way back to the cotton candy," he told Lil. He held out his hand, but this time, she shook her head.

"Daddy," she said, "you have to try. I won't always be here."

Her words had struck him so hard that he couldn't move, and panicked as she walked off and was swallowed up by the crowd. But she made her way to the cotton candy, just like he knew she would. It was one of the few times since he had come to the Eternal Life church that he truly doubted the existence of God. What twisted deity would grant you the superpower of fatherhood to protect someone who, one day, would not need you?

_

On the twelfth Ring, George picked up the phone again. "Hello," Hugh said calmly. "Everything okay in there?"

"Don't act like you're on my team."

"I am, though," Hugh replied. "I'm gonna make sure everyone listens to what you have to say, so that this ends well for all of us."

"Oh, I know how this ends," George said. "You call in your SWAT team and wipe me out like a mosquito."

"There's no SWAT team here," Hugh said, which was actually true. They were still assembling; they had only been called forty-five minutes ago.

"You think I believe that you're the only cop out there?"

"There are other policemen here. They're concerned, but no one here is going to hurt you."

"I bet you have a sniper trained on the door right now."

"Nope."

"Prove it," George said.

A shiver went down Hugh's spine. Finally. A bargaining chip. "I can prove it to you, George, and give you peace of mind. But I think you should have to give me something, too."

"I'm not coming out."

"I was thinking of one of the people inside." *I was thinking of my daughter. My sister.* "It's true they are pressuring me, George, to have a SWAT team assembled. But I said that you and I are having a rational

conversation, and that we should wait. If you send out a hostage, that's going to go a long way to convincing my chief that I'm right."

"You first."

"Do I have your word?" Hugh asked.

There was a long pause. "Yes."

Proof there's no sniper. Now that he'd promised it, how did he execute that?

Hugh scrambled out of his command tent, still holding his phone. He ran down the sidewalk away from the clinic, blindly grabbing the first cameraman he could. "Dude," the guy said, backing up. "Hands off."

"Who do you broadcast for?"

"WAPT."

"Film me," Hugh demanded. "Now." He lifted the phone to his ear again. "George? You still there?"

"Yeah ..."

"Is there a TV?" Please, God, let there be a television. "Turn on channel sixteen."

He heard a scuffle, and a yell, and the voice of a woman. "George?" he asked. "What's going on?"

But he could hear his own voice coming from the TV inside the Center now. The cameraman had the black eye of the camera trained on Hugh's face. "George, it's me. You can see what's going on behind me, right?" To the cameraman, he said, "Film that way. Pan around me."

Hugh kept narrating. "It's like I promised, George. No snipers. No SWAT team. Just some cops who are controlling the scene." The camera swung back to focus on his face. "So. We have a deal, right? Who are you going to send out?"

_

GEORGE FOUND HIMSELF TRANSFIXED BY the face on the television screen. Hugh McElroy was one of those men who looked tall, even if you couldn't see his whole frame. He had black hair that was military short, and eyes that looked like the blue heart of a flame. He was staring into the camera as if he could see right into George's mind.

If he could, he would know what George was thinking. All those years with Lil that he'd believed himself to be her champion? He wasn't a hero.

Hugh started speaking as if he could indeed read George's thoughts. "Whatever you did, George, and why ever you did it—doesn't matter. That's over and done with. What matters is what you do now."

George had given his word. He didn't believe that it meant anything to Hugh, really. But the fact that he'd asked for it had made George feel ... well ... respected.

For once.

George stalked toward the nurse, the bitch who kept reminding him that there were people bleeding all over the floor as if he couldn't see it himself, and hauled her upright by her arm. "Pick one," he said.

IZZY LOOKED AT LOUIE WITH her heart in her eyes. He nodded. Even if it felt like a Sophie's choice, Bex was the hostage who should be released. The rest of them stuck in this room might die. But Bex, if she stayed, *would* die. "You've got to get her out," Louie said.

"Bex," Izzy chose.

The shooter started dragging the couch and chairs and tables away from the front door where he'd stacked them like a barricade.

Louie watched him, his eyes narrowed. He looked like any of a hundred white male antis Louie had seen outside clinics. The vast majority of protesters were men, and it made perfect sense to Louie—the male of the species felt threatened by the biology of women. Even in the Bible, normal female biological functions were made pathological: you were unclean when you had your menses. Childbirth had to occur in pain. And there was the questionable nature of those who bled regularly—but did not die.

There was, of course, the history, too. Women had been property. Their chastity had always belonged to a man, until abortion and contraception put control of women's sexuality in the women's hands. If women could have sex without the fear of unwanted pregnancy, then suddenly the man's role had shrunk to a level somewhere between unnecessary and vestigial. So instead, men vilified women who had abortions. They created the stigma: good women want to be mothers, bad women don't.

Vonita, God rest her soul, used to say that if men were the ones to get pregnant, abortion would probably be a sacrament. The Super Bowl halftime show would celebrate it. Men who had terminated pregnancies would be asked to stand and be applauded at church for the courage to make that decision. Viagra would be sold with a coupon for three free abortions.

God. Louie missed Vonita already.

Forty years ago, Vonita had had an abortion. It wasn't legal then, but everyone knew there was a woman in Silver Grove who worked out of her garage. When the woman died in the 1980s and her property got sold and the new people tried to put in a garden, they dug up hundreds of tiny bones, the size of a bird's.

Vonita told Louie that she herself dreamed of the daughter she didn't have. She dreamed so vividly of arguing with her lost daughter that she woke up with her throat raw; once, she had dreamed of her daughter braiding her hair and woke up with it in neat cornrows.

She was well aware that although abortion had been legalized, the stigma still existed, even though one in three women would have one. Vonita thought it was her personal calling to create a place where a woman could safely get an abortion if she needed one, a place where a woman could be supported and not judged.

She had opened the clinic and when she couldn't find a local abortion doctor, she'd tracked Louie down and asked him to fly in to provide services. He had never considered saying no.

"I can't carry her," Izzy said, interrupting his thoughts.

"There's a wheelchair." Louie pointed to a spot where one was crammed beside a file cabinet, beyond Vonita's body.

The shooter jerked his gun at Izzy, indicating she could get it. She ran behind the reception desk, past Vonita. She dragged the chair to where Bex lay, straddled the woman, and slipped her arms under Bex's armpits to lift her. With a struggle that Louie watched, helplessly, she managed to get the woman into the wheelchair and retaped the plastic seal over the chest tube.

Bex coughed and then fought for breath, adjusting to her new position.

"You walk her out," the shooter said, "and then you come right back. Or I start shooting." He grabbed the doorknob from the inside and swung it toward him, so that he was hidden behind the slab of wood. Sunlight fell into the room, silhouetting Izzy and Bex.

That slice of light inched close to Louie as the door opened. He leaned a little to the left, wincing, until he could cup the ray in his palm. Suddenly he was seven years old again, sitting on the porch while his grandmama snapped beans. The air was sticky and the wood under his thighs was hot enough to sear the backs

of his legs. He stretched out his small hand, trying to catch the sun that spilled through the leaves of the cypress trees. He wondered if it had come to dance for him alone, or if it would put on its show even after he was gone.

Noon



Hugh had been the third policeman to arrive. His unmarked car screamed to a stop behind a cruiser. He was immediately approached by two wide-eyed beat cops, who'd been the first to reach the Center after Dispatch's all-hands-on-deck call reporting an active shooting. "Lieutenant," one of the cops said. "What do you want us to do?"

"What do we know so far?"

"Nothing," said the second officer. "We got here ten seconds before you did."

"Have you heard any gunfire?"

"No."

Hugh nodded. "Until more backup arrives, position yourselves at the northwest and southeast corners of the building in case the shooter tries to leave the building."

The cops hurried away. Hugh started running a checklist in his mind. He would need the street cordoned off. He would need a command center. If the shooter wasn't coming out, he would need a direct line inside to speak to him. He would need to get rid of the people lining the street who thought this was entertainment.

His personal cellphone was buzzing frantically in his pocket, but he ignored it as he reached into his car and called Dispatch. "I'm on-site," he told Helen. "I'm securing the scene. Shooter's still inside, presumably with hostages. Has anyone gotten hold of the chief?"

"Working on it."

"Call the regional SWAT team and get them here," Hugh said. "And get me aerial photos of the Center."

As he hung up the radio, three more squad cars arrived. He reached into his breast pocket, pushing the button on the side of his phone to dismiss whoever wouldn't leave him the fuck alone while he tried to keep a nightmare from becoming even more disastrous.

When others were paralyzed by panic or overwhelmed by adrenaline, Hugh kept calm, steady, clearheaded. He didn't yet know if there were survivors inside the building, nor did he know what had happened that brought this gunman into a collision path with him today. But he would find out fast, and he would move heaven and earth to get the guy to put down his weapon before there was any more damage.

Even as he instructed additional beat cops on how to secure the perimeter and what materials he needed to do his job, Hugh was praying. Well, maybe not praying, but pleading to the universe. Praying was for people who hadn't seen what Hugh had in his line of work. Praying was for people who still believed in God. He was fervently hoping that this asshole with a gun was one who could be easily defused. And that the shots he'd fired might have struck plaster or glass, and not people.

Within minutes, Hugh was managing thirty-odd policemen. He tapped impatiently on his thigh. He needed to have the area secure before he initiated contact with the shooter. This was his least favorite part of the process: waiting to begin the work.

His phone began to buzz again.

Hugh drew it out of his pocket. There were twenty-five messages from his daughter.

There is a moment when you realize that no matter how well you plan, how carefully you organize, you are at the mercy of chaos. It's the way time slows the moment before the drunk driver crosses the median line and plows into your vehicle. It's the seconds that tick by between when the doctor invites you to take a seat, and when she gives you bad news. It's the stutter of your pulse when you see another man's car in the driveway of your house in the middle of the day. Hugh looked down at the home screen of his phone and felt the electric shiver of intuition: he knew. He just *knew*.

He clicked on Wren's messages.

Help

There's someone shooting.

I'm here with Aunt Bex.

She's hurt. I don't know where she is.

Dad? Are you there?

DAD THIS IS AN EMERGENCY

I DON'T KNOW WHAT TO DO

DAD

He stopped reading. His hands felt like lead and all his blood was pooling in his gut. Why was Wren in there? Why was *Bex* in there? He managed to type out a response:

Where are you?

The longest moment in Hugh's life was the breath he held until he saw those three little dots that meant she was typing. He sank to his knees, his body singing.

Hiding, she wrote.

Stay there, Hugh typed. I'm coming.

He should recuse himself. The whole point of hostage negotiation was to be clearheaded, and he couldn't be objective if his own daughter was a hostage. Staying in charge here would be against the rules.

He also knew he didn't care. There was no way he was going to trust Wren's life to someone else.

He started to run toward the clinic.

TO BEX, AIR HAD BECOME fire, and every breath was charring her raw. Some tiny cell of self-preservation warned her to crawl somewhere, anywhere, that she could hide. But when she tried to roll to her side the agony that stabbed through her made it impossible; the world went white at the edges.

She stared overhead, her brain making patterns of the fluorescent lights and the tiles of the dropped ceiling. That was what artists did, they arranged the unarrangeable into something that made sense.

When she created her canvases, with their giant pixels, she was filtering impressionism through technology. The key to her technique was that the human eye—the human *brain*—did not have to see individual parts to imagine the whole. It was called Gestalt theory. Similarity, continuation, closure—these were some of the principles that the mind craved. It would complete lines that weren't fully drawn; it would fill in boxes that were empty. The eye was pulled to what was missing, but more important, the eye finished it.

Maybe Hugh would be able to do that, too, if she were gone. Finish her work.

And yet she also knew that there was another tenet of art: the observer could easily miss what wasn't obvious. An optical illusion worked because the brain focused on the positive space of a chalice, and not the negative silhouettes of the two profiles that formed it. But just because the viewer saw a goblet didn't mean the artist, while creating the piece, hadn't been wholly focused on those faces.

Maybe one day Hugh and Wren would hold a gallery retrospective of her work. Maybe she would achieve fame by dying relatively young. And only then, maybe, would they realize they were the subjects of every one of her pieces.

This was the worst pain she had ever felt.

She opened her mouth to say their names, but found her throat was filled with the words of Leonardo da Vinci: While I thought that I was learning how to live, I have been learning how to die.

LOUIE COULDN'T HEAR. THE SHOTGUN blast had left him with a heavy, seeded silence pushing on his ears, the absence of sound hammering in his head. He rolled over, which hurt his leg so much his vision went blurry, and he thought he was about to lose a second sense. He found himself looking at Harriet, the nurse who'd been working with him in the procedure room that morning, who was sprawled on the floor as well. Harriet's brown eyes were wide and her mouth was open. There was a bullet hole, neat as a thumbtack, in the center of her forehead. A feathered fan of blood sprayed the wall behind her.

Louie turned his head and vomited.

He found himself thinking of Bras Coupé, the most famous runaway slave in Louisiana, who couldn't be killed by a bullet. His real name had been Squire, and he had been a bamboula dancer. When he stomped and whirled at Congo Square, the voodoo ladies would rise up like spirits called to service. As a slave, he had been owned by General William de Buys and would join the general on hunts and expeditions. He was even allowed to carry arms. But that wasn't the same as freedom, as Louie's grandmama told him, so Squire ran away over and over and over. During one recapture, he had been injured and had an arm amputated, earning him his nickname. The next morning, he'd run away again from his hospital bed into the swamps. There, he pulled together a ragtag group of escaped slaves, and at night,

they'd descend on the plantations, carrying off female slaves and even white women.

Bras Coupé had become a legend of infamy. Slave hunters told tales of shooting him, yet seeing the bullet pass through his body. A city guard claimed to have shot him and beaten him to death, but when lawmen came to the spot where it had happened, Bras Coupé was gone again, leaving only a trail of blood that disappeared into the swamp.

Maybe to survive now, Louie had to become a ghost, too.

He pushed himself up on his forearms, intent on hiding, grunting at the pain that tore through his leg. Dr. King joined Bras Coupé in his head: If you can't fly, run. If you can't run, walk. If you can't walk, crawl. But by all means, keep moving. Based on the radiating center of the pain and the rhythmic pulse of the bleeding, he would guess that he'd been shot in the superficial branch of the femoral artery, that his femur had been shattered. He might be able to crawl somewhere and conceal himself, but he'd bleed out unless he could fix this first. He gritted his teeth and inched forward on his elbows, until he could grab the handle of a cabinet.

Inside was the sterile tubing used to connect the cannula to the suction machine. He tore the packet with his teeth and tried to tie the clear rubber around his thigh. It was like trying to make a Christmas gift bow alone, though—no matter how hard he worked at it, he couldn't knot it tight enough. And the pain, it was like no pain he'd ever felt.

The edges of his vision began to go dark, like the borders at the end of one of those old-time silent movies, just before they shrank into a pinpoint of darkness. Louie's final thought before he passed out was that this was indeed some crazy world, where the waiting period

to get an abortion was longer than the waiting period to get a gun.

HUGH WAS HALFWAY TO THE front door of the clinic when he crashed into a cop. "Lieutenant?" the officer said. "This is Rachel Greenbaum. She's the one who called in the shooting."

He blinked. He had to shake his head a few times to clear it, to let go of Wren's name, which was caught like a bit between his teeth.

What had he been thinking? Well, obviously, he *hadn't* been. Charging inside was a mistake. He couldn't help Wren if he got himself shot.

"Ms. Greenbaum," he said, taking a breath. "Why don't you come with me?"

Slowly, he loosened his death grip on his phone and slipped it into his pocket. He led her in the other direction (away from the clinic; away from Wren and Bex, goddammit) to a spot where two officers were hastily erecting a Tyvek canopy over a card table and a couple of folding chairs. There was also a laptop.

He sat down and offered her a chair as well. The girl—he put her in her twenties, maybe—had cotton-candy pink hair and a hoop in her nose. Her mascara had run, giving her raccoon circles under her eyes. She was wearing a pinny with buttons on it: THINK OUTSIDE MY BOX. MAY THE FETUS YOU SAVE TURN OUT TO BE A GAY ABORTION PROVIDER!

"You work at the Center?" he asked, reaching for a pad and a pen.

She nodded. "I'm a jack-of-all-trades. I do everything from escorting people in from the parking lot to admin to holding the hands of patients during procedures."

"You were there when the shooter came in?"

Rachel nodded and started to cry.

Hugh leaned forward. "I know how hard this must be for you. But anything you can tell me is going to make the odds much greater that we can help your friends inside."

She wiped her eyes with her wrist. "I came in late this morning because my car broke down. I had just arrived."

"Can you describe in detail what you saw?"

"The waiting room was pretty empty," Rachel said. "That meant the group info session was finished."

"Group info?"

"We have to do one every day for the next day's procedures. It's the law," she explained. "There were only a couple of patients left, I think."

Was one a young girl? Hugh thought desperately. Or a woman with eyes the same color as mine? But the cop who had brought Rachel Greenbaum over was an arm's length away. He could not risk him overhearing.

"Vonita was at the front desk." Rachel looked up. "Vonita's the owner of the clinic," she said, and then she started to cry again. "She ... she's dead."

"I'm so sorry," Hugh said evenly, but his heart tripped. Wren had said that Bex had been shot. Was she dead, too?

"She was drinking a diet shake. She hates—hated—diet shakes. We were joking around and then the buzzer rang, and it was him." Rachel glanced at Hugh. "We're not like Planned Parenthood, with security guards and metal detectors. I guess we operate on hopes of southern gentility. We have protesters, but they keep to their side of the fence, and the Center door is always locked and there's an intercom. If you don't come in with a known escort, all you have to say is that you're there for an

appointment, or that you're with someone who's there for an appointment, and then whoever is at the desk will push a button and let you in."

"Was it unusual to have a man show up?"

She shook her head. "We get boyfriends and husbands coming to pick up patients all the time."

"Did he say he was there to pick up a patient?"

"No," Rachel said quietly.

"What did he look like?"

"I don't know. Ordinary. Shorter than you. Brown hair. Plaid shirt. A jacket." She could have been describing half the citizens of Mississippi.

"What kind of gun was he carrying?"

"I-I didn't see one."

"Handgun, then," Hugh said. "Not a rifle."

Rachel wiped her eyes as another police officer approached. "Lieutenant? Dispatch came back with the plate registrations."

His first order had been to run the plates of every car in the parking lot. There were only a dozen. Now Hugh shuffled through the driver's license photos, subtracting out the women. "Any of these ring a bell?"

Rachel hesitated at the first one. "This is Dr. Ward," she said. "He works for us." Then she turned the page. "That's him."

"George Goddard," Hugh read. "Excuse me a minute." He picked up his phone and pushed a few buttons. "Dick? Yeah, I know. Listen, I have an active situation I'm working and the hostage taker's got a car registered in Denmark. Can you do a drive-by?" He glanced down at the screen after he hung up. Wren had not texted again.

"Did he say anything?" Hugh asked.

"I was going to lock up my backpack in Vonita's office," Rachel said. "I heard him come in, and come up to the desk, and Vonita asked if she could help him. I expected him to say he was looking for his wife, or picking up his girlfriend or something. But he said, 'What did you do to my baby?' and he started shooting."

"'What did you do to my baby?' "Hugh repeated. "You're sure?"

"Yes."

"Did he say anything else? Did he mention anyone by name?"

"I don't know."

"Did it seem as if he'd been to the Center before?"

"I-I'm not sure."

"Did he seem like a local? Have an accent?"

She looked up at him. "Do any of us, here in Mississippi?"

"Then what happened?"

Rachel buried her face in her hands. "He shot Vonita. I ducked under her desk. I heard more shots. I don't know how many."

"Did you see anyone else injured?" *Did you see my sister?*

"No. I tried to take care of Vonita, but she didn't ... she wasn't ..." Rachel swallowed hard. "So I ran." She started sobbing.

"Rachel, listen," Hugh said. "You got us onto the scene fast. And thanks to you, now I know that the shooter isn't in there because he's on a philosophical crusade. This is personal, which will help me connect

with him." He leaned forward, his elbows on his knees. "You're lucky you got out."

The tears started falling harder. "I'm not lucky." She sucked in the truth like she was breathing through a straw. "I saw him, through the one-way glass. And he was wearing a coat. I noticed it, because who wears a coat when it's eighty-five degrees? But I didn't stop to think about it. I just buzzed him in." She folded into herself, an origami of grief. "What if I was the one who could have stopped it from happening?"

"This is not your fault," Hugh said, but it wasn't just Rachel he was trying to convince.

__

They had shown Joy into a recovery room after her abortion, where she had changed back into her sweatpants and baggy T-shirt, and sat down to rest. As she reclined in a leather chair, she dozed, dreaming of when she used to babysit for a toddler named Samara, who lived next door to her foster family. Samara had the roundest cheeks and tiny Bantu knots and little white raptor teeth. She would do the hand motions to "Itsy Bitsy Spider" if you sang it to her, and she didn't like crusts on her sandwiches. Her mama went out twice a week to night school, which was when Joy would come over, feed Samara dinner, and put her to bed.

Samara's mama, Glorietta, took a half hour to say goodbye to her daughter. She would smother her face with kisses and act like she was going to be gone for a year, not three hours. When she got home, she would go check on Samara and inevitably wake her up with her touches and hugs, even when Joy had worked hard to get her to go down. Sometimes, Glorietta would come home in the middle of her class, saying she missed her baby too much and needed to be with her. She always paid Joy for the full amount of babysitting time, so it was a win-win, but Joy thought it was kind of strange all the same.

One night Joy came home from practice to find six police cars on her street, and an ambulance pulled up in front of Glorietta's house. Samara was dead. Glorietta had smothered her in her sleep. She told the police it was so that her daughter would stay an angel forever.

You never knew what went on behind closed doors, as any foster kid could tell you. Joy hadn't thought about Samara in years. But now she wondered: If a child died, in the afterlife, did they keep growing up? Would Samara be there with Joy's child now? Would she babysit him?

A scream woke Joy up. The sad woman was gone from the waiting room and the playlist had ended. Just then, she heard a crash, the sound of glass shattering. "Hello?" she called, but there was no answer.

She slowly inched to her feet. She felt the pad in her underwear shift as she stood, and the hot rush of blood that came with being upright.

Then came gunshots.

She couldn't move fast enough. Her limbs weren't working properly; it was as if she were swimming underwater.

She struggled down the hallway with jerky, furtive movements. Her pulse was so loud, like a timpani keeping count, as she tried to remember the way out of the clinic, but the sound of footsteps approaching had her grabbing for the nearest doorknob and ducking into a room. She closed the door and locked it and rested her forehead against the cool metal.

Please, she prayed. Please let me live.

GEORGE GLANCED DOWN AT THE redheaded nurse, who flinched.

He would have killed her. He could have killed her, to get to the doctor. Except, if he killed her, he would also

__

be killing her baby.

Which would make him no better than the asshole bleeding out on the floor.

Frustrated, he looked away and took note for the first time of his surroundings. The procedure room. Had this been where Lil was? Had she been scared? Crying?

Had it hurt?

He had only met one woman who had ever gotten an abortion. Alice belonged to their church and she and her husband had just found out that they were going to have a baby when she learned she had lymphoma. The congregation had prayed hard, but that hadn't stopped the advanced cancer diagnosis and the medical necessity to have surgery and start chemo. Pastor Mike had told her that God would understand if she terminated the pregnancy, and it was proven true a year later when she was cancer free and pregnant again.

George remembered how once, he had come into the church early one morning during the week to find Alice, now healthy and eight months pregnant, sitting in a pew and sobbing her heart out. He had never been one for crying women, so he passed her his handkerchief and shifted uncomfortably. "Can I get the pastor for you?" he'd asked.

She'd shaken her head. "Maybe just sit with me?"

It was the last thing George wanted to do, but he lowered himself into the pew. He glanced at her belly. "Guess it won't be long now."

Alice started to cry, and he fell all over himself to apologize. "I know it's a blessing," she sobbed, "but it's not a replacement."

Two, George realized now.

He knew two women who had had abortions.

_

IZZY COWERED AS THE GUNMAN turned to her, abruptly, and dragged her to her feet. A bolt of pain shot through her arm. "Who else is here? he demanded, his breath hot on her face. "How many people?"

"I-I don't know," Izzy stammered.

He gave her a hard shake. "Think, dammit!"

"I don't know!" She felt like she was made of sawdust.

"Answer me!" he ordered, waving his gun in her face.

He wrenched her arm again, and tears came to her eyes. "This is everyone!" she burst out.

Just like that, he let go of her. She stumbled, managing at the last moment to not fall on top of the doctor's wounded leg. She lay on her side, her eyes shut tight, waiting to wake up from this nightmare. Any minute now, she would. Parker would be shaking her shoulder, telling her she'd been making sounds in her sleep, and she would sit up and say, *I had the most horrible dream*.

The shooter sank to his knees. He rubbed the barrel of his gun against his temple as if he had an itch, and this was an extension of his finger. Then he lowered the pistol and stared at it as if he was wondering how the hell it got into his hands.

Could she rush him, right now? Could she grab the gun, and hold it against him?

As if he could hear her thoughts, he leveled the gun at her again. "How can you be pregnant and work here every day and be okay with what happens?"

"Please, you don't understand—"

"Shut up. Just shut up. I can't think." He got up and started to move in a small circle, muttering to himself.

Izzy inched toward the doctor. She could tell from the trickle of blood at his leg that he needed a better tourniquet. She felt his neck for a pulse.

"What are you doing?"

"My job," Izzy said.

"No."

She looked up at him. "I'll do whatever you want. But let me help these people before it's too late."

The shooter glanced down at her. "First, you round up everyone else, and get them all into one place. The front area. With the couch."

The waiting room. Izzy winced as the shooter dragged her down the hall. They stopped in front of a bathroom. "Open it," he demanded, and when Izzy hesitated his fingers bit deeper into her flesh. "Open it!"

Please be empty, she thought.

With a shaking hand, she pushed open the door, and revealed a squat toilet, a pristine sink. No one.

"Come on," the shooter said. He pulled her from the bathroom to the changing room—empty, the recovery room—empty, and the consultation room, where the sonograms were done. There, another woman was sprawled on the floor—the social worker at the Center. Izzy didn't have to get any closer to know she was dead.

Fighting the urge to throw up, she let herself be pulled down the hall. The shooter paused at the one door they hadn't opened yet. Izzy turned the knob, but it was locked. She looked at him, and he cocked the hammer and shot the doorknob clean off the door. Even with her hands belatedly covering them, Izzy felt her ears ringing. When she stepped inside, she saw a pale woman cowering in the corner of the lab, her mouth rounded in a scream.

Sound came back in fits and starts. She could hear herself trying to calm the woman down. "I'm Izzy," she said.

"Joy." Her gaze darted to the shooter.

Izzy tried to redirect the woman's attention. "Are you hurt?"

"I just had ... I had ..." She swallowed. "I was in the recovery room."

"He wants us to go to the waiting room, but I need help carrying the doctor, who's been wounded. You feel strong enough to help me, Joy?"

Joy nodded, and they backtracked. Izzy was well aware of the gun pointed at her. "Make it fast," the shooter said.

In the procedure room Joy froze, staring at the dead nurse. Dammit. Izzy had forgotten to warn her.

"Oh my God. *Oh my God oh my God oh my—*" She turned away from the body and gasped. "Dr. Ward?"

He was conscious now, but clearly in pain. "Miz Joy," he managed.

"This is not a goddamn ice cream social," the shooter yelled. His anger lit a fuse in Izzy. She scrambled around the room, opening drawers and grabbing as much gauze and tape as she could and shoving it into her scrubs top, which ballooned out with the items where it was tucked into the waistband of her pants.

She got to her knees and looped the doctor's arm around her neck, then caught Joy's eye to get her assistance. Joy looped the doctor's other arm around her neck. Together they got him upright and began to drag him down the hall, his leg leaving a trail of blood.

As they approached the waiting room, Dr. Ward looked past the reception desk and saw the body of the clinic owner. "Vonita," he moaned, just as the shooter

grabbed Izzy by her braid. Tears sprang to her eyes and she lost her grip on Dr. Ward, so that Joy had to bear the bulk of his weight. They tumbled to the floor, the doctor landing on his bad leg. His makeshift tourniquet popped free of its knot, and blood began to run freely.

Izzy immediately knelt to fix the tourniquet, but the shooter wouldn't let her. "You're not finished," he said. "I want *all* of them where I can see them."

"Joy," Izzy cried out, "tie that tubing!" As she spoke, she crawled to Bex, the lady who'd been shot near the reception desk. The young woman she had ordered to apply pressure to the wound was still there, pressing down on the injury to slow the flow of blood.

Izzy looked up at the gunman. "I can't move her."

"I'm not the one who cares if she dies."

Gritting her teeth, Izzy dragged Bex, apologizing for causing her pain. The young woman watched her struggle for a moment. When Izzy stared at her in disbelief, she scrambled to help.

They positioned Bex beside the doctor on the waiting room floor. "Okay, start again with the pressure," Izzy told the woman. She was young, but it was clear that she was wearing a blond wig, and not a particularly good one. *Chemo?* Izzy wondered, and on the heels of that came a wash of empathy.

She immediately turned her attention to the doctor again. Joy had wrapped the tubing around his leg and was holding it in place with her hand. Izzy ripped off the bloody pants leg of his scrubs and began to twist it into a rope.

"You're. Not. Finished," the shooter growled. "Check the rest of the rooms!"

Izzy's hands stilled as the pistol nudged her between the shoulder blades. Lifting her palms in surrender, she sent a silent plea to Joy to keep her vigil over the doctor and got to her feet again. With sharp, angry strides she walked to the bathroom that she had gone into earlier to be sick. She flung the door wide. "Empty," she announced.

The shooter didn't come to verify her claim. He couldn't, without turning his back on his hostages. Instead he stood at a distance with the gun, bouncing his aim between Izzy and the others.

She yanked open a supply closet, the only other door in the waiting room. On one side was a pile of boxes, and a stack of cleaning supplies. On the other side hung three long white lab coats and a barricade made of a vacuum, a mop, and a bucket. From where she was standing, Izzy could also see two faces, pinched and pale, blinking up at her. One, an older woman, held a finger to her lips.

Izzy turned, blocking that side of the closet with her own body. "Empty. Happy now?" she said, and she slammed the doors shut. She folded her arms, mustering courage she didn't feel. "Now can I go back to doing my job?"

_

FOR A MINUTE WREN WAS sure she was a goner. When that closet door opened, she had turned to stone. She stared up at the woman, who clearly noticed them, but didn't give away their hiding place. She stayed utterly frozen until they were plunged into darkness again, and then felt Olive's fingers gripping hers, papery and powdery, the way old ladies' hands always were. Wren's phone vibrated and she lifted it in the darkness.

Still safe?

Yes, she texted back to her father.

Where r u?

In a closet

Alone?

No, she wrote. With Olive. She didn't explain who Olive was. It was enough that her father realized she wasn't sitting here alone and terrified.

Can you see Bex?

No.

Don't move, her father wrote. Don't speak. Listen and tell me what u hear.

Wren tried, but with the closet doors closed, it was all muffled. *There were shots*, she wrote after a moment. *Aunt Bex fell down*. *I think it went into her chest*.

Which side?

Wren blinked. She tried to think; where had the red spread? She moved her hand over her own chest, mapping the memory. *Right*.

She realized, as she typed it, that her father was feeding her hope. The right side of your chest didn't hold your heart. There was a chance that her aunt was still fighting.

People were crying, Wren typed. A lady wearing scrubs opened the closet door and she saw us but she made sure he didn't.

A warning popped up on her screen. You only have 10% battery left. Would you like to go into Save mode?

Yes, Wren thought. Yes, I very much would.

Dad, she typed, I'm sorry.

It had been her decision to get birth control. Her decision to keep that little tidbit of information from her father. Her decision to ask her aunt to bring her here secretly. She waited for her father to absolve her, to say that it was all right, that it wasn't her fault.

Tell me what else is happening, he wrote.

Wren felt something sink inside her. What if she got out of here, and things were never the same between the two of them? What if she had broken everything with one mistake?

She was going to live, she decided, if only to prove to her father that she could grow up *and* still be his little girl.

Wren started typing. The woman who saw us had blood all over her clothes.

Was she hurt?

I don't think so, Wren wrote. But other people are.

Did you hear the shooter say anything? Did he mention any names? When was the last time you heard the gun go off? How many injured did you see before you went into hiding?

Her father's questions rolled in like thunderclouds, fast and thick. Wren closed her eyes and pressed the power button to darken the screen and save some of the limited juice she had left. She thought, instead, of all the questions he wasn't asking her.

Why are you in a women's health center in the middle of the school day?

Why is your aunt with you?

Why didn't you tell me?

Her earliest memory was when she was four years old, when she still had a mother and a normal nuclear family. She was at nursery school, and a boy on the playground kissed her smack on the lips underneath the jungle gym that looked like a pirate ship and announced that he wanted to make babies with her. Wren had drawn back her fist and punched him right in the mouth.

Her parents were called to school. Her mother was mortified and kept saying that Wren didn't have a violent bone in her body, which made her wonder if other people had violent bones, and if they were tucked in among the ribs or pressed down under the foot when you stamped it. "Wren," her mother said, "what did you *do*?"

"I did what Daddy told me to," she answered. Her father laughed so hard he couldn't stop, and her mother told him to go stand outside, like he was the one in trouble.

Her mother wanted to punish her. Her father took her out for the biggest ice cream sundae, instead.

Dad, she texted, are you still there?

• •

• •

• •

Always, he wrote, and she exhaled.

_

THE SHOOTER HAD TAKEN EVERYONE'S cellphones and thrown them into the trash. He barricaded the front door with the couch and seats and coffee tables. Breathing hard, he turned around, leveling the gun at the others. "Do what I say," he muttered, "and no one will get hurt."

"No one else," Izzy corrected under her breath.

She knew that he was watching her; his eyes felt like lasers. But Izzy didn't care. She had kept up her end of the bargain, and there were people here who were hurt. She'd be damned if she sat back and let them suffer.

Janine still had her hands pressed on Bex's chest. Izzy bent down, trying to see how much the wound was still bleeding. The woman's whisper fell into her ear. "My niece. Closet."

Izzy thought of the two faces, pinched and terrified, that had been staring up at her when she opened those doors at the gunman's directive. She leaned over farther on the pretense of listening to Bex's labored breath. "She's okay," Izzy murmured.

Bex's eyes fluttered closed. "Need to tell Hugh."

"Tell me what?"

Bex coughed, and then cried out from the pain that must have shot through her lungs and ribs. Izzy tried to distract her, because there was damn little else she could do but keep the woman comfortable. "What do you do, Bex?"

"Artist," the woman whimpered. "Hurts."

"I know," Izzy soothed. "The less you can move, the better." She glanced at Janine, and silently directed her to maintain her position. "I'm going to tend to someone else," Izzy said, "but I promise I'll be back."

She inched across the carpet to Dr. Ward. The tourniquet that Joy had tied needed to be tighter and more durable.

"Vonita," he said softly. "She's gone?"

Izzy nodded. "I'm sorry."

"So am I," he murmured. "So am I." He looked over his shoulder, as if he could see past the barrier of the front desk, where the body lay. "These women, they were all the daughters Vonita never had. Drove her husband crazy, how hard she worked at this place. He used to say they'd carry her out of here in a coffin." His voice broke on the last word. "She would hate knowing that he turned out to be right."

Izzy rolled the fabric from Dr. Ward's pants leg around his thigh and tied it just above the wound. "Hold still, Doctor," she said.

He raised a brow. "You just ripped my scrubs off. I think you can call me Louie, don't you?"

Izzy placed a Sharpie she'd found under the couch at the center of the knot, then tied the fabric again. She began to twist the Sharpie, which wound the cotton around, tightening the new tourniquet. The blood flow trickled, stopped. "There," she said. "That's more like it." She grabbed a roll of tape, awkwardly tugging it with her teeth so that she could secure the tourniquet in place. Then she looked at her wrist. It was just after twelve-thirty. Now, the countdown began: she had stopped Dr. Ward from bleeding out, but without arterial flow, there would eventually be ischemic damage to the tissue. If that binding stayed in place longer than two hours, there could be muscle or nerve injury. Six hours, and he would have to have his leg amputated.

Maybe by then they'd be rescued.

Dr. Ward patted her hand as she finished taping the tourniquet. "We make a good team," he said. "Thank you." He lifted his leg onto a chair so that it would be elevated above his heart.

She looked at Bex, still lying on the floor, deathly pale but stable.

Now that Izzy didn't have a medical emergency to occupy her hands, they started shaking. She grabbed her right with her left.

"I haven't seen you here before, have I?" Dr. Ward murmured.

Izzy shook her head. She started to answer, but then hesitated as the shooter passed by, talking to himself under his breath.

When he was on the other side of the room, the doctor spoke again. "You got a husband out there worrying about you?"

He was speaking quietly, creating a bubble of conversation just big enough for the two of them. "No," she said. "Just a boyfriend."

"Just a boyfriend?" he teased.

"Maybe a fiancé ..."

"Maybe like you can't remember?" Dr. Ward chuckled. "Or maybe like you haven't decided yet?"

"It's complicated."

"Girl, I got nothing but time." Dr. Ward grinned.

"It's not that easy. We come from really different places," Izzy explained.

"Palestine and Israel?"

"What? No ..."

"Mars and Venus?" Dr. Ward asked. "Union and Confederacy?"

"Parker grew up eating caviar. I grew up eating when we had enough money for food." Immediately, Izzy flushed beet red. She didn't talk about her upbringing. She tried, on a daily basis, to forget it.

She and Parker had been together for three years. They hardly ever fought, and when they did, it always came down to the difference in their backgrounds.

There was the time they had only been dating a few weeks when she had come across him scrolling through social media on his phone. He'd murmured, *Valencia looks nice*.

Let me guess. She's someone you went to school with. Jealousy had bristled through Izzy. Women with names like that had trust funds and ski instructors.

Parker had held out his phone to show her that it was the name of the new Instagram filter.

Someone's jealous, he had teased.

I told you I'm not perfect.

Nope, Parker had said. But you're perfect for me.

Another time, they had just moved in together and he'd put his glass on the coffee table they had just bought at a yard sale. *How could you not use a coaster?* she'd snapped.

It's a twenty-dollar table, he had said, incredulous.

Izzy could not imagine spending that much on an item and not treating it like it was precious. *Exactly*, she'd said.

All the fight had gone out of him.

I'm an asshole, he had told her, and she never caught him without a coaster again.

She knew damn well why she had fallen for Parker. She just couldn't, for the life of her, understand why he had fallen for her. One day, Parker would be embarrassed by her in the company of his friends, when she did something that revealed her upbringing. Or he would leave her and she'd be broken. Better to be the one to do the breaking.

Dr. Ward reached for her steady hand. "Well, look at that," he said. "Someone's forgotten to be scared."

During this whispered conversation, which they might have been having anywhere and anytime, rather than in the middle of a hostage crisis, Izzy had stopped shaking. "What do you think he's going to do to us?" she whispered.

"I don't know," the doctor replied. "But I do know you're going to survive it." He winked at her. "You can't leave that poor boy of yours hanging."

You don't know the half of it, Izzy thought.

TRUTH BE TOLD, JANINE HAD been waiting for this day. She knew God would punish her; she just hadn't thought it would be with quite this much irony.

She kept her hands pressed to the chest of the woman who had been shot. If she pushed hard enough, there wasn't any blood. If she pushed hard enough, maybe she could shove back the secret that had been buried so far it felt like a false memory.

Janine had not had many friends. Having a brother with Down syndrome was time-consuming. It meant she had to be home after school when her parents were working, to be a babysitter. It meant explaining to everyone why Ben had to tag along, and sometimes she just didn't have the energy or inclination. And it also meant defending him against stupid comments people made—calling him the *R* word, or saying *But he* looks *pretty normal*, or asking why her mother hadn't had prenatal testing. It was easier to just not have anyone over to the house, to remain a loner in school.

Which was why, when she was sixteen and somehow got paired in biology with the queen bee of the sophomore class, she expected the worst. Instead, Monica took her under her wing, as if she were a clueless little sister, dragging her into the girls' room to teach her how to do a cat's eye with liquid liner; sharing YouTube videos that were supposed to make her laugh. It was the first time she was in on the joke instead of the butt of it, which was why when Monica invited her out on a Friday night, she went. She told her mother that she was studying for her bio midterm with her lab partner, which was only partly a lie. She met Monica, who gave her a fake ID to use that had belonged to her cousin, who looked like Janine with longer hair if you squinted hard. They were going to sneak into a frat party at the college.

Janine had only drunk wine at communion, and tonight's fare was grain alcohol punch. It tasted like Kool-Aid and there was always a boy pressing another drink into her hand. The night became a collage of images and moments: a red Solo cup, a heartbeat made of music, boys who danced so close that the hair on the

back of her neck stood up the way it did before a thunderstorm. Their hands on her shoulders, a massage. Teeth scraping her neck. The realization that most people, including Monica, had gone home. The green nap of a pool table on her bare thighs. Someone holding her down while another moved between her legs, splitting her in two. *Don't tell me you don't want this,* he said, and while she was trying to figure out whether the answer that would get him off her was a yes or a no, a dick was shoved into her mouth.

When she awakened, alone, bruised and oozing, she pulled down her dress. Her underwear was gone. The sun stabbed at the horizon as she let herself out of the frat house. The lawn was littered with beer cans, and one of the bros was passed out on the porch. She wondered if he had been on her, in her. At that thought she leaned over and threw up violently, until she believed there was nothing left inside.

She was wrong about that.

She found out she was pregnant the usual way—a skipped period, tender breasts, exhaustion. But beyond all that, she just knew. She could feel them, still inside her, dirty. Taking root.

No one knew. Monica had only said, Well, when I left you were surrounded by guys. You sure looked like you were having fun. Her parents still thought she had been studying. Janine was determined to keep it that way.

Where they lived, it was easy. She still had the fake ID. She used it to make the appointment at a clinic in a part of Chicago she had never been to before. She scheduled it during the afternoon, when she was supposed to be home watching Ben. I have to run an errand, she told him, and if you don't tell Mom, I'll let you watch TV the whole time.

She stole money from the jar in the kitchen cabinet that her parents used for emergencies. She took a cab there. They asked at the front desk if there was a father, and Janine did a double take, thinking they meant her dad. Then she realized—the father of the baby. But it wasn't a baby to her. It wasn't a human being. It was a wound that had to be closed.

The doctor was an Indian woman with perfume that smelled like a garden. There was a pinch, and then pressure, and she panicked and kicked her foot out of the stirrup. After that, a nurse came in to help hold her down, and that only made her think about Them and she fought harder. Finally the doctor sat back and looked at her. *Do you want this*, she asked dispassionately, *or don't you?*

Don't tell me you don't want this.

She held it together during the procedure, and in recovery, and afterward, when she took another cab home. But when she saw Ben on the porch with their next-door neighbor, she panicked.

The neighbor picked up a blanket-wrapped bundle on the ground. "Galahad was run over," he said. "I'm really sorry."

Their terrier was supposed to stay in the house unless he was on a leash. "You were taking a long time and I went to see if you were back and he ran outside before I could stop him," Ben said. "He won't wake up."

She wrapped her arms around him. "It's not your fault."

Janine took the bundle from her neighbor. It was the first time she had ever held anything dead. Galahad's weight felt slight, as if he were evaporating. That morning she had yelled at him because he was chewing on her sock. She had so many orphaned socks because of that dog, she had taken to wearing them in mismatched pairs. Even now, she had on a blue spotted one and a red one with tiny penguins on it. Janine was sick thinking about it, dizzy, the way you felt when you perched at the edge of a cliff. That's all that stood between death and life, a single misstep.

She carried the dog to the backyard and using one of her mother's gardening spades, dug a hole. Ben watched. He asked why she was putting Galahad's face into the dirt.

She didn't know how to explain life and death to her brother. She didn't know how to keep from thinking that this was her punishment, for what she had done. Had the baby inside her been like this, alive one moment, dead the next? It was the first time—the only time—she had thought of it as a person and not a problem.

When Janine was finished, her hands black with dirt, she sat down in the backyard and sobbed. That was how her mother found her when she got home from work. She was inconsolable, and everyone in her family thought they knew why.

It turned out that if you surgically removed a memory, you might stop feeling for the edges of its scar. You might even come to believe that you had never been raped, had never been pregnant, had never gotten an abortion. The more distance that grew between that day and Janine's future, the more she believed that she was different from other women who had found themselves with an unwanted pregnancy. She had been the victim. She had whitewashed the stain with years of pro-life activism. She didn't think of herself as a hypocrite. That thing inside her had not been a baby. It was something they'd left behind.

Janine had pretended to think that if she never told a soul where she had been that afternoon, it would be like it hadn't happened. But of course, God knew. And that was why this shooting was her fault. Coming here undercover had been a bad idea. It was as if the Center were Pandora's box. She'd opened the door, and had released all the evil into the world.

NINETY-NINE PERCENT OF HUGH'S JOB as a hostage negotiator involved being a good listener, but this hadn't always been a skill he possessed. When he and Annabelle broke up, she had accused him of constantly interrupting her and not taking her feelings into account. "That's ridiculous," he had blustered, cutting her off midsentence. Annabelle had held up her hands, as if to say, *I told you so*. The space between them had filled with shock, with Hugh's bitter realization that she was right. "Maybe if you'd let me finish a thought," Anna said into the silence, "I wouldn't have had to find someone else who did."

Hugh had not become a negotiator until after Annabelle left him. But he was bound and determined not to make the same mistake in his professional life that he had in his private one. He had been trained to stay calm, even when his adrenaline was pumping. He knew to keep his voice even, to stay engaged with what a person was saying, attuned to every detail.

He knew, too, to acknowledge when someone else spoke. To accept. To say, *all right, yes, okay*. But he did not say *I understand*, because he understood nothing, particularly what brought any particular person to any particular cliff.

It had always been easier for Hugh to be measured and dispassionate during a hostage standoff than it had been with Annabelle. He supposed it was because at work, he had nothing personal at stake.

Until now.

"McElroy." He turned at the sound of the chief's voice. "What the holy fuck is going on?"

Chief Monroe was still dressed in his coat and tie from his luncheon. "Hostage situation," Hugh said. "I already called in the SWAT team, and we have a name and address. George Goddard."

"Any priors?"

"No. It seems to be a personal grudge, based on information from an eyewitness."

He did not say the words that were on the tip of his tongue: *The two people I love most in the world are in there. I don't trust anyone but me to get them out.* The minute he admitted that, he would be booted off this case. But luckily, part of Hugh's training was knowing how to lie convincingly.

The chief looked from the cordoned-off clinic to the line of policemen securing the perimeter. "You tell me what you need," he said, ceding authority to Hugh.

"I'm good, for now," Hugh said, and he lifted a megaphone that had come from one of the cruisers.

He was not a fan of throw phones—heavy Gator cases that were typically delivered to the front door via an armored vehicle. The cops would retreat while the gunman took in the box and lifted the receiver. Instead, he just needed the shooter to know that he was going to be the one calling him.

"Hello," he boomed. "This is Detective Lieutenant Hugh McElroy of the Jackson Police. I'm going to call the landline in there in one minute." He held up his cellphone, in case anyone was watching through the mirrored windows.

In the silence that followed his words, Hugh could hear the symphony of June bugs and the throaty contralto of cars on the highway in the distance. He imagined Wren, hidden in a closet, straining to hear his voice. He was addressing the shooter, but in his heart, he was speaking directly to his daughter. "I just want to talk," Hugh said, and then he put down the megaphone, and dialed.

GEORGE HAD ALWAYS BELIEVED HIMSELF to be an honorable man—a good Christian, a good father. But what about when being good got you nowhere? When you were still lied to, shit on, when nobody listened to you?

They'd listen, now.

As if he'd willed it, a tinny, amplified voice seeped through the walls of the clinic. *This is Detective Lieutenant Hugh McElroy of the Jackson Police*.

He felt it: the electrified optimism that sizzled through the group. Help had arrived. They were not alone.

George had known, on some subconscious level, that it would come to this: someone would come to save these people. It was up to him to save himself.

Once, as a kid, George had found a bloody trail in the woods and traced it to an illegal trap, where a coyote had chewed its own leg off to escape. For months after that he had woken up sweating in the middle of the night, haunted by that severed paw. He'd wondered if the coyote had lived. If it was worth making a sacrifice that great for a fresh start.

He didn't blame Lil. She was a child, for God's sake. She didn't know what she was doing. He could easily lay fault at the feet of the people in this clinic who had *done* it to her.

The pistol felt like an extension of his arm, like his own limb. He couldn't chew it off and hope to survive. This was a trap of his own making.

On the reception desk, beneath the glitter of shattered glass, the phone began to ring.

_

IT WAS THE MODERN-DAY EQUIVALENT of the trolley problem, that old ethics conundrum. There's a trolley whose brakes have failed barreling down a track. Ahead are five people who are unable to move, and the trolley is going to hit them. You have the ability to pull a lever and swing the trolley to an alternate track. However, on that track is a single person who is similarly unable to move. Do you let the trolley stay on course and kill five people? Or do you pull the lever and kill one person who would otherwise have been safe?

Until today, Hugh would have said that the lesser of two evils would be the loss of a single life, rather than five lives. But things changed when you had your hand on that lever and the doomed person on the alternate track was someone you loved.

It was as if Bex was on one track and Wren on another. What if trying to engage the shooter via negotiation took so much time that Bex, injured, didn't survive? What if he attempted to get Bex help quickly, disarming the situation via force, and wound up putting Wren in the line of fire?

Hugh dialed the number of the Center and listened to it ring, and ring, and ring. He knew, thanks to Wren, that the lack of response was not because everyone inside had been killed, including the gunman. So he hung up, and waited a moment before dialing again.

When Wren was born, Hugh had been sure there was something wrong with him. He just couldn't get excited about a drooling, pooping bundle of flesh. Even when people came over to exclaim at her big blue eyes or her thick head of hair, he smiled and nodded and secretly thought she looked like a tiny alien. Of course he adored her. He would have laid down his life for her. He understood the duty that came with being a parent, but not the visceral pull he'd heard others describe.

Just you wait, Bex had told him, and like always, she was right.

That miracle had happened when Wren was three and her nursery school teacher casually mentioned how cute it was that she and a little boy named Saheed played house together. *Who's Saheed?* he had asked that day, driving her home. *Oh*, Wren had said. *My boyfriend*.

The first time he had seen Wren on the playground, holding hands with Saheed, Hugh had very clearly felt the world shift. That was the moment he realized that Wren did not belong to him. In fact, Hugh belonged to her.

One day, she would not need him to help her decide if she should wear leggings with candy corn on them, or penguins. One day, she would remember all the words to "Bohemian Rhapsody" without him filling in the gaps as they sang along in the car. One day she wouldn't ask him to get the Goldfish crackers from a shelf she could not reach. One day she would not need him anymore.

Sometimes you can't tell how consuming love is until you can see its absence. Sometimes you can't recognize love because it's changed you, like a chimera, so slowly that you didn't witness the transformation.

As Hugh watched Saheed following Wren like a loyal subject, he thought of all the crap he had pulled when he was trying to get a girl's attention, and he vowed never to let any guy treat her the way he had treated girls in high school. But he also knew that he couldn't protect her. That she would be heartbroken one day, and he would have to see her cry.

That was fatherhood. Fatherhood was wanting to put his daughter in a bubble where she could never be hurt, while knowing that he had hurt someone else's daughter, once. Fatherhood was plotting the future murder of a sweet kid named Saheed because he had the

wisdom to see that nobody else in the world was as awesome as Wren.

Now, Hugh scrolled through forgotten conversations in his mind. In any of them, had Wren mentioned a boy?

Wren had said she was here with Bex. But this was an abortion clinic. Bex was too old to need one. Maybe his sister had come here for another reason, but why would she have taken Wren out of school to accompany her?

Unless ...

He couldn't even finish that sentence in his mind.

He decided that after he saved Wren's life, he would find out who the boy was. And then maybe kill him.

Hugh dialed the phone number of the Center again. This time, on the third ring, a woman answered. Not Wren.

But he had made first contact. Now, he thought. Go.

"This is Lieutenant McElroy with the Jackson Police. Am I on speakerphone?"

"No."

"Who am I speaking with?"

"Um, my name is Izzy ..."

"Izzy," Hugh said, "I'm here to help you. Can I talk to the person who might be able to resolve this situation?"

He heard her say to someone: "It's the police and they want you."

And then: "Yeah?"

The voice of the shooter rumbled like a stick drawn across fence posts. Just that one syllable opened a cave Hugh could peer into. The word was deep, boiling, wary.

But it was also one word, rather than a barrage of them. Which meant he was listening.

"This is Detective Hugh McElroy of the Jackson Police Department. I'm with the hostage negotiation unit. I'm here to talk to you and ensure the safety of you and everyone else in the building."

"I have nothing to talk about," the shooter said. "These people are murderers."

"Okay," Hugh replied, no judgment. An acknowledgment. "What's your name, sir?" he asked, although he already knew. "What would you like to be called?"

"George."

In the background, Hugh could hear an agonized cry. *Please let it not be Bex*, he thought. "Are you hurt, George?"

"I'm fine."

"Is anyone else hurt? Does someone need a doctor? It sounds like there might be some people in pain."

"They don't deserve help."

Hugh felt the eyes of Chief Monroe and at least a dozen other officers on him. He turned his back. The relationship he needed to build with George Goddard was between the two of them, and no one else. "Whatever happened in there, George, you're not to blame. I know that there are other people at fault here. Whatever happened, happened. That's over and done. But you and I can work together, now, to make sure no one else gets hurt. We can resolve this ... and help you ... at the same time."

Hugh waited for a response, but there wasn't one. Well. It beat *Fuck you*. As long as George was still on the line, he had a chance.

"Here's my phone number, in case we get disconnected," Hugh said. He rattled off the digits. "I'm the one in charge out here."

"Why should I trust you?" George asked.

"Well," Hugh said, having known this question would come, "we haven't stormed the building, have we? My gun is still in my holster, George. I want to work with you. I want us to both get what we want."

"You can't give me what I want," George answered.

"Try me."

"Really."

Hugh could hear the sarcasm in George's voice. "Really," he confirmed.

"Then bring my grandchild back to life," George said, and he hung up the phone.

Eleven a.m.



I wasn't as if the waiting room of the center screamed We do abortions here. It reminded Wren a little of her dentist's office: bad art on the walls, magazines from the Stone Age, a television playing some dumb talk show. There was a couch and a smattering of chairs, none of which matched. The coffee table had deep grooves in it, as if it had come from a previous, careless home.

Then again, not everyone was here to have an abortion. *She* wasn't. Her aunt wasn't. The other woman in the waiting room clearly wasn't either: an older woman with sleek silver hair and red-rimmed eyes.

Wren wondered if that woman was making the assumption that she was pregnant, that she had gotten herself "in trouble." She was here for the exact opposite reason.

Could people tell that she was a virgin? Did hooking up with a guy change you, somehow, from the inside out? Would she come downstairs the morning after *It* happened and would her father instantly know by looking at her?

The thought embarrassed her. What if her dad could tell, and he asked her about it? *Could you pass me the salt, and who the hell did you sleep with?*

It wasn't really that she was afraid he'd kill Ryan. (He might *want* to, but he was an officer of the law, through and through.) It was that for so long it had just been the two of them. Even though she didn't think things would change—and didn't want things to change—

it felt like there would always be someone else between them now.

The lady at the front desk who had checked her in was chatting with a pink-haired girl who had just come into the Center. "Sorry I'm late, Vonita," the girl said.

"Thank the Lord you're here. I don't have a single escort out there."

"What happened to Sister Donna?"

"She didn't show," Vonita said. "Maybe the Vatican finally got her to quit."

Aunt Bex nudged Wren with her shoulder and raised her eyebrows. Wren smirked, an entire conversation without words. It had always been like that between them. "A *nun*?" Bex whispered.

"And you thought *you* were the least likely person to be here," Wren replied. "How much school do you think I'm going to miss? Another whole period?"

"Aren't you here to keep that very thing from happening?" Bex smiled. "I don't know what you're complaining about. Personally, I am riveted by the reading material."

On the coffee table beside them was a stack of pamphlets: "The Gynecological Visit and Exam—What to Expect."

"For Parents and Male Partners and Friends: After Her Abortion."

"What Is HPV?"

There was also a Sharpie marker. Wren hiked her knee up and, with the marker, began to drawn stars on the sole of her Converse sneaker. One star, two. A constellation—Virgo. Just for the sheer sarcasm.

She knew that her aunt wasn't as calm as she was making herself out to be. Aunt Bex had told Wren repeatedly that she didn't feel comfortable coming inside, and would drop her off and wait in the parking lot. Until they'd gotten here, that is, and had seen the row of protesters. Then Aunt Bex had said there was no way in hell she was sending her girl in solo.

Last week in Aunt Bex's studio she had heard something awesome on NPR: for the first time ever scientists had watched two neutron stars collide over a hundred million light-years away. It was called a kilonova, and it was such an enormous crash that gravitational waves were created, and light was released. The dude being interviewed said that it took a collision of forces that giant to create the particles that made up gold and platinum. Wren thought that was something her dad would love: to know that the most precious materials came from the clashes of titans.

She had to remember to tell him that. So she inked a tiny star on the crescent of skin between her left thumb and index finger. At dinner, he'd see it and say, *You're probably going to die of ink poisoning, you know,* which would remind Wren to tell him about the kilonova. She'd conveniently omit the part about where she was when she'd drawn it on herself.

That's what you did for people you loved, right? You protected them from what they didn't want to know.

AFTER OLIVE'S APPOINTMENT, she had walked into the waiting room. Staggered, really. She didn't know how she had gotten from the examination room to here. One minute she had been sitting with Harriet, the nurse practitioner she'd been seeing for years for her checkups, and trying to absorb what she had been told. Then just like that, her brain had hit its overload capacity. Somehow she had said goodbye, stood up, walked down the hall, and stood in front of the reception desk, her features blank.

Vonita, the lovely woman who ran the Center, had come from her desk and wrapped her massive arms tight around Olive. "Miss Olive," she said. "How you holding up?"

How could she answer that?

Vonita steered her toward a seat in the waiting room, near a young girl who was tapping her foot anxiously. "You don't have to leave yet," Vonita said. "You just sit here, get your bearings."

Olive nodded. It wasn't her bearings that needed readjusting. Her brain, about which she knew more than the vast majority of people on this planet, was just fine. It was the rest of her body that felt foreign to her.

She had been betrayed by it before, but in a much different way. It had been ten years ago, when she was still living with a woman who, like a tide, was wearing her away at the edges. She pretended she was happy, but what she really meant was that she was settled. That this was easier than wondering, again, if there would ever be anyone for her.

Then she had gone to a faculty mixer at the university to celebrate the start of the new year. Her partner didn't come—she hated these things, where no one seemed to ask the right questions about her and her career designing, as she called them, workable kitchens (but weren't they all?). So Olive had attended alone, planning to stay just long enough to be seen by the head of the department, and then go home and indulge in a glass of wine or maybe a bottle. But then she noticed a woman at the bar with long hair, so long that it was unfashionable, like a seventies flashback. Like Lady Godiva, Olive thought, as she watched the woman throw back three shots of bourbon and ask the bartender for a fourth.

You okay? Olive asked her.

Yes. On the other hand, Peg replied, the dean of the engineering school is a misogynistic dick.

Olive didn't answer. She, who had never cheated and had never wanted to, was watching Peg's lips form the words, mesmerized.

Oh fuck, Peg said. You're his wife, aren't you?

Um, nope. Not even close. She moved closed and rested her elbow on the bar. Did you know that drinking doesn't actually make you forget anything? When you're blackout drunk, the brain just temporarily loses its ability to make memories.

Does that line ever work? Peg asked.

Don't know. I'm road testing it.

Peg laughed. So. If I keep up this pace, I might not remember meeting you?

That's about right.

She pushed away that last shot glass, and held out her hand to introduce herself.

Now, Olive buried her face in her hands. Oh, Jesus. Peg. How would she tell her?

The thought chased itself around and around in her mind, like a squirrel in the eaves. Olive could feel panic closing in on her. She took a deep breath and closed her eyes and tried to remind herself that what she was feeling was perfectly normal. The brain could only hold so much; it took roughly ninety minutes to clear its proverbial cache.

On the heels of that came another tidbit of knowledge, one she had often quoted when she handed back the first multiple-choice exam to groans of disappointment. Studies have shown that when presented with a list, the default of the brain is to pick whatever is first.

The same holds true for voting, and ballots.

But sometimes there *are* no choices, Olive realized.

What does the brain do when you've run out of options?

It wasn't easy to vomit quietly, but the bathroom that Izzy had ducked into was located right off the waiting room. When she finished, she wiped her face with toilet paper and rinsed her mouth out. Then she stood there, taking a moment. The bathroom was decorated like the rest of the building—as if the art had been picked up from garage sales or worse, from the Free boxes of items that didn't sell. On the wall was a photograph of what looked like the French Riviera, a technically weak oil painting of a sad clown, and a detailed, biologically correct pen-and-ink illustration of a shrimp.

All three of them made her think of Parker.

Last weekend, his parents had come to visit and had taken them out to a meal that cost half of what she made in a week. It was one of those steak and seafood houses where the food was airlifted in from the North Sea or a ranch in New Zealand, where you could keep a private wine cellar with your own special vintage. Parker's father had ordered a seafood tower for the table that looked like a wedding cake: tiers of oysters and mussels, ribbons of smoked mackerel and bluefish dip, buttons of sweet baby scallops, crowned by a whole lobster. It was dazzling, excessive, and completely out of Izzy's purview.

Parker's mother talked about the work she did with the hospital auxiliary, and Parker's father asked her all sorts of questions, about whether she always wanted to be a nurse and where she went to school. They talked about their recent trip to Paris and asked Izzy if she had ever been there, and when Izzy said no, they said they hoped she and Parker could come along next time. Clearly Parker had told them that she was important to him.

She watched Parker dribble down oysters and use a fish knife and never have to stress about which plate was for the bread and which drinking glass belonged to him, when Izzy still had to stick her hands under the table and form a lowercase *b* and *d* with her left and right hands to remind herself. The things that were instinctual to him were foreign to her, and vice versa. She doubted that Parker had ever had to gauge if moldy bread could still be consumed without making him sick. She was certain he had never fished a half-finished sandwich from the trash to eat, or gone into the laundromat to feel in the machines for quarters others left behind.

She could tell he sensed her unease, because every now and then he would reach for her hand and squeeze it underneath the tablecloth. He put a small collection of seafood on her plate, so she wouldn't have to worry about whether it was completely gauche to pick up a mussel shell with her fingers.

There was no denying that he calmed her. When his thumb rubbed over her knuckles, absentmindedly, she could breathe more easily. She let him coax her into the conversation as if it were a frigid pool.

She got so comfortable that for a moment, she forgot who she had been. Parker's father told a stupid dad joke, just like the ones her own father used to tell: What do you call it when you feed dynamite to a steer? Abominable. Get it? Say it slowly ... Parker's mother slapped him lightly on the shoulder and rolled her eyes. For God's sake, Tom, you'll scare her off. It felt so normal, so similar to her own parents' behavior, that she made the mistake of thinking she and Parker actually did have common ground.

Laughing, she lifted a shrimp from her plate and took a bite.

It crunched, which was weird, but then lots of food rich people liked was weird: caviar, pâté, raw beef. It wasn't until she noticed Parker's parents staring at her that she realized her mistake. She'd never had a shrimp in her life—how was she supposed to know to peel the shell?

"Excuse me," she muttered, and she fled to the ladies' room.

She hid there, thinking about telling Parker about the pregnancy test she had taken. If he knew she was pregnant, he would never let her go. She was doing what was best for him. Even if he thought Izzy was what he wanted right now, it was only a matter of time before he decided he'd rather be with someone from the same background as him. Someone who'd eaten shrimp before, for God's sake.

"Iz?" It was Parker's voice.

"You're in the ladies' room," she said.

"Am I? Damn." He paused. "You gonna come out?"

"No."

"Ever?"

"No."

A woman walked into the bathroom and squeaked. "Sorry, can you give us a minute?" Parker asked. Izzy heard the door open, the buzz of the restaurant before it got quiet again. "You know what? I fucking hate shrimp. It's like eating something prehistoric," he said. "The point is, I don't care."

"I do." That was it, in a nutshell. "Parker, go back to your parents. There's nothing you can say that's going to make this any better."

"Nothing?" Parker replied.

She heard shuffling and shifting, and then Parker's hand slipped under the stall door, his fist opening like a blossom to reveal a diamond ring. "Izzy," he said, "will you marry me?"

_

Only one other woman had been in the recovery room when Joy was brought in. She wore an Ole Miss sweatshirt and pool shoes, and she was crying. "You have a seat in that chair, honey," Harriet said, flicking a glance at the other patient. She handed Joy a juice box and a packet of Fig Newtons. "You got your azithromycin?" Joy nodded. "Good. You take that as directed. You can also take Motrin or Advil in two hours, but no aspirin, okay? It thins the blood. And here's a prescription for Sprintec, that's the birth control you picked, right?"

Joy nodded absently. She couldn't stop staring at the other woman, who was sobbing so hard that Joy felt rude for intruding on someone's visible grief. What did it say about Joy, who *wasn't* crying? Was this the proof that she had been looking for, that she would have been a lousy mother?

"Will you excuse me a second?" Harriet said, and she went over to the woman's chair and put a hand on her shoulder. "Are you all right? Are you in pain?"

The woman shook her head, past speech.

"Are you sad that you had to make this decision?"

Who wasn't? Joy thought. What hellish tributary of evolution had made reproduction—and all the shit that came with it—the woman's job? She thought about all the women who had sat in the very chair she was in, and the stories that had brought them here, and how, for one brief chapter, they all intersected. A sisterhood of desperation.

The woman took a Kleenex from a box that Harriet offered her. "Sometimes we have to make choices when

we don't like any of the options," the nurse said. She drew the woman into an embrace. "You've been here long enough. I can get your driver if you're ready to go."

A few minutes later the woman was signed out. A boy (he really was no more than that) stood awkwardly beside her as she got up and started to walk down the hall. He put his hand on her shoulder, but she shrugged it off, and Joy watched them until she couldn't see them anymore, moving in tandem with six fixed inches of distance between them.

Joy put in her earbuds and filled her head with music. Had anyone asked, she would have said she was listening to Beyoncé or Lana Del Rey, but the truth was she was listening to music from *The Little Mermaid*. At one of her foster homes, she had been given that CD as a birthday gift and had memorized every last word of it. When things got really bad, she used to put the pillow over her head and whisper the lyrics.

Wouldn't you think I'm a girl, a girl who has everything?

"Miz Joy?" the nurse said. "Let's get some vitals." She came and stood beside Joy's oversize armchair in the recovery room.

Joy let Harriet stick the thermometer into her mouth and Velcro the cuff around her arm. She watched the red numbers blink on the machine, proof that her body, battered as it was, was still functional. "One-ten over seventy-five, and ninety-eight point six," the nurse said. "Normal."

Normal.

Nothing was normal.

The whole world had changed.

She had had two hearts, and now she did not.

She had been a mother, and now she was not.

GEORGE SAT IN HIS TRUCK, his hands fisted on the steering wheel, going nowhere. The ignition was off, and he had two choices. He could start the engine again and drive back home and pretend he'd never come. Or he could finish what he'd started.

He was breathing heavily, like he'd run here, instead of driving hundreds of miles to distance himself from a truth he couldn't absorb.

He thought about how he and Lil had once been part of a Thirty Days for Life vigil with the church: where the congregation took shifts round the clock huddled in a prayer circle in front of the state capitol. They had brought blankets and lawn chairs and thermoses of hot chocolate and had held hands and asked Jesus to help lawmakers see the right path. Lil had been a child—maybe eight or nine—and she and some other kids in the congregation had run around while the adults prayed. He could remember watching them spell out their names with sparklers in the dark, and thinking this was what the movement for life was all about.

How could Lil have gotten an abortion?

She had to have been pressured. Someone here must have told her this was the right thing, the only thing, to do. She couldn't have possibly believed that he wouldn't have helped her, raised the child, done anything she wanted.

In the back of his mind was a thought like a worm in the core of an apple: what if this was what she wanted?

George didn't believe it; he couldn't. She was a good girl, because he had been a good father.

If the first half of that statement wasn't true, didn't it negate the second half?

Lil had accepted Jesus Christ as her Lord and Savior. She knew that life began at conception. She could probably rattle off five Bible verses proving it. She was kind, generous, beautiful, smart, and everyone fell in love with her when they met her. Lil was, quite simply, the one instance of perfection in George's life.

He realized, of course, that everyone was a sinner. But if there was any splinter of evil in his daughter, he knew where it had come from.

Him.

George, who had spent nearly two decades trying to scrub clean the stains from his soul by giving himself to the church. George, who had been told forgiveness was divine; that God loved him no matter what. What if all that had been a lie?

George shook his head clear. It was this simple: something terrible had happened; someone was to blame for it. This was a test from God. Like the one Job faced. And Abraham. He was being asked to prove his devotion to his faith, and to his daughter, and he knew exactly what was expected of him.

He slipped on his coat and zipped it up halfway. Then he took the pistol out of the glove compartment and tucked it into his waistband, concealing it beneath the fleece. His pockets were already full of ammunition.

He started sweating almost immediately, but then again, it was easily eighty degrees outside. He began moving toward the hazard-orange building. It was garish, a scar on the cityscape. George ducked his head, pulled his collar up.

There was a fence around the Center, and on that perimeter was a cluster of protesters. They held up signs. There was a woman sitting in a folding chair, knitting; and a big man holding a sandwich in one hand and a baby doll in another. George thought about Lil. He wondered if he was walking the same path she had.

A Black woman was leaving the clinic. Her husband or boyfriend had his arm around her. As they passed the protesters, he folded her more protectively into the shell of his body. He crossed paths with the couple, and kept walking. The big man eating the sandwich called out to him. "Brother," he said, "save your baby!"

George continued to the front door of the Center, thinking, *I will*.

OUT OF SHEER BOREDOM, Wren was eavesdropping.

"Dr. Ward's been at it since nine-thirty," Vonita was saying. "We had a fifteen-week come in for Cytotec this morning and she's in the back now."

"All that while I was sitting home eating bonbons?" The girl with pink hair laughed.

"Bonbons," Vonita sighed. "I wish." She took a sip from her tumbler.

"What's in there?"

"I hope it's the ground-up bones of supermodels," Vonita said sourly. "This crap is the work of the devil."

"Why do you even drink that garbage?"

Vonita gestured to her generous curves. "Because of my torrid love affair with food."

Aunt Bex stood up. "I think I'm growing roots," she said, starting to walk in small circles. "How long can it take to give someone a prescription?" Wren watched her lift her arms over her head, bend at the waist, and do it over again.

Oh my God. Her aunt was doing old-person yoga in *public*.

A buzzer hummed on the reception desk, and Vonita glanced up over her reading glasses. "Now who does this one belong to?" she mused.

Wren craned her neck. The glass window in the door of the Center was specially made, so that they could see out but whoever was on the outside could not see in. She glimpsed a middle-aged man squinting into the mirrored surface.

She heard a click, the buzz of a lock being released, like Wren had seen in movies about New York apartments. "Can I help you?" Vonita said.

About a year ago, Wren and her father had been driving a deserted road near Chunky, Mississippi, when suddenly all the hair stood up on the back of her neck. The next minute, a doe had bolted from the woods and slammed into the car. They had been hit hard enough for the airbags to deploy and for the windshield to shatter. It was the one truly prescient moment of her life.

Until now.

Wren felt a shiver of electricity, the brush of an invisible icy finger. "What did you do to my baby?" the man said, and then the air around her cracked into pieces.

She fell to the floor, covering her ears. It was as if her body had reacted on instinct, while her brain was still struggling to catch up. She couldn't see Vonita anymore, but there was a pool of blood spreading where the reception desk met the floor.

Wren tried to will herself to move, but she was frozen in ice, she was trapped in tar.

"Wren," Aunt Bex cried, reaching out her hand.

To pull her up? To drag her out the door? To embrace her?

Wren didn't know. Because then her aunt's eyes went wide, and she was struck with a bullet. She tumbled to the floor as Wren scrambled closer, screaming, her hands shaking as they hovered over the bright blood on her aunt's blouse.

Aunt Bex's eyes were wide. Her mouth was open, but Wren couldn't hear any sound coming out.

She read her aunt's lips. Wren. Wren. Wren.

Then she realized what her aunt was actually saying. *Run*.

__

The other clinic had been nothing like this one, Janine thought. It had been in a different state, in a different life, in a part of town full of drunks and Vietnam vets fighting PTSD. There had been someone smoking a bowl in the alley next to the building, and the lobby had smelled like Chinese food. But none of the differences could make Janine shake the fact that she had willingly—once again—entered an abortion factory.

Janine sat on the ultrasound table, her phone tucked in a pocket of her dress, where it was taping the entire conversation between her and the social worker.

Her name was Graciela, and she had the most beautiful black hair Janine had ever seen. It reached her waist. By contrast, the cheap wig that Allen had given her for camouflage was itchy and brassy. Janine scratched her temple. "Still ... you think I should get an abortion, right?"

The social worker smiled a little. "I can't answer that for you. You'll know in your gut what to do."

"But I don't."

"Well," Graciela suggested, "you're early, right? Only seven weeks? Take a walk. Go outside. Clear your mind. Sleep on it. Sleep on it again if you have to. Write down what you're feeling to sort through your emotions. Scream into your pillow. Cry. Let it out. Talk to friends or family. Ultimately, the decision is all yours, Fiona."

Fiona? Janine frowned, and then remembered that was the name on the fake ID she had used at the

reception desk.

Graciela reached for her hand and squeezed. She was being so kind that it made Janine feel sick inside. Why wasn't she saying something incriminating?

Why hadn't there been someone like Graciela when she had ...

"It's not about making the right choice," Graciela said. "It's about making the right choice for *you*."

"But I'm really scared," Janine said. She needed evidence. She needed to collect proof that they coerced people into killing babies.

"Every woman who's ever been in your shoes has been scared," Graciela assured her. "You're not alone."

"My family would be so disappointed in me." Janine felt tears burn in her eyes. Not because she was such a stellar actress, though. Because it was the truth.

"It's going to be okay," Graciela promised. "I know it doesn't feel that way right now, but I promise you—no matter what your decision is, it's going to be the right one." She drew back, holding Janine at arm's length, and gestured in the direction of the ultrasound machine. "We don't have to do this today."

Janine paused, trying to figure out what to do next. She couldn't have the ultrasound without revealing that she wasn't pregnant. But she didn't want to go back to Allen empty-handed.

In the silence there was a sound, like books dropping. Then a shriek and a crash. Graciela frowned. "Will you excuse me?" She opened the door to the consultation room as Janine reached into her pocket to check the recording. Suddenly, Janine was knocked flat on her back. Dropping the phone, she struggled upright, pinned by the social worker, tangled in her river of hair. She finally freed herself as Graciela fell to the floor, landing on her belly. "Graciela?" Janine said, crouching

down. She reached for the woman's shoulder and shook, and when Graciela didn't respond, she turned her over.

Graciela had been shot in the face.

Janine screamed, noticing for the first time the blood on her hands and her clothing. She couldn't breathe. She couldn't think. With a whimper, Janine scrambled to her feet, stepped over the body, and ran.

_

When she was driving with Wren once, Bex had slammed on the brakes and instinctively had thrown out her right arm to protect the precious cargo in the passenger seat. The Mom Arm, Wren had called it. Even if her actual mom had not been especially devoted.

Today, as soon as the man came in, Bex's body moved of its own accord. Something was not right, she had seen it in his body language, sweat beaded on his forehead and matting down his hair. She had *known* on some visceral, cellular level; and just as when her car spun on the ice, without any conscious thought, Bex had reached toward her niece.

She saw the blink of the silver pistol as he drew it from the folds of his coat. She even saw the burst of lightning from the barrel of the gun, which ripped a hole in the fabric of the room, and sucked all the sound out of it. She was aware that she was watching a pantomime, that her eardrums were full of pressure and a pulsing silence, but somehow she was an actor in this show and she had a line. Bex felt the scream stream from her throat, and even though she couldn't hear it, the man must have. He pivoted, and Bex felt herself shoved backward before she even realized that the bullet had struck.

Don't shoot don't shoot, she said over and over, even though he already had. But Bex really meant, Don't shoot Wren.

Then Wren was leaning down over her. "Aunt B-bex, get up ..." Her eyes were like Hugh's.

Her hair, though, that came from her mother. It brushed Bex's cheek, like a fall of silk, a curtain that closed them off from the world.

Last year Bex had opened an art installation in the center of Smith Park. From the limb of a tree she hung a tiny striped circus tent, just big enough for one. If you slipped inside, you saw an easel with a white canvas, and a scatter of colored Sharpies. Before I DIE, Bex had painted across the top, I WANT TO ...

Over the course of two weeks, people who came to the park to eat lunch or skateboard or read a book had wandered inside out of curiosity, and had contributed their own answers.

... swim in all five oceans.

... run a marathon.

... fall in love.

... learn Mandarin.

When Bex took down the installation she had, at the very bottom of the canvas, finished her own open sentence, painting the word

Live.

She stared up at Wren and imagined a parallel universe where she could still breathe, where she could still move. Where she put her palm against the cheek of her beautiful girl. Where she got to turn back the clock, and do it over.

_

BEFORE OLIVE HAD RETIRED FROM the university, the dean had handed down a protocol for a school shooting. Mississippi allowed concealed carry of weapons, and even if you weren't supposed to bring one onto a college campus, that didn't mean it wouldn't happen. However, as she had told Peg that night, she didn't want to have to go to work every day wondering if today would be the day she had to Run-Hide-Fight. It was the first time she had ever felt weary of her work, and it was the first seed planted in her mind that perhaps it was time to stop teaching, and to take up gardening or bread making. The world was changing; maybe it was time to step aside for someone else, who could not only talk about neural plasticity, but do so while escaping a maniac with a semiautomatic rifle.

It hadn't sounded like a shot. That was all Olive could think as she swam up from the gauzy tunnel of her thoughts. It was like popcorn in a microwave, like balloons bursting. It wasn't until she heard a scream that she even looked up and saw a pink-haired girl race past her and out the front door.

Then she looked down to find a woman bleeding on the carpet with a teenager huddled over her.

There was a crash in the back of the clinic.

The teenager turned, her eyes enormous. "Help."

Run.

Olive stood and glanced around wildly. She could see an arm flung bonelessly past the base of the reception desk, a dark arm with a festival of gold bangle bracelets, swimming in a pool of blood. Sweet Jesus; that was Vonita.

Olive grabbed the girl's wrist, pulling her toward the front door, but the girl was steadfastly clinging to the woman who'd been shot. "We have to get out of here," Olive said to her.

"Not without my aunt."

Olive grimaced and tried to pull the other woman up, but even with Wren's help, they couldn't move her more than a few inches. The cry that tore from the woman's throat was a red flag that would draw the shooter again. "If we leave, we can get her an ambulance."

That convinced the girl. She scrambled to her feet as Olive pulled on the door handle, but it was locked. You had to be buzzed into the clinic, was it possible you had to be buzzed out? She threw all her slight weight into the mechanism, even pounding on the door, but it didn't give.

"We're stuck here?" the girl asked, her voice shimmying up a ladder of panic.

Hide.

Olive didn't answer. She opened the first door she could find. It was a supply closet, filled with boxes on one side and cleaning supplies on the other. Olive crouched down, pulling the girl in with her, and shut the door.

This was where her knowledge of the shooting protocol got fuzzy. She had left her purse in the waiting room, and with it her phone. She couldn't call 911. Should she try to barricade the door? If so, with what?

She couldn't help but note that had she not been sitting in a waiting room contemplating mortality, her life would not be in danger right now.

Beside her, the girl's teeth were chattering. "I'm Olive," she whispered. "What's your name?"

"W-Wren."

"Wren, I want you to listen to me. We can't make a sound, understand?"

The girl nodded.

"That's your aunt out there?"

She jerked her head. "Is she ... is she going to die?"

Olive didn't know how to answer that. She patted the girl's hand. "I'm sure the police are already on their way."

In truth, she was not sure about this at all. If she had thought that the gunshots sounded like bubble wrap being stomped on, why would anyone outside the clinic even assume anything was wrong? *Fight*, she thought, the last step of the protocol. *When your life is in imminent danger and you cannot run away or hide, take action*.

The directive seemed particularly relevant today.

Suddenly in the dark there was a small rectangle of light.

"You have a phone," Olive whispered with wonder. "You have a *phone*! Call 911."

In the reflection of the screen, Wren's face was set, determined. Olive watched her thumbs fly. "I can do better than that," she said.

IZZY HEARD WHAT SOUNDED LIKE books dropping, and then a cry for help. She opened the bathroom door and saw a woman bleeding on the floor of the waiting room.

She was conscious, and clearly in pain. "What happened?"

"Shot," the woman ground out.

Izzy pressed down on her chest. "What's your name, ma'am? I'm Izzy." The bullet had gone in the right side, which was good, because it most likely meant her heart was not affected.

"Bex," the woman gasped. "Need to get ... Wren ..."

"Let's take care of you first." Izzy reached onto a side table, scrabbling by feel for a box of tissues, and wadded them up to press into the wound. Within seconds, they were soaked through. "I'll be right back," she said, and she stood up. From this angle she could see a second victim—Vonita, the clinic owner. Izzy started toward her and then saw the open, vacant eyes, the blood pooled beneath her head. There was nothing she could do.

Izzy ran into the bathroom and pulled the little decorative shelf from the wall. She smashed it into the paper towel holder so that it cracked open, and the wad of towels fell like an accordion around her feet. Gathering them, she rushed back to Bex, using these to soak up the blood.

With every subsequent gunshot she heard, Izzy's limbs became more liquid. It was only by doing something rote—taking care of a patient—that Izzy was able to keep herself from falling apart. She needed to get out of here, and it needed to be now. But Bex was a large woman, and Izzy couldn't lift her alone. She could save herself, but that would mean leaving Bex behind.

Or she could help Bex—stabilize her wound with bandages. But if she went to get those, she was risking her own life *and* Bex's, because someone had to stay and apply pressure to the wound.

What she needed, really, was someone to help.

Just as Janine turned the corner and saw the mecca of the Center's front door, she saw a dead woman. The clinic owner. She gasped, scrambling away from the body, and when another hand gripped her she screamed like a banshee. She opened her eyes and saw a woman with a frizzy red braid and blood streaking her scrubs. "Listen to me," she said. "I'm a nurse and I need your help. This woman needs your help." She nodded toward another lady lying with a pool of blood staining the floor beneath her right shoulder.

Janine could barely force out the words. "B-but ... there's a s-shooter ..."

"I know. I also know that she could bleed out. I need to get supplies to help her. Please, just press down where my hand is. I promise it will only take a minute, and then you can go."

Janine looked at the door; the nurse followed her gaze.

"You could save your own life," the nurse said, "or you could save hers, too."

If the only lives Janine cared about were those of the unborn, that would make her a hypocrite. She got to her knees beside the nurse, who positioned her hands against the wound.

"I'm Izzy. What's your name?"

"Janine."

"This is Bex," she said. "Press hard." Just like that, she was gone, leaving Janine with her hands pushing hard on the chest of a stranger.

Bex was staring up at her. "Am I hurting you?" Janine asked.

The woman shook her head. "You ... should go." She jerked her chin up toward the door.

Janine realized that this woman was giving her a literal out, a way to rescue herself. If she left now, she'd survive. She just might not be able to live with herself.

She settled more firmly, covering one of her hands with the other, the way Izzy had shown her. Blood welled between her fingers. "Bex?" Janine asked, smiling as if she weren't terrified. "Do you pray?"

GEORGE WAS GASPING FOR AIR, as if he'd run a four-minute mile. He leaned against the wall, hands shaking. This

_

had to be done, and he knew God would forgive him. It was right there in Isaiah 43:25: *I, even I, am he who blots out your transgressions, for my own sake, and remembers your sisn no more.*

But there was a difference between the righteous anger that had accompanied him on his long drive and the actual feeling of the pistol recoiling in his hand when he shot. And even though he knew it was ridiculous, the recoil seemed harder when his bullet struck flesh versus when it only struck plaster.

When he looked down, his jeans were spattered with blood.

Well, he wasn't the one who'd spilled it first.

There was no way anyone could claim that he didn't have a moral high ground. He couldn't undo what had been done to Lil. But he could have retribution. He could teach them the lesson he had not been able to teach her: life is something only God should give and take.

George looked down again at the pistol in his hand.

He had forgotten what it was like to watch someone die. In Bosnia, that rapist who struck his head on the curb had grabbed at George's arm and stared into his eyes as if there were a cord stretched between them, and as long as he didn't blink, he would be able to stay in this world.

It had been the same when he opened fire at the clinic and struck the receptionist—he had seen her eyes the moment they went dark, like a candle at the end of its wick. The second woman he shot, well, that was an accident. He hadn't even noticed her when he walked inside. He had only looked at the front desk and what was beyond it. But when she started yelling, he had to shut her up. He had to. His body had just taken over.

George told himself this was no different from being a soldier. In war, killing wasn't murder, it was a mission. Today he fought for the army of God. Angels weren't always messengers. They could destroy a city with a twitch of the hand. Sometimes violence was necessary to remind the fallen of God's power. If people didn't lose His grace every now and then, they wouldn't realize how lucky they were when they had it.

Still, George wondered if the angels who had flattened Sodom and Gomorrah, or the one who had killed Sennacherib's army, had trouble sleeping at night. He wondered if they saw the faces of the dead everywhere.

When he'd shot the woman in the waiting room, she had stepped forward like a sacrifice.

I am doing this for you, he thought, catching his daughter's name between his teeth as he wrenched himself forward.

I am doing this for you.

When Beth was little, she would throw couch pillows on the floor and pretend the world was lava, and she had to jump from island to island. Now that she was older, the world was still a boiling soup of injustice, and Beth was just trying to get through it as best she could.

She had never felt so alone in her life, but that was her own fault.

She thought about how, when she wrapped it in the towel, it had a soft, slight weight. It was the first time she had ever thought of it as something real, instead of abstract.

When Beth closed her eyes she could still see the blue translucence of its skin. The road map of circulation. The shadows of its organs. Her pulse began to race, and a moment later Jayla, the nurse, came into the room. She pushed a button on a monitor.

"Is my father back?" Beth asked.

Jayla shook her head. When Beth had first come in, Jayla had held her hand, stroked her brow. There seemed to be something between them now, and Beth bit her lower lip. Even when she wasn't trying, she seemed to screw things up.

Just then two policemen filled the doorframe.

"Nathan?" Jayla swayed toward one of the cops, a question caught between them.

He shook his head the tiniest bit, and then turned. "You're Beth?"

She drew her knees to her chest, afraid to look at him.

"You're being charged with homicide, for the killing of an unborn child."

Beth had already felt the bottom drop out of her world. It was a shock to realize that had been a false landing, that she had further to fall. She tried to put together the pieces, but they didn't fit. She was in a hospital. She had lost so much blood. She had almost died. The only people who even knew she had been pregnant were medical personnel.

She turned to Jayla, shocked. "You called the police," she said.

"What was I supposed to do?" she exploded. "You claimed you weren't pregnant, but you had so much hCG in your blood that couldn't be true unless you'd just delivered ... so there was a chance a newborn was out there somewhere."

"What about patient confidentiality?" Beth said.

"HIPAA doesn't matter if a life is in danger," Jayla answered. Her eyes suddenly swam with tears.

"You have the right to remain silent," Nathan said. "Anything you say can and will be used against you in a court of law. You have the right to an attorney. If you cannot afford an attorney, one will be provided for you."

The second policeman stepped forward and handcuffed Beth's right arm to the rail of the hospital bed.

HELP.

Daddy, help.

Wren must have written fifty times to her father, but he wasn't answering.

She knew he would save her. He always did. There was the birthday party at the bowling alley when her hand was about to be crushed between two balls, and he pretty much leaped over a table, a metal divider, and a bachelorette party to stick his own hand in the gap. There was the month she was certain there was an alien living in her bedroom closet, when he diligently slept on the floor beside her bed. There was the banana bike race she had competed in at age eight, when her brakes failed and she was careening down a hill into a street with traffic. Somehow her father had caught up and plucked her off the seat with one arm a hot second before it became a pretzel.

Dad reflexes, he called it.

She just thought it was love.

Help, Wren wrote again.

ABOUT TWENTY MINUTES after his impromptu birthday party, Hugh was called to Chief Monroe's office for actual business. He leaned back, already knowing where this conversation was going. "I've got to leave for lunch in fifteen minutes," the chief said. "With Harry Van Geld."

Hugh raised his brows, playing dumb. "The selectman?"

"Yeah. I understand his kid was picked up last night? What can you tell me?"

"Well," Hugh said. "He's an asshole, for one."

"That's not going to help me explain to his father why he was written up."

"DUI," Hugh said. "But he refused to blow."

"How come he was stopped?"

"He took the corner too fast and hit the curb. It was two A.M. Kept saying his dad was going to have my job. I didn't even know who the hell he was, at first, until I put two and two together."

The chief steepled his hands on the desk. "So we could amend the charge to reckless operation, if we don't have enough for a DUI?"

Hugh grimaced. "If you want to go that route."

"What's that supposed to mean?"

"He was drunk, Chief." Hugh shrugged. "He reeked of alcohol. And he's got a reputation."

He felt his phone buzz in his pocket, and silenced it with the push of a button.

"What about video?"

Hugh shook his head. "It's been down in the cruiser for a week. Still trying to get it fixed."

"So no breath test, no video, and we know that Van Geld is a dickhead who's going to be pissed if we charge his kid with a DUI." He frowned at Hugh. "What."

"What what?"

"What's the look for? You're acting like I just said I'm going to drown your puppy. If the kid had blown a 3.0, that would be one thing. But he didn't, and you don't have a BAC. He *might* have been drunk. He *definitely* was reckless. Consider it erring on the side of caution. We don't need heat from the select board. It's not worth it. Do me a solid here, Hugh. Amend it before the arraignment."

"Because he didn't kill anyone last night?" Hugh asked. "How about tomorrow?"

His phone vibrated again.

Chief Monroe stood up and grabbed his sports jacket. "Consider yourself lucky that you don't have to have lunch with his father."

"Guess that's why you make the big bucks." Hugh leaned back in his chair.

"Keep the town running smoothly for me, will you?" the chief said. He had a habit of taking his lunches with the radio chatter turned low, trusting the daily run of the station to Hugh when necessary.

Hugh shook his head. "The guys are going to feel like you sold them out," he said as the chief walked through the door.

"Not if you explain it to them," Monroe called back over his shoulder.

Hugh shook his head. "Definitely above my pay grade," he muttered. He stood up and reached in his pocket for his phone.

Stand by for a Code Red message ...

The voice of the dispatcher piped through the intercoms of the building. Hugh let his phone drop back into his pocket. From the window of the chief's office, he saw Monroe's car pull out of the lot.

Be advised, we have an active shooter incident taking place at the corner of Juniper and Montfort. All sworn members are to report to the Command Post at 320 Juniper, the Pizza Heaven parking lot, and await further instructions. All responding members are to ensure they have their body armor. This is an active shooter situation. I repeat, all sworn members are to report—

Hugh didn't hear the rest of the announcement. He was already running out the door.

Louie was writing down notes in Joy Perry's file when Harriet came back into the procedure room. She had settled the patient in recovery and had moved the products of conception to the lab room, where she would do a second review. Now she started stripping the paper from the examination table, getting it ready for the next patient. You could never say that their nurses didn't work their asses off, that's for sure. "You got any Halloween candy?"

Harriet laughed. "If you keep taking my stash there won't be any by the time it's Hallo—"

Whatever she said faded away as a rain of bullets exploded outside the procedure room.

Louie grabbed Harriet and pulled her down to the floor behind the examination table. He put his finger to his lips, for silence. He should have closed the door. Why hadn't he closed the door?

He knew, right away, what was happening. This was the nightmare that he couldn't remember when he woke up in a cold sweat; this was the bogeyman, all grown up; this was the other shoe dropping. It was not that he had obsessed about violence as an abortion provider, but he had been aware of the possibility. He had had colleagues who were hurt. Louie couldn't let himself worry over what might happen to him if he was going to keep doing his job. He knew abortion doctors who wore masks to work to conceal their identities; he had never wanted to

be one of those people. What he did was honorable and just. What he did was human. He wasn't going to hide.

It was not that he had naïvely believed this day might not come. In 1993, an arsonist had burned down the Center, and Vonita had had to rebuild. In 1998, after the abortion clinic in Birmingham was bombed by Eric Rudolph, Louie had gone to offer his support. He remembered the ATF mapping out the trajectory of the bomb, which had been full of nails: pink string, pulled tight from where the bomb had been placed to every chair in the waiting room and the receptionist's desk, a spider's web of intended damage. And yet he had listened to the phone ring as new appointments were made and had watched women march right past news trucks to have their abortions. After that, Vonita had contemplated putting bulletproof glass around the reception desk, like her husband had told her to do, but if the patients were strong enough to push past the protesters who told them they were going to hell, shouldn't the staff be brave enough to meet them face-toface?

Now, Louie was shaking, hard. He tried to hear where the shots were being fired—if they were getting closer—but there was a strange distortion in the sound. It wasn't, he thought, like the movies made it out to be. On the heels of that: this was a fact he wished he had never had to learn.

On his first day at the Center, Louie had arrived early. He walked across the parking lot, where he ran into a little old lady carrying a chair. *May I?* he asked, taking it from her. She thanked him, and a few hundred feet later said that this was her spot. Louie unfolded the chair and realized he was smack in the center of a group of protesters. He walked away and ducked into Lenny's Sub Shop across the street, where he ordered a chicken salad sandwich and a Diet Coke and sat at the counter. A few minutes later he realized that someone was standing

at the window taking his picture—the old lady he'd helped. *Do you know her?* the waitress asked, and Louie said no, he had never been in Mississippi before today, but that he worked across the street at the Center. The waitress rapped on the window. *If you ain't buying anything, stop loitering,* she said. She turned to Louie. *Those people need to mind their own business,* she said.

When Louie finished his sandwich, the old lady was waiting for him. She followed him across the street, shouting the whole time. You should be ashamed of yourself. You're not a real doctor. You're a butcher.

Louie realized two things that day: that the waitress might not be an abortion doctor or even go to a prochoice rally, but she was an activist all the same. And that you could not underestimate an anti. Had that sweet old grandma wanted to, she had been close enough to shank him.

When he had gotten inside the Center that day, he had broken out in a sweat. For the past ten years, he had never been careful. He didn't leave the building until the end of the day. He ordered food in. As long as he stayed in the Center, it was a safe space.

Until now.

Harriet was crying. Her hand shook as she reached for her phone and typed out a text. To her husband, maybe? Her kids? Did she *have* kids? Why didn't Louie know that?

Louie's phone was locked up in Vonita's office, along with his wallet. Who would he contact, anyway? He had no family left, no significant other—for this very reason. Because it was enough that he put himself on the front lines every day, doing the work he did. It wasn't fair for someone else to suffer by sheer proximity. Dr. King's words floated into his mind: *If a man has not discovered something that he will die for, he isn't fit to live*. Would he die, today, for his principles? Or had he already died

years ago, by pledging himself to his work and cutting himself off from others who might get close to him? If his heart stopped beating today, would it just be a belated announcement of a death that had already happened?

Sometimes, at bars or conferences or weddings, he met women who were impressed by his bravado. They asked if he was worried about violence at clinics, and he shrugged it off. He'd say, *Life is fatal; none of us are getting out of here breathing*.

It was easy to make that joke, in response to a hypothetical question. But now?

He did not want to die, but if he did, he hoped it would be swift and not lingering.

He did not want to die, but if he did, he believed he'd been as good a man as he could have been.

He did not want to die, but if he did, he would have gotten more time than Malcolm or Martin had.

And yet. Goddammit. He wasn't finished yet.

A high-pitched whine wheezed out of Harriet; Louie was sure she didn't even know she was making the sound. He grabbed her hands and forced her to meet his gaze. "Harriet, you all right?" She shook her head, tears running. "Harriet, look at me."

Louie could see over her shoulder into the hallway. He flicked his glance away from the nurse, scanning for movement, for shadows. Five minutes passed. Or fifteen. He couldn't tell.

"Dr. Ward," Harriet whispered, "I don't want to die."

He squeezed her hands. "Harriet. You just keep your eyes right on me, you hear?"

She nodded, swallowed. Her eyes fixed on his, wide and brown, trusting. He held her faith tight, even as he saw through his peripheral vision the silhouette that rose behind her in the doorway; the twist of the pistol; the grim slash of a mouth as the man's features came into focus.

Louie's leg exploded in pain. The world narrowed to the throb of his thigh and the fire licking through the muscle. Then Harriet fell on top of him. He sucked in the smell of gardenia on her skin, tasted the copper of blood.

Footsteps. Closer.

Louie pretended to be dead. Or maybe he wished it to be true.

IZZY CREPT DOWN THE HALLWAY, certain that she had fallen into a mirror universe of chaos and discord and gore. The shooter had left macabre breadcrumbs—shattered windows, smears of blood, empty shells. Every instinct told her to turn around and run in the other direction, but she couldn't. It wasn't heroism that drove her toward the supply closet but the fear of learning that she was not the woman she had always believed herself to be.

The procedure room door was ajar and she could see the rows of glass cabinets filled with gauze and tape. She could also see two bodies.

She fell to her knees, rolling the nurse over, feeling for a pulse and finding none. She did the same with the doctor, who moaned, unconscious. He had been shot in the leg and someone had tied plastic tubing around his thigh, a makeshift tourniquet. It had probably saved his life. "Can you hear me?" she asked, as she tried to tighten the tubing.

She was attempting to gauge whether she could drag him to safety when she heard the click of the hammer.

The shooter stepped out from behind the door, where he had been concealed. Izzy froze, angry at her own stupidity.

He was older than she was—maybe in his forties. He had brown hair with a neat part. He was wearing a buffalo plaid fleece jacket, even in this infernal heat. He looked ... ordinary. The kind of man you let cut in the supermarket line because he only had a few items. The kind of man who sat next to you on the bus, said hello, and then left you alone for the rest of the trip. The kind of man you didn't really notice.

Until he stormed into a clinic holding a gun.

There had been several times in the past Izzy believed she might die. When there wasn't food for a whole week. When the heat was cut off and the temperature dipped into the teens. Yet she had known, as a kid, that there was always something you could do: eat from the neighbor's trash; sleep in layers of clothes, nested between your siblings. As a nurse, she had cheated death on behalf of her patients, reminding a stopped heart of how to beat or breathing for someone with her own lungs. Nothing had prepared her, however, for a situation like this.

Izzy wanted to beg for her life, but she couldn't; she was trembling so hard that her mouth wouldn't form words. She wondered if the girl and the woman in the waiting room would survive; if they would tell the press how brave Izzy was, running toward the sound of the gunfire just so that she could help others. She wondered how long it would take before Parker heard. She wondered if the people who would have come to their wedding would come to her funeral, instead.

"Get away so I can finish him," the shooter said, and she realized that his weapon was pointed not at her, but at the doctor.

There are moments in your life that change you. Like when Izzy stole a hot dog from a gas station, because she hadn't eaten in four days. When she opened a savings account. When, three years ago, she walked into Parker's cubicle in a hospital.

She wasn't going to die without putting up a damn good fight.

Izzy threw herself square in front of the doctor's body, spreading her arms as if she could create a shield.

The shooter laughed. "I have enough bullets for you both," he said.

I can't stop a bullet, Izzy thought. *But I can stop him from firing one.*

Izzy forced herself to look him in the eye. He was a basilisk; she could be turned to stone. But he was also a gunman in an abortion clinic; presumably he was prolife. She gathered all the threads of courage she could find, and drew them together into a fierce knot. "You can't shoot me," she said. "I'm pregnant."

Ten a.m.



As Bex pulled into the parking lot of the center, a protester jumped out in front of her car. Bex slammed on the brakes. He shouted, waving his hands over the hood. In the passenger seat, Wren watched, wide-eyed. "I thought you said they had people to help you get inside," Bex said to her niece. "I don't see anyone in a pink pinny."

"Maybe it's too early," Wren said. As Bex moved at a snail's pace into the lot, Wren craned her neck. In the rearview mirror Bex watched the man go back to the others on the far side of the fence. An elderly lady poured him a cup of coffee from a thermos.

Bex pulled into a parking spot and flexed her hand on the steering wheel. "You could walk me in," Wren suggested, her voice small.

Bex looked at her, tortured. She'd do anything for Wren. "Honey, I ..."

"Forget it. You can wait in the car. It shouldn't take very long."

Bex drew in her breath. "I believe a woman should do whatever she wants with her own body, I do. But I can't say I'd personally make that choice."

"You do remember I'm not here to get an abortion?" Wren said.

"Well, of course. But ..."

She couldn't say what she was thinking. That even if Wren was headed inside for a completely benign reason, there were still other women in there, maybe women who hadn't had aunts to bring them here, who had run out of options. Women who were creating secrets they would hide from others. It made her sick to her stomach.

Wren set her unfinished chocolate crème donut on the console between them. "Don't get any ideas," she warned.

Bex watched her walk toward the Center. But then a truck crossed her field of vision. It stopped dead in front of her Mini, blocking her view.

Bex honked her horn and gestured: What the hell? The man in the truck glanced at her dismissively. She wondered if he was lost. He was alone in the car; there was no woman with him who might have an appointment.

She saw Wren reach the chain-link fence and the line of pro-lifers. One woman leaned over, reaching for her.

Oh, hell no.

Bex was out of the car and huffing toward the Center faster than green grass through a goose. She caught up with Wren and looped her arm around her niece, anchoring her tight to her side.

Wren turned, surprised. "But—"

"No buts," Bex said firmly. "You're not going in there alone."

"You're late," said Helen, the dispatcher, as Hugh walked into the police department.

Hugh checked his watch. "I'm ten minutes early," he said.

"Not for the staff meeting."

"What staff meeting?"

"The one that's going on in the staff room," Helen replied.

"Shit." Hugh waited for Helen to buzz him in, and then took the stairs two at a time to the basement, where the staff room was. The last time he'd missed a staff meeting, the chief had gone off on him for not taking his position seriously, and how was he supposed to treat Hugh as a de facto second in command when he skipped the less glamorous parts of police work.

He skidded around the corner, hoping to make an unobtrusive entrance, when he heard the chief's booming voice. "Finally, Detective McElroy's decided to grace us with his presence. Speaking of presents ..."

The whole of the force began to sing "Happy Birthday." His secretary, Paula, held out a platter of donuts arranged into the numbers 4-0. One had a candle stuck in it.

Hugh blushed. He *hated* being the center of attention. He hated *birthdays*. They were basically markers in the calendar year to renew his license and his registration, and to have an annual checkup.

Paula walked toward him and set the platter down on the table, so he could blow out his candle. "Make a wish," she said, standing at his shoulder.

"Who told you it was my birthday?" he said through a rigid smile.

"Facebook," Paula murmured. "Never should have friended me."

Hugh closed his eyes and made a wish, blew out the candle. "We all chipped in," one of the junior detectives said, "and we bought you this." He held up a cane, decorated with a bright red bow.

Everyone laughed, including Hugh. "Thanks. That'll come in handy when I want to beat the crap out of you later."

"Paula," the chief said, "don't forget to make a prostate exam appointment for our boy." He clapped Hugh on the shoulder. "All right, grab your donut and let's get back to work. It's not like it's Jesus's birthday. Just Hugh's."

Hugh accepted the good wishes of everyone in the department, until he was left alone with Paula in the staff room.

"You don't look so happy for a birthday boy," she said.

"I'm not a big fan of surprises."

She shrugged. "You know what my husband got me for *my* fortieth?" she said. "Knocked up."

Hugh laughed. "I don't think that's in the cards for me."

"What did you wish?"

He opened his mouth, but Paula waved her hand. "No, no, that was a trick question. You can't tell me, because it won't come true. Honestly, Hugh. Have you never had a birthday before?" She handed him a plate with three donuts on it. "You get the extra, because you're special. But only for today. Don't go letting this get to your head." She grinned and left him alone in the staff room.

He took the candle from the donut on the top. What he'd wished for was, quite simply, the one thing he couldn't have. He wished that everything could stay the way it was, right now—with Wren making him eggs for breakfast, and people who cared enough about him at work to throw him a silly party, and his health intact. He wished that he could keep getting up morning after morning, with the world remaining unchanged. That was the thing about feeling like life was good. Even when it was—especially when it was—you knew you had something to lose.

My God, could this be any more embarrassing? Izzy had barely approached the reception desk before a wave of nausea rolled over her. She'd bolted for the door marked Bathroom, and had gotten profoundly sick. She wiped her mouth and then took a stack of paper towels, wet them down in the sink, and rubbed them over the clammy skin of her face and neck.

There was a knock on the door, and Izzy opened it a crack. "You all right?" said the woman who had been sitting at the front desk.

"I am so sorry, Miz-"

"Vonita," she supplied.

"I am not usually quite so rude," Izzy said.

Vonita passed her a small tin of ginger mints. "These help," she said, matter-of-fact. "When you're ready, come on out and we'll get acquainted."

Izzy closed the door and sat down on the closed toilet seat. She found herself thinking of the time she was in third grade and she didn't have a winter coat. She had gone to the school secretary and told her she needed to check the lost and found, and then she had picked out a coat that didn't belong to her. The worst part was that the school secretary had known damn well it wasn't Izzy's coat, but she didn't say anything.

Vonita was being nothing but kind, but there was something in her eyes that made Izzy feel like the other woman already knew all her secrets.

Well. Izzy was a nurse. This was not the first time she had faced something new and overwhelming, and it was not the first time she'd had to bluff her way through a situation until confidence caught up to her.

She might be in an abortion clinic, but she had been and always would be a survivor.

As soon as she had seen the blood, she knew it couldn't be good. Women Olive's age didn't have spotting, especially when they weren't heterosexually active. Add to that the pain she'd had urinating and the odd numb tingles in her leg, and it was enough for her to go to the Center. For years, that was where she had gone for her gynecological checkups. Harriet, the nurse practitioner, had done an exam and then had turned to her. "When was the last time you had a Pap smear?" she had asked.

Well. Long enough that Olive couldn't remember.

"Olive," Harriet had said. "I think you should see an oncologist."

That had been two weeks ago. In the aftermath, she'd had a chest X-ray, an abdominopelvic MRI, a CBC, and an electrolyte and liver series. She had heard what the oncologist said, but maybe she didn't really believe him. Or maybe she needed to hear it from someone she knew and trusted.

She sat now in the examination room, waiting for Harriet to come in. The medical file from the gynecological oncologist's office was in her hands. It might as well have been Greek:

Fungating mass, exophytic, with obstruction of the right pelvic sidewall.

Moderate right hydronephrosis; posterior involvement through the rectosigmoid serosal and muscularis ... pelvic and paraaortic lymphadenopathy ... no evidence of ascites.

Creatinine: 2.4 mg/dL; hematocrit: 28%

Hell, Greek would have made *more* sense to her.

The door opened. "Olive," Harriet said. "How are you feeling? What did the oncologist say?"

Olive handed her the file. "I should have brought a translator along."

Harriet scanned the papers inside. "Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix," she read. "Oh, Olive."

"Carcinoma," Olive repeated. "That was the one word I *did* understand." She shook her head. "The doctor talked to me. Well, he talked *at* me. I just ... stopped hearing him after a few minutes."

"You have cervical cancer," Harriet said gently. "I'm so sorry."

"Are you sure it's not a mistake? How *could* I? I'm a lesbian."

"Lesbians actually have higher rates of cervical cancer," Harriet said. "They don't get monitored because they aren't having penetrative intercourse. There's a certain type that nuns get—not the kind that's squamous cell cancer, which is associated with HPV—but one even virgins can contract."

"Well thankfully," Olive said, "I'm not one of *those*." She looked at the nurse. "How bad?"

"It's stage four, metastatic. Do you know what that means?"

"It's like winning the lottery," Olive replied. "But Shirley Jackson's kind."

Harriet stared at her blankly.

"Never mind."

The nurse looked down at the numbers again. "It's in your lungs; possibly in your liver. It's blocking your right kidney." She looked Olive in the eye. "I'm going to level with you. It's unlikely that someone whose cancer has spread this far can be cured. I'm sure there are things the oncologist can do to help you have a good quality of life, but ... you should get your affairs in order."

Olive felt her mouth go dry as dust. She, who always had a witty retort, had nothing to say. "How long? she finally managed.

"Six to eight months, I'm guessing. I hate to say that, Olive. And I hope to hell I'm wrong. But if I were you, I'd want someone to tell me the truth."

Olive sat in the stew of that information, sinking in her own sudden, inevitable mortality. She felt Harriet's arms come around her, hold her tightly.

This. This was why she had come to the Center. She knew already what was hiding inside that medical folder. She had just not wanted to face it alone.

There was a sharp rap on the door, and then Dr. Ward stuck his head inside. "Harriet? It's go time." He smiled at Olive and closed the door again.

Olive had so many questions: Was it her fault—some deficiency in diet or some promiscuity in college that had led to this? How would she tell Peg? Would it happen fast, or would it be a slow decline? Would it hurt? Would she still be herself, at the end?

Harriet stepped back, still holding Olive's hands. She gave them a final squeeze. "I need to go assist. You going to be all right?"

She left without hearing Olive's response. But they both knew the answer, anyway.

_

When wren had started high school, two months ago, she suffered the usual freshman pranks: being told there was a pool in the basement when there wasn't, finding shaving cream in her locker, being squirted with water guns as she walked down the foreign language hallway. She learned pretty fast which routes through the school were safe and which ones weren't. The place she hated the most, however, was the Pit, which was an outside corridor connecting two arms of the building, where the

smokers hung out between classes. She'd run the gauntlet, knowing these kids smelled her fear and her naïveté, were making up their minds about her without knowing her at all.

That's what it felt like now, walking past the line of protesters. Some of them smiled at her, even as they waved posters of bloody babies in her face. Some chanted Dr. Seuss: A person's a person, no matter how small. "Can you come here for a sec?" one woman said, with the kind of apologetic smile you use when you are truly sorry about asking for help, because your car has broken down on the side of the road or your phone is dead and you need to call home or you are juggling too many groceries in your arms and wishing you'd been smart enough to take a basket. Instinct tugged her in that direction, because Wren had always been a good girl. The woman had red hair and funky purple glasses and looked incredibly familiar, but Wren couldn't place her. Still, she didn't want to run the risk that the woman might recognize her, too—what if she worked at the police department or something, and spilled this secret to her dad? So she ducked her head as the woman stuffed a little goodie bag in her hand, like the kind you got at a kid's birthday party.

Just then her aunt was glued to her side. "You're not going in there alone," Bex said, and Wren wrapped her arms around her aunt's neck and hugged her tight.

Wren knew it made her sound like a total bitch, but she didn't really pine for her mom. Part of it was because her mother had left when Wren was little; part of it was because of her aunt, who filled in any empty spaces.

Aunt Bex had sewed her a colonial dress for the American Revolution unit they'd done in second grade. (Well, she'd hot-glued it—she wasn't particularly good with a needle.) She had never missed a T-ball game and brought sweet tea for all the other parents. She even hung Wren's lame watercolors on her wall; she, who was

an artist and knew damn well they were terrible. It seemed to Wren that having a mother had a lot less to do with a few sweaty hours of labor and delivery and a lot more to do with whose face you always looked for in a crowd.

As if she needed any more proof, here was Bex beside her, even though Wren knew how much it cost her. She knew Aunt Bex had never had children and that fact maybe even had something to do with her aversion to the Center. But in a way, Wren was secretly glad Bex belonged only to her.

By the time they were buzzed inside, sweat had broken out between Wren's shoulder blades. "You sit down," Wren told her aunt. "I can check myself in."

There were a few people in the waiting room, and a television was on, with the sound muted. At the reception desk sat a woman with the most stunning tower of braids Wren had ever seen—thick red and black snakes twined around each other. She wore a name tag that read VONITA, and she was on the telephone. She smiled at Wren and held up a finger, suggesting she'd only be another moment. "In the state of Mississippi it's a two-day process. That's right. So Thursday would be your counseling session, your lab work, and a sonogram. The next day, when you have your procedure, you'll be here from an hour and a half to three hours. If you want to schedule an appointment I can help you with that now." She paused, then picked up a pen. "Name? Age? Date of last period? Good contact phone number? So you're scheduled for Thursday at nine A.M. Now, write down your appointment date and time because we can't verify if you call back and ask when it is, for confidentiality reasons. You have to bring a hundred and fifty dollars and your photo ID. Cash or card. No large bags, no purses, no kids. All right then. You're welcome." She hung up the phone and smiled at Wren. "Sorry about that. How can I help you?"

"I'm here for an appointment," Wren said, and then hastily, "But not ... not like the kind you just scheduled. My name's Wren McElroy."

"Ren ... Ren ..." The woman scanned a list.

"With a W."

"Ah. Here you are." Vonita checked her in and handed her a clipboard. "Just fill out this form for me, and we'll get you in as soon as possible."

Wren sat across from the television. She scribbled down her information—the usual stuff—name, address, age, allergies.

Beside her, Aunt Bex was going through the little goodie bag Wren had been handed by the protester. Smarties. ChapStick. A pair of tiny blue knit booties. "Well, those are sweet," Bex said.

She dug out hand sanitizer, breath mints, and two small soaps.

"Maybe they think we're all dirty," Wren said. She plucked the flyer from the little bag and began to read: *Please don't rush into this decision. Abortion is FOREVER*.

If you are in an abortion center right now, you can just leave. You don't have to tell anyone. If you've already paid, we can help you get your money back.

Wren opened the pamphlet. There were pictures of gummy, bright-eyed babies.

Before I formed you in the womb, I knew you.-God

"You think that's a direct quote?" Bex asked, reading over her shoulder.

Wren stifled a laugh. "My history teacher would not accept that citation."

On the back panel was a list of the alleged consequences of chemical and surgical abortion:

perforated uterus, chronic and acute infections, intense pain, excessive bleeding requiring transfusion, risk of future miscarriages, infertility, cancer, death.

Feelings of guilt, anger, helplessness. Mental breakdown. Depression, nightmares, and flashbacks. Inability to feel joy about life. Feeling of separation from God. Fear of not being forgiven. Alienation from family and friends. Loss of relationship with boyfriend or spouse. Promiscuity. Drug abuse. Suicide.

It reminded Wren of those ads on television for antidepressants. Yeah, we'll stop those mood troughs, but you might wind up incontinent, with high blood pressure, with increased suicidal tendencies, or, hey, dead.

Wren looked at the bold type at the bottom. YOU ARE NOT ALONE. WE CARE ABOUT YOU!

Suddenly she remembered where she had seen that redheaded woman. She was the parent of a ninth grader, and she had raised holy hell over a unit in health class where they studied contraceptive options. The day Wren had to roll a condom onto a banana, the woman had barged into the room, spewing craziness about impressionable minds and God and the rhythm method. Wren had felt bad for her son, who was moved to the library during health from then on.

Wren shook her head, now that she realized that this woman who was anti-contraception was also anti-abortion. Wasn't that counterintuitive? If you didn't want abortions, shouldn't you at least be throwing free condoms and birth control pills out to anyone who would take them? Shouldn't that woman have been *cheering* for Wren to come to the Center and get the Pill, instead of berating her?

Wren looked down at the pamphlet again. WE CARE ABOUT YOU!

Or not.

She walked across the room and tossed it into the trash.

"DADDY," BETH CRIED. "DADDY?"

Frustration foamed in her father's wake, but he didn't look back as he left. He nearly mowed down the nurse, hurrying to get away from her.

Away from what she had done.

Jayla peered at her. "You okay?" she asked gently.

Beth shook her head, unable to speak.

The nurse sat down on the edge of Beth's bed. "I didn't mean to eavesdrop," she said, "but it's pretty hard when the door's wide open." She hesitated. "This isn't my usual floor, you know. I work on the ortho floor, but I'm covering for a colleague who needed a personal day. So I'm not sure what the protocol is here."

Beth wiped her eyes. "What do you mean?"

"Well, in ortho, if I found out my patient is an intravenous drug user or has some other history she didn't disclose to the doctors, I'd tell my supervisor. It could be a matter of life or death. What I'm trying to say is that you really do need to tell me the truth." She looked at Beth. "So," she said, "which is it?"

Beth blinked at her. She felt the walls pressing in.

"You told *me* you didn't know you were pregnant. But I just heard you tell your father you went to an abortion clinic."

Beth flushed. "I want my father ..."

"If you had a surgical abortion and it didn't go right and *that's* what's caused the bleeding, your health could be in danger. Beth, you could die." Beth wiped her eyes with the corner of the hospital johnny. "I *did* go to the clinic," she admitted. "But they said they couldn't help me unless I went to a judge. So I filled out all the forms and got a hearing scheduled and then I got a call saying the judge couldn't see me for two weeks." She looked up at Jayla. "I couldn't wait that long and then go back to the clinic. It would be too late."

Beth started to cry so hard she couldn't catch her breath. "I didn't have a choice," she sobbed, curling into herself, making a shell of her own body. "You get that, right?"

Jayla stroked her back. "Okay," she said. "Okay. Deep breaths."

If only they had used a condom.

If only she wasn't under eighteen.

If only the judge had shown up when he was supposed to.

If only she had lived in Boston or New York, where there wasn't just one clinic, but many.

If only it hadn't been so damn hard to fix this on her own.

If only she'd kept the baby.

The thought crawled into her mind like a spider. She would still have faced her father's anger. She would still have been a whore, in his eyes. For all she knew, he would have thrown her out.

For all she knew, he still might.

That made her cry even harder, which was why she did not hear Jayla slip into the hallway, take out her cellphone, and call her husband. "Nathan," the nurse said, "I need your help."

_

Janine sat on the examination table, panicking. It was one thing to come into the Center using a fake ID, and register for an abortion, and sit through a counseling session. But it was another thing entirely to dodge the state-mandated ultrasound. Somehow, she needed to get the evidence she had come here for. Just last month in another state, a pro-life girl had gone into a clinic undercover, like Janine, and had told a counselor that she was thirteen and her boyfriend was twenty-five and she wanted an abortion. The counselor had said, on tape, *I didn't hear that*. The damning audio had made the rounds of the Internet, and had even aired on *Hannity* on Fox News.

Janine heard the quick knock and slipped her phone into her dress pocket, hitting the record button on the voice memo just as the door swung open. The social worker smiled. "Hello there," she said. "I'm Graciela. So we're going to do your ultrasound, right?"

Janine felt herself break into a sweat. She needed to get this woman talking. "Wait!" she blurted out. "I have allergies!"

"To latex?"

Janine swallowed. "To, like, everything. I forgot to write it down."

Graciela made a note in her file and then turned on the ultrasound machine. It hummed alive, as if they were all an orchestra and this was the note they must become attuned to. "What if I don't want an ultrasound?" Janine asked.

"I'm afraid you don't have a choice. The state says I have to do one today, and ask you if you'd like to see it. You can say no, if you want." Graciela paused, her hand holding the wand. "You seem a little nervous."

In any other situation, Janine would have thought, *This woman is kind*. But although Graciela might still be

a lovely human being, it didn't change the fact that she had made the choice to work at an abortion factory. It wasn't like you could get prenatal care here, if you wanted it. The last undercover spy that Allen had sent into the clinic had worn glasses with a tiny camera in the bridge of the nose, and she had video of this very woman saying no, they did not offer pregnancy care, but could refer her to a place that did. They really shouldn't call themselves a reproductive healthcare center if they weren't willing to help women reproduce.

Once, she had been in a clinic like this, not as a spy but as a patient. Did she have an ultrasound there? Why couldn't she remember?

It was not until Graciela handed her a Kleenex that she realized she was crying. "Are you nervous? *That* I can fix," the social worker said. "But if you're crying because you don't know if you've made the right decision ... that I *can't* help you with."

Janine thought of the voice recording in her pocket, closed her eyes, and prayed for something to happen—anything—that might incriminate Graciela, before Janine was incriminated herself.

_

FIFTEEN WEEKS WAS THE TRICKIEST. When Louie had a patient come in fifteen weeks pregnant, he knew he was in for a challenge. The fetus's bones would have just started to calcify, so it would have to be disarticulated. The way Louie explained it was that the uterus was like an ice cream cone. Imagine you had an Oreo at the top and needed to get it through the bottom of the cone; of course you had to break it into parts. In Mississippi, there was an additional wrinkle: by law, you could not use forceps while a fetus still had a heartbeat. This law was passed by nonscientists who believed that fetuses at sixteen weeks could feel pain—which they could not. But as a result of political posturing, Louie had to amend his

procedure, adding extra steps that might cause more risk to the patient, instead of doing what was best for her.

That meant Louie would start with an ultrasound. Cytotec caused sustained uterine contractions, which meant that most of the fetuses would be asystolic due to the constant squeezing. But if that wasn't the case—if there still was a heartbeat visible on the ultrasound—it was up to Louie to use suction to bring the umbilical cord down and transect it to end cardiac activity.

Louie told the patient none of this.

He looked at Joy Perry, who was his primary concern for the next quarter of an hour. Like all his fifteen- and sixteen-week patients, she was the first and last procedure of the day. She had come early for the Cytotec—eight hundred micrograms in pill form—which were inserted by him, vaginally, to make the cervix pliable.

Now she was lying back, her pale hair in a ponytail that spilled over the edge of the procedure table, like the tassels on his grandmama's brocade curtains. He met her gaze through the valley of her bent knees. "This is going to take about seven minutes," Louie said. "We're gonna get you through."

He glanced at Harriet, his nurse du jour. He'd worked with Harriet long enough to have a shorthand with her, but truth be told, Louie flew to seven different clinics throughout the South and Plains states and he was used to working with a rotating panel of RNs and nurse practitioners. They were all exceptional, standing by the side of the women on his procedure table; providing him with a syringe of lidocaine when he needed it and a gentle whisper of support when his patient did. A flick of Louie's eyes to the right, and Harriet took Joy's hand in her own and squeezed.

He touched her knee.

"Wait!" Joy cried, and Louie lifted his hand immediately, five fingers outstretched. "I ... I didn't shave ..." she murmured.

Louie stifled a grin. If he had a dime for every time he'd heard that. He knew what it was like to be in the dentist's chair and wonder if you had a booger in your nose; he understood what it was to be a patient, and vulnerable. Time to administer some vocal local. In Mississippi, he wasn't allowed to give any narcotics—not even Xanax—to relax a patient.

"Now, Miz Harriet," he said, in an exaggerated tone. "Didn't I tell you not to bring me any more ladies who didn't get a Brazilian before coming here?"

He saw it—the tiny crack of a grin on Joy's face.

"You're going to feel a little pressure." Louie pressed the inside of the patient's thigh. "Just like that. I'm gonna put the speculum inside now; you relax that muscle. There you go. Where you from?"

"Oxford."

"That's a hike." When Louie chatted through the procedure, he wasn't trivializing. He was normalizing the moment, putting it into context. He wanted the woman to know this abortion was a sliver of her life, and not the benchmark upon which she should judge herself.

As he yammered about the best way to get from Oxford to Jackson, Louie wrapped a ball of gauze on the tenaculum and swabbed Joy's cervix with Betadine. Harriet, his partner in this dance, smoothly held up the lidocaine vial while he filled the syringe. "Little pinch coming. Give me a cough now." As Joy coughed, Louie grabbed the edge of the cervix with the tenaculum and injected the lidocaine at several spots around the ring of tissue. He felt the muscles of her thighs tense. "You know people who can cough on demand can also fake things?

Did you used to fake tears to get your mama not to spank you?" Louie asked.

Joy shook her head.

"Well, I used to do that. Worked every time." He reached to his left for one of the metal dilation rods, and inserted it into the cervix and then out. Then a slightly larger one, and another after that, all the way up to 15 millimeters, as the cervix opened like the shutter of a camera. "So were you born in Oxford?"

"No, Yazoo."

"Yazoo," Louie said. "That's the place with the witch." Sometimes he thought he knew more about the states where he performed abortions than their own residents did. He had to, for moments like this.

"The what?" She flinched.

"You're doing great, Joy. There was some swamp witch who lived in Yazoo during the eighteen hundreds. You really never heard about her?" Louie asked. "You're gonna feel fluid now; that's normal." He ruptured her membranes and leaned back as a gush of blood and amniotic fluid spilled between her legs into the tray beneath. Some splattered on his sneaker. "She died in quicksand, I guess, when the police were after her? Just before she passed, she vowed she'd come back in twenty years to haunt the town and burn it to the ground." Louie glanced up. "A little pulling now. Just breathe. All I'm doing is maneuvering around inside your uterus, and using the ultrasound to guide me."

From the corner of his eye, he watched Joy's fingers grasp Harriet's more firmly. He bent his head, intent on his work, taking the fetus out with forceps. He pulled out clots of pink tissue, some recognizable, some not. At this stage of pregnancy, the calvarium was just solid enough to not collapse with suction. If it got up into the high corner of the uterus, it had a tendency to roll around like

a beach ball. In with the forceps, out again. A miniature hand. A knee. In and out; in and out. The G clef of a spine. The squash-blossom calvarium.

"Anyway, twenty years later, in 1900, there was a freak fire in the town that burned a hundred buildings and two hundred homes. The townspeople went to the grave of the swamp witch, and sure enough, the tombstone was broken and the chain around her grave was all torn up. Spooky as hell, right? Now, just another minute ..."

Louie knew exactly what it meant to disrupt a life process. At five weeks, he'd see nothing but a tiny sac. At six weeks, a fetal pole with cardiac activity—but no limb buds, no thorax, no calvarium. By nine weeks, there were differentiated body parts: tiny arms, tiny hands, the black spot of an emerging eye. At the fifteen-week mark, like today's procedure, the calvarium had to be crushed to fit through a 15-millimeter cannula. As a provider, you could not unfeel that moment. And yet. Was it a person? No. It was a piece of life, but so was a sperm, an egg. If life began at conception, what about all those eggs and sperm that didn't become babies? What about the fertilized eggs that didn't implant? Or the ones that did, ectopically? What about the zygote that failed to thrive when implanted and was sloughed off with the uterine lining? Was that a death?

Up till twenty-two weeks of pregnancy a fetus wouldn't survive without a host, even on a respirator. Between twenty-two and twenty-five weeks, a fetus might live briefly, with severe brain and organ damage. The American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists did not recommend resuscitating babies born at twenty-three weeks. At twenty-four weeks, it was up to the parents and doctors to decide together. At twenty-five weeks, the American Medical Association suggested resuscitation, but also said that the ability to survive was not a sure thing. There were plenty of babies

diagnosed late in the second trimester with anomalies that were incompatible with life. If those babies were born past twenty-nine weeks, they would feel pain when they died. In those cases, was abortion murder, or mercy? If you decided this was an exceptional case, what about if the mother was a heroin addict? What if her husband beat her so bad she broke bones several times a year? Was it ethical for that woman to carry a baby to term?

He got it, he really did. In that boggy mess of blood and tissue were recognizable parts. They were familiar enough to be upsetting. The bottom line was this: a zygote, an embryo, a fetus, a baby—they were all human. But at what point did that human deserve legal protection?

"We're in the homestretch now." Louie turned on the suction and swept the cannula along the uterus. "You never heard that story?"

She shook her head.

"And you call yourself a Yazooite!" Louie joked. "What *do* people from Yazoo call themselves?"

"Cursed," Joy said.

He laughed. "I knew I liked you." Louie felt for the familiar grittiness of the uterine wall that let him know he was done.

Whether or not you believed a fetus was a human being, there was no question in anyone's mind that a grown woman was one. Even if you placed moral value on that fetus, you couldn't give it rights unless they were stripped away from the woman carrying it. Perhaps the question wasn't When does a fetus become a person? but When does a woman stop being one?

Louie glanced down at the tissue in the tray between his patient's legs. The contents of the tray were swirled and amorphous, like a galaxy without stars. It was part of his job as a physician—if all the products of conception couldn't be accounted for, then there would be infection later. It was also philosophically important to him as an abortion provider to recognize the procedure for what it was, instead of using euphemisms. He finished his silent count of limbs and landmarks. He could feel Joy's womb starting to shrink back down.

He stood so that he could look his patient in the eye, so she would know he had *seen* her—not just as a patient, but as the woman she was and would be when she walked out that door. "You," he told Joy, "are no longer pregnant."

The woman closed her eyes. "Thank you," she murmured.

Louie gently patted her knee. "Miz Joy," he said simply, "you don't have to be grateful for something that's your right."

How was it, Joy wondered, that she was ending a pregnancy and talking about ghosts? Maybe it wasn't all that far off the mark. She knew there were all sorts of things that could come back to haunt you.

She felt cramping, and she winced. She could still hear the whir of the machine that did the suction. It seemed like an oversight; surely they could have given her headphones, like the kind they had on planes that canceled out all the noise? Or piped in heavy metal music, so that you wouldn't have to lie here and listen to the sound of your pregnancy ending?

Maybe that was the point—they didn't *want* to make it easy. They wanted you doing this with your eyes (and your legs) wide open.

Joy stared at the ceiling at a Where's Waldo? poster, where there were a thousand penguins wearing red and

white scarves and one lone guy in a striped hat. Why would you try to find Waldo? Let the poor guy stay lost.

The suction was a choke, a throttle, a throat clearing. Little vacuum, Joy thought. Cleaning up her mess.

Nine a.m.



H ugh was painting with water. That's what he called police work that was not only painfully boring but ultimately a complete waste of time. Today, it was processing a 2010 Toyota RAV4 that had been taken for a joyride after its owner, a college kid, left the keys in the ignition. It had been found off the side of the road, dented and reeking of pot. Christ, you didn't have to be a detective to figure out what had happened here; or to realize that the amount of time that Hugh spent processing the car and the scene—a dusty ditch off the side of the highway—was going to exceed the value of the check the insurance company would eventually send the owner for repairs. Who wanted to spend his fortieth birthday getting the fingerprints off a stolen vehicle? He sighed as he attempted to dust the interior. It never worked, because of the texture of the dashboard, but if he didn't do it, he'd be told he had overlooked evidence. He'd already photographed the vehicle 360 degrees and also taken pictures of the tracks in the grass made by the tires. He had noted how far back the seat was reclined, what station the radio was tuned to, what detritus lived in the console. Later today, he would have the dubious honor of contacting the car's owner and giving him this list—gum, Kind bar, water bottle, key chain, baseball cap, receipts from a Piggly Wiggly, junk mail—and then ask the guy what else was missing. Hugh would bet his house that the owner wouldn't be able to answer. There wasn't a person on earth who could accurately catalog the contents of their console and glove compartment.

He stood up, feeling himself sweat beneath the collar of his shirt. He was supposed to canvass the area

to see who might have heard or seen something, but he was literally six miles from the nearest exit, and the only visible evidence of humanity was a giant Confederate flag that snapped in the wind across the highway, towering over the tree line as a reminder or a threat, depending on your politics. Hugh set his hands on his hips and jutted his chin toward the flag. "Well?" he demanded out loud. "Would you like to give an eyewitness report?"

Deciding that he'd done due diligence, Hugh started back to his own car. He had to burn all these stupid photos to disk and do a shit ton of paperwork now. True, nothing was going to come of this case—they'd never find the thieves—but even if it sucked, he was going to do the right thing. This mantra was as much as part of Hugh as his height or his hair color or his lineage. True, this had not been his intended career path, but then he'd met Annabelle and they'd gotten pregnant. Somehow instead of tracking the movements of the stars at NASA, he had wound up tracking the movements of the residents of Jackson, Mississippi. He had watched *Columbo*, like every other kid in the eighties, and detective work had seemed an exciting backup plan. Well, the joke was on Hugh-he wasn't thwarting jewel heists, he was dusting for fingerprints on a gas cap.

His cellphone buzzed in his pocket, and he answered, thinking it might be the owner of the vehicle. He'd left a message that morning for the kid. "McElroy," he said.

"Hugh."

His eyes closed. He'd conjured Annabelle, just by thinking of her. "You weren't who I was expecting," he said, and in the silence that followed, he turned over the implications of that sentence.

Her voice sounded like filigree, delicate and irreplicable, with a hint of a French accent that he supposed was cultivated after years of living in a foreign

country. "I wasn't going to forget your fortieth," Annabelle said. "How are you?"

He looked around at his surroundings—the looming Confederate flag, the trampled knee-high grass, the scraped and dented car. Instead of giving an answer even *he* wouldn't want to hear, he turned his back away from the highway. "What time is it there?" he asked, squinting into the sun.

She laughed. God, he'd loved that sound. He remembered playing the fool, sometimes—leaving a shaving cream mustache intentionally on his upper lip when he came downstairs in the morning—just to hear it. When had he stopped making her smile? "It's quitting time," Annabelle said.

"Lucky you." There was a bubble of silence. Amazing, to think that she was so far away, and he could still hear the hesitation in her voice. "How is she?"

Hugh exhaled. "She's good."

Annabelle had agreed to give him custody of Wren because, she said, that way Wren could be as comfortable as possible. If her parents were splitting up, at least she got to stay at home with her friends and her father. Hugh had always believed that her magnanimous gesture was a result of guilt: she knew she had cheated; as a consolation prize, she left Hugh the best part of their marriage.

"Are you happy, Hugh?" Annabelle asked.

He forced a laugh. "What kind of question is that?"

"I don't know. A Parisian one. An existential one."

He imagined her with her long red hair, a waterfall that used to slip through his hands. He could still see her face when he closed his eyes—the pale eyebrows she had darkened with a pencil, the way her eyes darted left when she lied; how she bit her lower lip when he made love to her. When you lost someone, how much time had to pass

before the details began to fade? Or at least the feeling that you had an unfinished edge that might unravel at any moment, until you were nothing more than a tangle of the person you used to be? "You don't have to worry about me," Hugh said.

"Of course I do," Annabelle replied, "because you're too busy worrying about everyone else."

There were seventy-five hundred miles between them and Hugh felt claustrophobic. "I gotta go."

"Oh. Of course," Annabelle said quickly. "It's good to hear your voice, Hugh."

"You, too. I'll tell Wren you called," he promised, although they both knew he wouldn't. The relationship between Wren and her mother was more complicated than the one between him and Annabelle. He felt the way he did when he misplaced something important—a little angry at himself, a little frustrated. Wren felt like she'd been the important thing that was misplaced.

"Take care of yourself," Hugh said, his subtle way of acknowledging that her new lover couldn't do a good job of that and she was on her own.

He hung up, savoring his small and lovely victory of a sentence.

-.-

At precisely 9:01 A.M. Wren popped out of her chair and walked up to Ms. Beckett, the health teacher. Everyone was taking a test that involved labeling the parts of the male and female reproductive systems—with points taken off if you spelled *fallopian* or *vas deferens* wrong. Ms. Beckett was pretty cool, as teachers went. She was young and had married the hot gym teacher, Mr. Hanlon, last year. Although Ms. Beckett hadn't officially told anyone yet, it was clear from her ever-loosening wardrobe of jumpers and caftans that she was going to need a long-term sub in a few months while she was on

maternity leave. There was a poetic justice to that, Wren thought—a sex ed teacher who had gotten pregnant.

It was also why she knew that if she walked up to Ms. Beckett's desk and told her the truth—she needed to leave school to get the Pill—the teacher would probably have covered Wren's tracks for her. But it wasn't like contraception was a valid excuse for getting out of class, so she did the next best thing when Ms. Beckett looked up from her computer. She screwed her face into a grimace of abject pain and whispered, "Cramps."

The magic word. Thirty seconds later, she was walking through the school with a pass to the nurse. Except instead of turning right to go to the nurse's office she made an abrupt left and walked out the door near the foreign language wing, letting the hot sun scald her. She reached for her phone and texted, and ten seconds later, Aunt Bex's car pulled up to the curb. Wren yanked open the door and slipped into the passenger seat just as one of the school safety officers rounded the corner of the building. "Go," she urged. "Go, go!"

Aunt Bex screamed away from the curb. "Lord," she said, as her tires squealed. "I feel like Thelma and Louise."

Wren turned to her blankly. "Who?"

"My God, you make me feel like a dinosaur." Aunt Bex laughed. She reached behind her, fumbling around the backseat until she grabbed a paper bag, which she dropped into Wren's lap. Wren didn't even have to open it to know it was donuts.

She supposed that it was moments like this when it paid to have a mother around. But to be honest, her mom was so *extra*, living in an artists' commune or something in the Marais and getting piercings in places where not even Wren would want them. Aunt Bex wasn't the next best thing. She was better.

Wren slouched in the seat and put her feet on the dashboard.

"Don't do that," Aunt Bex said automatically, although it was hard to imagine how this old beater of a car could be damaged in any way by the footprint of Wren's shoe. There were paint rags on the backseat and empty buckets and dust from stretched canvases and everything smelled a little like turpentine.

"Go ahead," Wren said.

"Go ahead?"

"Give me the lecture. What is it you always say? A free lunch isn't ever really free."

Aunt Bex shook her head. "Nope. This lunch has no strings attached."

Wren sat up, tilting her head. "Really?" Her aunt was the only person who seemed to understand you couldn't schedule when you fell in love, like it was a doctor's appointment. "Aunt Bex," Wren blurted, "how come you never got married?"

Her aunt shrugged. "I'm sure the story you're hoping for is much more romantic than the truth. I just didn't, that's all." She glanced in her niece's direction. "I'm not taking you here today because of some unrequited love of my own," Bex said. "I'm taking you because I'd rather you have the Pill than an abortion."

Wren reached into the paper bag and took a bite of her donut. "Have I told you I love you?"

Her aunt raised a brow. "Because I'm taking you to the Center, or because I got you chocolate crème?"

Wren grinned. "Can it be both?" she asked.

When Olive went to kiss Peg goodbye, she found her wife underneath the sink trying to fix the trash disposal.

She took in the sight for a moment, admiring the wriggle of Peg's hips and the swell of her breasts as she reached up to do something to a pipe. Hell, she might be old, but she wasn't dead. Yet.

"How did I get so lucky?" she mused out loud. "Marrying a plumber. And a hot one at that."

"You married an engineer with plumbing skills." Peg slipped out from the cabinet. "And a hot one, at that."

Peg grinned up at her. Olive wanted to memorize every detail of their life together: the chip in Peg's front tooth, the lip of pink sock peeking out from her tennis shoe. The orange juice sweating on the counter, and the newel post of the banister that fell off its perch weekly no matter how much wood glue they used. The scatter of pens near the phone, tossed like runes, that were all out of ink. There was such art in the ordinary, it could leave you in tears.

"Where are you off to today so early, anyway?" Peg asked, sticking her head back underneath the sink.

Olive hadn't told Peg about going to the oncologist's office last week; she had hid the file with the confusion of numbers and tests underneath the mattress, where Peg wouldn't find it. It was tucked inside her purse now, for the nurse at the Center to interpret. But did Olive really need the translation? She knew, even if she needed someone else to say it to make it true. "A checkup. No big deal."

Olive heard the throaty growl of the disposal, and Peg's arpeggio of laughter. God, she had danced to the music of that laugh for a decade now. She felt like an explorer moving through a world she had always known, charged with cataloging the minutiae of the common, the grooves of the routine, just in case a thousand years from now someone else wanted to see things exactly as they had looked through her eyes. The way her hand slipped seamlessly into Peg's in the dark of a movie theater when

they didn't have to worry if anyone might be shocked by two old women in love; the long silver hair, coiled into the shape of infinity in the shower drain; the cool, possessive stamp of her kiss.

What she would miss were these details. She wondered if, when you left this world, you got to take a certain number of them deep in your pockets, clenched in your fists, or tucked high on the roof of your mouth, with you forever.

When Louie wasn't performing abortions, he was teaching new doctors how to do them. He was an associate professor at the University of Hawaii and Boston University. He started his semesters the same way, telling the students that over five thousand years ago, in ancient China, mercury was used to induce abortions (although it most likely also killed the women). The Ebers Papyrus from 1500 B.C. mentioned abortions. He showed a slide of a bas relief from the year 1150 decorating the temple of Angkor Wat in Cambodia, where a woman in the underworld was getting an abortion at the hands of a demon.

He told his medical students that Aristophanes mentioned pennyroyal tea as an abortifacient—just five grams of it could be toxic. That Pliny the Elder said if a woman didn't want a pregnancy, she could step over a viper or ingest rue. Hippocrates suggested that a woman who wanted to miscarry jump and hit herself on the bottom with her heels until the embryo released and fell out; if that didn't work, there was always a mixture of mouse dung, honey, Egyptian salt, resin, and wild colocynth that you could insert into the uterus. A manuscript from the eighth recommended sitting over a pot of boiling water or steaming onions. Scribonis Largus, the court doctor for Emperor Claudius, had a recipe that included mandrake root, opium, Queen Anne's lace, opopanax, and peppers.

Tertullian, the Christian theologian, described instruments that match the ones used today for a D & E and said Hippocrates, Asclepiades, Erasistratus, Herophilus, and Soranus all employed them.

Abortion had been around, Louie told them, since the beginning of time.

"I got a new one for you, Dr. Ward," Vonita said as he wandered into the reception area during a five-minute break. "Tansy."

"She a patient?"

Vonita laughed. "No, it's an herb. Or a flower or something. It was used in the Middle Ages to abort."

He grinned. "Where'd you learn that?"

"Reading one of my romance novels," she said.

"I didn't think romance novels covered that topic."

"Well, what else you think is gonna happen with all that sex?"

He laughed. Vonita was one of his favorite people in the world. She had run the clinic since 1989, when the previous owner had retired. She painted it orange because she wanted it to stand out proud, like it had on its best Sunday clothes. Vonita had grown up in Silver Grove, cinched tight in the Bible Belt, and her mama was a devout Baptist. When Vonita opened the clinic, the church here had contacted her mama to let her know what her wayward daughter was doing. *Vonita Jean*, her mother had said on the telephone, *don't tell me you're opening an abortion clinic*.

Then, Mama, don't ask me, Vonita had replied.

"How busy am I gonna be today?" Louie asked.

"Do I look like a crystal ball?"

"You look like the person who does the scheduling."

She grunted. "Well. I hope you ate a big breakfast today, 'cause it may also be your lunch."

Louie grinned. It would be busy; it was always busy. He'd already started his first case, in fact, a woman in her second trimester who needed her cervix softened before the procedure. She'd be the first and the last patient he saw that morning. The waiting room already had women in it who were here for their counseling sessions, who would come back tomorrow for their procedures. They came from Natchez and Tupelo and from around the corner. They came from Alligator and Satartia and Starkville and Wiggins. There were 48,000 square miles of Mississippi and this was the only clinic at which you could get an abortion. You might have to drive five hours to get there, and of course, you had to wait twenty-four hours between counseling and the procedure, which meant more travel expenses that many desperate women couldn't afford. Vonita had on speed dial the names of benefactors and organizations she could call when a woman showed up who didn't have money for lunch or bus fare home, much less a procedure. And then there were the women who had to be referred to other states. because the Center only performed abortions up to sixteen weeks.

Vonita was emptying one of the blessing bags that the protesters handed out to the patients, who often bewildered—turned them in at the reception desk. "I've got three sets of booties," she said, "but I'm holding out for a little hat." She glanced up. "You do the Cytotec?"

"I did indeed," Louie replied.

Vonita held up a little hand-printed card from the blessing bag. "Defund Planned Parenthood," she read. "You think they know we're not a Planned Parenthood?"

It was like using the word *Xerox* instead of *copy machine*. Plus, federal funds already were legally prohibited from being used for abortions. They covered

gynecological care; abortions were self-funding. In fact, they were the only procedure reproductive health services clinics offered that didn't operate at a loss.

If Planned Parenthood *was* defunded, it wouldn't stop abortions. Abortions would literally be the only things they could afford to do.

Sometimes Louie felt like they only existed in relation to the antis. If they all disappeared, would he go up in a puff of smoke? Could you stand for something if there wasn't an opposition?

He watched Vonita sweep the contents of the blessing bag into a trash can. "Ladies, who's waiting on labs?" A peppering of hands went up. Vonita pressed a button on her phone and summoned Harriet to come get the next wave of patients for their blood tests. She did this fluidly and seamlessly; it was like watching a conductor raise beauty from the discord of an orchestra.

"Hey, Vonita," Louie said, "you ever think about taking a vacation?"

She didn't even spare him a glance. "I'll take one when you do, Dr. Ward." The phone rang, and she answered it, already dismissing him. "Yes, honey," Vonita said. "You've got the right place."

_

IN A SMALL BANK OF chairs beside the lab, Joy sat with her earbuds firmly jammed into her ears, listening to her Disney playlist while the Cytotec did its work inside her. It would take a few hours before her cervix was soft enough to be dilated, which meant that she would be in the Center for a while, while other women came and went.

She shifted, slipping a crumpled picture out of her pocket. Yesterday, she had been one of a dozen women here for counseling, getting labs done and listening to Vonita walk through the forms required by the state and hearing Dr. Ward talk about the procedure. She had also been asked to give a urine sample, and had an ultrasound. A woman named Graciela had been the one who performed it; she had hair that reached past her hips, and even though her voice was soft, she was speaking by rote. "We are obligated to offer you the opportunity to listen to the fetal heartbeat and to see the sonogram," Graciela told her, and to Joy's surprise, she heard herself say yes. Then she started to sob. She cried for her own dumb luck, for her loneliness. She cried because even though she had taken every precaution possible, she had wound up—like her mother—boxed into bad choices because of a man.

Graciela had handed her a tissue and then squeezed her hands. "Are you sure you want to do this?" she asked, breaking from the script. Although she wasn't talking about the ultrasound, she put the wand back in its cradle.

"I'm sure," Joy said. But she didn't know if she believed it. Peeing on a stick was not seeing a fetus on a sonogram. "I want to see it," she told Graciela.

So Graciela squirted gel onto her swollen belly and ran the wand over her skin, and abracadabra, a silver fish swam onto the little screen. It morphed into a circle, a curve, then a fetal shape.

"Can I ..." Joy said, and then she swallowed. "Can I have a picture?"

"You bet," Graciela replied. She pushed a button, and a little printout curled from the machine. Black and white, in profile. She handed it to Joy.

"You must think I'm crazy," Joy murmured.

Graciela shook her head. "You'd be surprised how many women want one."

Joy had not known what to do with the ultrasound picture. She only knew she could not leave without it. She didn't want to fold it into her tiny wallet, and yesterday she had been wearing pants without pockets. So she had slipped it into her bra, over her heart. She told herself that when she got home later, she would crumple it up and throw it away.

She still had it with her today.

__

BETH FELT LIKE SHE WAS swimming up from the bottom of a deep pool, and every time she tried to see the runny yolk of the sun, it seemed to get farther away. Then suddenly she surfaced in a rush of noise and activity. She was dizzy and dry-mouthed when her eyes popped open. Where the hell was she?

She slipped a hand underneath the blanket that was covering her and touched her belly, then lower, to the bulk of a pad in her underwear. Awareness struck her, one drop at a time, until suddenly she was soaked in the truth: they had asked her if she was pregnant and she'd said no, and it didn't squeeze her heart to say it because it wasn't a lie. But still, they had done a urine test and a blood test and had rubbed an ultrasound wand over her belly, as if they didn't believe her. The last thing Beth remembered was looking up at the ugly fluorescent lights on the ceiling, and then she didn't remember anything at all.

She tried to speak, but she had to dig deeper to find her voice, and when it came out it didn't sound like hers at all. "Daddy?" she rasped.

Then he was leaning over her, his warm hands on her shoulder, her arm. "Hi, baby girl," he said. He smiled down at her, and she noticed the deep lines that bracketed his mouth, like a parenthetical statement of fear. His temples had brown age spots she had never seen before. When had he gotten old, and why hadn't she noticed?

"Where am I?"

He smoothed her hair away from her face. "You're at the hospital. You're going to be fine, honey. You just rest."

"What happened?"

He looked down at the floor. "You were ... losing a lot of blood. You needed a transfusion. Whatever it is, baby, we're going to get through this together."

Beth wished that could be true. She wished, in a crazy way, that the doctor would come back and tell her she had a rare and terrible cancer, because that would almost be easier to hear than the fact that she had disappointed her father.

He reached over, averting his eyes, tugging her hospital johnny more firmly behind her to tuck it in. "Don't need to give a free show," he murmured.

She had read somewhere that the victims of the Inquisition had been made to pay for their own punishments, their own imprisonment. To escape death, they had to offer up the names of others who did not believe Jesus Christ was God. Whether or not they were actually innocent had nothing to do with the process. Beth took a deep breath. "Daddy," she began, and just then the nurse came into the room.

She was round everywhere—cheeks, butt, boobs, belly—and she smelled like cinnamon. Beth remembered, hazily, that face leaning down over her own. *I'm Jayla, I'm your nurse, and I'm going to take care of you, understand?* "It's about time," her father said. "It can't be normal, that much blood, from ... there. Is my daughter going to be all right?"

Jayla looked from Beth to her father. "Maybe I could talk to Beth privately?"

That was the instant that Beth understood her Day of Judgment had come, her moment before the Grand Inquisitor. But her father didn't know this, and so he interpreted her sudden stiffness as fear instead of fatalism. "You can talk to us both. She's only seventeen." Her father gripped her hand, as if he could be the strength for whatever bad news was about to be delivered.

Was it Beth's imagination, or did Jayla's eyes soften as they met hers, as if she could couch the impact of her words? "Beth, your tests came back. Did you know you were pregnant?"

"No," she whispered—a syllable that was maybe a lie and maybe a denial of what was surely about to happen.

Beth could not look her father in her eye. He lifted her hand, and for a breathless moment she thought that she had been wrong about him, that he would stand by her or forgive her or both. But instead he tugged until she could feel his thumb rubbing over the thin ridge of the silver promise ring he had bought her for her fourteenth birthday, the one that was supposed to signify that she'd stay pure until her wedding night. "Are you ... did you ...?"

The nurse murmured something and slipped out through the curtains of the cubicle. Beth hardly even noticed. She was somewhere else—behind a playing field, under the bleachers, with stars overhead that spelled out the answers to questions she was afraid to ask out loud: Should I ...? What if he ...? Could this be ...?

Yes. Yes. Yes.

For one night, she had been worshipped. A boy had lit fires inside her in places she had not known could burn. He had prayed with his hands and his mouth and his promises, and she had made a single mistake: she had put her faith in him. Even after everything he had done, she had turned the memory of that night over and over in her mind until it was so smooth and polished it was no longer an irritating grain of sand, but a pearl.

She *had* to see it that way, because if it wasn't rare and special, then she was an even greater fool.

But her father wouldn't think that. She had believed that nothing could ever hurt more than the moment she realized John Smith was not a real name, that she had willingly given away something she could never get back—not just her virginity, but her pride. But this, this cut more deeply—the look on her father's face when he realized Beth was damaged goods. "Please, Daddy," she begged. "It wasn't my fault—"

He seized on that escape hatch. "Then who did this to you? Who hurt you?"

She pictured John's lips grazing the inside of her thigh, his mouth closing over her. "No one," she said softly.

Her father clenched his fists. "I'll kill him. I will *kill* him for laying a hand on you." His words were full of angles and edges. "Who. Is. He."

For a moment, Beth almost laughed. *Good luck finding him*, she thought. But instead of directing her fury at whoever John Smith was, she turned the full force of her blaze on her father instead. "This is why I couldn't tell you." Her own voice scared her with its true and perfect aim. "It's why I went to the clinic in the first place. Because I *knew* you'd be like this."

Her anger shook the curtains. Her fingernails bit into her own palms. She was a hydra. Her father had cut her down, and something twice as strong had grown in its place.

Somewhere, distantly, Beth realized that it had not been sleeping with a boy that had made her a woman. It was not even the pregnancy, or trying to remove it. It was this: being forcibly treated like a child, when she wasn't one. Her father stared at her. "I don't even know who you are," he said softly, and then he turned on his heel and left.

Janine knew part of the disguise of being a woman who wanted an abortion involved fooling her own tribe. She and Allen had talked about this, how it was safer, how it was almost a quality control checkpoint before she entered the Center. If she could get by the other pro-life activists with her blond wig and her hoodie pulled up to shadow her face, then she could likely convince the employees inside. Plus, if she walked past everyone and they didn't call out to her the way they would any other woman, it might look suspicious.

So the only person who knew who she was, as she walked for the first time on the other side of the fence, was Allen. He met her gaze and then turned away to talk to another activist. Meanwhile, the others began trying to get her attention. She knew that the Center considered this harassment, but honestly, it was good citizenship—if you saw a murder in progress, wouldn't you stop it?

"Good morning," Ethel said, stretching her hand over the fence with a little pink bag dangling from her fingers. "Can I offer you a gift?"

Janine felt her heart pound. She couldn't speak; what if Ethel recognized her voice? Instead she reached out and snatched the blessing bag. "You don't have to go through with this," Ethel said triumphantly. Janine knew why—if you could actually get one of the women to *take* a bag, you had already gotten into her head. "We can help!"

Turning away, Janine rang the buzzer at the Center's front door, and two seconds later she heard the buzz that would let her enter. There were maybe ten other women sitting in the waiting room—young and old, calm and jittery, black and white. The woman at the reception desk

had a name tag, VONITA. Janine gave her alias—Fiona—and watched Vonita highlight her name on a list. Then she checked her watch. "You're the last one," she said. "Let's get you in for a quick lab test and you can do the ultrasound after counseling, so we don't hold up the process. It means you'll have to stay afterward, but only for a few minutes. Sound good?"

But Janine said nothing. She had expected the nerves that would make it difficult to be a spy. She had not expected the PTSD, the sudden wave that knocked her off her feet and made her see not this clinic owner and this reception desk, but one she'd visited long ago in a different state.

"I'm gonna take that as a yes," Vonita said, smiling. She patted Janine's hand. "I know you're nervous, but I promise you, we'll get you through."

Janine was whisked into the back to have her blood tested for her Rh type, and to give a urine sample. Janine's was in her purse in a little baby food jar. Allen had gotten it from someone who knew someone who was pregnant, and she hadn't asked any questions. In the bathroom, she poured it from the jar into the specimen cup.

When she entered the waiting room, Vonita was just starting the counseling session. She sat down between a woman whose eyes were so heavy-lidded she might have been asleep, and a woman who was taking notes diligently in a spiral notebook. "I run this clinic," Vonita was saying, "and I am glad you've found your way to us. Now, we're gonna spend a few moments together, and then the doctor is going to come talk to you as a group, and then you're going to have a chance to meet one-on-one with him."

As she spoke, she walked around the semicircle of seating, handing out clipboards with paperwork. "All of you have a file, yes? On the top is a prescription for

azithromycin, which is given to you prophylactically so you don't get any type of infection. I need you to get that filled and bring it with you when you return for your procedure." She looked around, making eye contact with each woman to make sure they understood.

"The sheet underneath that prescription is what we're going to work on first. It's your twenty-four-hour informed consent. Mississippi law says that you can have an abortion twenty-four hours after completing this counseling session. This form signifies that you have made two visits, the first one being today. We're going to fill out the areas marked with *X*'s to document that you're here for your first visit. So. Take your pens, and let's all do this together."

Janine blindly followed the instructions, making up a fake address for her fake persona, and scribbling the date and a signature. The woman beside Janine who was taking notes held up her hand. "What about the time?"

"Dr. Ward will fill that part out for you when you meet with him." Vonita held up a fan made of brightly colored pamphlets. "These are booklets that the Department of Health requires us to give to our patients. This first one gives alternatives to abortion, like programs for unwed mothers and licensed maternity homes and adoption information, and it tells you where the health departments are located all over the state. The second booklet shows you how a fetus develops from beginning to end of a pregnancy. The third booklet tells you what your risks are when you have an abortion, as well as when you have a baby. And the last one is my favorite. It's about contraception." Everyone but Janine laughed. "Today is the day you need to decide what kind of contraception you'd like to have when you leave here."

This surprised Janine; she had known that the Center was a murder factory, but not that they also tried to *prevent* pregnancies. She pressed down so hard on her mechanical pencil that the lead broke.

"Now, please sign and date on the form to acknowledge you were given these materials." There was a tired thread in Vonita's voice, as if this were a script she had memorized long ago. "The second portion of this page will be filled out when you come back. You'll have to reaffirm your decision by signing again. Any questions yet?"

A few women shook their heads. The others just sat in silence.

"We do two types of abortions here at the Center," Vonita said, and Janine leaned forward on the edge of her chair. "There's the surgical abortion, which the doctor performs; and there is the pill—the medical abortion—which is an option if you are ten weeks pregnant or less."

"Which one's the fastest?" a woman blurted out.

"Girl," Vonita chided gently, "I'm getting to that! If you decide to have a surgical abortion, you'll be here for three to four hours, although the surgery itself is less than five minutes from the time you go into the operating room till the time you come out. You recover for about a half hour and then our nurse will give you discharge information—both verbally and in writing about how to take care of yourself, along with a phone number to call for emergencies, and a date to return for a checkup. Surgery patients, if you return for a checkup, it's fifteen dollars for the pregnancy test, and thirty dollars if you see the doctor. What I suggest you consider is you give yourself three weeks, then go to your regular physician for a checkup; and you get a pregnancy test from the pharmacy and do it yourself. You should have a light line or a clear result, and if you do, you can go on your birth control method."

A young woman with beads in her hair that sang asked, "Does it ... hurt?" Everyone perked up, listening carefully for the answer.

Yes, Janine thought. She felt herself sinking backward into the darkest corner of her mind, the vault where she kept the memory of her own procedure. It hurt in all sorts of places, when you least expected it.

"There is some discomfort," Vonita answered. "We suggest that you take deep breaths, in and out. There will be a nurse in the room to help you get through the process. It's doable, that's what I can tell you, but it's also not a garden party." She surveyed the group. "Now, pill patients, when you come in you will be here for an hour and a half. You'll be in a room like this, a few of you at a time. The doctor will give you the first pill, which stops your pregnancy from growing and tells your body and your brain that you're about to abort. Then he will send you home with four pills in a little package. Twenty-four hours after you've taken the first pill here at the Center, you are eligible to take those other four pills. There's a window, so if you're at work at noon the next day, stay at work and then take the pills when you get home. You'll bleed for about three weeks; it takes that long for your hormone level to go back to its natural state, and after that you come for your checkup."

"Which one do you recommend?"

"Only you can decide," Vonita said. "If you ten weeks along or less and are eligible for the pills, you get to avoid surgery. But surgery is over and done more quickly than the pill procedure. So really it is up to you."

Janine found herself thinking of her brother, Ben. He lived in a group home now, and he bagged groceries for a living. He had a Down syndrome girlfriend he took out to dinner and a movie every Friday night. He was obsessed with *Stranger Things*. He had the same Sara Lee pound cake every night for his dessert. He was happy. On the other hand, was she? She had devoted her livelihood to saving innocent babies, but was that out of faith or guilt? She glanced around the room and wondered how many of these women would have their

abortions and feel like a burden had been lifted; and how many, like her, would let it govern the rest of their lives. But she said none of this.

She forced her attention to Vonita again. "Now, after I finish up talking, the doctor is going to come out here and talk to you as a group. He's going to explain exactly what he does in the surgery and exactly how he administers the pill. If you have any questions, you can ask him at that time. If you have any private questions, you can ask him after that, during the individual session he has with you. During that time, he will say what the law requires him to say to you. He'll review your ultrasound and your medical history and he'll sign off on your paperwork. Then you'll go to the reception desk, and schedule when you're coming back. I'll tell you how much you owe and who your doctor is going to be the day you return." She tidied the stack of paperwork on her lap. "Ouestions?"

How do you do it? Janine thought. How do you counsel this, when you know they will leave here completely different women than they arrived?

She looked around at the other women. *How can I save all their babies?*

How can I tell them that the decision they make today might not feel right tomorrow?

But she said none of this.

"Can I work the next day?" someone asked.

"Yes," Vonita assured her. "Do you need a doctor's note for an absence today?"

"No, ma'am."

Vonita nodded. She looked around the room. "We hope you are not here because anyone has forced you to come. We are required to tell you that you do not have to go through with this procedure if you don't want to."

From beneath lowered lashes, Janine held her breath.

What if she stood up now, and said she was making a mistake? What if she blew her cover and told these women that they needed to think of their unborn children? What if she became their voice?

But she did not, and no woman wavered.

_

IZZY WAS STUCK IN TRAFFIC at a construction zone, so by the time she got to the Center, the trip had taken a half hour longer than it should have. She parked lopsided and grabbed her purse and locked the doors to the car as she was running up the path that led to the Center's front door. She didn't even hear the protesters, that's how *frazzled* she was.

When she was buzzed inside, a man in scrubs was just settling down in a cluster of women, starting to speak. The woman at the front desk took one look at Izzy and started to laugh. "Sugar," she said, "take a deep breath. What can I do for you?"

Izzy did. "I am so sorry I'm late," she began, and she realized that could be interpreted in so many different ways, and that they would all be right.

LOUIE CALLED IT THE LAW of Three. Most of what he told these ladies had also been said by Miss Vonita, and he would repeat it to them yet again in the individual doctor-patient sessions that followed. But he also knew that these women were too shell-shocked to be absorbing even a fraction of the information, which is why, by the third time, he hoped that it had sunk in.

There were eleven women in front of him: seven black, two white, two brown. He paid attention to the race of those who came to the Center because for him, the politics of abortion had so much in common with the politics of racism. As an African American male, he could imagine quite easily what was like to not have jurisdiction over your body. White men had once owned black men's bodies. Now, white men wanted to own women's bodies.

"I am obligated by the state to tell you some things that are not medically true," Louie said. "I am obligated to tell you that having an abortion increases your risk for breast cancer, even though there is no evidence to support that." He thought back, as he always did, to the patient he had treated once who had breast cancer, and who had terminated her pregnancy so that she could pursue treatment. *My risk of getting breast cancer is zero*, she had said flatly, *since I already have it*.

"I am obligated by the state," he continued, "to tell you that with abortion, there are risks of injury to your bowel, bladder, uterus, fallopian tubes, and ovaries; and that if you have injury to your uterus that's severe enough, we might have to remove your uterus, which is called a hysterectomy. But guess what? Those are the exact same risks that you'll have if you give birth to a baby. In fact, you're more likely to have those risks giving birth to a child than having an abortion. Now. Y'all got questions for me?"

A woman's hand crept up tentatively. "I heard you use knives and scissors to cut up the babies."

Louie heard this at least every other counseling session. One of the things he wished he could tell women who wanted abortions was to never, ever Google the word. He shook his head. "There are no knives, no scissors, no scalpels." He made sure to correct her use of the term *babies* as gently as possible. "If patients wish to see the *tissue* after it's removed, they can. And it is disposed of in with respect, in an appropriate legal way."

She nodded, satisfied. Not for the first time, Louie was amazed that a woman who believed nonsense like this would still be brave enough to schedule an appointment.

He looked into the eyes of each of the women. Warriors, every one of them. Every day, he was reminded of their grit, their courage in the face of obstacles, the quiet grace with which they shouldered their troubles. They were stronger than any men he'd ever known. For sure, they were stronger than the male politicians who were so terrified of them that they designed laws specifically to keep women down. Louie shook his head. As if that could ever be done. If he had learned anything during his years as an abortion doctor, it was this: there was nothing on God's green earth that would stop a woman who didn't want to be pregnant.

There was a stuffed lobster on George's daughter's bed. It was red and wore a little white hat like a Victorian baby, and he had won it for Lil at a church fair. He sat in her room, the way he used to every night when he tucked her in, before she told him she could read her *own* books, thank you very much. She had been seven at the time. He remembered laughing about it with Pastor Mike. He didn't find it funny now. In retrospect, it seemed like the first step on a path that would ultimately take her so far away from him he couldn't even see her in the distance.

She had wanted that lobster so bad that he'd paid more than thirty dollars to a huckster to get three baseballs he could pitch into rusty milk cans. The first time he won, he was handed a little stuffed snake the size of a pencil. Damn bait and switch. But Lil had been next to him, clapping every time he got one in, and so he'd traded up until he got to the stuffed animal of her choice. The fact that she still had it after all these years was a testament, he supposed, to what it meant to her.

Or maybe she hadn't wanted to let go of her childhood any more than he did.

When she was little, every Saturday morning in the summertime they'd drive out in his truck to get crawfish. Lil would curl up next to him on the bench seat, her legs dangling and kicking because her feet were nowhere close to hitting the floor-happy feet, he'd call them. There was a creek that was shallow enough even for a five-year-old, and he and Lil would grab a bucket from the backseat, take off their shoes and socks, and wade in. He taught her how to find the rocks that would make good hiding spots. If you lifted the stones too fast, you would startle the crawfish and stir up the mud so they scurried away. If you lifted the stones slow, you would be able to surprise the crawfish. You could pick it up with your hands then, minding the pincers. If they had a good day hunting, Lil would help him boil them in a broth made of onions, lemon, and garlic. They'd eat them with potatoes and corn on the cob, until they fell asleep in the lazy slant of the afternoon, bellies full and fingers still slick with butter.

Once, Lil had lifted one of the crawfish to find rows of little red eggs stuck underneath her tail. *Daddy*, she had asked, *what's wrong with her?*

She's gonna have babies, George had explained. So we have to put her back, and let her do just that. You don't mess with a mama, Lil. She belongs with her babies.

Lil had been quiet for a moment. *Daddy*, she'd asked. *Who messed with* my *mama?*

He had scooped his girl up and out of the water. Let's get home before the crawdads get out of that pail, he'd said. Because he couldn't very well tell her, *I did*.

Now, he lifted the pistol that was cradled in his lap and stood. As he did, the paper he had found on her bedside table fluttered to the floor. He stepped on it as he left the room, his heel landing square across the heading at the top. *Medication Abortion authorization and Informed Consent*, it read. *The Center for Women's Health, Jackson*.

Eight a.m.



WITH A FLOURISH, WREN SET THE PLATE DOWN in front of her father: a fried egg, and a drippy candle stuck into a smile of melon. "Happy birthday to you," she finished singing. "By the way, that would have been way better if I had a sibling. Harmony sucks when you're an only."

"You're overestimating your singing ability," her dad grunted.

She laughed. "Someone's feeling grumpy."

"Someone's feeling old as hell."

She sat down across from him. "Forty is the new twenty," she told him.

"Says who?"

"Me," she sighed. "I told you you never listen."

He smirked and took a bite of his egg. She didn't have to look at his face to know that it was perfectly cooked. Her dad had been the one to teach her to fry one correctly. The way to ruin an egg was to not be patient, and to heat the pan too fast, which would make it stick to the pan. You had to be slow, methodical, deliberate. Wren had lost track of how many times her father had come into the kitchen when she was making breakfast and would automatically turn the flame down. But, as much as it pained her to admit it, he knew his shit. The eggs she cooked were works of art.

She folded her arms and rested her chin on her them. "So I've been saving this one for today," she said, and immediately he perked up. For as long as she could remember, they traded facts, mostly about astronomy—which her father had introduced her to so long ago she couldn't remember not being able to pick out constellations like Andromeda and Cassiopeia and Perseus and Pegasus. "Astronomers have found a massive star that exploded in 2014 ... and again in 1954."

Her father's eyebrows shot up. "Twice?"

She nodded. "It's a supernova that refuses to die. It's five hundred million light-years away, near Big Bear. Usually supernovas fade over a hundred days, right? This one is still going strong after a *thousand*."

Her dad had taught her that stars needed fuel, like anything else that burned. When they started to run out of hydrogen, they cooled, changing color to become red giants, like Betelgeuse. But *this* star had defied the odds.

"That is an excellent birthday fact." He grinned. "What's on the agenda today?"

She shrugged. "I'm going to check on my meth lab, wire a million to my offshore account, and have lunch with Beyoncé."

"Give her my best," her father said. He ate his last bite of the egg. "Do you know how few people can cook a perfect egg?"

"Yes, because you tell me at least twice a week. I have to go or I'll miss the bus." She circled the table and kissed his cheek, breathing in the familiar smell of starch from his uniform shirt and bay rum from his aftershave. Wren thought that if she ever wound up in a coma, all the doctors would have to do was wave that combination of scents under her nose, and surely she would wake. She stood up and reached for her knapsack on the counter, but before she could get it, her father grabbed her arm.

"What aren't you telling me?" he asked, narrowing his eyes.

She forced herself to meet his eyes. "What?"

"Come on. I'm a detective."

Wren danced away from him. "I have no idea what you're talking about," she said.

Her father shook his head, smiling. "Never let it be said I spoiled a birthday surprise."

Wren walked halfway to the bus stop at the end of the street before she let out the breath she was holding. How had he known?

She wasn't hiding a birthday surprise. She was going to get birth control today, at the Center. She was cutting health class to do it, which felt somehow karmic. Wren thought of how she and Ryan had talked about this: whether it made sense to use condoms, if their safety rate was good enough, how if Wren got contraception, she would do it without having to tell her father. That much she and Ryan agreed upon. Ryan didn't relish the thought of her detective father, with his standard-issue Glock, finding out that his daughter was sleeping with him.

Wren knew there were girls who were so unromantic they had sex because they wanted to get it over with. There were others who were so starry-eyed they truly believed that the guy they had sex with the first time would be their one and only. Wren was caught somewhere on the spectrum between the two. She wanted to have sex for the first time with someone she could laugh with, if things got weird or didn't work. But she also knew there was more to it than that. She knew your first time could only happen once. There were so many memories that you didn't get to pick-like being the only kid in her class who wrote a Mother's Day card to her aunt, or turning seventy shades of red when she had to explain to her father that the reason she'd called him from the nurse's office wasn't that she had the flu, but that she had gotten her period. Given that, shouldn't you get to choose *this* memory, and make it perfect?

The bus pulled up to the curb, exhaling heavily as its doors swung open. She picked her way through the rows, past the jocks and the brains and the theater nerds, and slid into a blessedly empty row. She pressed her cheek to the cool glass. The next time she rode this bus, she would be taking the Pill. She wondered how many other girls on the bus were. She wondered who was having sex, if they all felt as swollen with that secret as she did.

One day she would tell her father that she wasn't a virgin. Like, when she was married and thirty and having a baby.

As the bus chugged toward the school, Wren thought maybe this was a birthday gift to her father, after all. He got to think she belonged only to him, for a little while longer.

_

Hugh was forty, and he felt every fucking minute of it. He flattened his hands on the table, bracketing the plate of breakfast Wren had made him, which he had scraped clean. You'd think that things would be different, that there would be an invisible line between yesterday and today to mark the fact that he was this old, but no. He was still headed to the same precinct he'd been at since he became a cop. He was still a single parent. The table still had one wobbly leg that he hadn't managed to fix. The only new thing was silver in his beard stubble, which frankly he could have lived without.

He supposed that this was the age that men began to wonder if they were doing anything that would leave a mark on the world. If he died today, what would be said at his funeral? Sure, he had made a difference in the lives of individuals given his career. And he would not have traded a moment of his time with Wren. But he wasn't a genius. He wouldn't invent something that eliminated fossil fuels or allowed for time travel. He'd never negotiate world peace. He supposed if every individual

man did his best, then the greater balance tipped toward good rather than evil, but that didn't keep the individual daily chain of one's life from feeling, well, mundane.

Plus, dammit, his back hurt after he'd been on his feet all day in a way it never used to.

He feared—although he would never admit this to anyone—that this was the crest, the pinnacle. That the rest of his life would be a slow march down the hill; that he had already experienced the best of what was coming to him. What was getting old, anyway, except dragging your feet toward the inevitable?

He was saved from skating further down this morbid path of thought by the buzzing of his cellphone. Bex's face popped onto the screen, and he smiled, shaking his head. "Happy birthday to you," she sang, as soon as he answered. "Happy birthday to you!"

He let her finish her off-key rendition. "I think I know who Wren gets her dubious singing ability from," he said.

"Because it's your birthday," his sister said, "I'm going to let that slide."

Hugh had three siblings, but he was the accident, born ten years after his youngest brother. He was closest to Bex, even though she was the oldest. "How come you're the only one of my brothers and sisters that remembers my birthday without fail?"

"Because I'm the best one," Bex said.

"And the most humble," he added. He scratched his neck. "Tell me, does it go away?"

"What?"

"This feeling that it's the beginning of the end."

She laughed. "Hugh, I'd give anything to be forty again. You must think I have one foot in the grave."

She was fourteen years his senior, but he never thought of her that way. "You're not old."

"Then neither are you," she said. "What are you doing to mark this festive occasion?"

"Protecting and serving."

"Well, that's depressing. You should be doing something extraordinary. Like taking a salsa lesson. Or going skydiving."

"Yeah," Hugh said. "I don't think so."

"Where's your sense of adventure?"

"Tied to a paycheck," Hugh said. "Today's just like any other day."

"Maybe you'll be wrong," Bex replied. "Maybe today will be unforgettable."

He carried his empty plate to the sink, ran water over it, like he did every morning. He grabbed his badge and his car keys. "Maybe," Hugh said.

_

EVERY MORNING JANINE WOKE UP and said a prayer for the child she didn't have. She knew that there were plenty of people who wouldn't understand, or who would call her a hypocrite. Maybe she was. But to her, that just meant she had something to make up for, and this was how she was going to do it.

She padded into the bathroom and brushed her teeth. There were anti-lifers who would rather cut off their arms than change their opinions. But she *could* try to make people like that understand how she felt:

Start with the sentence *The unborn baby is a person*. Replace the words *unborn baby* with the words *immigrant*. *African American*. *Trans woman*. *Jew. Muslim*.

That visceral *yes* that swelled through them when they said that sentence out loud? That was exactly how Janine felt about being pro-life. There were so many organizations set up to combat racism, sexism, homelessness, mental illness, homophobia. Why shouldn't there be one to fight for the tiniest humans, who were the most in need of protection?

Janine knew she would never be able to convince everyone to believe what she did. But if she changed the mind of even one pregnant woman—well, wasn't that a start?

She reached for the wig that she had propped over the neck of a shampoo bottle last night. Inclining her head, she slipped it on, fitting it tightly against her scalp. Then she looked in the mirror.

Janine grinned. She didn't look half bad as a blonde.

OLIVE LAY ON HER SIDE, watching Peg sleep. There was so much she did for her wife that Peg did not acknowledge. The first cup of coffee that was always too bitter? Olive took it. The floor was a mess? Olive vacuumed while Peg went for her morning run. The sheets on the bed that were fresh every Sunday? Didn't change themselves. Olive had done these things because she loved Peg. But now, she could see into the future. A year from now, Peg would spit out her coffee, wade through tufts of dust bunnies, sleep in sheets that were never washed.

Maybe they would smell faintly of Olive.

The truth was, for years now, Olive had been unable to imagine a world without Peg in it. Peg was about to have to imagine a world without her.

Peg's eyes opened. She saw Olive staring and snuggled closer into her arms. "What are you thinking about?" she murmured.

Olive felt her throat tightening in the grip of the secret she held, and it felt wrong, unnatural. "I'm thinking," she said finally, honestly, "about how much I'll miss you."

Peg smiled, closing her eyes. "And where exactly are you going?"

Olive opened her mouth and then hesitated. She might have to count time, but she didn't need to start the clock yet. She pulled Peg into her arms. "Absolutely nowhere," she said.

JOY DID NOT REMEMBER HER dreams, as a rule. This came, she was certain, from sleeping with one eye open at foster homes, to make sure that another kid wasn't stealing something that belonged to her—a book, a candy bar, her body. Yet months ago, the night before Joy had taken a pregnancy test, she'd imagined that she had baby, wrapped in a blue blanket.

She'd had the same dream last night.

Her alarm had awakened her—another anomaly; normally she woke up at least five minutes before it went off. But she couldn't be late today. So she had showered quickly, only to realize that her razor was broken. She did not eat—she'd been told not to—and since she was not supposed to drive herself home, she called for an Uber.

Her driver had pictures of his children stuck to the dashboard of his Kia. "Going to be a hot one today," he said as they pulled away from the curb, and she silently cursed. She didn't want a chatty driver. She wanted one who was mute, preferably.

"I guess," she said.

He glanced into the rearview mirror. "You in town for the convention?"

She imagined this. What if there was a convention of unhappily pregnant women? What if they filled an entire conference hall? What if there were breakout sessions for Self-Doubt and Stupid Choices? Or a sitting area where you could cry, and a soundproof room where you could curse as loud as you wanted at a man, at your rotten luck, at God?

What if there was a keynote, with a motivational speaker who could truly convince you that tomorrow was going to be better than yesterday?

Scratch that. It wasn't the pregnant women who needed a convention to educate them. It was the people who were rushing the gates, telling women like Joy she was going to hell.

"So you're not a dentist?" the driver said.

"What?"

"The convention."

"Oh," Joy said. "No."

She had entered the Center's address into her Uber app but now she wanted to get out of the car. She wanted to walk. She needed to be alone.

"Can you pull over here?" she asked.

"Everything okay?" The driver slowed and put on his blinker, rolling to a stop.

"Yeah. I just need to ... This is great. I got the address wrong," she lied. Never mind that they were literally beside a parking lot with a defunct video store that was boarded up. "It's just around the corner."

"Okay then," the driver said.

Joy started walking. She felt the sun on the crown of her head; it might have been a blessing. She could hear the car rolling along behind her, slowly crunching the gravel on the side of the road. *Pass me*, she thought. *Jesus Christ*, *leave already*.

The Kia pulled up beside her, and the driver rolled down the window. Joy felt like crying. Why today, of all days, did she have to get the Uber guy with a conscience? "Ma'am," he said, "you forgot this."

She came closer and saw that he was holding up the blue blanket that had been in two of her dreams. It had not been in the backseat with her.

Joy blinked at it. "That doesn't belong to me," she said, and she kept going.

_

IZZY WAS YAWNING AS SHE drove. She hated night shifts, and she had worked long enough as a nurse in the ER at Baptist Memorial to be able to avoid them. But she had willingly swapped with a colleague, Jayla, because she had to take the next two days off.

She had already been on the road an hour and a half, and she had another hour left, and she knew this because she had Googled it multiple times, as if the answer might change. But still, rather than leaving Oxford at six A.M. as she had intended, when her shift ended she had taken the elevator up to the birthing pavilion.

Nobody had stopped her from going into the nursery; she had her ID clipped right to her scrubs. To her surprise, though, there had been only a single baby. It was a little boy, swaddled in a blue blanket. He had a name card: Levon Monelle. One tiny fist had punched the air, and his mouth had been wide open. Izzy had watched him cry and flail around a little bit, and then through some miracle of guidance, his hand had landed on his lips and he'd started to suckle.

You were never too young to learn to be self-sufficient.

She had stroked a finger down the tight mummied wrap of his little body. Was it dishonest to not tell Parker she was pregnant? Or would it be worse to tell him, and then break up with him?

Izzy had grown up with her face pressed so hard against reality that it was impossible for her to believe in mythical creatures: fairies and unicorns and men who cared more about Izzy's future with them than about her past. She had tried to picture herself in Parker's world, learning how to ski and spending fifty bucks at a movie on seats and popcorn and sodas without feeling guilty. But if she became that woman, she wouldn't be Izzy anymore. And wasn't that who he had fallen in love with?

It was better this way. Parker would never know. He wouldn't be forced to stay with her out of some misguided sense of honor or chivalry. Once he had space and time to think it over, once he settled down with someone more *like* him, he would realize she had done him a favor. Someone who had grown up getting by day to day just didn't have the resources to dream about the future.

When Izzy had left the little room, she'd stopped at the nurses' desk. "How come there aren't more babies?"

The nurse had looked at her like she was crazy. "They're in the rooms with their mamas."

Izzy had felt like an idiot. Of course they were. Even now as she drove she wondered about Levon's mother. Had she needed to get a good night's sleep? Was she sick? Was *he*?

Izzy was afraid the answer was also something any vaguely maternal female knew, which was why she hadn't asked the L & D nurse. If she needed confirmation that she was making the right choice, she'd received it.

The GPS on her phone told her that in two miles, she would be turning right. She put on her signal, following

the directions carefully because she was not familiar with the roads in Jackson, Mississippi. But even with her detour to the nursery, Izzy knew she would be fine. Barring unforeseen traffic, she would reach the Center in plenty of time for the first appointment of her abortion.

_

You had to get up ridiculously early in Atlanta to get to Mississippi by eight A.M., but Louie preferred sleeping in his own bed to sleeping in a hotel. He spend so many days of the month jetting to Kentucky and Alabama and Texas and Mississippi and other states where abortion clinics were being shut down left and right, that when he could pull up his own covers and rest his head on his own pillow, he moved heaven and earth to make it happen.

He was in Mississippi four times a month to provide abortion services, as were three other colleagues who rotated coverage, flying in from Chicago Washington, D.C. Louie had known that working in the Deep South as an abortion provider was challenging, say, than working on the East Coast. The biggest difference between the North and the South was not the weather or the food or even the people—it was religion. Here, religion was as much of the atmosphere as carbon dioxide. You had to offer folks a chance to be pro-choice not in spite of their faith, but because of it.

Louie liked routine, and he adhered to it whenever possible. He knew the flight attendants by name, and always reserved his favorite seat (6B). He drank coffee, black, and he ate a Kind bar and a yogurt that he packed from home. He used the time on the plane to catch up on medical journal articles.

Today he was reading the research of a team from Northwestern University, who had recorded a zinc flash at the precise instant a sperm fertilized an egg. A rush of calcium at that moment caused zinc to be released from the egg. As the zinc burst out, it attached itself to small, fluorescent molecules: the spark that was picked up by camera microscopes.

Although this had been seen before in mice, it was the first time in humans. More important, certain eggs glowed a little brighter than others at the moment of conception—the same ones that went on to become healthy embryos. Given that 50 percent of eggs fertilized in vitro weren't viable, and that often it came down to a clinician guessing which one *looked* the healthiest—the implications of the study were significant. The correct embryo to transfer was the one that had burned the brightest at the moment of fertilization.

"Then God said, Let there be light," Louie murmured to himself. He shook his head in wonder. Those infinitesimal bits of zinc determined whether an egg would become a completely new genetic entity. Science never failed to humble him, just as much as his faith, and he unequivocally believed that the two could exist side by side.

As a resident, he'd sat with his share of terminal patients, and what you heard was true: people who were dying talked of a tunnel, with a warm glow at the end.

It stood to reason that both life and death began with a spark of light.

Louie was so absorbed in the article that the jolt of the plane hitting the runway startled him. He gathered up his reading material and waited for the seat belt sign to go off. Then he stood up and pulled his suitcase down from the overhead bin. He traveled only with a carry-on, preferring to keep extra clothes in Vonita's office just in case.

He said goodbye to Courtney, the flight attendant, and turned left when he entered the terminal. He knew this airport by rote: when TSA PreCheck got busy, at which gate he could find Starbucks, where the men's rooms were. He knew exactly how long it would take for him to get his rental car and drive to the Center.

And as always, because he was on such a predictable schedule, his welcome committee was waiting for him when he arrived.

One of the regular protesters at the clinic met Louie at the airport without fail, waiting at the base of the stairs near baggage claim, which was the only route to the rental car agencies. Louie liked to think of the dude as Allen the Anti. He held a hand-lettered sign that said LOUIS WARD MURDERS BABIES. Louie didn't know what pissed him off more: that the man was as regular as clockwork, or that he misspelled Louie's name.

Allen was standing, as usual, with his sign. Louie never engaged. He knew better. But this time, the sign was spelled right. It was enough to cause Louie to slow his gait. "Dr. Ward," Allen said, smiling. "Good flight?"

He stopped. "It's Allen, right?"

"Yes, sir," the man said.

Louie glanced at his watch. "What do you say we grab a bite to eat?"

He had fifteen minutes of slush time because his flight had come in a touch early. And he felt safe in the airport, surrounded by people. Maybe it was possible to walk in another person's shoes, without trampling his steps.

Allen tucked his sign beneath his arm and they walked back up the stairs to McDonald's, where Louie treated the protester to a Big Breakfast and coffee and then sat down across from him at a table in full view of anyone passing by to get to the ticket counter. "Can I ask you why you meet me here?" he asked.

Allen swallowed and smiled. "I want to shut down that murder factory you work in," he said, as easily as he might say, *It's been a really warm fall so far*.

"Murder factory," Louie repeated, turning the phrase over in his mouth. "How long should the women in my care go to jail for their offense?"

"Hate the sin, not the sinner," he said.

"Unless the sinner is me, right?" Louie clarified. "So if you could, you'd ban all abortions?"

"Ideally."

"Even in cases of rape and incest?"

Allen shrugged. "Really, how big a percentage is that?"

"You didn't answer my question," Louie pressed.

"You didn't answer mine," Allen countered. "And even if it's one of those rare circumstances, that doesn't mean you're not committing homicide."

Louie thought of the sac he removed during an early abortion. It was tissue that didn't feel pain or have thought or sensation. To him it was potential. To Allen, it was a person. And yet who would argue that there was no difference in the moral implication of chopping down a hundred-year-old oak tree versus stepping on an acorn?

Allen took a mouthful of eggs. Yet another life potential squandered, Louie thought. "You know, I consider myself pro-life. I just happen to be pro-the-life-of-the-woman. I'd call you pro-birth."

"I could call you pro-abortion," Allen said.

"No one is forcing women to have abortions if they don't ask for them. It's the difference between supporting free will and negating free will."

Allen leaned back in his chair. "I don't think you and I are ever going to be on the same page on that."

"Probably not. But maybe we can agree to neutralize the public space around policy making. We're all entitled to our religious beliefs, right?" Warily, Allen nodded.

"But we can't make policies based on religion when religion means different things to different people. Which leaves science. The science of reproduction is what it is. Conception is conception. You can decide the ethical value that has for you, based on your own relationship with God ... but the *policies* around basic human rights with regard to reproduction shouldn't be up for interpretation."

Louie watched Allen's eyes glaze with confusion. "Do you have a daughter, Allen?"

"I do."

"How old?"

"Twelve."

"What would you do if she got pregnant now?"

Allen's face flushed. "Your side always tries to do that—"

"I'm not *trying* to do anything. I'm asking you to apply your dogma personally."

"I would counsel her. I would take her to our pastor. And I would be confident," Allen said, "that she would make the right choice."

"I don't disagree with you," Louie said.

Allen blinked. "You don't?"

"No. Your religion *should* help you make the decision if you find yourself in that situation. But the policy should exist for you to have the right to make it in the first place. When you say you can't do something because your religion forbids it, that's a good thing. When you say *I* can't don't something because *your* religion forbids it, that's a problem." Louie glanced at his watch. "Duty calls."

"You know, it's always funny to me how pro-choice folks were all actually *born*," Allen said.

Louie grinned, gathering their trash. "Thank you for the company. And the dialogue."

Allen picked up his sign. "You make it very hard to hate you, Dr. Ward."

"That's the point, brother," Louie said. "That's the point."

_

BETH HAD TRIED TO DO it the right way. She had gone to the Center, which might as well have been Mars given the distance and the cost of the bus ticket. She had filled out the parental consent waiver and had it filed back in her own county. It wasn't *her* fault that the judge whiffed out on her to go on a *vacation* with his wife. Judges shouldn't be allowed to take them, not when other people's lives were hanging on their verdicts.

In the end, she had run out of time. The pills had come from overseas, and the instructions were in Chinese, but she still had the paperwork from the counseling session she had attended at the Center, including the instructions for those getting a medication abortion. She remembered the lady at the clinic who'd talked to the group, saying that there was a cutoff for the people who took the abortion pill. She couldn't remember what that magic number of weeks was, but Beth was sure she was beyond it now.

She was in the bathroom, doubled over with cramps. At first she was sure she had done something wrong, because there hadn't been any blood at all. Now, it wouldn't stop. And it wasn't just blood, it was clots, great dark, thick masses that terrified her. That was why she had come to sit on the toilet. She could reach behind her and flush. She was terrified of looking down between her legs and seeing tiny arms and legs; a sad, minuscule face.

She felt her insides twist again, as if someone had attached a thousand strings to the inside of her belly and groin and yanked them. Beth drew her knees up even higher to her chin, the only thing that brought relief, but to do that she couldn't sit. She got off the toilet and rolled to her side, sweating, groaning. Her breath shortened, stuttered links on a chain.

The thing that slipped between her legs was the size of a clenched fist. Beth cried out, seeing it on the linoleum, pink and unfinished, its translucent skin showing dark patches of future eyes and organs. Between its legs was a question mark of umbilical cord.

Shaking, she grabbed a hand towel and wrapped the thing up (it wasn't a baby, it wasn't a baby, it wasn't a baby) and stuffed it into the bottom of the trash, arranging tissues and makeup wipes and wrappers on top of it, as if out of sight would be out of mind.

She was starting to see stars, and she thought maybe she was dying, but that didn't make sense because there was no way she was going to Heaven anymore. Maybe she could just close her eyes for a minute, and when she woke up, this would never have happened.

She heard a pounding, and for one terrified moment she thought it was coming from the trash can. But then it got louder, and she realized someone was calling her name.

Beth wanted to answer, she did. But she was so, so tired.

When the door broke open, the lock shattered by her father, she used all the energy she had left to speak. "Don't get mad, Daddy," she whispered, and then everything went black.

GEORGE LEFT THE TRUCK RUNNING, parked illegally in a fire zone. He dashed to the passenger side and lifted his

unconscious daughter into his arms, carrying her through the automatic doors of the emergency room. She was bleeding through the blanket he had wrapped around her. "Please help my daughter," he cried, and he was surrounded immediately.

They took her away, setting her on a gurney and rushing her into the back as he followed. A nurse put her hand on his arm. "Mr....?"

"Goddard," he said. "That's my girl."

"What happened to her?" she asked.

"I don't know. I don't know." He gulped. "I found her like this in the bathroom. She's bleeding from ... from down there ..."

"Vaginally?"

He nodded. He tried to see what the doctors were doing, but there were so many of them, and they moved around her, blocking his view.

"What's your daughter's name?" the nurse asked.

When she was little, and couldn't pronounce her name, she called herself Lil Bit. That stuck for the longest time. As she grew up, he had dropped the second half of that term of endearment. But he was the only one to call her Lil; everyone else used a different nickname.

"Elizabeth Goddard," George said. "She goes by Beth."

_

LAST NIGHT, BEX HAD DREAMED of a piece of art that was still inside her mind. It was a pixilated fetus curled on its side. In the white space, though, carved out by the absence of arms and legs and umbilicus, you would see the optical illusion of a profile. And if you looked closely, you'd know it was hers.

She was not surprised that today, of all days, she would find inspiration. Just yesterday she had finished her last commission. It was time to start fresh.

She had already called Hugh to wish him a happy birthday and she had finished a cup of tea. Her body was humming with anticipation, like a child waiting for the sun to rise on Christmas. She was going to savor every second of this morning, pluck it like a violin string, let it sing through her.

In the closet of her studio where she kept her paints and her turpentine and her brushes there was a tiny panel that, with the press of a finger, would bounce free to reveal a hiding spot. It had come with the house. She had no idea what it had been used for by the previous owners—a safe, maybe, or hidden love letters. Bex kept a shoe box inside, one that she pulled out now and set on her workbench.

Inside was an impossibly small blue cotton hat, and a hospital bracelet: BABY BOY MCELROY. And then, best of all, the photograph—fading now, into rusts and yellows and greens that she associated with the seventies. It was 1978, and there was Bex in the hospital bed, fourteen years old and holding a newborn Hugh.

Bex could have gotten an abortion—it was legal—but her mother, a devout Catholic, talked her out of it. She came up instead with the solution that became a secret. From the moment Bex left the hospital, she was no longer Hugh's mother, but his sister. Her father got a job in a different state and they moved there, plastering over the subterfuge until sometimes Bex even forgot the reality. There had been a point when her mother died that Bex had considered telling Hugh, but she was afraid he might be so angry that he'd hate her. This she couldn't risk.

Bex still got to watch Hugh grow up, have a baby of his own. So did the labels really matter? It had taken her forty years of careful practice, but she allowed herself regrets only one day a year—this one, Hugh's birthday. She took out this shoe box, and she pictured the parallel universes of her life. In one, she was Hugh's mother, Wren's grandmother. In another, she had fallen in love again, married, and had a child she could gather into her arms any time she wished. In a third, she went to art school and moved to Florence and became a sculptor, instead of staying in Mississippi to watch over Hugh after her father had died and her mom became an alcoholic.

Bex, who had *not* terminated her pregnancy, had still lost a potential life that day—her own. But when she started to grieve for what she had missed, she redirected her attention to the lives that had been saved, literally, by her son—the battered wives, the suicide jumpers. The teenager Hugh had pulled from the freezing river last year. Wren.

No. She would not have changed a thing. Or this is what she told herself, anyway, when she let the question rise high in her throat, when she felt like she was choking.

Bex carefully put the photo in the bottom of the shoe box and placed the bracelet and the hat inside. She carried it back to the closet and slipped it into its hiding place. Then she pulled the trapdoor into place again, sealing the crypt of this memory.

Occasionally she wondered if, after she died, someone would find the shoe box. Maybe whoever bought her house. She wondered if they would create a mythology around the artifacts, if it would be a tragedy or a love story. It could, Bex knew, be both at once.

She shut the closet and then opened the curtains in her studio. Sunshine spilled onto the wooden floor, like golden grain from a silo. The sky was clear, as blue as her son's eyes. It was why she had named him as she didher only hint. Even at fourteen, Bex had already pictured the world as an artist did, cast in shadows and light. Even then, what mattered most was hue.

Hugh.

Bex smiled, reaching for the stretcher bars and unprimed canvas. *Today*, she thought, *is a good day to be born*.

Epilogue

Six p.m.



NONE OF US CHOOSE OUR PARENTS. BUT SOME OF US GET LUCKY.

One minute Wren felt her father's arm close around her. She could smell him—bay rum aftershave and starch. "It's okay," he whispered, his breath moving the hair at her temple. "Everything is okay now."

She believed him. She always had. She believed him when he swore to her that there was no reason to be afraid of the dark, and taught her how to read the stars, so she would never feel lost in it. She believed him when he printed out articles about Internet predators and catfishing and left them taped to her bathroom mirror. She believed him when he ate a spider to prove that it wasn't so scary after all.

He gently pushed her back, his eyes catching on their clasped hands. "Wren, go on now," he said.

She couldn't make herself step away. Wren, who had gotten herself into this mess because she couldn't wait to grow up, wanted nothing more than for her father to rock her on his lap and never let her go.

"Let me finish this," he murmured.

She took an unsteady step toward the white canopy of the tent. There were cops there, motioning to her, but no one came forward to grab her.

Once, there had been a tornado in Jackson. Wren remembered how the sky turned the yellow of a jaundiced eye, and how the atmosphere felt pregnant. The moments before the wind slammed into the city, the air had gone so still that Wren thought the world had stopped spinning, that time had started to move backward. That's how it felt just then, and it was why Wren turned around halfway to the command tent.

She heard her father's voice, as he spoke to George Goddard. "Think of your daughter."

"She'll never look at me the same after this. You don't get it."

"Then make me understand."

Wren was staring at the shooter when he pulled the trigger.

WREN'S FATHER USED TO TELL her a story about how he'd been her hero from the moment she was born. She was in the hospital, and the nurses were doing whatever tests they had to do before a baby could be discharged. One of them was called the Guthrie test, which required the newborn's foot to be pricked and several drops of blood

to be dripped onto a diagnostic card. It was sent to the lab to test for PKU.

The nurse that day was inexperienced, and when she pricked Wren's foot, the baby started to wail. It didn't bleed enough, so she had to prick Wren a second time. She squeezed the baby's foot, trying to manually extract blood. By now, Wren was howling.

Her father stood up and grabbed his daughter away from the nurse. He wrapped Wren in a blanket and announced that they were going home. The nurse said this wasn't possible, that she had to finish the test by law.

I am the fucking law, her father said.

He still wasn't allowed in that hospital.

_

Heroes, Wren knew, did not always swoop in to rescue. They made questionable calls. They lived with doubts. They replayed and edited and imagined different outcomes. They killed, sometimes, to save.

Wren was wrapped in a space blanket, shivering, even though it was still hot outside. Her ribs hurt from where she had been tackled by a member of the SWAT team. Would the gunman actually have shot Wren? No one knew, because instead her father had scooped up his weapon and fired three shots into George Goddard.

On live television.

There had been a lot of activity—her father being pulled away by the SWAT team; paramedics loading the body into an ambulance, because a doctor had to pronounce the shooter dead.

The shooter.

Wren realized, with a little start, that title applied to both men.

She was sitting on the flatbed of a police truck when her father approached. His arm had gauze wrapped around it. Goddard's wayward shot, the one meant for her, had struck him.

She had come to the clinic because she didn't want to be a little girl anymore. But it wasn't having sex that made you a woman. It was having to make decisions, sometimes terrible ones. Children were told what to do. Adults made up their own minds, even when the options tore them apart.

Her father followed her gaze to the Center. Bathed in the last throes of sunset, the orange walls looked like they were on fire. "What's going to happen to it?" Wren asked.

"I don't know."

She found herself thinking about Dr. Ward and Izzy and Joy and Janine. About poor Vonita. About the nameless women who had been in the Center before Wren got there, and the women who would show up tomorrow for an appointment and trample over the police tape if they had to.

"Aunt Bex is waiting for us," her father said. He held out his arms, as if Wren were still little, and swung her down from the flatbed. Wren saw him wince because of his injury.

When she was tiny, she used to play a game with him by tightening her arms and legs and straightening her backbone to be as rigid as possible. *I'm making myself extra heavy*, she would tell him, and he would laugh.

I'll always be able to carry you.

The night sky rippled, blue stars rising and red ones fading. They were surrounded by life and death. They moved past the chain-link fence that ran along the perimeter of the Center. On it, the protesters had hung a long curl of butcher paper: IT'S A CHILD NOT A CHOICE. Wren had walked past the sign this morning, and remarkably, it was still intact.

A few feet past the Center, Wren stopped. "You all right?" her father asked.

"Just a second."

Wren ran back to the fence. She ripped the banner off, crumpled a long piece, and threw it on the ground. What remained she speared on the top of the chain link to secure it.

CHOICE.

She surveyed her work. There, Wren thought.

Many years later, when Wren told this story, she didn't remember amending the sign. She didn't

remember whether the fence outside the Center was plaster or metal, how small the closet had been, or if her aunt's blood had spilled on tile or carpet. What she remembered was that, as she left with her father, it was the first time she held *his* hand, instead of the other way around.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

The National Abortion Federation compiles statistics on violence committed by anti-abortion protesters in the United States and Canada. Since 1977, there have been 17 attempted murders, 383 death threats, 153 instances of assault and battery, 13 individuals wounded, 100 stink bombs, 373 break-ins, 42 bombings, 173 arsons, 91 attempted bombings or arsons, 619 bomb threats, 1630 incidents of trespassing, 1264 incidents of vandalism, 655 anthrax threats, 3 kidnappings.

Eleven people have been killed as a result of violence targeted at abortion providers: four doctors, two clinic employees, a security guard, a police officer, a clinic escort, and two others.

Anti-abortion extremists are considered a domestic terrorist threat by the U.S. Department of Justice.

Yet violence is not the only threat to abortion clinics. In the past five years, politicians have passed more than 280 laws restricting access to abortion. In 2016, the Supreme Court struck down a Texas law that would have required every abortion clinic to have a surgical suite, and doctors to have admitting privileges at a local hospital in case of complications. For many clinics, these requirements were cost prohibitive and would have forced them to close. Also, since many abortion doctors fly in to do their work, they aren't able to get admitting privileges at local hospitals. It is worth noting that less than 0.3 percent of women who have an abortion require hospitalization due to complications. colonoscopies, liposuction, vasectomies ... and childbirth -all of which are performed outside of surgical suiteshave higher risks of death.

In Indiana in 2016, Mike Pence signed a law to ban abortion based on fetal disability and required providers to give information about perinatal hospice—keeping the fetus in utero until it dies of natural causes. This same law required aborted fetuses to be cremated or given a formal burial even if the mother did not wish this to happen. The law was blocked by a judge in 2017.

In Alabama, a 2014 law required a minor to get a judicial waiver for abortion from a court, where a guardian ad litem would be provided as a lawyer for the fetus. In this same law, a parent or legal guardian had the right to appeal the bypass, delaying it until the girl was past the point where she could legally abort. A federal judge struck down this law in 2017.

In Arkansas, women must be informed that it is possible to reverse the effects of the medication abortion with progesterone. Similar bills have been introduced in Arizona, Colorado, California, Indiana, Idaho, North Carolina, and Georgia. Americans United for Life, a powerful lobbyist group, made abortion pill reversal part of its model legislation for 2017. However, there are no formal studies that support the claim that a medication abortion can, indeed, be reversed.

On March 19, 2018, after this book was submitted to the publisher, Governor Phil Bryant of Mississippi signed into law the Gestational Age Act, banning abortions in Mississippi after 15 weeks of pregnancy, making it the state with the earliest abortion ban in the U.S. He tweeted, "I am committed to making Mississippi the safest place in America for an unborn child." The law makes exceptions for severe fetal abnormality, but not rape or incest. Doctors who perform abortions after 15 weeks must file reports explaining why, and if they violate the law their medical licenses will be endangered. The Jackson Women's Health Organization—the "Pink House"—is the only abortion provider in Mississippi, and

already cuts off abortions at sixteen weeks. There is no medical or scientific reason for the change.

There's a mistaken belief that legislating barriers to pregnancy termination, or overturning Roe v. Wade, will end abortions. Precedent doesn't suggest this-in the 1950s up to 1.2 million unsafe abortions were performed annually. According to the Guttmacher Institute, the rate of abortions declined from 2000 through 2008, in spite of their legality. But breaking down the numbers is important. For women in poverty, abortion rates increased 18 percent. For wealthy women, abortion declined by 24 percent. That means poor women are getting pregnant when they don't want to. In fact seven out of ten women who terminated a pregnancy made less than \$22,000 a year. In 2004, three-quarters of women surveyed said they had an abortion because they couldn't financially care for a child. No study to date has asked if improving socioeconomic conditions for these women would decrease the number of abortions.

For this book, I interviewed pro-life advocates. They were not religious zealots; they were men and women whose conversation I enjoyed and who were speaking from a place of deep personal conviction. All of them were appalled by acts of violence committed in the name of unborn children. They told me they wished that pro-choice advocates knew that they weren't trying to circumvent women's rights or tell women what to do with their bodies. They just wanted the women who made that legal choice to realize that life was precious, and that their decision would affect an innocent.

I also interviewed 151 women who had terminated a pregnancy. Of those women, only one regretted her decision. The majority thought about the abortion daily. When I asked them what they wished pro-life advocates knew about them, the responses were heartfelt. Many wanted to convey that a woman who makes this decision is not a bad person. As one woman said, "I don't need

people shaming me because of a choice that already hurt my heart to have to make."

I met with the staff at the Pink House. I also had the privilege to shadow Dr. Willie Parker as he performed abortions at the West Alabama Women's Center in Tuscaloosa, Alabama (and yes, the fictional Dr. Ward bears a close resemblance to Willie). Dr. Parker is one of the fiercest champions of women I have ever met, and he is a devout Christian. He chose this work because of his faith—not in spite of it. He feels that the compassion in his religion means he has to act on behalf of others instead of judging them. It is Dr. Parker who invented what he calls verbicaine—the conversation meant to relax a patient during the procedure. It is not intended to trivialize what is happening. It is meant to put the event into context. An abortion, he feels, should not be the benchmark by which a woman will measure her entire life. I urge you to read his book, Life's Work: A Moral Argument for Choice, to learn more about his journey.

In Birmingham, thanks to the generosity and grace of three patients, I observed a five-week abortion, an eight-week abortion, and a fifteen-week abortion. The first two procedures took less than five minutes each, and yes, I saw the products of conception, and there was nothing that would suggest, to the naked eye, a dead baby. The fifteen-week procedure was more complicated, and took a few minutes longer. Mixed amid the blood and tissue were tiny, recognizable body parts.

Dr. Parker believes in transparency in his work. He understands that a fetus is a life. He does not believe it's a person. His question comes down to the moral responsibilities we have to each other. While pro-life protesters are protecting the rights of the fetus, who is protecting the rights of women?

The woman who had come in to have that abortion at fifteen weeks had three other children under the age of four. She could not afford another child without compromising the care of the ones she already had. Did coming to the clinic make her a terrible mother, or a responsible one?

I myself have not had an abortion. I always believed myself to be pro-choice. Then, I got pregnant with my third child, and at seven weeks, began spotting heavily. The thought of losing that pregnancy was devastating to me at that time; in my mind this was already a baby. However, had I been a college sophomore with a seven-week pregnancy, I would have sought out an abortion. Where we draw the line shifts—not just between those who are pro-life and pro-choice, but in each individual woman, depending on her current circumstances.

Laws are black and white. The lives of women are a thousand shades of gray.

So can we solve the abortion debate without legislation? Let's begin with the principle that nobody wants to have an abortion; that it's a last resort. If we assume that the pro-life camp wants to reduce or eliminate procedures, and that the pro-choice camp wants women to be able to make decisions about their own reproductive health, perhaps the place to start is before the pregnancy—with contraception. In the United States, in 2015 there were 57 teenage births per 1000. In Canada it was 28 per 1000. In France, 25. In Switzerland, 8. The difference is that those other countries actively promote contraception without judgment. This isn't the case in the United States, because of religious beliefs that favor procreation; however, if the endgame is to reduce abortions, promoting contraception would be the easiest solution.

If the greatest number of women choosing abortions do so because of economic issues, then this, too, is an area to consider. If pro-life advocates could prevent abortions by raising taxes and volunteering to adopt, would they? If pro-choice advocates believe women should be able to make a decision without external pressure, would they give up some of their income so that women who are financially strapped but want to continue their pregnancies can?

To that end, it's worth asking what would happen if we made social services more readily available to pregnant women. Increasing the minimum wage would give women the financial security to raise a baby, if they so choose. Government-funded daycare would eliminate the threat of losing their jobs. Universal healthcare would allow women to believe they could financially afford not just the birth of a child, but its continued existence.

There are other avenues to explore, too, that might reduce the number of women who end up having to terminate. Employers who drive away pregnant women should be penalized. Guaranteed prenatal care at no charge might encourage women to carry to term, and could be set up through a network of adoptive parents who foot the bill in return.

Honestly, I do not believe we, as a society, will ever agree on this issue. The stakes are too high, and both sides operate from places of unshakable belief. But I do think that the first step is to talk to each other—and more important, to listen. We may not see eye to eye, but we can respect each other's opinions and find the truth in them. Perhaps in those honest conversations, instead of demonizing each other, we might see each other as imperfect humans, doing our best.

—Jodi Picoult

MARCH 2018

For Jennifer Hershey and Susan Corcoran If you're lucky, you wind up with colleagues you love. If you're luckier, they feel like sisters.

XOX

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

There were multiple professionals in women's reproductive health and medicine who shared their expertise with me: Linda Griebsch; Julie Johnston, MD; Liz Janiak; Souci Rollins; Susan Yannow; Rebecca Thompson, MD; Margot Cullen, MD. David Toub, MD, gets a special shout-out because he was willing to Skype with me while he was ironing pants on a Saturday night, when I had a question that couldn't wait.

For showing me the other side: Paul and Erin Manghera.

For their legal brilliance: Maureen McBrien-Benjamin and Jennifer Sargent.

For helping me understand the role of the hostage negotiator: John Grassel and Frank Moran.

For teaching me how to tie a tourniquet and put in a chest tube, just in case this current career doesn't work out: Shannon Whyte, RN; Sam Provenza; Josh Mancini, MD.

For spirited discussion, and/or for allowing me to steal pieces of their lives: Samantha van Leer, Kyle Tramonte, Abigail Baird, Frankie Ramos, Chelsea Boyd, Steve Alspach, Ellen Sands, Barb Kline-Schoder.

For reading early drafts, back when there were still sixteen main characters: Laura Gross, Jane Picoult, Elyssa Samsel.

For the sensitivity read, spot-on suggestions, and for just being an awesome writer who lets me gripe via text about how hard this job is: Nic Stone.

For being the best in the business: Gina Centrello, Kara Welsh, Kim Hovey, Debbie Aroff, Sanyu Dillon, Rachel Kind, Denise Cronin, Scott Shannon, Matthew Schwartz, Erin Kane, Theresa Zoro, Paolo Pepe, Christine Mykityshyn, Stephanie Reddaway, Susan Corcoran, and Jennifer Hershey. I would not be nearly as willing to walk through fire if you all weren't at my side.

To the employees of the West Alabama Women's Center in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, and the Jackson Women's Health Organization in Jackson, Mississippi, and others who walk the walk: Gloria Gray, Diane Dervis, "Miss Betty," and Tara; Alesia, Mamie, Renetah, Francia, Tina, Chad, Alfreda, and Jessica.

A giant thank-you to Willie Parker, MD, who educates, inspires, and ministers to those who need it the most. I'm honored to call you a friend, and I'm awfully glad women have you in their corner.

Finally, I am grateful to the 151 women who were willing to tell me about their abortions: Joan Mogul Garrity, Jolene Stark, E. Johnson, "M," Christine Benjamin, Megan Tilley, Susan (UK), Laura Kelley, Sarah S., Leanne Garifales, Dena, Natasha Sinel, Emma, Jennifer Felix, JLR, Roberta Wasmer, Nina, Eileen, Nancy Emerson, Laura Rooney, Heather C., Jennifer Klemmetson, Alie, Amanda Clark, Heidi, Lorraine Dudley, Brooke, Shirley Vasta, Lisa Larson, Cynthia Brooks, Melissa M., Tori, Kara Clark, Sonia Sharma, Andrea Lutz, Claire, Alison M., Rae S., Megan, Melissa Stander, and the dozens who did not want to be named. It is my hope that as more stories like this are told, fewer women will have to remain anonymous.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

The following materials were useful to me in the writing of this novel:

Baird, Abigail, Christy Barrow, and Molly Richard. "Juvenile NeuroLaw: When It's Good It Is Very Good Indeed, and When It's Bad It's Horrid." *Journal of Health Care Law and Policy* 15 (2012).

Camosy, Charles C. *Beyond the Abortion Wars: A Way Forward for a New Generation*. Wm. B. Eerdmans, 2015.

Cohen, David S., and Krysten Connon. *Living in the Crosshairs: The Untold Stories of Anti-Abortion Terrorism*. Oxford University Press, 2015.

Eichenwald, Kurt. "America's Abortion Wars (and How to End Them)." *Newsweek*, December 25, 2015.

Fernbach, Philip, and Steven Sloman. "Why We Believe Obvious Untruths." Sunday Review, *New York Times*, March 3, 2017.

https://www.nytimes.com/2017/03/03/opinion/sunday/why-we-believe-obvious-untruths.html.

Gilligan, Carol, and Mary Field Belenky. "A Naturalistic Study of Abortion Decisions." *New Directions for Child Development* 7 (1980).

Graham, Ruth. "A New Front in the War over Reproductive Rights: 'Abortion-Pill Reversal.' " *New York Times Magazine*, July 18, 2017. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/07/18/magazine/a-new-front-in-the-war-over-reproductive-rights.html.

Johnson, Abby. Unplanned: The Dramatic True Story of a Former Planned Parenthood Leader's Eye-Opening Journey Across the Life Line. Tyndale, 2010.

Knapton, Sarah. "Bright Flash of Light Marks Incredible Moment Life Begins When Sperm Meets Egg." *Telegraph*, April 26, 2016. https://www.telegraph.co.uk/science/2016/04/26/bright-flash-of-light-marks-incredible-moment-life-begins-when-s/.

Kowalski, Gary. "The Founding Fathers and Abortion in Colonial America." *American Creation* (blog), April 6, 2012.

http://americancreation.blogspot.com/2012/04/founding-fathers-and-abortion-in.html.

Miller, Monica Migliorino. *Abandoned: The Untold Story of the Abortion Wars.* St. Benedict Press, 2012.

Oakes, Kelly. "51 Mind Blowing Facts About Life, the Universe, and Everything." https://www.buzzfeed.com/kellyoakes/mind-blowing-facts-about-life-the-universe-and-everything? utm_term=.om3qZdoZjz#.eb2Mo68o2R.

Parker, Willie. *Life's Work: A Moral Argument for Choice*. Atria Books, 2017.

Paul, Maureen, et al. *Management of Unintended and Abnormal Pregnancy: Comprehensive Abortion Care.* Wiley-Blackwell, 2009.

Perrucci, Alissa C. *Decision Assessment and Counseling in Abortion Care: Philosophy and Practice.* Rowman & Littlefield, 2012.

Pollitt, Katha. "Abortion in American History." *Atlantic*, May 1997. https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/1997/05/abortion-in-american-history/376851/.

Pollitt, Katha. Pro: Reclaiming Abortion Rights. Picador, 2014.

Saxon, Lyle, Robert Tallant, and Edward Dreyer. *Gumbo Ya-Ya: A Collection of Louisiana Folk Tales*. Bonanza Books, 1984.

Thomson, Judith Jarvis. "A Defense of Abortion." *Philosophy and Public Affairs* 1, no. 1 (1971).

http://spot.colorado.edu/~heathwoo/Phil160,Fallo2/thomson.htm.

Wicklund, Susan. *This Common Secret: My Journey as an Abortion Doctor*. PublicAffairs, 2008.

By Jodi Picoult

A Spark of Light

Small Great Things

Leaving Time

The Storyteller

Lone Wolf

Sing You Home

House Rules

Handle with Care

Change of Heart

Nineteen Minutes

The Tenth Circle

Vanishing Acts

My Sister's Keeper

Second Glance

Perfect Match

Salem Falls

Plain Truth

Keeping Faith

The Pact

Mercy

Picture Perfect

Harvesting the Heart

Songs of the Humpback Whale

FOR YOUNG ADULTS

Off the Page

Between the Lines

AND FOR THE STAGE

Over the Moon: An Original Musical for Teens Musical for Teens

About the Author

Jodi Picoult is the #1 New York Times bestselling author of twenty-five novels, including Small Great Things, Leaving Time, The Storyteller, Lone Wolf, Sing You Home, House Rules, Handle with Care, Change of Heart, Nineteen Minutes, My Sister's Keeper, and, with daughter Samantha van Leer, two young adult novels, Between the Lines and Off the Page. She lives in New Hampshire with her husband and three children.

JodiPicoult.com Facebook.com/JodiPicoult

Twitter: @jodipicoult Instagram: @jodipicoult



What's next on your reading list?

<u>Discover your next</u> <u>great read!</u>

Get personalized book picks and up-to-date news about this author.

Sign up now.